
NOTICE OF A MEETING 

(In compliance with Sec. 551.041, Et. Seq., Tex. Gov’t. Code) 
 

Notice is hereby given of a City of Jersey Village Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting to 

be held on Monday, January 25, 2021, at 6:00 p.m. via videoconferencing.  All agenda items are 

subject to action.  The Capital Improvements Advisory Committee reserves the right to meet in 

closed session on any agenda item should the need arise and if applicable pursuant to authorization 

by Title 5, Chapter 551, of the Texas Government Code. 
 

Pursuant to Section 418.016 of the Texas Government Code, on March 16, 2020, the Governor of 

the State of Texas granted the Office of the Attorney General's request for the temporary 

suspension of certain provisions of the Texas Open Meetings Act to allow for telephonic or 

videoconference meetings of governmental bodies that are accessible to the public in an effort to 

reduce in-person meetings that assemble large groups of people, as a precautionary measure to 

contain the spread of novel coronavirus COVID-19. 
 

Accordingly, the public will not be allowed to be physically present at this meeting of the City of 

Jersey Village Planning and Zoning Commission, but the meeting will be available to members of 

the public and allow for two-way communications for those desiring to participate via 

telephone.  To attend the meeting via telephone, please use the following toll-free number:  

346-248-7799 along with Webinar ID: 819 9929 8362.   
 

Any person interested in speaking during the public comment item on the agenda must submit 

his/her request via email to the City Secretary at lcoody@jerseyvillagetx.com.  The request must 

include the speaker's name, address, topic of the comment and the phone number that will be used 

for teleconferencing.  The request must be received no later than 12:00 p.m. on January 25, 2021.   
 

The following will be observed by the public participating in the meeting: 

 Callers will be called upon to speak by the Committee Chairperson. 

 Once called upon for public comment, speakers should state their name and address before 

speaking. 

 Callers will mute their phone unless called upon to speak (to eliminate background noise). 

 Callers should use handsets rather than speakerphone whenever possible. 
 

The agenda packet is accessible to the public at the following link:  

https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/pz.ags_mins_current_year.   
 

For more information or questions concerning the teleconference, please contact the City Secretary 

at 713-466-2102.  The agenda items for this meeting are as follows: 
 

A quorum of the City of Jersey Village City Council may be in attendance at this meeting. 
 

ITEM(S) to be discussed and acted upon by the Committee are listed on the attached agenda. 
 

AGENDA 
 

A. Open Meeting.  Call the meeting to order and the roll of appointed officers will be taken.  Rick 

Faircloth, Chairperson 
 

B. CITIZENS’ COMMENTS - Any person who desires to address the Planning and Zoning 

Commission regarding an item on the agenda will be heard at this time.  In compliance with 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

1

mailto:lcoody@jerseyvillagetx.com
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/pz.ags_mins_current_year


Page -2- 

City of Jersey Village Planning and Zoning Commission Agenda – January 25, 2021 

 

   

the Texas Open Meetings Act, unless the subject matter of the comment is on the agenda, the 

City staff and Commissioners are not allowed to discuss the subject.  Each person is limited to 

five (5) minutes for comments to the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
 

C. Consider approval of the minutes for the meeting held on November 9, 2020.  Lorri Coody, 

City Secretary 
 

D. Discuss and take appropriate action regarding the creation of a more stringent tree preservation 

ordinance to protect existing tree resources.  Austin Bleess, City Manager 
 

E. Receive, review, and discuss the Comprehensive Plan Update Committee’s Draft 

Recommendations for the City of Jersey Village’s Comprehensive Plan and take appropriate 

action regarding the preparation and presentation of the Commission’s recommendation to City 

Council confirming the Commission’s review and approval of the Draft Comprehensive Plan.   

Austin Bleess, City Manager 

 

F. Receive a billboard presentation from Clear Channel. Austin Bleess, City Manager 
 

G. Adjourn 

CERTIFICATION 
 

I, the undersigned authority, do hereby certify in accordance with the Texas Open Meeting Act, the Agenda is posted for public 

information, at all times, for at least 72 hours preceding the scheduled time of the meeting on the bulletin board located at City 

Hall, 16327 Lakeview, Jersey Village, TX 77040, a place convenient and readily accessible to the general public at all times, and 

said Notice was posted on the following date and time:  January 22, 2021 at 9:00 a.m. and remained so posted until said meeting 

was convened. 
 

________________________________ 

Lorri Coody, City Secretary 
 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the City of Jersey Village will provide for reasonable accommodations 

for persons attending City Council meetings.  Request for accommodations must be made to the City Secretary by calling 713 466-

2102 forty-eight (48) hours prior to the meetings.  Agendas are posted on the Internet Website at www.jerseyvillagetx.com  
 

"Pursuant to Section 30.06, Penal Code (trespass by license holder with a concealed handgun), a person licensed under Subchapter 

H, Chapter 411, Government Code (handgun licensing law), may not enter this property with a concealed handgun." 

 

"Pursuant to Section 30.07, Penal Code (trespass by license holder with an openly carried handgun), a person licensed under 

Subchapter H, Chapter 411, Government Code (handgun licensing law), may not enter this property with a handgun that is carried 

openly." 

 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

2

http://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/


B. CITIZENS’ COMMENTS - Any person who desires to address the Planning and Zoning 

Commission regarding an item on the agenda will be heard at this time.  In compliance 

with the Texas Open Meetings Act, unless the subject matter of the comment is on the 

agenda, the City staff and Commissioners are not allowed to discuss the subject.  Each 

person is limited to five (5) minutes for comments to the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
 Planning &

 Z
oning C

om
m

ission M
eeting Packet for the M

eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

3



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE JERSEY VILLAGE PLANNING AND ZONING 

COMMISSION HELD ON NOVEMBER 9, 2020 AT 6:00 P.M. PURSUANT TO SECTION 418.016 

OF THE TEXAS GOVERNMENT CODE 

Pursuant to Section 418.016 of the Texas Government Code, on March 16, 2020, the Governor of the State 

of Texas granted the Office of the Attorney General's request for the temporary suspension of certain 

provisions of the Texas Open Meetings Act to allow for telephonic or videoconference meetings of 

governmental bodies that are accessible to the public in an effort to reduce in-person meetings that assemble 

large groups of people, as a precautionary measure to contain the spread of novel coronavirus COVID-19. 

Accordingly, the public was not allowed to be physically present at this meeting of the City of Jersey 

Village, Texas, Planning and Zoning Commission but the meeting was available to members of the public 

and allowed for two-way communications for those desiring to participate via telephone with the following 

toll-free number: 346-248-7799 along with Webinar ID: 824 2420 7579.  

A. The meeting was called to order in at 6:04 p.m. and the roll of appointed officers was taken.

Commissioners present were:

Rick Faircloth, Chairman  Courtney Standlee, Commissioner

Debra Mergel, Vice Chairman Ty Camp, Commissioner 

Joseph Paul, Commissioner Jennifer McCrea, Commissioner 

Barbara Freeman, Commissioner 

Commissioner Freeman was not present when the meeting was called to order but joined the meeting 

in progress at 6:11 p.m.  

Drew Wasson, Council Liaison, was present at this meeting.  

Staff in attendance:  Austin Bleess, City Manager; Lorri Coody, City Secretary; Christian Somers, 

Building Official, and Harry Ward, Director of Public Works. 

B. CITIZENS’ COMMENTS - Any person who desires to address the Planning and Zoning Commission

regarding an item on the agenda will be heard at this time.  In compliance with the Texas Open Meetings

Act, unless the subject matter of the comment is on the agenda, the City staff and Commissioners are

not allowed to discuss the subject.  Each person is limited to five (5) minutes for comments to the

Planning and Zoning Commission.

There were no citizens’ comments.

C. Election of chairperson and vice-chairperson for one-year term.

Chairman Faircloth opened nominations for the office of Chair for a one-year term beginning October

1, 2020 and ending September 30, 2021.  Commissioner Camp moved to nominate Commissioner Rick

Faircloth to serve in this capacity.  The motion was seconded by Commissioner McCrea.  With no other

nominations being made, the vote follows:

Ayes:   Commissioners Mergel, Paul, Standlee, Camp, and McCrea 

Chairman Faircloth 

Nays:   None 

The motion carried. 

DRAFT
Planning &

 Z
oning C

om
m

ission M
eeting Packet for the M

eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

4



Page 2 of 5 Minutes of the JV P&Z Meeting – November 9, 2020 

 

   
 

Chairman Faircloth opened nominations for the office of Vice Chair for a one-year term beginning 

October 1, 2020 and ending September 30, 2021.  Commissioner McCrea moved to nominate 

Commissioner Paul.  The motion was seconded by Commissioner Camp.  With no other nominations 

being made, the vote follows: 
 

 Ayes:   Commissioners Paul, Mergel, Standlee, Camp, and McCrea 

  Chairman Faircloth 
  

 Nays:   None 

 

The motion carried. 
 

D. Consider approval of the minutes for the meeting held on November 4, 2019.   
 

Commissioner Paul moved to approve the minutes for the meeting held on November 4, 2019.  

Commissioner McCrea seconded the motion.  The vote follows: 
 

 Ayes:   Commissioners Mergel, Paul, Standlee, Camp, and McCrea 

  Chairman Faircloth 
 

 Nays:   None 
 

The motion carried. 
 

Barbara Freeman joined the meeting in progress at 6:11 p.m. 
 

E. Discuss and take appropriate action regarding the creation of a more stringent tree 

preservation ordinance to protect existing tree resources.   
 

City Manager, Austin Bleess, introduced the item.  Background information is a follows: 
 

As part of the 2016 Comprehensive Plan one of the recommendations in the Community Character 

Chapter was to consider a more stringent tree preservation ordinance to protect existing tree resources.  
 

Our current ordinance has little in it to protect trees.  The ordinance that most closely touches on this is 

Section 14-316: 
 

Sec. 14-316. - Permit required. 

(a) No person shall remove a healthy protected tree in the front yard of a residential property without 

first obtaining a permit from the director of public works. 
 

(b) The fee for a permit to remove a protected tree shall be $50.00.  The tree shall be replaced with 

a tree or trees with a combined diameter of one inch for each six inches and fraction thereof of 

replaced tree diameter (measured at four feet off the ground).  Replacement trees must be at least 

one inch in diameter measured at four feet off the ground.  The director of public works may 

authorize that one or more of the replacement trees be planted in designated locations on public 

property.  No replacement tree shall be required if the property has at least two other large 

protected trees in the front yard. 
 DRAFT

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

5



Page 3 of 5 Minutes of the JV P&Z Meeting – November 9, 2020 

 

   
 

Tree preservation ordinances can cover a wide gambit of things.  They can require pruning and how 

pruning is done, designation of tree types and tree sizes that must be preserved, and how many trees 

need to be planted to replace any tree that is taken down.  
 

There is no formal action required tonight.  This item is to obtain direction from the Commission as to 

what course to take in order to draft a model ordinance for further consideration by the Commission.  
 

The Commission engaged in discussion about the City’s current tree ordinance and the requirement to 

get a permit to remove a healthy protected tree in the front yard of residential property.  City Manager 

Bleess explained the permit, which is to remove a protected tree.  He gave the definition of a protected 

tree, but basically it must be larger than six inches in diameter.  The Commission discussed protected 

trees and the location of these trees.   
 

Some wondered why the Commission is called to review this issue.  City Manager Bleess explained that 

the review of the tree ordinance is on the list of projects from the 2016 Comprehensive Plan.  There was 

discussion about the ordinances from other Cities that were included in the packet.  It was pointed out 

that they appear to be more restrictive than Jersey Village’s ordinance.  The Commission discussed 

restrictions to include cutting down large trees and what should replace them if they are cut down.  Some 

members liked the idea of requiring replacement if large trees are cut down.   
 

Some members would caution about over reaching pruning restrictions; however, if the trees are causing 

danger to pedestrians and motorists, there should be regulations to provide protection.  Most members 

felt that there is a need for some pruning requirements.    

 

The Commission discussed the need for a flexible plan that outlines the pathway for replacement and 

removal, keeping in mind that an oak tree could be replaced with a pine tree.  There should also be a 

way to mark large trees to know when trees are going to be removed so the requirements can be 

monitored and enforced.   
 

The Commission felt that lot size requirements need to be better defined.   
 

There was also discussion about who is responsible when trees are downed on City property/ public 

spaces.  City Manager Bleess said he needs to review this to provide the Commission better information 

as it pertains to trees on public property.  Some members felt that the requirements need to apply to the 

City as well as the homeowner.   
 

The Commission discussed enforcement issues.  Building Official Somers stated that the enforcement 

issue is with trees encroaching the sidewalk and the street.  He suggested that the current ordinance 

should be changed to 15 feet as opposed to 13 and 10 as opposed to 8.  These restrictions were discussed.  

It was mentioned that the canopy of a tree will follow the roots of the tree.    
 

Some wondered if there is some sort of approved tree pruners and if they need to be permitted in some 

way.  City Manager Bleess stated that some Cities do require that tree pruners be permitted, but it may 

not be something Jersey Village wants to include considering administrative staffing needs for these 

type permits.   Some members felt that we might need to have permitting for pruners, requiring them to 

be insured and possess certifications as being an arborist or other tree professional.  It was noted that 

having someone that knows what they are doing is a good thing instead of having someone just cut trees 

down without experience and knowledge.   

 

DRAFT
Planning &

 Z
oning C

om
m

ission M
eeting Packet for the M

eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

6



Page 4 of 5 Minutes of the JV P&Z Meeting – November 9, 2020 

 

   
 

There was also discussion about restrictions on planting invasive trees, like the Chinese tallow and the 

ligustrum or the common hedge that is used in landscaping and trimmed to look like a tree.   
 

Some wondered if we have any height restrictions in our current ordinances.  City Manager Bleess stated 

that the only restrictions in the current ordinance are for over sidewalks and streets.   
 

Chairperson Faircloth wanted discussion on how to proceed.   Some members wanted to expand on what 

we already have in our ordinance.     
 

The maximum number of trees was discussed in connection with page 49 in the packet from Hillshire 

Village.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Some wondered if there is an 8,000 square foot lot in Jersey Village.  A grandfather clause was also 

discussed in terms of the number of trees on each lot.  The minimum requirement was discussed.  It was 

pointed out that the above table speaks to the minimum number of trees not the maximum.   Most 

members only wanted a minimum for the front yard. 
 

In moving forward, the Commission needs to review the ordinances provided in the meeting packet from 

other Cities and then come back for further discussion.   
 

Harry Ward called attention to Section 14-316 requiring a permit.  He wondered about the purpose of 

part (a).  He feels the wording is off and suggested that it be removed.  He also pointed out the provisions 

for tree loss.  It states that if you take one out you must replace it.  However, if there are more than two 

in the front yard, replacement is not required.  Therefore, this should be looked at as well.   
 

City Manager Bleess stated that from tonight’s discussion, he understands where the Commission wants 

to go with revising this Ordinance.  He will prepare a draft for presentation at the next meeting.   

 

DRAFT
Planning &

 Z
oning C

om
m

ission M
eeting Packet for the M

eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

7



Page 5 of 5 Minutes of the JV P&Z Meeting – November 9, 2020 

 

   
 

F. Adjourn 
 

There being no further business on the Agenda the meeting was adjourned at 6:48 p.m. 

 
 

        ______________________________ 

Lorri Coody, City Secretary  

DRAFT
Planning &

 Z
oning C

om
m

ission M
eeting Packet for the M

eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

8



PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION - CITY OF JERSEY VILLAGE, TEXAS 
AGENDA REQUEST 

 
AGENDA DATE: January 25, 2021   AGENDA ITEM: D  
 
AGENDA SUBJECT: Discuss and take appropriate action regarding the creation of a 
more stringent tree preservation ordinance to protect existing tree resources.   
 
Dept/Prepared By:  Austin Bleess, City Manager Date Submitted:  January 22, 2021 
 
EXHIBITS:   Jersey Village Code of Ordinances - Chapter 14 Article XII. - Landscaping, 

Bufferyard, Park and Open Space Standards 
 Other Municipal Ordinances 

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
 
At the last commission meeting we got feedback on a potential ordinance for tree preservation. 
The main area of concerns to see potential updates from the commission were:  

• Having a requirement for pruners to be registered/certified. 
• Lot size and minimum number of trees, or a minimum requirement for front yards only.  
• Increasing the height of trimming.  
• Restricting invasive trees. 

 
Pruning Requirement 
 
To achieve this goal we would recommend modifying Sec. 14-316 and adding Sec. 14-317. It 
could be as follows:  
 
(c)  A tree pruning permit is required for the pruning of any trees.  

Exception: A pruning permit shall not be required when the pruning is completed by the 
property owner, or any personnel regularly employed by the owner for the purposes of routine 
maintenance, or landscaping.  
(d)  Permits for the removal of trees that fall or the removal of limbs which have fallen due to 

acts of nature such as windstorm, flood, freeze or other disasters, may be waived by the city 
manager or other designated official if requested within thirty (30) days of the weather event 
and removed within sixty (60) days.  

Sec. 14-317. - Registration of tree service vendors.  
(a)  Any business or contractor providing tree services related to installation, pruning or 

removal of trees within the city must register with the city to become a Registered Tree 
Service Vendor.  
Exception: Lawn maintenance professionals hired to provide general landscaping activities 

on a scheduled basis such as mowing, lawn trimming, planting, tree trimming, pruning, or 
removal shall not be required to register with the city.  
(b)  The following items shall be required for application for tree service vendor registration:  

(1)  Application for a registered tree service vendor, 
 (2)  Verification of ISA Certified Arborist on staff, and  
(3)     A copy of the company insurance or bonds. 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

9



(c)  Limbs, branches and other cuttings from tree services performed by registered tree service 
vendors shall be removed from the city by the registered tree service vendor by the end of 
each business day the work was performed.  

Lot size and minimum number of trees, or a minimum requirement for front yards only. 
 
Section 14-309(a)(2) requires 2 trees to be in the front or side setbacks of a residential lot. If we 
wanted to get into square footage of front yards and various requirements based on that it would 
be difficult from a staff perspective to measure and enforce.  
 
There was some discussion on lot sizes in Jersey Village as well. There are some smaller lot 
sizes for the patio homes. Those lots range from 6,000 – 8,000 square feet. The average lot size 
is about 12,000 – 14,000 square feet. There are some larger lots that greater than 30,000 square 
feet.   
 
Increasing the Height of Trimming 
 
There was some discussion about increasing the height trees could be over the road and 
sidewalks. Currently it is 13 feet for the street and 8 feet for the sidewalk. If we increase it the 
new Section 14-310(e) would read: 

 
The owner of a tree overhanging a street or right-of-way within the city shall prune the 
branches so that the branches will not severely obstruct the light from any street lamp or 
obstruct the view of any street intersection and so that there shall be a clear space of 1315 
feet above street surface of [or] eight ten feet above the sidewalk surface. The owner shall 
be responsible for removing all dead, diseased, or dangerous trees, or broken or decayed 
limbs, including tree stumps, which constitute a menace to the safety of the public. Tree 
pruning shall be done in accordance with accepted arboricultural standards. 

 
Restricting Invasive Trees 
 
There are some lists that have invasive trees in Texas, but most of those lists are only 
recommendations. One good resource is www.texasinvasives.org/invasives_database. But there 
are a lot of trees that are recommended that are not on the official Texas invasive list, which 
would bar someone from planting them. It might be easier to limit trees that can be planted, 
versus trying to say which ones cannot be planted.  
 
Such a list of allowed trees could be as follows:  
 
Approved Tree List.  
 

 Common Name  Scientific Name  Growth  Characteristics  

1  
American Elm 
(White Elm)  

Ulmus 
americana  

Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color, seeds or fruit 
eaten by wildlife. Deep green leaves turn bright 
yellow in fall. Fast-growing, vase-shaped shade 
tree that tolerates a wide range of conditions. 
Dutch elm disease not too bad in Texas; 
extensive, shallow root system.  

2  Bald Cypress  
Taxodium 
distichum  

Moderate  
Deciduous conifer with feather-like leaves, round 
seed balls, and fibrous bark. Adapted to many 
soil and moisture conditions. Grows well in wet 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

10

http://www.texasinvasives.org/invasives_database


areas. Woody 'knees' develop on wet sites. (Has 
very aggressive roots—do not plant near house 
or sewer lines).  

3  Black Walnut  Juglans nigra  Moderate  

Texas native, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. 
Distinctive shade tree for open spaces. Fruits can 
be extremely messy. Webworm can be a 
problem. Leaves drop early in the fall.  

4  
Blackgum (Black 

Tupelo)  
Nyssa sylvatica  Moderate  

Texas native, reliable fall color, attractive seeds 
or fruit, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. Prefers 
acid soils. Bright, shiny foliage turns red and 
purple early in the fall. Shallow- rooted.  

5  
Bur Oak (Mossycup 

Oak)  
Quercus 

macrocarpa  
Slow  

Texas native, reliable fall color, attractive seeds 
or fruit, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. Unique 
leaf shape; large acorn is enclosed in a fuzzy cap. 
Excellent, drought-tolerant native tree, with 
rough texture and large acorn.  

6  
Bitternut hickory 
(swamp hickory)  

Carya 
cordiformis  

Moderate  
Large pecan hickory with commercial stands 
located mostly north of the other pecan 
hickories.  

7  
Carolina Basswood 

(Linden)  
Tilia caroliniana  Rapid  

Texas native, showy or fragrant flower, attractive 
seeds or fruit. Large, oval shade tree with 
interesting winged fruits. Flowers are a favorite 
of honeybees. Needs plenty of room.  

8  Cedar Elm  
Ulmus 

crassifolia  
Moderate  

Texas native, reliable fall color. Fine textured 
leaves turn yellow in fall. Tough, drought-tolerant 
shade tree, well-adapted to a variety of 
conditions.  

9  Cherrybark Oak  
Quercus falcata 
var. pagodifolia  

Moderate  
Texas native, reliable fall color, seeds or fruit 
eaten by wildlife. Excellent native shade tree for 
a variety of planting situations.  

10  Chinkapin Oak  
Quercus 

muehlenbergii  
Moderate  

It is also planted widely as a shade tree suitable 
for limestone soils. Occurs from northeast Texas 
to Central Texas and south to the Guadalupe 
River, and also in the mountains of West Texas, 
growing on mostly limestone soils, especially at 
the base of bluffs and along stream courses.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

11



11  Green Ash  
Fraxinus 

pennsylvanica  
Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color. Tolerates a wide 
range of soil conditions. Needs pruning to 
develop strong branch structure.  

12  

Laurel Oak (swamp 
laurel oak, 

diamond-leaf oak, 
water oak, obtusa 

oak)  

Quercus 
laurifolia  

Moderate  
Native to the southeastern and south-central the 
United States, from coastal Virginia to central 
Florida and west to southeast Texas.  

13  Live Oak (Encino)  
Quercus 

virginiana  
Rapid  

Texas native, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. 
Glossy, deep green leaves remain all winter; long-
lived shade tree. Allow plenty of room; can 
develop surface roots.  

14  Loblolly Pine  Pinus taeda  Rapid  

Texas native. Medium-length green needles and 
large, brown cones in the fall. Tolerates a wide 
range of site conditions, but prefers good 
drainage.  

15  
Montezuma 

Cypress (Bald 
Cypress)  

Taxodium 
mucronatum  

Rapid  
Texas native, attractive seeds or fruit. Delicate, 
feathery foliage casts a light shade. Bark is 
reddish and shredding.  

16  Nutall Oak  Quercus nuttallii  Moderate  
Grows well on heavy, poorly drained, clay soils 
deposited by rivers.  

17  Overcup Oak  Quercus lyrata  Moderate  

Texas native, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. 
Small acorns are an important wildlife food 
source. Tolerates poor drainage and heavy clay 
soils. (slow to leaf out in the spring).  

18  Pecan  
Carya 

illinoinensis  
Moderate  

Texas native, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. Nuts 
are an important wildlife food. Mature crown is 
open and airy. State tree of Texas. Plant with 
plenty of room. (slow to leaf out in the spring. 
Fruit will stain sidewalk).  

19  Red Maple  Acer rubrum  Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color, attractive seeds 
or fruit. Flowers and winged fruits in spring are 
red. Brilliant fall color, yellow to red. (Bark is 
easily injured by weed eater).  

20  River Birch  Betula nigra  Rapid  Texas native. Attractive pinkish peeling bark. 
Works well as multiple trunk specimen. Prefers 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

12



moist sites like stream banks. Susceptible to ice 
damage. (Needs high nitrogen to stay healthy).  

21  Shumard Oak  
Quercus 

shumardii  
Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color, seeds or fruit 
eaten by wildlife. Young trees have "candelabra" 
shape; fall color is orange to deep red. Widely 
available; prefers well-drained soils. Seed source 
of trees may determine success.  

22  Hybrid Magnolia  
Little Gem or 

D.D. Blanchard  
Moderate  Grows better than the Southern Magnolia.  

23  Southern Magnolia  
Magnolia 

grandiflora  
Moderate  

Texas native, showy or fragrant flower, attractive 
seeds or fruit, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. 
Large, white flowers and glossy, deep green 
leaves. Plant in well-drained soil and let limbs 
grow to the ground. Some cultivars tolerate 
alkalinity.  

24  
Swamp Chestnut 
Oak (Cow Oak)  

Quercus 
michauxii  

Moderate  

Texas native, reliable fall color, seeds or fruit 
eaten by wildlife. Large leaves turn deep red in 
fall; large acorns are popular with wildlife. 
Tolerates seasonal poor drainage, but prefers 
loamy soils.  

25  Sweetgum  
Liquidambar 
styraciflua  

Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color, attractive seeds 
or fruit. Distinctive star-shaped leaves and round, 
spiky seed balls. Rapid, upright growth. Fall color 
ranges from yellow to purple.  

26  
Sycamore 
(American 
Planetree)  

Platanus 
occidentalis  

Rapid  

Texas native, attractive seeds or fruit. Old bark 
flakes off to reveal pale new bark. Round fruit is a 
mass of small seeds. Provide plenty of room and 
a moist site. (Mexican Sycamore better leaves)  

27  
Thornless 

Honeylocust  

Gleditsia 
triacanthos var. 

inermis  
Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color, attractive seeds 
or fruit, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. Wildlife 
eat seed pods.  

28  
Water Oak (Pin 

Oak)  
Quercus nigra  Rapid  

Texas native, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. Dark 
green bell-shaped leaves form a dense canopy. 
This common native does best on well drained, 
moist sites. (after 60 years prone to insects and 
disease).  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

13



29  White Ash  
Fraxinus 

americana  
Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color .Fall color is 
yellow, orange, and purple. Male trees are 
seedless. A relatively clean shade tree. Prefers 
loamy, well-drained soils.  

30  White Oak  Quercus alba  Slow  

Texas native, reliable fall color, seeds or fruit 
eaten by wildlife. Excellent long-lived shade tree. 
Wildlife eat acorns. Fall color is red. Works best 
on well-drained, loamy soils.  

31  Willow Oak  Quercus phellos  Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color, seeds or fruit 
eaten by wildlife. Narrow, light green leaves turn 
yellow-brown in the fall. Fine twigs and strong 
branch structure. Prefers moist conditions.  

  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
There is no formal action required tonight, we just need direction from the Commission as to 
what direction to take so we can draft a model ordinance and bring it back.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

14



ARTICLE XII. - LANDSCAPING, BUFFERYARD, PARK AND OPEN SPACE STANDARDS

Footnotes:
--- (11) ---

Editor's note— An illustration pertaining to bufferyard standards (Example 14-7) is set out following § 14-88.

Cross reference— Parks and recreation, ch. 46.

Sec. 14-306. - Landscaping requirements.

The following landscaping requirements shall become applicable to each individual lot at such time as an application for a
building permit is made and shall remain in effect thereafter, changes in ownership or use not withstanding. The building
official shall not issue a building permit unless the developer provides landscaped areas according to this section; provided,
however, that this section shall not apply to the following:

(1)

Building permits for the substantial restoration of a building which has been damaged by fire, explosion, flood, tornado, riot,
act of the public enemy or accident of any kind issued within 12 months after such damage is sustained.

(2)

Building permits for new construction applied for prior to the adoption of these regulations.

(3)

Building permits for residential remodeling.

(4)

Building permits for interior remodeling in commercial districts and for nonresidential buildings in residential districts,
provided that the roof and all exterior walls of the building remain in the same location and are not structurally altered.

When the requirements of this article conflict or are inconsistent with requirements of other provisions of this chapter, this
article shall prevail.

(Ord. No. 95-04, § 1(1100), 2-20-95; Ord. No. 00-15, § 1, 5-15-00)

Sec. 14-307. - Definitions.

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this section,
except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

Canopy tree. Any self-supporting woody plant with one well-defined trunk and a distinct and definite formed crown which
attains a height of at least 30 feet such as Oaks, Pecans, Sweet Gum, Southern Magnolia, Slash Pine, Loblolly Pines,
Sycamore, Bald Cypress, Winged Elm, Cedar Elm, and Chinese Elm.

Drip line. The periphery of the area underneath a tree which would be encompassed by perpendicular lines dropped from the
farthest edges of the crown of the tree.

Groundcover. A spreading plant including sods and grasses with a mature height of less than 18 inches in height.

Landscaped area. That area within the boundaries of a lot which is devoted to, and consists of, plant material, including but
not limited to grass, trees, shrubs, flowers, vines and other groundcover, native plant materials, planters, brick, stone, natural
forms, water forms, aggregate and other landscape features; provided, however, that the use of brick, stone, aggregate or
other inorganic materials shall not predominate over the use of organic plant material. Smooth concrete or asphalt are not
approved materials within the landscaped area.

Landscaping. Trees, shrubs, ground cover, vines or grass installed in planting areas, having a minimum of ten square feet of
actual plantable area and a minimum inside dimension on any side of 18 inches.

Jersey Village Ordinance

Jersey Village Ordinance 1

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

15



Large tree. A tree with an expected mature height of more than 50 feet, including most oaks, maples, pines, elms, hickories,
and pecans.

Noncanopy tree. Any self-supporting woody plant with one or more trunks which attains a height of at least 15 feet such as
Eastern Redbud, Southern Golden Raintree, and Flowering Pear.

Protected tree. A tree on public property, a large street tree, or a large tree in the front or side street-facing yard of private
property with a trunk diameter larger than six inches (measured at four feet off the ground) that is not an undesirable tree or a
tree having replaced a protected tree.

Shrub. A woody perennial plant differing from a perennial herb by its more woody stem and from a tree by its low stature
and habit of branching from the base.

Street tree. A tree on a public street right-of-way with[in] the city.

Tree. A woody plant having one well-defined stem or trunk having a more or less definitely formed crown, and ordinarily
attaining a mature height of not less than six feet.

Undesirable tree. A tree planted or existing in violation of the spacing requirements of this article, a tree that is dead or dying
as determined by the director of public works or a professional arborist, a tree that is a hazard to public health, or a tree that
has damaged and will continue to damage property.

(Ord. No. 95-04, § 1(1101), 2-20-95; Ord. No. 00-15, § 2, 5-15-00; Ord. No. 03-31, § 1, 9-15-03)

Cross reference— Definitions generally, § 1-2.

Sec. 14-308. - Procedures.

(a)

Applications for residential building permits shall show the required landscaping by noting the square footage of the
landscaped area and the location of the required trees on the site plan.

(b)

Application for nonresidential building permits shall provide a site plan as described in subsection 14-6(d) with the following
additional information:

(1)

The location, size and type (tree, shrub, ground cover, grass) of proposed landscaping in proposed landscaped areas;

(2)

The location and size of proposed landscaped areas;

(3)

The location and species of existing trees eight inches or larger in diameter and the approximate size of their crowns;

(4)

Information necessary for verifying whether the required minimum percent of landscaped area has been met;

(5)

An explanation of how the applicant plans to protect the existing trees, which are proposed to be retained from damage
during construction;

(6)

The proposed irrigation system as required by subsection 14-310(7);

Jersey Village Ordinance

Jersey Village Ordinance 2

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

16



(7)

The certification of an engineer, surveyor, landscape architect or architect registered in the state, or full-time professional
building designer that the plans satisfy the requirements of this section, provided, however, that for a development greater
than two acres in size, such plans and certification shall only be made by landscape architect registered in the state.

(c)

The building official shall inspect each site not later than 12 months after issuance of the certificate of occupancy to ensure
compliance with the requirements of this section.

(d)

If, at the time of an application for a certificate of occupancy, the required landscaping is not in place, the owner shall make
fiscal arrangements (by bond, certificate of deposit, or letter of credit) satisfactory to the city in the amount of $2.00 per
square foot of required landscaping not in place to ensure that such required landscaping shall be installed. A property owner
making such fiscal arrangements must grant the city a license to enter upon the land for the purposes of installing the required
landscaping in the event that such landscaping is not in place at the time of the inspection required by the preceding
subsection. Such fiscal arrangements shall be released, if the required landscaping is in place at the time of such inspection.

(Ord. No. 00-15, § 3, 5-15-00)

Editor's note— Ord. No. 00-15, § 3, adopted May 15, 2000, repealed § 14-308, which pertained to applications, and derived
from Ord. No. 95-04, § 1(1102), adopted Feb. 20, 1995. Section 3 of said Ord. No. 00-15 adopted new provisions to read as
herein set out.

Sec. 14-309. - Specific standards.

(a)

Residential lots.

(1)

Residential lots shall have landscaped areas which in the aggregate include not less than 50 percent of the area contained
within the building setbacks.

(2)

A minimum of two trees (either existing or planted) measuring one inch or greater in diameter four feet above the ground at
time of planting or measurement (if existing) are required within the front or side street setback areas.

(3)

Landscaping shall be in harmony with the surrounding area adequate to minimize visual monotony and barrenness.

(b)

Nonresidential lots.

(1)

At least ten percent of the total area within a lot shall contain landscaped areas.

(2)

A landscaped area ten feet in width shall be provided adjacent to each street right of way. Drives and sidewalks shall not be
included in the required landscaped area except to the extent to which they may be required to cross the buffer to provide
access.

(3)

All open, unpaved space including, but not limited to, front, side and rear building setback areas shall be landscaped.

Jersey Village Ordinance

Jersey Village Ordinance 3

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

17



(4)

An average of at least ten feet and a minimum of five feet shall be a landscaped area and walkway between the building and
parking areas.

(5)

Trees, either existing or planted, measuring a minimum of two inches average diameter measured four feet above ground
level at the time of planting or measurement (if existing) shall be provided according to the following standards:

a.

In lots containing 20,000 square feet or less, one tree per 2,000 square feet, or fraction thereof;

b.

In lots containing more than 20,000 square feet, but less than 100,000 square feet, ten trees, plus one tree per 2,500 square
feet or fraction thereof in excess of 10,000 square feet;

c.

In lots containing more than 100,000 square feet, 46 trees plus one tree per 5,000 square feet, or fraction thereof, over
100,000 square feet;

d.

A minimum of 25 percent of the trees required by this section shall be canopy trees with the remainder in noncanopy trees.

Each tree planted shall be in a planting area with a radius not less than three feet measured from tree trunk to the near edge of
the landscaped area. All tree plantings shall be encompassed with an approved curb barrier to prevent access by vehicular
traffic.

(6)

Ground signs. A landscaped area not less than ten feet in width shall be located around the supporting structure of each
ground sign and extending not less than three feet beyond each end. A hedge or other durable planting, which is not less than
one foot in height at the time of planting and which will attain an average height of at least three feet shall extend the entire
length and width of the required landscaped setup. Two flowering trees, not less than eight feet in height, shall be located
within the required landscape setup. The remainder of the landscaped setup may be in grass or a decorative ground cover.

(7)

Parking lots and other vehicular areas. Vehicular use areas, parking areas, parking lots, and their parked vehicles shall have
effective buffering from the street view. A minimum amount of the total area of all vehicular use areas and parking areas of a
lot shall be devoted to landscaped islands, peninsulas, or medians. The minimum total area in such islands, peninsulas, and
medians shall be 90 square feet for each 12 parking spaces therein. No parking space shall be located further than 50 feet
from a permeable landscaped island, peninsula or median or tree. All islands, peninsulas and medians required in the areas
stated above, shall be more or less evenly distributed throughout such parking areas, respectively; however, the distribution
and location of landscaped islands, peninsulas, and medians may be adjusted to accommodate existing trees or other natural
features so long as the total area requirement for landscaped islands, peninsulas, and medians for the respective parking areas
above is satisfied.

(Ord. No. 00-15, § 4, 5-15-00)

Editor's note— Ord. No. 00-15, § 4, adopted May 15, 2000, repealed § 14-309, which pertained to procedures, and derived
from Ord. No. 95-04, § 1(1103), adopted Feb. 20, 1995. Section 4 of said Ord. No. 00-15 adopted new provisions to read as
herein set out.

Sec. 14-310. - General standards.

(1)

Jersey Village Ordinance

Jersey Village Ordinance 4

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

18



The existing natural landscape character shall be preserved to the extent reasonable and feasible. The developer shall use his
best good faith efforts to preserve existing trees. In determining whether there is compliance with this subsection the city
shall consider topographical constraints on design, drainage, access and egress, utilities and other factors reasonably related
to the health, safety and welfare of the public which necessitate disturbance of the existing natural character, the nature and
quality of the landscaping installed to replace it; and such other factors as may be relevant and proper. Indiscriminate clearing
or stripping of natural vegetation on a lot is prohibited.

(2)

All newly planted trees shall be planted in a permeable area not less than three feet in width. Permeable pavers may be
considered as permeable cover. The impervious cover within the landscaped area encompassing the dripline of any tree shall
not exceed 50 percent of the landscaped area.

(3)

The developer shall use native or naturalized plants and trees which are capable of vigorous and healthy growth in this area.

(4)

Landscaped areas shall be maintained in a vigorous and healthy condition, free from disease, pests, weeds and litter.
Maintenance shall include weeding, watering, fertilization, pruning, mowing, edging, mulching and other maintenance in
accordance with generally accepted horticultural practice. Plant materials which are dead, diseased or severely damaged shall
be removed and replaced by the landowner as soon as possible, but not later than 60 days after notification; provided,
however, that trees which are dead, diseased or severely damaged, shall be removed no later than 60 days after notification
and replaced not later than six months after notification or by the next planting season, whichever comes first.

(5)

When a driveway intersects a public right-of-way or when the subject property abuts the intersection of two or more public
right-of-ways all landscaping within the site triangle (see figure 14-5) shall provide unobstructed cross visibility at a level
between three feet and eight feet. Landscaping shall be maintained in such a manner as not to obscure or otherwise interfere
with the effectiveness of an official traffic sign, signal or devise or to obstruct or interfere with the view of the driver of an
approaching, emerging or intersecting vehicle or to prevent a traveler on any street from obtaining a clear view of
approaching vehicles for a distance of 250 feet along the street.

(6)

Landowner responsibilities. The landowner shall be responsible for:

(a)

The regular maintenance of all required landscaped areas and plant materials in a vigorous and healthy condition, free from
disease, pests, weeds and litter. This maintenance shall include weeding, watering, fertilization, pruning, mowing, edging,
mulching or other needed maintenance, in accordance with generally accepted horticultural practice.

(b)

All vegetation on each lot shall be cut as often as may be necessary to maintain the same in a neat and attractive manner.
Edging and trimming shall be conducted at such intervals so as to prevent the invasion of vegetation in excess of four inches
onto any sidewalk, paved walkway, driveway or curb.

(c)

The repair or replacement of required landscape structures to a structurally sound condition.

(d)

The regular maintenance, repair or replacement where necessary, of any required screening or buffering.

(e)

Jersey Village Ordinance

Jersey Village Ordinance 5

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

19



The owner of a tree overhanging a street or right-of-way within the city shall prune the branches so that the branches will not
severely obstruct the light from any street lamp or obstruct the view of any street intersection and so that there shall be a clear
space of 13 feet above street surface of [or] eight feet above the sidewalk surface. The owner shall be responsible for
removing all dead, diseased, or dangerous trees, or broken or decayed limbs, including tree stumps, which constitute a
menace to the safety of the public. Tree pruning shall be done in accordance with accepted arboricultural standards.

(7)

Irrigation. Landscaping required by this article shall be irrigated according to the standards established below:

(a)

One of the following methods shall be used for landscape irrigation:

1.

An underground sprinkling system.

2.

An automatic water-saving irrigation system.

3.

A hose attachment within 100 feet of all landscaped areas. The irrigation method used shall provide a moisture level in an
amount and frequency adequate to sustain growth of the plant materials on a permanent basis. Such irrigation method shall be
in place and operational prior to issuance of certificate of occupancy.

(b)

Reserved.

(c)

All sprinkler systems shall be on a separate water meter from other uses and equipment with approved backflow prevention
devices.

(8)

Plant installation. All required plant materials shall be installed according to planting details and specifications showing
clearly how growing conditions adequate to sustain vigorous and healthy growth will be achieved including, but not limited
to:

(a)

Protection and support of tree trunks.

(b)

Provision of adequate conditions for root growth.

(c)

Provision for retention of moisture.

(d)

Protection of plants from equipment or vehicular damage.

(9)

Spacing. No large tree shall be planted within five feet of a public sidewalk or street, within five lateral feet of an
underground electric, water, gas, or sewer utility line, or within ten lateral feet of an overhead electric utility wire. No street

Jersey Village Ordinance

Jersey Village Ordinance 6

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

20



tree shall be planted within 35 feet of a street corner, or within ten feet of a fire hydrant, water meter, or street light. No street
trees may be planted closer together than the average expected spread of the trees at maturity.

(10)

A person conducting excavation or construction near a protected tree shall see that the protected tree is reasonably protected
including appropriate protective markings or fencing around the drip line of the tree.

(Ord. No. 00-15, § 5, 5-15-00; Ord. No. 02-15, § 1, 6-17-02; Ord. No. 03-31, §§ 2—4, 9-15-03)

Editor's note— Ord. No. 00-15, § 5, adopted May 15, 2000, repealed § 14-310, which pertained to landscaping
requirements, and derived from Ord. No. 95-04, § 1(1104), adopted Feb. 20, 1995. Section 5 of said Ord. No. 00-15 adopted
new provisions to read as herein set out.

Sec. 14-311. - Credits toward landscaping requirements.

(1)

An existing or planted tree which is not less than eight inches in diameter or not less than six inches in diameter and not less
than 15 feet in height shall be considered as two trees for purposes of satisfying this section.

(2)

Each square foot of landscaped area which is permeable and within the area encompassed by the dripline of a tree shall count
as one and one-half square feet of landscaped area for the purposes of satisfying the requirements of subsection 14-310(b), as
applicable. To encourage growth of smaller trees between four and eight inches in trunk diameter, measured four feet off the
ground, such trees shall receive such special credit for twice the area of the dripline. Thus, each square foot of landscaped
area around such four-inch to eight-inch trees which is permeable and contiguous to the landscaped area within the dripline
shall count as two square feet of landscaped area for the purposes of satisfying the requirements of subsection 14-309(b). In
no case shall the actual landscaped area be less than two-thirds of the required minimum percentages under subsection 24-
309(b).

(3)

The credits of subsection (2) of this section shall be subject to the following limitations: Neither overlapping dripline areas
nor areas contiguous to the dripline areas which overlap shall be counted twice. Moreover, a tree dripline area shall not
qualify for credit under this section if:

(a)

Less than one-half of the dripline area is permeable cover;

(b)

There have been any damaging changes in the original grade of the dripline under the tree; provided, however, changes in
grade required by city ordinance such as sidewalks and curbing highway approaches shall not be considered as damaging
changes; or

(c)

The total of such area receiving such credit around the tree exceeds the total square footage of landscaped area within the
dripline.

(Ord. No. 00-15, § 6, 5-15-00)

Editor's note— Ord. No. 00-15, § 6, adopted May 15, 2000, repealed § 14-311, which pertained to planting and growth of
trees in street rights-of-way, and derived from Ord. No. 95-04, § 1(1105), adopted Feb. 20, 1995. Section 6 of said Ord. No.
00-15 adopted new provisions to read as herein set out.

Sec. 14-312. - Landscaping in street rights-of-way.

Jersey Village Ordinance

Jersey Village Ordinance 7

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

21



Maintenance of landscaping within street rights-of-way shall be the responsibility of the adjacent property owner. Trees,
shrubs, bushes or other vegetation planted in the street right-of-way shall not interfere with the view of traffic along the
street. No trees, bushes, shrubs or other vegetation greater than three feet in height shall be planted, grown or maintained
within the sight triangle defined in figure 14-5.

The species of trees planted within street rights-of-way shall be ornamental varieties such as crepe myrtle, eastern redbud and
other similar trees which, at maturity, attain an average height of approximately 30 feet. Trees shall not be located within four
feet of a public sidewalk or the future extension of a sidewalk. Trees shall not be located within five feet of the curb.

(Ord. No. 00-15, § 7, 5-15-00)

Editor's note— Ord. No. 00-15, § 7, adopted May 15, 2000, repealed § 14-312, which pertained to credits toward
landscaping requirements, and derived from Ord. No. 95-04, § 1(1106), adopted Feb. 20, 1995. Section 7 of said Ord. No. 00-
15 adopted new provisions to read as herein set out.

Sec. 14-313. - Alternative compliance.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this article, a landscape plan which is alternative to strict compliance with the
various landscaping requirements of this article may be approved by the planning commission if the commission finds that
such plan is as good or better than a plan in strict compliance with the various landscaping requirements of this article in
accomplishing the purposes of this article. Such landscape plan shall be drawn and sealed by a landscape architect certified in
the state.

(Ord. No. 95-04, § 1(1107), 2-20-95; Ord. No. 00-15, § 8, 5-15-00)

Sec. 14-314. - Parks, playgrounds and open space areas.

(a)

Dedication. The developer of any residential lots or, in the case of multifamily residential structures, dwelling units shall
dedicate land for park uses at locations designated in the comprehensive plan or otherwise where such dedications are
appropriate at the rate of ten percent of the total development (as shown on the preliminary plat). A maximum of 50 percent
of the dedicated area may be dedicated as open space. The developer may dedicate the area in stages if the development
contains two or more phases. The developer shall show the area marked on the final plat as "dedicated for park, open space
and recreation purposes."

(b)

Money in lieu of land.

(1)

Variance required. A variance from the requirement to provide parkland may be granted by the city at the time of preliminary
plat approval if the dedication of park land, as required in subsection (a) of this section is determined to work an undue
hardship on the development or the tract size is inadequate for park and/or recreational purposes and a park site is available
within one-half mile of the development. Where a variance is granted, the developer shall deposit with the city, prior to final
plat approval, a cash payment in lieu of land dedication. The developer shall deposit with the city a sum of money equal to
the current assessed value of the land in the development according to the county appraisal district, based on the prorated
amount of land required in subsection (a) of this section.

(2)

Neighborhood park and recreation improvement fund. Such deposit shall be placed in a neighborhood park and recreation
improvement fund established by the city. The deposit shall be used by the city for improvement and/or acquisition of a
neighborhood park, playground or recreation area. Such deposit shall be used by the city for facilities that will be actually
available to and benefit the persons in such development and be located within one-half mile of the development. If, within
18 months, the city has not purchased the land for a neighborhood park, playground or recreation area or improved an
existing facility within one-half mile of the development, the city shall reimburse the developer the full cash payment made
in lieu of land dedication.

(c)

Jersey Village Ordinance

Jersey Village Ordinance 8

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

22



Quality of park site. The developer may, with concurrence of the city, make as extensive improvements or provide
recreational facilities as desired. The developer shall dedicate land for recreation purposes of a character and location suitable
for use as a playground, playfield or for other recreation purposes. The recreation site shall be relatively level and dry with a
total frontage on one or more streets of at least 200 feet in depth and no other dimension of the site shall be less than 100 feet
in depth. The developer, with the city's permission, may locate the tract at a suitable place on the periphery of the
development, so a more usable tract will result when additional park land is obtained when adjacent land is developed.

(d)

Open space. The developer may dedicate open space areas in partial fulfillment of the requirements in section 14-309(a).
Open space shall include all land and water dedicated as a means to conserve land and other natural resources or for historic
or scenic purposes not required to be dedicated elsewhere. Areas dedicated for open space uses may include, but not be
limited to, sites that:

(1)

Present existing or potential hazards such as earth slippage or subsidence or other geological hazards;

(2)

May be in danger of flooding from stormwater runoff;

(3)

Preserve or protect scenic sites; or

(4)

Provide a buffer between incompatible land uses.

(e)

Credit for private parks and recreational areas. If the developer provides private open space for park and recreational
purposes and such space is to be privately owned and maintained by the future residents of the development, such areas shall
be credited against the requirement of dedication for park and recreational land, provided that the following standards are
met:

(1)

Yards, court areas, setbacks and other open spaces required in developments are not included in the computation of such
private open spaces;

(2)

The private ownership and maintenance of the open space is adequately provided for by written agreement; and

(3)

The use of the private open space is restricted for park and recreational purposes by recorded covenants which run with the
land in favor of the future owners of property within the development.

(Ord. No. 95-04, § 1(1108), 2-20-95)

Sec. 14-315. - Reserved.
Sec. 14-316. - Permit required.

(a)

No person shall remove a healthy protected tree in the front yard of a residential property without first obtaining a permit
from the director of public works.

(b)

Jersey Village Ordinance

Jersey Village Ordinance 9

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

23



The fee for a permit to remove a protected tree shall be $50.00. The tree shall be replaced with a tree or trees with a
combined diameter of one inch for each six inches and fraction thereof of replaced tree diameter (measured at four feet off
the ground). Replacement trees must be at least one inch in diameter measured at four feet off the ground. The director of
public works may authorize that one or more of the replacement trees be planted in designated locations on public property.
No replacement tree shall be required if the property has at least two other large protected trees in the front yard.

(Ord. No. 03-31, § 5, 9-15-03)

Secs. 14-317—14-330. - Reserved.

Jersey Village Ordinance

Jersey Village Ordinance 10

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

24



Alamo Heights 

Alamo Heights  1 

ALAMO HEIGHTS 
ARTICLE X. - TREE PRESERVATION  

Sec. 5-150. - Purpose and intent.  

The purpose and intent of this article is to promote and preserve healthy and desirable tree species 
as an important public resource, serving to enhance air quality, mitigate flooding and storm water runoff, 
reduce energy costs, store and sequester carbon dioxide, and enhance quality of life. Tree preservation 
further assists in protecting the city's unique character and aesthetically-pleasing environment. The 
purpose shall be accomplished through the protection of trees of certain species and size, regulation of 
the proper pruning, protection of trees during construction activity, and establishment of procedures for 
requesting removal of such trees.  

(Ord. No. 1860, 4-12-10) 

Sec. 5-151. - General provisions.  

(a)  Permits issued under this article shall only apply to the specific tree(s) and property identified in the 
permit.  

(b)  For work requiring a building permit, the buildings, renovations, additions and site improvements 
shall be oriented in a manner that allows for preservation of the maximum number of trees to the 
greatest extent reasonably feasible.  

(c)  No more than fifty (50) percent of the critical root zone of any heritage tree shall be covered with 
impervious cover and no closer than three (3) feet from the trunk of the tree.  

(d)  No more than thirty (30) percent of the critical root zone of any heritage tree shall be trenched, 
excavated, damaged or removed and no closer than three (3) feet from the trunk of the tree.  

(e)  All tree pruning shall follow ANSI A300 standards.  

(f)  The property owner is responsible for maintaining all trees or tree canopy on the property by 
providing irrigation, fertilization, pruning, and other maintenance as required to preserve the health of 
all trees.  

(g)  The property owner is responsible for trimming, pruning, or maintaining all trees and branches within 
any portion of their property and the contiguous portion of the property between the front property 
line and the paved city right-of-way to provide the visibility and vehicular clearances as required 
within Chapter 16 Streets and Sidewalks of the City's Code of Ordinances.  

(Ord. No. 1860, 4-12-10) 

Sec. 5-152. - Heritage trees.  

(a)  The designation of Heritage Tree species is shown in Table 1. Heritage Tree designations establish 
a threshold trunk size, measured in diameter at breast height (DBH) for purposes of applying the 
requirements of this article.  

Table 1: Designation of Heritage Trees  

Tree Species  Botanical Name  Heritage Tree (DBH)  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

25



Alamo Heights 

Alamo Heights  2 

Anaqua  Ehretia annacua  24"  

Black Cherry, Escarpment  Prunus serotina var. eximia  24"  

Black Walnut  Juglans nigra  24"  

Cedar, Deodora  Cedrus deodara  12"  

Crepe Myrtle  Lagerstroemia indica  24"  

Cypress, Arizona  Cupressus arizonica  24"  

Cypress, Montezuma  Taxodium mucronatum  24"  

Elm, Cedar  Ulmus crassifolia  24"  

Maple, Uvalde Bigtooth  Acer grandidendentatum  24"  

Mesquite  Prosopis glandulosa  24"  

Oak, Blackjack  Quercus marilandica  24"  

Oak, Bur  Quercus macropcarpa  24"  

Oak, Chinkapin  Quercus muhlenbergii  24"  

Oak, Lacy  Quercus laceyi  24"  

Oak, Live  Quercus spp.  24"  

Oak, Mexican White  Quercus polymorhpa  24"  

Oak, Texas Red  Quercus buckleyi  24"  

Oak, Shumard Red  Quercus shumardii  24"  

Olive, Mexican  Cordia boissieri  8"  

Palm, Sabinal  Sabal texana  12"  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

26



Alamo Heights 

Alamo Heights  3 

Pecan  Carya illnoensis  24"  

Persimmon, Texas  Diospyros texana  8"  

Redbud, Texas  Cercis canadensis  8"  

Magnolia, Southern  Magnolia grandiflora  24"  

Sycamore, Mexican  Platanus mexicana  24"  

Texas Mountain Laurel  Sophora secundiflora  8"  

  

(b)  For the purposes of determining heritage tree designation and for applying the requirements of this 
article, multi-trunk trees shall be the sum total DBH as measured for each trunk. Multi-trunk trees 
shall be considered a heritage tree if the sum total DBH of all trunks equal or exceeds the threshold 
trunk size as listed for the tree species in Table 1 Designation of Heritage Trees.  

(c)  For the purposes of determining heritage tree designation and for applying the requirements of this 
article, cluster trees shall be the sum total DBH of all trunks of a cluster of three (3) or more heritage 
tree type species where one tree is measured less than or equal to five (5) feet from another. Cluster 
trees shall be considered a heritage tree if the sum total DBH of all trunks equal or exceeds the 
threshold trunk size as listed for the tree species in Table 1 Designation of Heritage Trees.  

(Ord. No. 1860, 4-12-10) 

Sec. 5-153. - Registration of tree service vendors.  

(a)  Any business or contractor providing tree services related to installation, pruning or removal of trees 
within the city must register with the city to become a Registered Tree Service Vendor.  

Exception: Lawn maintenance professionals hired to provide general landscaping activities on a 
scheduled basis such as mowing, lawn trimming, planting, tree trimming, pruning, or removal shall not be 
required to register with the city.  

(b)  The following items shall be required for application for tree service vendor registration:  

(1)  Application for a registered tree service vendor, and  

(2)  Valid tree pruning license from any municipality or recognized agency or organization within 
Bexar County, or  

(3)  Verification of ISA Certified Arborist on staff.  

(c)  Limbs, branches and other cuttings from tree services performed by registered tree service vendors 
shall be removed from the city by the registered tree service vendor by the end of each business day 
the work was performed.  

(Ord. No. 1860, 4-12-10) 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

27



Alamo Heights 

Alamo Heights  4 

Sec. 5-154. - Permit required.  

(a)  A tree pruning permit is required for the pruning of any trees.  

Exception: A pruning permit shall not be required when the pruning is completed by the property 
owner, or any personnel regularly employed by the owner for the purposes of routine maintenance, or 
landscaping.  

(b)  A tree removal permit is required for the removal of any tree(s) larger than eight (8) inches DBH 
within the boundaries of the City of Alamo Heights.  

(c)  The director shall consider requests for a tree removal permit, except as specified by this article, 
based on the following criteria:  

(1)  Is the proposed tree to be removed determined to be a heritage tree(s) according to section 5-
152.  

Note: Removal of a determined heritage tree shall not be approved without evidence 
submission of sufficient cause or hardship as determined by the director, board or commission.  

(2)  The topography of the site;  

(3)  Whether the removal of the tree would provide more light and airspace for adjacent trees;  

(4)  Whether the existing tree is in a location on the lot that is neither visible by the public or does 
not contribute to the tree canopy along the street; and  

(5)  Whether exceptional architectural design performed by a registered architect may be achieved 
by a reduction in trees.  

(d)  Requests for a tree removal permit shall include the specific reason(s) for removing the tree(s), 
as well as:  

(1)  A site plan that identifies the exact locations, the tree species, and the DBH of all trees 
within the subject property and specifically identifies each tree proposed to be removed; 
and  

(2)  Photographs that sufficiently illustrate the character and location of each tree proposed to 
be removed.  

(e)  If the tree removal permit is being requested in conjunction with a building permit, the request may 
also be required to include existing and proposed topographical information, easements, rights-of-
way, setbacks, and property lines, the location of all existing and proposed structures, utilities, paved 
areas, and sidewalks, to the extent such information is available.  

(f)  Permits for the removal of trees that fall or the removal of limbs which have fallen due to acts of 
nature such as windstorm, flood, freeze or other disasters, may be waived by the city manager or 
other designated official if requested within thirty (30) days of the weather event and removed within 
sixty (60) days.  

(Ord. No. 1860, 4-12-10; Ord. No. 2146 , § 3, 10-14-19) 

Sec. 5-155. - Fees for tree pruning permits, tree removal permits and tree service vendor registrations.  

(a)  Fees for tree pruning permits, tree removal permits and tree service vendor registration shall be 
listed in the adopted schedule of development fees as maintained in the director's office. All 
application fees are non-refundable and due upon receipt of application.  

(b)  The director shall issue a tree removal permit with no fee required if a heritage tree is:  

(1)  Determined by a certified arborist to be diseased or dying and is considered a hazard due to 
such condition, or is considered a hazard due to natural events, including, but not limited to, 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

28

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=986769&datasource=ordbank


Alamo Heights 

Alamo Heights  5 

tornados, floods, storms, or other acts of God or by other events. Determination must be 
submitted in writing to the director's office prior to removal of the tree.  

(Ord. No. 1860, 4-12-10) 

Sec. 5-156. - Heritage tree removal mitigation.  

(a)  A property owner or authorized agent requesting removal of a designated heritage tree which is not 
certified to be diseased or dying is required to provide these mitigation requirements if removal is 
approved by the director:  

(1)  Planting additional types of trees as listed in table 1 of this article (excluding palms, mountain 
laurels and crepe myrtles unless the heritage tree being removed is one of these types) with a 
replacement ratio (measured in inches DBH) which meets the following criteria:  

a.  Minimum 1:1 ratio (one (1) to one (1) replacement trunk DBH to removed trunk DBH) for 
individual heritage or multi-trunk heritage trees,  

b.  Minimum ½:1 ratio (one-half (½) to one (1) replacement trunk DBH to removed trunk DBH) 
for cluster type heritage trees.  

(2)  Minimum DBH for mitigation purposes is a four-inch caliper.  

(3)  Proposed planting shall be permitted on the following properties:  

a.  The same lot as such heritage tree(s) was removed,  

(4)  Fees in lieu of mitigation. A property owner or authorized agent required to provide mitigation 
shall plant additional trees on the property for which mitigation is required in accordance with 
section 5-156(a), or shall pay a fee in lieu of planting additional trees in accordance with the 
following:  

a.  A fee of three hundred dollars ($300.00) shall be paid per inch of required mitigation for 
each heritage tree removed.  

b.  For residentially zoned properties located in the SF-A, SF-B, and 2F-C districts, and for 
properties with existing or proposed single-family structures in the MFD district, the cap for 
mitigation fees shall be two thousand dollars ($2,000.000) per tree.  

(b)  The director shall have discretion to modify mitigating requirements due to special circumstances.  

(Ord. No. 1860, 4-12-10; Ord. No. 2036 , 10-26-15; Ord. No. 2039 , 12-14-15) 

Sec. 5-157. - Prevention and control of the spread of oak wilt.  

(a)  All pruned limbs or wounds to the trunk, limbs and root system of oak trees in the city that expose 
sapwood shall be painted within thirty (30) minutes of the wound with asphaltic or exterior oil or latex 
based paint.  

(b)  Firewood from Oak wilt infected trees shall not be brought into the city at anytime.  

(c)  When Oak wilt infection is suspected or found, the director shall be contacted within forty-eight (48) 
hours to obtain aid from the Texas Forest Service to confirm the diagnosis of Oak wilt. When Oak 
wilt is confirmed the measures for control recommended by the service shall be undertaken to 
control spread of the infection. The cost of such measures will be the responsibility of the owner of 
the tree(s), provided that the owner of the tree(s) shall have the option of undertaking the least 
expensive measures approved by the Texas Forest Service.  

(d)  It is recommended that any firewood cut from any trees in the city and purchased firewood not be 
stacked under or close to oak trees and should be burned within one (1) year.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

29

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=759866&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=759867&datasource=ordbank


Alamo Heights 

Alamo Heights  6 

(Ord. No. 1860, 4-12-10) 

Sec. 5-158. - Tree protection during construction.  

To avoid damage or destruction of heritage trees and to enhance the chance of survival of other 
desirable trees after construction or demolition activities, the owner and contractor shall take and maintain 
the following measures throughout the course of demolition and construction:  

(1)  Erect and maintain a temporary protective barrier that equals the diameter of the tree canopy 
for each tree to be preserved. The barrier shall be in place before any site work is initiated and 
maintained throughout the construction process to avoid impact injuries to the tree and the 
tree's root system during demolition and construction. During demolition and construction, no 
excess soil, additional fill, construction equipment, liquids or construction debris shall be placed 
inside the protective barrier nor shall any soil be removed from within the barrier.  

(2)  To allow for vehicular access at times required during construction, the protective barrier on 
one side of the tree may be erected a minimum distance of sixty (60) inches from the trunk of a 
tree or group of trees only temporarily as such access is required. Other adjustments to the 
location of this barrier shall be approved by the director where site constraints are such that 
reasonable access for construction would otherwise not be available and where protection of 
the tree is still assured.  

(3)  Protective barriers may be comprised of chain link fencing, plywood and where appropriate 
"snow" temporary fencing such as vinyl construction fencing, geo-textile material or other 
material approved by the director.  

(4)  Trenching within a heritage tree's critical root zone shall have minimal intrusion and require the 
approval of the director during the building permit review process.  

(Ord. No. 1860, 4-12-10) 

Sec. 5-159. - Right-of-way clearance.  

(a)  In the interest of the health, safety and general welfare of all residents by providing transit space for 
fire trucks, ambulances and other emergency vehicles, it is a violation of this article for any person to 
fail to prune trees and other vegetation to the face of the curb edge of the pavement adjacent to any 
traversable public right-of-way to a minimum height of thirteen and one-half (13.5) feet from the 
surface of the pavement after receiving written thirty (30) days' notice from the director or his 
designee.  

Exception: The clearance above the traversable public right-of-way along La Jara Blvd. shall not be 
lower than eleven and one-half (11.5) feet from the surface of the pavement.  

(b)  No provision of this article shall be construed to in any way limit or restrict any and all rights that the 
city may have to remove any part of a tree or vegetation that is permitted to grow over the public 
right-of-way and measures at a height above pavement less than permitted in subsection (a) above, 
or to maintain any civil suit for injunctive relief to require the removal or the prohibition of the same.  

(Ord. No. 1860, 4-12-10)  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

30



Colleyville 

Colleyville           1 

Colleyville 
Chapter 99 - VEGETATION[1]  

Footnotes:  

--- (1) ---  

Cross reference— Environment, ch. 42.  

ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL  

Sec. 99-1. - Definitions.  

[The following words, terms and phrases, as used in this chapter, shall have the meanings 
respectively ascribed to them in this section, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:]  

Street trees is herein defined as trees, shrubs, bushes, and all other wood vegetation on land lying 
between the curb, pavement line and the property lines of either side of all streets, avenues or ways 
within the city.  

Park trees is herein defined as trees, shrubs, bushes and all other woody vegetation in public parks 
having individual names, and all areas owned by the city, or to which the public has free access as a 
park.  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 1, 12-15-98) 

Sec. 99-2. - Penalty.  

Any person violating any provision of this chapter shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon 
conviction or a plea of guilty, shall be subject to a fine in an amount not to exceed $2,000.00 for each 
offense.  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 2, 12-15-98) 

Secs. 99-3—99-20. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE II. - TREE BOARD  

Sec. 99-21. - Creation and establishment.  

There is hereby created and established a city tree board for the city, which shall consist of six 
members, consisting of three members of the parks and recreation advisory board, and three members of 
the Keep Colleyville Beautiful and/or Colleyville Garden Club, who shall be appointed by the city council. 
This tree board shall serve in an advisory capacity to the Colleyville Parks and Recreation Board and 
through them, to the city council.  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 2, 12-15-98; Ord. No. O-09-1707, § 1, 2-3-09)  

Cross reference— Parks and recreation advisory board, § 66-2. 

Sec. 99-22. - Term of office.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

31



Colleyville 

Colleyville           2 

The terms of the tree board members shall run concurrent with their terms on the parks and 
recreation advisory board, Keep Colleyville Beautiful Committee and/or Colleyville Garden Club. In the 
event that a vacancy shall occur during the term of any member, the successor shall be appointed by the 
city council.  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 3, 12-15-98; Ord. No. O-09-1707, § 1, 2-3-09) 

Sec. 99-23. - Compensation.  

Members of the Colleyville Tree Board shall serve without compensation.  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 4, 12-15-98) 

Sec. 99-24. - Duties and responsibilities.  

It shall be the responsibility of the board to study, investigate, counsel and develop and/or update 
annually a written plan for the care, preservation, trimming, planting, replanting, removal or disposition of 
trees and shrubs in public ways, streets and alleys. Such a plan will be presented annually to the park 
and recreation advisory board and through it to the city council; and upon acceptance and approval of the 
city council, shall constitute the official comprehensive city tree plan for the City of Colleyville, Texas.  

The city manager or his designee shall be responsible for the planting, pruning and removal of all 
trees located within the street rights-of-way, easements, alleys and parks of the City of Colleyville within 
the criteria of the approved plan. The owner of land abutting on any street may, when acting within the 
provisions of this chapter, prune, spray, plant or remove trees in that part of the street abutting his land. 
Permission of the city manager or his designee shall only be required when the owner of the abutting 
property intends to deviate from the rules and regulations contained in this chapter.  

The board, when requested by the parks and recreation advisory board or the city council, shall 
consider, investigate, make finding, report and recommend upon any special matter of question coming 
within the scope of its work.  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 5, 12-15-98) 

Sec. 99-25. - Operation.  

The board shall choose its own officers, adopt by-laws and keep an official record of its proceedings. 
A majority of the members shall be a quorum for the transaction of business.  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 6, 12-15-98) 

Sec. 99-26. - Review by city council.  

The city council shall have the right to review the conduct, acts, and decisions of the tree board. Any 
person may appeal from any ruling or order of the tree board to the city council who may hear the matter 
and make a final decision.  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 14, 12-15-98) 

Secs. 99-27—99-50. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III. - PLANTING AND MAINTENANCE[2]  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

32



Colleyville 

Colleyville           3 

 

Footnotes:  

--- (2) ---  

Cross reference— Regulating weeds, grass and uncultivated plants, § 42-31.  

Sec. 99-51. - Small trees and large trees.  

[The species are listed by size classes as follows:]  

Accent Trees (Range from 10 to 20 feet)  

Redbud  Cercis canadensis  

Crepe myrtle  Langerstromeia indica  

Yaupon holly  Ilex vomitoria  

Bradford pear  Purus calleryana "Bradford"  

Texas sophora  Sophora affinis  

Wild plum  Prunus americana  

Crab apple  Malus augustifolia  

Deciduous holly  Illex decidua  

Flameleaf sumac  Rhus copallina  

Cherry-laurel  Prunus caroliniana  

Chase trees  Vitex angus-castus  

  

Overstory Trees (Range from 30 to 60 feet)  

Bald cypress  Taxodium distichum  

Cedar Elm  Ulmus crassifolia  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

33



Colleyville 

Colleyville           4 

Lacebark Elm  Ulmus parvifolia  

Pecan  Carya illinoinesis  

Chinese Pistache  Pistacia chinesis  

Bur Oak  Querus macrocarpa  

Red Oak  Querus shumardii  

Sweet Gum  Liquidambar styraciflau  

Green Ash  Fraximus pennsylvanica  

Live Oak  Quercus virginiana  

Western soapberry  Sapindus drummondii  

Post Oak  Quercus stallata  

Black Jack Oak  Quercus marilandica  

Eastern Red Cedar  Juniperus virginiana  

Southern magnolia  Magnolia grandiflora  

Slash pine  Pinus elliotii  

Japanese black pine  Pinus thunbergi  

Austrian pine  Pinus nigra  

Afgan pine  Pinus eldarica  

  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 7, 12-15-98) 

Sec. 99-52. - Spacing.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

34



Colleyville 

Colleyville           5 

The spacing of street trees will be in accordance with the three [two] species size classes listed in 
section 99-51 of this chapter, and no trees may be planted closer together than the following (without 
approval of the tree board): Accent trees, 20 feet and overstory trees, 40 feet.  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 8, 12-15-98) 

Sec. 99-53. - Distance from curb and sidewalks.  

The distance trees may be planted from curbs or curblines and sidewalks will be in accordance with 
the two species size classes listed in section 99-51 of this chapter, and no trees may be planted closer to 
any curb or sidewalk than the following: Small trees, three feet; medium trees, five feet; and large trees, 
nine feet in accordance with existing city ordinances.  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 9, 12-15-98) 

Sec. 99-54. - Distance from street corners and fireplugs.  

No tree shall be planted closer than 25 feet of any street corner, measured from the point of nearest 
intersecting curbs or curblines. No street tree shall be planted closer than ten feet of any fireplug.  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 10, 12-15-98) 

Sec. 99-55. - Utilities.  

No street trees other than those species listed as small trees in section 99-51 of this chapter may be 
planted under or within ten lateral feet of any overhead utility wire, or over or within five lateral feet of any 
underground water line, sewer line, transmission line or other utility.  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 11, 12-15-98) 

Sec. 99-56. - Public tree care.  

The city shall have the right to plant, trim, spray, preserve and remove trees, plants and shrubs 
within the lines of all streets, alleys, avenues, lanes, squares and public grounds, as may be necessary to 
insure safety when servicing city utilities or to preserve the symmetry and beauty of such public grounds. 
The city may remove or cause or order to be removed, any tree or part thereof which is located on public 
property or municipal utility easement, which by reasons of its nature is injurious to sewers, electric power 
lines, gas lines, water lines or other public improvements, or is affected with any injurious fungus, insect 
or other pest.  

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 12, 12-15-98) 

Sec. 99-57. - Trimming corner clearance.  

Every owner of any tree overhanging any street or rights-of-way within the city shall trim the 
branches so that such branches shall not obstruct the light from any street lamp or obstruct the view of 
any street in an intersection and so that there shall be a clear space of seven feet above the surface of 
the street or right-of-way. The city shall have the right to trim any tree or shrub on private property when it 
interferes with visibility of any traffic control device or sign. Such trimming is to be confined to the area 
immediately above the right-of-way.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

35



Colleyville 

Colleyville           6 

(Ord. No. O-98-1130, § 13, 12-15-98)  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

36



Hillshire Village 

Hillshire Village  1 

Hillshire Village 
ARTICLE 7.700. - TREE PRESERVATION[4]  

Footnotes:  

--- (4) ---  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 745 , § 1, adopted Dec. 19, 2017, repealed former Art. 7.700, §§ 7.701—7.708, 
and enacted a new Art. 7.700 as set out herein. Former Art. 7.700 pertained to similar subject matter and 
derived from Ord. No. 672, § 1, 8-19-2014; Ord. No. 710, § 1, 9-22-2014.  

Sec. 7.701. - Purpose and Definitions.  

1.  The purpose of this article is to preserve the tree canopy and continue the wooded character that 
has been the hallmark of the city since its founding while protecting owners' rights to utilize and enjoy 
their property by:  

a.  Establishing minimum tree requirements;  

b.  Requiring careful site planning and the protection of trees;  

c.  Controlling unnecessary tree removal;  

d.  Requiring tree replacement; and  

e.  Prohibiting indiscriminate cutting or clearing of trees.  

2.  Properties used for commercial purposes are exempt from section 7.701 1(1a) and 1(1b) of this 
article.  

( Ordinance 745 , adopted 12/19/17, Section 1) 

Sec. 7.702. - Definitions.  

As used in this article, the following words, terms, and phrases shall have the meanings ascribed to 
them in this section:  

Approved tree list shall mean a list approved and maintained by the city that lists species of trees 
that are approved for meeting the minimum tree requirement described in this article.  

Building shall mean any structure with a roof and enclosing walls that is used or intended for 
supporting or sheltering any use or occupancy.  

Circumference or diameter shall mean circumference or diameter measured at a point on a tree four 
and one-half feet (4½') above the surrounding ground level. The equivalent circumference or diameter 
may be used for measurement purposes. Tree diameter in inches x 3.14 = tree circumference in inches. 
(For example, 6" diameter X 3.14 = 18.84" circumference). To measure a tree that forks or has two (2) 
boles or stems at or below four and one-half feet (4½'), only the circumference or diameter of the larger 
bole or stem shall be measured.  

Critical root zone shall mean the area of a tree that is within a circle centered on the trunk location, 
with the circle's diameter being one-half of the sum of the longest and shortest drip line diameters.  

Subject site shall mean any particular lot, tract, or parcel of land that is subject to the building permit 
process or otherwise invokes the regulations established in this article.  

Tree shall mean a woody, perennial plant typically having a single stem or trunk, growing to a 
considerable height and bearing lateral branches at some distance from the ground.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

37

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=871229&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=871229&datasource=ordbank


Hillshire Village 

Hillshire Village  2 

Tree removal permit shall mean a permit issued by the city for the removal of a tree.  

Sec. 7.703. - Minimum Tree Requirement.  

(1)  Each lot shall have one (1) tree that is eight (8) inches or greater in diameter for every two thousand 
(2,000) square feet of lot area (excluding any land in the Harris County Flood Control District or utility 
easement), rounded to the nearest whole number (see Table 1). Trees in the Harris County Flood 
Control District or in a utility easement will not be counted.  

(2)  If a lot has less than the number of trees described in the preceding subsection, the owner shall 
keep the number of trees larger than three (3) inches in diameter, counting from the largest diameter 
to the smallest diameter, that are on the lot (excluding any land in the Harris County Flood Control 
District or a utility easement) at the time a tree removal permit is sought or the provisions of this 
article are otherwise invoked.  

(3)  A lot owner who is applying for a permit issued under the building permit process of the city's Code 
of Ordinances for the demolition of, construction of, or addition to any building, or installation of a 
swimming pool shall, regardless of the number or size of the trees existing on a lot prior to issuance 
of a permit, plant such additional trees as may be necessary to meet the minimum tree requirement 
described in subsection (1) above if the owner is:  

(a)  Constructing a new or replacement building;  

(b)  Constructing an addition[s] or extension[s] to an existing building that increases the square 
footage of the building by forty (40) percent or more; or  

(c)  Installing a swimming pool.  

Table 1—Number of Trees for Representative Lot Sizes  

Lot Size (sq ft)  # of Trees  

24,000  12  

22,000  11  

20,000  10  

18,000  9  

16,000  8  

14,000  7  

12,000  6  

10,000  5  

8,000  4  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

38



Hillshire Village 

Hillshire Village  3 

  

( Ordinance 745 , adopted 12/19/17, Section 1) 

Sec. 7.704. - Preservation and Protection of Trees.  

(1)  It is unlawful to remove any tree that is eight (8) inches in diameter or greater without first obtaining 
a tree removal permit from the city for each tree to be removed.  

(2)  It is unlawful to remove a tree that is less than eight (8) inches in diameter without first obtaining a 
tree removal permit from the city if:  

(a)  Such tree is required to meet the minimum tree requirement for the lot as described in section 
7.703(2); or  

(b)  Such tree was planted as a replacement for a previously removed tree.  

(3)  It is unlawful to intentionally cause serious damage or death to any tree that is eight (8) inches in 
diameter or greater. Intentionally severing the main trunk or large branches or large roots, girding, 
poisoning, carving, mutilating, touching with live wires, piercing with nails or spikes, crushing or 
exposing the roots, or digging or drilling any hole or trench larger than three (3) cubic feet within the 
critical root zone, unless no other suitable location is possible, may be considered acts intended to 
cause serious damage or death to the tree.  

(4)  Before beginning demolition or construction, appropriate protection for all trees shall be in place. 
Appropriate protection shall mean, at a minimum, a fence four (4) feet in height and composed of a 
material which is strong enough to prevent vehicles, materials, debris, dirt and other demolition or 
construction refuse from piling up within the critical root zone. Where possible, the fence shall be a 
minimum of six (6) feet away from the base of the tree at all points to prevent damage to the tree. If 
the location of a tree is less than six (6) feet from the foundation of the building or the property line, 
the protective fencing shall be located as far as possible from the base of the tree.  

( Ordinance 745 , adopted 12/19/17, Section 1) 

Sec. 7.705. - Removal of Trees.  

(1)  The city will permit the removal of a tree only if an owner demonstrates to the city that at least one 
(1) of the following criteria exists:  

(a)  The applicant's lot will, after removal of the tree, satisfy the minimum tree requirement as 
described in section 7.703(1);  

(b)  The tree is diseased, dying or dead;  

(c)  Construction is planned in the area where the tree stands;  

(d)  The tree creates a hazard that is or is likely to cause damage to property or danger to the 
public health, safety, or welfare; or  

(e)  Good arbor management practices indicate removal will be beneficial to surrounding trees.  

(2)  If the previous subsection is satisfied, the city will issue a tree removal permit if a lot owner 
completes the following steps:  

(a)  Executes the city's tree removal permit application, which includes a certification that, upon 
removal of such tree, either the lot will continue to satisfy the minimum tree requirement as 
described in section 7.703(1) or the lot owner will comply with section 7.706 below regarding 
tree replacement. If concurrent tree removal permits are sought, the minimum tree requirement 
must be satisfied after all trees are removed.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

39

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=871229&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=871229&datasource=ordbank


Hillshire Village 

Hillshire Village  4 

(b)  Pays the application fee as adopted by city council. The application fee shall be waived by the 
city if the applicant shows that the tree to be removed is diseased, dying or dead or if, after 
removal of a tree, the lot has more than the minimum tree requirement in section 7.703(1).  

(3)  The city shall have a reasonable amount of time, but not less than three (3) business days, to 
review the application. The city may require an owner to provide certification by an arborist that the 
criteria in subsection (1)(b), (d) or (e) exist.  

(4)  Removal of a tree without a tree removal permit shall not constitute a violation of this article if 
immediate removal is necessary to protect against a serious and imminent risk to health, safety, or 
property as a result of an emergency and, because of such emergency, the lot owner could not 
obtain the tree removal permit, provided that, as soon as reasonably possible after such tree 
removal, the lot owner submits a tree removal permit application without the fee and demonstrates 
that such emergency existed.  

(5)  The city may require a lot owner to remove any tree that is damaged, dead or dying, and that the 
city deems a danger to person or property. The owner shall have fourteen (14) days after receipt of 
the notice to remove the tree.  

(6)  Removal of a tree shall be performed by the lot owner or by a reputable tree removal company, and 
the owner shall ensure that the tree removal work is adequately covered by bond or insurance.  

( Ordinance 745 , adopted 12/19/17, Section 1) 

Sec. 7.706. - Replacement of Trees.  

(1)  If, after loss of or removal of a tree, a lot does not or will not satisfy the minimum tree requirement 
as described in section 7.703(1) or (2), as applicable, then the lot owner shall, within one hundred 
twenty (120) days after loss of or removal of such tree, properly plant a replacement tree from the 
approved tree list. The replacement tree shall be at least three (3) inches in diameter measured at 
six (6) inches above the grade for each lost or removed tree. A tree intended as a replacement tree 
shall not be planted in the Harris County Flood Control District or in a utility easement, but nothing in 
this article is otherwise intended to prohibit the planting of trees in the Harris County Flood Control 
District or a utility easement.  

(2)  With the approval of the city's arborist, a lot owner may plant additional species that are not on, but 
are similar in size to those that are on, the approved tree list. If the city's arborist does not approve, 
the owner may appeal by submitting a written request to city council. Property owners are 
encouraged (but not required) to plant trees native to the Texas Gulf Coast.  

(3)  In situations of financial hardship, the city will have flexibility in obtaining outside help with re-
forestation.  

( Ordinance 745 , adopted 12/19/17, Section 1) 

Sec. 7.707. - Tree Survey.  

(1)  Every permit issued under the building permit process of the city's Code of Ordinances for the 
demolition of, construction of, or addition to any building, or the installation of a swimming pool shall 
include a tree survey. Permit applicants must obtain and complete the proper forms, available in the 
city office, to show compliance with this article.  

(2)  The permit holder will make every effort to maintain the distribution of existing trees. However, if the 
design, layout, plans, or construction of the proposed building cannot avoid the removal of any tree 
that is eight (8) inches in diameter (25.12 inches in circumference) or larger, then the permit holder 
shall be required to replace each removed tree with a tree from the approved tree list. Each 
replacement tree shall have a minimum caliper of three (3) inches in diameter (9.42 inches in 
circumference).  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

40

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=871229&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=871229&datasource=ordbank


Hillshire Village 

Hillshire Village  5 

(3)  The tree survey shall be prepared by a person with expertise to prepare such a document, such as 
an architect, engineer, arborist, or surveyor.  

(4)  The tree survey shall accurately reflect, at a minimum, the following information:  

(a)  The actual location (i.e., trunk location), diameter, and type of each tree on the subject site 
which is eight (8) inches in diameter (25.12 inches in circumference) or larger;  

(b)  Building or structure outlines, parking areas and other paved surfaces, fences, utilities, and 
other improvements existing or to be constructed;  

(c)  The location of tree protection fences;  

(d)  A scale, north arrow, name, address, phone number and profession or occupation of the 
person who prepared it, and the name of the permit applicant; and  

(e)  Identification of the real estate development and a description of the subject site and its 
location.  

(f)  The location and square footage of utility and flood control easements, and the square footage 
of the lot excluding utility and flood control easement square footage.  

( Ordinance 745 , adopted 12/19/17, Section 1) 

Sec. 7.708. - Final Inspection and Issuance of Certificate of Occupancy.  

At final inspection under every building permit that includes a tree survey, the city's inspector shall 
inspect and confirm compliance with the tree survey and planting of required trees, if any. No certificate of 
occupancy shall be issued until the minimum tree requirement has been met but, if the certificate of 
occupancy is to be issued between May and September and the owner has agreed to meet the minimum 
tree requirement, a provisional certificate of occupancy may be issued until such time as the owner has 
complied.  

( Ordinance 745 , adopted 12/19/17, Section 1) 

Sec. 7.709. - Destruction of or Damage to Trees on Public Property.  

In addition to the violation of any criminal law dealing with destruction of public property, it shall be 
unlawful to remove, destroy, kill, or damage any tree located on any public property in the city except 
when necessary in furtherance of the public health, safety or welfare. This section shall not prevent the 
city or any public utility from performing necessary maintenance or repair activities that may affect trees 
located within easements or on public property.  

( Ordinance 745 , adopted 12/19/17, Section 1) 

Sec. 7.710. - Exemptions from Requirements of this Article.  

(1)  The provisions of this article shall not apply to trees removed or trimmed within an easement for 
public or private utilities by the easement's owner, or the owner's employee or authorized contractor, 
or by the utility provider or its authorized contractor, if the trimming or removal of such trees is 
required to properly use or maintain the easement. This article shall also not apply to trees removed 
or trimmed by the city or its authorized representative or by the utility provider or its authorized 
contractor on any public property or within any public right-of-way, including, but not limited to, 
drainage easements and roadway easements.  

(2)  If this article would require a tree to be planted from May through September in any year, the 
planting may be delayed until October of that same year.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

41

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=871229&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=871229&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=871229&datasource=ordbank


Hillshire Village 

Hillshire Village  6 

( Ordinance 745 , adopted 12/19/17, Section 1) 

Sec. 7.711. - Enforcement.  

(1)  The city has the authority and right to inspect any property to ensure compliance with this article.  

(2)  The city may require any lot owner to prove that the owner is in compliance with this article.  

(3)  The city may withhold, revoke, or suspend any tree removal permit or building permit if any 
condition or requirement of this article or such permit is not fulfilled.  

(4)  The city may order an immediate stop to the removal of any tree, any activity that is likely to cause 
serious damage or death to any tree, or any demolition or construction of a building, if such activity is 
being done in violation of this article.  

(5)  The city has the authority to hire a tree inspector for advice in conjunction with enforcing this article.  

(6)  Anyone that intentionally, knowingly, recklessly, or with criminal negligence violates any of the 
provisions of this article shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall 
be fined in an amount as provided for in the general penalty provision in Chapter 1, Section 1.106, of 
the city's Code of Ordinances. Each day during which such violation shall exist or occur shall 
constitute a separate offense. The owner of any property where any violation of this article occurs 
and any agent, contractor, builder, architect, individual or entity that assists in the commission of 
such offense shall be guilty of a separate offense and, upon conviction thereof, shall be punished as 
above provided.  

( Ordinance 745 , adopted 12/19/17, Section 1) 

Sec. 7.712. - Appeal.  

Anyone whose request for a building permit, tree removal permit, or certificate of occupancy has 
been denied due to the interpretation or application of this article may appeal that decision to the city 
council by filing a written notice of appeal with the city. The city council shall provide the applicant an 
opportunity to present evidence and arguments demonstrating that the applicant has complied with this 
article and is entitled to a permit or certificate of occupancy, and that the city erred in refusing to issue the 
requested permit or certificate of occupancy. If, at the conclusion of the hearing, a majority of the city 
council determines that the applicant is entitled to a permit or certificate of occupancy, the city shall issue 
one. Otherwise, the city's denial shall be affirmed.  

( Ordinance 745 , adopted 12/19/17, Section 1) 

Sec. 7.713. - Approved Tree List.  

 Common Name  Scientific Name  Growth  Characteristics  

1  
American Elm 
(White Elm)  

Ulmus 
americana  

Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color, seeds or fruit 
eaten by wildlife. Deep green leaves turn bright 
yellow in fall. Fast-growing, vase-shaped shade 
tree that tolerates a wide range of conditions. 

Dutch elm disease not too bad in Texas; 
extensive, shallow root system.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

42

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=871229&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=871229&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=871229&datasource=ordbank


Hillshire Village 

Hillshire Village  7 

2  Bald Cypress  
Taxodium 
distichum  

Moderate  

Deciduous conifer with feather-like leaves, round 
seed balls, and fibrous bark. Adapted to many 

soil and moisture conditions. Grows well in wet 
areas. Woody 'knees' develop on wet sites. (Has 
very aggressive roots—do not plant near house 

or sewer lines).  

3  Black Walnut  Juglans nigra  Moderate  

Texas native, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. 
Distinctive shade tree for open spaces. Fruits can 

be extremely messy. Webworm can be a 
problem. Leaves drop early in the fall.  

4  
Blackgum (Black 

Tupelo)  
Nyssa sylvatica  Moderate  

Texas native, reliable fall color, attractive seeds 
or fruit, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. Prefers 

acid soils. Bright, shiny foliage turns red and 
purple early in the fall. Shallow- rooted.  

5  
Bur Oak (Mossycup 

Oak)  
Quercus 

macrocarpa  
Slow  

Texas native, reliable fall color, attractive seeds 
or fruit, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. Unique 

leaf shape; large acorn is enclosed in a fuzzy cap. 
Excellent, drought-tolerant native tree, with 

rough texture and large acorn.  

6  
Bitternut hickory 
(swamp hickory)  

Carya 
cordiformis  

Moderate  
Large pecan hickory with commercial stands 

located mostly north of the other pecan 
hickories.  

7  
Carolina Basswood 

(Linden)  
Tilia caroliniana  Rapid  

Texas native, showy or fragrant flower, attractive 
seeds or fruit. Large, oval shade tree with 

interesting winged fruits. Flowers are a favorite 
of honeybees. Needs plenty of room.  

8  Cedar Elm  
Ulmus 

crassifolia  
Moderate  

Texas native, reliable fall color. Fine textured 
leaves turn yellow in fall. Tough, drought-tolerant 

shade tree, well-adapted to a variety of 
conditions.  

9  Cherrybark Oak  
Quercus falcata 
var. pagodifolia  

Moderate  
Texas native, reliable fall color, seeds or fruit 

eaten by wildlife. Excellent native shade tree for 
a variety of planting situations.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

43



Hillshire Village 

Hillshire Village  8 

10  Chinkapin Oak  
Quercus 

muehlenbergii  
Moderate  

It is also planted widely as a shade tree suitable 
for limestone soils. Occurs from northeast Texas 

to Central Texas and south to the Guadalupe 
River, and also in the mountains of West Texas, 
growing on mostly limestone soils, especially at 

the base of bluffs and along stream courses.  

11  Green Ash  
Fraxinus 

pennsylvanica  
Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color. Tolerates a wide 
range of soil conditions. Needs pruning to 

develop strong branch structure.  

12  

Laurel Oak (swamp 
laurel oak, 

diamond-leaf oak, 
water oak, obtusa 

oak)  

Quercus 
laurifolia  

Moderate  
Native to the southeastern and south-central the 

United States, from coastal Virginia to central 
Florida and west to southeast Texas.  

13  Live Oak (Encino)  
Quercus 

virginiana  
Rapid  

Texas native, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. 
Glossy, deep green leaves remain all winter; long-

lived shade tree. Allow plenty of room; can 
develop surface roots.  

14  Loblolly Pine  Pinus taeda  Rapid  

Texas native. Medium-length green needles and 
large, brown cones in the fall. Tolerates a wide 

range of site conditions, but prefers good 
drainage.  

15  
Montezuma 

Cypress (Bald 
Cypress)  

Taxodium 
mucronatum  

Rapid  
Texas native, attractive seeds or fruit. Delicate, 

feathery foliage casts a light shade. Bark is 
reddish and shredding.  

16  Nutall Oak  Quercus nuttallii  Moderate  
Grows well on heavy, poorly drained, clay soils 

deposited by rivers.  

17  Overcup Oak  Quercus lyrata  Moderate  

Texas native, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. 
Small acorns are an important wildlife food 

source. Tolerates poor drainage and heavy clay 
soils. (slow to leaf out in the spring).  

18  Pecan  Carya Moderate  Texas native, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. Nuts 
are an important wildlife food. Mature crown is 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

44



Hillshire Village 

Hillshire Village  9 

illinoinensis  open and airy. State tree of Texas. Plant with 
plenty of room. (slow to leaf out in the spring. 

Fruit will stain sidewalk).  

19  Red Maple  Acer rubrum  Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color, attractive seeds 
or fruit. Flowers and winged fruits in spring are 

red. Brilliant fall color, yellow to red. (Bark is 
easily injured by weed eater).  

20  River Birch  Betula nigra  Rapid  

Texas native. Attractive pinkish peeling bark. 
Works well as multiple trunk specimen. Prefers 
moist sites like stream banks. Susceptible to ice 
damage. (Needs high nitrogen to stay healthy).  

21  Shumard Oak  
Quercus 

shumardii  
Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color, seeds or fruit 
eaten by wildlife. Young trees have "candelabra" 

shape; fall color is orange to deep red. Widely 
available; prefers well-drained soils. Seed source 

of trees may determine success.  

22  Hybrid Magnolia  
Little Gem or 

D.D. Blanchard  
Moderate  Grows better than the Southern Magnolia.  

23  Southern Magnolia  
Magnolia 

grandiflora  
Moderate  

Texas native, showy or fragrant flower, attractive 
seeds or fruit, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. 
Large, white flowers and glossy, deep green 

leaves. Plant in well-drained soil and let limbs 
grow to the ground. Some cultivars tolerate 

alkalinity.  

24  
Swamp Chestnut 
Oak (Cow Oak)  

Quercus 
michauxii  

Moderate  

Texas native, reliable fall color, seeds or fruit 
eaten by wildlife. Large leaves turn deep red in 

fall; large acorns are popular with wildlife. 
Tolerates seasonal poor drainage, but prefers 

loamy soils.  

25  Sweetgum  
Liquidambar 
styraciflua  

Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color, attractive seeds 
or fruit. Distinctive star-shaped leaves and round, 
spiky seed balls. Rapid, upright growth. Fall color 

ranges from yellow to purple.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

45



Hillshire Village 

Hillshire Village  10 

26  
Sycamore 
(American 
Planetree)  

Platanus 
occidentalis  

Rapid  

Texas native, attractive seeds or fruit. Old bark 
flakes off to reveal pale new bark. Round fruit is a 
mass of small seeds. Provide plenty of room and 
a moist site. (Mexican Sycamore better leaves)  

27  
Thornless 

Honeylocust  

Gleditsia 
triacanthos var. 

inermis  
Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color, attractive seeds 
or fruit, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. Wildlife 

eat seed pods.  

28  
Water Oak (Pin 

Oak)  
Quercus nigra  Rapid  

Texas native, seeds or fruit eaten by wildlife. Dark 
green bell-shaped leaves form a dense canopy. 
This common native does best on well drained, 
moist sites. (after 60 years prone to insects and 

disease).  

29  White Ash  
Fraxinus 

americana  
Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color .Fall color is 
yellow, orange, and purple. Male trees are 

seedless. A relatively clean shade tree. Prefers 
loamy, well-drained soils.  

30  White Oak  Quercus alba  Slow  

Texas native, reliable fall color, seeds or fruit 
eaten by wildlife. Excellent long-lived shade tree. 
Wildlife eat acorns. Fall color is red. Works best 

on well-drained, loamy soils.  

31  Willow Oak  Quercus phellos  Rapid  

Texas native, reliable fall color, seeds or fruit 
eaten by wildlife. Narrow, light green leaves turn 

yellow-brown in the fall. Fine twigs and strong 
branch structure. Prefers moist conditions.  

  

( Ordinance 745 , adopted 12/19/17, Section 1)  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

46

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=871229&datasource=ordbank


Hunters Creek Village 

Hunters Creek Village  1 

Hunters Creek Village 
ARTICLE II. - TREE PRESERVATION[2]  
 
Footnotes:  
--- (2) ---  
Editor's note— Ord. Nwo. 720, § 1, adopted May 20, 2008, amended Ch. 18, Art. II in its entirety to read 
as herein set out. Former Art. II, §§ 18-19—18-25, pertained to similar subject matter, and derived from 
the Code of 2002, §§ 3.1401, 3.1402(a)—(g), 3.1403, 3.1405, and 3.1406, and Ord. No. 562, adopted 
November 16, 1999.  

Sec. 18-19. - Definitions.  
The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed 

to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Caliper means the diameter of a tree as measured at a point on the tree that is 12 inches above the 
ambient grade.  

Circumference means the circumference of the trunk of a tree measured at a height of 4½ feet above 
the ground using an ordinary tape measure or diameter tape. If the tree has unusual swells in the trunk at 
measurement height, measurement shall be taken either below or above the swell at the smallest trunk 
diameter as close to 4½ feet as possible.  

Critical root zone means the area within the drip line of a tree.  

Development activity means construction or preparation for construction, and includes grading, 
clearing and grubbing, and demolition of existing structures.  

Drip line means an imaginary circle drawn around a tree extending to the outer tips of the largest 
branches.  

Impervious material means concrete, tar, asphalt, brick pavers or similar paving materials.  

Minimum required density means, for a particular lot:  

(1)  Seven protected or replacement trees, of which at least three must be located in the front yard, 
plus one additional protected or replacement tree for every 1,000 square feet of area in excess 
of 22,500 square feet, up to a maximum of seven additional protected or replacement trees per 
lot, provided, however, that where a lot contains areas that are not suitable for the location of 
trees because of topology or other natural features, those unsuitable areas shall not be included 
in calculating the number of additional protected or replacement trees required in addition to the 
first seven;  

(2)  For a lot that is less than 20,000 square feet in area: a) the minimum number of protected or 
replacement trees may be reduced to five where the collective circumference of the protected 
and replacement trees equals 375 inches or more; and b) the minimum number of protected or 
replacement trees in the front yard may be reduced to two protected or replacement trees 
where the collective circumference of the protected and replacement trees in the front yard 
equals 150 inches or more.  

(3)  A protected or replacement tree that is located within the public street right-of-way shall not be 
counted in determining whether a lot has the minimum required density of protected or 
replacement trees.  

Professional means a person with a professional working knowledge of trees, and includes 
architects, engineers, landscape or tree professionals, arborists, surveyors and any city official approved 
by the city council.  

Property owner means the owner of a lot, tract, parcel or other site, and includes the owner's 
authorized agents.  

Protected tree means any existing tree that has a circumference of 18 inches or more.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

47



Hunters Creek Village 

Hunters Creek Village  2 

Protective fence means a physical barrier that is:  

(1)  At least four feet in height;  

(2)  Supported by metal posts spaced no wider than eight feet apart; and  

(3)  Constructed of chain link fencing or similar material that is effective in preventing the passage 
of persons, machinery, trash, material or other items.  

Replacement tree means a tree that: a) has a caliper of six inches or more; b) is at least ten feet in 
height; c) is one of the species listed in section 18-27; and d) is planted under the requirement of this 
article.  

Root pruning means a clean cut between the undisturbed and disturbed root zones within the drip 
line of a tree, commonly done with a rock saw or similar equipment to minimize root damage.  

Serious damage means any damage to a tree that will, in reasonable probability, cause the death of 
the tree or seriously impair its health. The following actions are actions that will cause serious damage to 
a tree: severing a main trunk or large branches or large roots, girdling, poisoning, carving, mutilating, 
touching with live wires, piercing with nails or spikes, crushing or exposing the roots, digging or drilling 
any hole or trench larger than three cubic feet within the critical root zone, covering over a substantial 
portion of the critical root zone with two inches or more of soil or other nonporous material or compacting 
a substantial part of the soil in the critical root zone (e.g., driving or parking a vehicle in the critical root 
zone, or otherwise placing heavy objects within the critical root zone).  

Tree disposition and protection plan means a written plan prepared by a professional that shows how 
the protected trees and critical root zones on the site, and the critical root zones of protected trees that 
are located off of the site but that have 30 percent or more of their critical root zones within the site, are to 
be protected, and how replacement trees are to be planted and maintained to encourage survival and 
sustained growth.  

Tree removal permit means a permit issued by the city pursuant to the conditions and requirements 
of this article, granting permission and authority to remove protected trees from a site.  

Tree survey means a survey of the protected trees on a site. A tree survey must be prepared by a 
professional and must include:  

(1)  The location, size, and species of all existing protected trees on the site;  

(2)  A designation, by species, size and location, of all protected trees proposed to be removed or 
destroyed;  

(3)  A designation of all proposed new and/or replacement trees by species, size and location;  

(4)  Outlines of all existing and proposed structures, paved surfaces, swimming pools, fences, 
sprinkler systems, utilities and other improvements and structural features on the site;  

(5)  A scale, north arrow, name, address, phone number, and profession or occupation of the 
person who prepared the tree survey; and  

(6)  The name of the owner of the site and/or the builder or developer of the site.  

Urban forester means the professional so designated by the city council.  

(Ord. No. 720, § 1, 5-20-2008; Ord. No. 722, § 1, 7-15-2008; Ord. No. 779, § 1, 11-8-2011) 

Sec. 18-20. - Preservation and protection of trees.  
(a)  Intent. The intent of this section is to encourage site planning which furthers the preservation of 

trees and natural areas by these methods: to protect trees during construction; to facilitate site 
design and construction which contribute to the long-term viability of existing trees; to control the 
unnecessary removal of larger trees; and to require on-site replacement of larger trees that must be 
removed during development activities. It is the further intent of this article to achieve the following 
broader objectives:  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

48



Hunters Creek Village 

Hunters Creek Village  3 

(1)  Protect healthy trees and preserve the natural, ecological, environmental and aesthetic 
qualities of the city;  

(2)  Protect and increase the value of properties within the city;  

(3)  Prohibit the indiscriminate clearing or clear cutting of property;  

(4)  Maintain and enhance a positive image toward the city;  

(5)  Prevent the unnecessary removal of protected trees and to provide for remediation where 
removal is unavoidable.  

(a-1)  Replacement. Given the conduciveness of the city's topography and natural conditions to arboreal 
viability, and in light of the minimum lot size requirements applicable to each lot in the city, it is the 
further intent of this article to achieve the foregoing objectives by requiring the replacement of trees 
as specified in this article solely through enforcing specific performance and not by imposing any tree 
mitigation fee or similar monetary charge.  

(b)  Tree removal permit required. It is unlawful for any person to remove or to intentionally, or with 
criminal negligence, cause serious damage to any protected tree within the city without having first 
obtained from the city a tree removal permit.  

(1)  Removal in connection with site development or construction.  

a.  Generally. A property owner who seeks a permit to remove one or more protected trees in 
order to develop or construct improvements on a site must submit to the building official a 
current tree survey and tree disposition and protection plan. The city shall grant a tree 
removal permit if the applicant demonstrates that, for each protected tree that is to be 
removed, the removal is necessary in order to make a reasonable use of the site, and that 
all alternatives to removal, including redesign of the proposed improvements, have been 
considered.  

b.  Restrictions on additional removals.  

1.  Where a permit is granted to remove protected trees in order to develop or construct a 
particular improvement on a site, and the subject trees are actually removed, no 
permit shall be granted for the removal of additional protected trees from the site for 
the construction of a similar improvement for a period of five years following the date 
the first permit was issued.  

2.  For example, if a permit is granted for the removal of trees for the construction of a 
proposed new residence and the property owner, or his successor in title, elects not to 
build that proposed residence, any new proposed residence on the site must be 
designed to fit within the area from which protected trees have been removed and 
cannot require the removal of additional protected trees.  

3.  The purpose of this provision is to prevent the unnecessary removal of protected trees 
based on speculative construction or development plans and to encourage property 
owners to seek removal of trees only when the proposed improvements will actually 
be constructed.  

4.  For the purposes of this article, the filing of an application for removal of protected 
trees for the construction of a particular improvement is deemed to be an admission, 
by the applicant, that a reasonable improvement of the type desired can be 
constructed on the site without removing any additional protected trees.  

(2)  Other removal.  

a.  A property owner who otherwise seeks a permit to remove a protected tree must file an 
application with the city describing the location, species, and size of the protected tree that 
is to be removed and explaining the reason that removal is desired. The city shall grant a 
removal permit if the applicant demonstrates that:  

1.  The protected tree in question is severely damaged, diseased or dead;  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

49



Hunters Creek Village 

Hunters Creek Village  4 

2.  The protected tree constitutes an unreasonable impediment to the use and enjoyment 
of the site because of its location or size;  

3.  The tree is of an undesirable species that has characteristics that interfere with the 
property owner's use and enjoyment of the site;  

4.  The removal of the tree is necessary for safety reasons including, but not limited to, a 
branch overhanging a structure, a severely leaning tree, or a tree with a seriously 
damaged root system that poses a reasonable threat of falling.  

b.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a property owner is not required to 
obtain a permit to remove a single protected tree that is severely damaged, diseased or 
dead or that must be removed for safety reasons, including but not limited to, a branch 
overhanging a structure, a severely leaning tree, or a tree with a seriously damaged root 
system that poses a reasonable threat of falling.  

(3)  Emergency removal. Where the dangerous condition of a protected tree requires its immediate 
removal to protect against a serious and immediate risk to health, safety or property, a property 
owner may remove a protected tree without first obtaining a permit. However, within seven 
calendar days after removing the tree, the property owner must file with the building official a 
written statement describing the protected tree by size, species, and location and explaining the 
emergency conditions that required its immediate removal.  

(c)  Tree survey and tree disposition and protection plan required. Except as provided in subsection 
(c)(2) below, for small projects, no permit shall be granted for any site work or construction activity in 
the city unless and until a current tree survey and tree disposition and protection plan for the subject 
lot, and any property within ten feet of the subject lot, has been submitted to the city and approved 
by the urban forester.  

(1)  Small projects exception. Neither a tree survey nor a tree disposition and protection plan is 
required for projects that meet the following requirements as determined by the building official:  

a.  The construction work or other activity contemplated by the permit is of a type and scope 
that presents little risk of serious damage to any protected trees on the site; and  

b.  The owner, or his authorized agent, has certified to the city in writing that no protected 
trees will be removed or seriously damaged during the construction work or other activity.  

(2)  Single tree exception. Neither a tree survey nor a tree disposition and protection plan is 
required where a property owner seeks to remove a protected tree for any of the reasons set 
out in subsection 18-20(b)(2).  

(d)  Utility right-of-way maintenance.  

(1)  An employee of a public utility, or an authorized contractor working in a dedicated public right-
of-way, drainage or utility easement, may in the course of business, prune that portion of a tree, 
including a protected tree, that prohibits the safe construction, operation, repair or maintenance 
of a service line or facility. Trees must be pruned no more than is reasonably necessary for the 
construction, operation, repair or maintenance of the service line or facility, and any pruning 
shall be in accordance with the specifications set forth by the National Association of Arborists. 
No tree permit, tree survey or tree disposition and protection plan is required for work performed 
under these circumstances.  

(2)  Trees, including protected trees, that are outside the public right-of-way or utility easement, that 
are severely damaged, diseased or dead and that present a risk of damaging a public utility 
service line or facility may be removed by an employee or authorized contractor of the public 
utility whose service line or facility is at risk of damage, provided that utility has the consent of 
the tree owner. Such work will require a permit for removal, but no tree survey or tree 
disposition and protection plan is required. No permit fee shall be charged for issuance of a 
permit under this subsection.  

(e)  Tree replacement.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

50



Hunters Creek Village 

Hunters Creek Village  5 

(1)  Generally. A property owner must maintain the minimum required density of protected and 
replacement trees on the owner's lot at all times and, if the lot falls below the minimum required 
density because of the loss or removal of a tree or trees, regardless of cause, the property 
owner shall plant and maintain a sufficient number of replacement trees to meet the minimum 
required density. If a lot fall below the minimum required density because of the loss of one or 
more protected or replacement trees, the property owner shall, within 30 days after the removal 
or loss, plant a sufficient number of replacement trees to restore the minimum required density.  

(2)  Special rule for removals related to driveway construction. Where protected trees are removed 
from a front yard in order to relocate or expand a pre-existing driveway, the property owner 
must plant one replacement tree in the front yard for every protected tree that is removed from 
the front yard. Tree replacement is required under this provision regardless of whether 
replacement would have been required under subsection (e)(1), above.  

(3)  Location requirements for new home construction. Where a new home is to be constructed on 
a site, the tree disposition and protection plan must include provisions for preserving or planting 
and maintaining at least three protected or replacement trees in the front yard.  

(4)  Timing of planting. Any replacement tree required under this article shall be planted within 30 
days after the loss or removal of the tree it is to replace, except in the case of new construction. 
Provided however, that the building official may grant a written extension if the property owner:  

a.  Applies for the extension in writing, and within 30 days after the loss or removal; and  

b.  Demonstrates that replacement within 30 days is not practical because of ongoing 
construction or weather conditions.  

In the case of new construction, the replacement tree must be planted before a certificate of 
occupancy is issued.  

(5)  Exceptions to replacement requirements. No replacement tree shall be required if because of 
the topography or natural conditions of the lot, or the location of permitted structures and other 
improvements to the lot, it is not reasonably possible to plant and maintain an otherwise 
required replacement tree. The city council shall be the final authority to determine whether 
planting a replacement tree is reasonably possible.  

(6)  Replacement of trees that die within five years after construction activity. A property owner 
shall plant replacement trees for any protected trees that die within five years after the date of 
completion of any outside construction activity on the property, regardless of whether the lot 
would have the minimum required density without the replacement. Provided however, that no 
replacement shall be required if the property owner can demonstrate that the death of the tree 
or trees was not related to the construction activity.  

(f)  Protection of trees during site preparation or construction activity. Protected trees, whether located 
on the subject site or within ten feet of the subject site, must be protected from serious damage 
during construction activity in accordance with the following requirements, provided, however, that 
the urban forester may allow modification of the requirements upon a determination that unique 
circumstances exist and that a strict application of the requirements would result in undue hardship 
to the owner of the site.  

(1)  Prohibited activities. The following activities are prohibited within the drip line of any protected 
tree:  

a.  Material storage. No materials intended for use in construction accumulated due to 
excavation or demolition shall be placed within the limits of the drip line of any protected 
tree.  

b.  Equipment cleaning; liquid disposal. No equipment shall be cleaned, and no liquids other 
than clean water shall be deposited, within the limits of the drip line of any protected tree. 
Prohibited liquids include but are not limited to paint, oil, solvents, asphalt, concrete, mortar 
or other materials.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

51



Hunters Creek Village 

Hunters Creek Village  6 

c.  Tree attachments. No signs, wires or other attachments, other than those of a protective 
nature and that have been approved in the tree disposition and protection plan, shall be 
attached to any protected tree.  

d.  Vehicular traffic. No vehicle, construction equipment or other parking shall be allowed 
within the limits of the drip line of any protected tree.  

e.  Trespassing; trash. Trespassing or throwing trash into a protective fence area is prohibited.  

(2)  Required procedures. The following procedures shall be followed prior to and during any 
development activity on a site until a certificate of occupancy has been issued by the city:  

a.  Protective fencing; root protection. Unless otherwise approved in the tree disposition plan, 
the critical root zone of each tree or group of trees to be preserved must be enclosed by a 
protective fence during all development activity and until a certificate of occupancy has 
been issued by the city. Each protective fence shall be marked with signs stating "OFF 
LIMITS" and "NO TRASH" (or equivalent) in both English and Spanish.  

b.  Mulch. If development activity is to take place within the critical root zone of any tree, the 
protective fence shall cover the area on which no development activity is to take place, and 
the balance of the critical root zone for such tree or group of trees must be covered with at 
least six inches of organic or wood chip mulch and covered with three-fourths inch plywood 
or road boards in order to protect the roots from soil compaction.  

c.  Fence, mulch removal. It shall be unlawful for any person to remove any portion of any 
protective fence or mulch and road boards for any period of time during any development 
activity, unless otherwise specified in the tree disposition plan.  

d.  Tree flagging. All trees to be removed from the site shall be flagged with orange vinyl tape 
(flagging) wrapped around the main trunk at a height of four feet or more. After receipt of 
the tree removal permit, the owner of the site or his agent shall paint with orange paint an 
"X" on the tree approved for removal at a height of four feet or more so that the paint is 
visible to workers on foot or operating heavy equipment.  

e.  Trunk protection. In situations where a tree remains in the immediate area of intended 
development activity, the tree shall be protected by enclosing the entire circumference of 
the tree's trunk with lumber, at least eight feet high, banded by wire or other means that 
does not damage the tree.  

f.  Construction pruning. If a tree has a low canopy, or limbs that may be broken during the 
course of construction, and if specified and approved by the urban forester in the tree 
disposition plan, the obtrusive limbs may be cut. Pruning should be done according to the 
National Association of Arborists Standards.  

g.  Supplemental feeding, watering. Protected trees should receive supplemental water during 
times of drought or low rainfall. Plans for feeding and watering must be prepared by a 
professional, who is retained by the owner or his agent and must be included in the tree 
disposition and protection plan.  

(3)  Design constraints. Design constraints may dictate that in certain circumstances some 
protected trees will have some encroachment of their critical root zone. The following is the 
minimum design criteria allowed within the critical root zone of a protected tree:  

a.  Change of grade. In the event that grade changes must be made around a protected tree, 
the following procedures shall be followed unless otherwise approved in the tree 
disposition plan:  

1.  No cut or fill of the ambient grade greater than two inches shall be located close to the 
trunk of a protected tree if the cut or fill covers more than one-half of the radius of the 
critical root zone. If these provisions cannot be complied with, the following provisions 
shall apply:  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

52



Hunters Creek Village 

Hunters Creek Village  7 

(i)  Increase in grade. The owner shall construct tree wells around the drip line of a 
tree which shall be of a design that provides for proper aeration and drainage of 
the critical root zone; or  

(ii)  Decrease in grade. The owner shall construct retaining walls around the drip line 
of a tree to mitigate cuts.  

2.  If development activity causes standing water or wet soil conditions which are 
detrimental to a species of tree on a site or adjacent property, adequate drainage shall 
be provided in the tree disposition and protection plan in order to prevent suffocation 
and/or root rot of the affected tree.  

b.  Underground utilities. Boring for the installation of underground utilities is permitted under 
protected trees in certain circumstances. The minimum depth of the bore shall be 30 
inches. In special circumstances approved by the urban forester, trenching for 
underground utilities may be permitted with respect to all such protected trees. If utility 
trenching is approved, the following procedures must be adhered to:  

1.  Root pruning shall take place at least two weeks prior to any trenching;  

2.  Root pruning shall be supervised by a professional;  

3.  The utility trench must be backfilled less than 24 hours after it is dug; and  

4.  A root remediation schedule must be addressed in the tree disposition plan.  

c.  Irrigation systems. Irrigation systems shall be designed to avoid trenching across the 
critical root zone of any protected tree.  

d.  Paving and impervious material. A maximum of 25 percent of the critical root zone of a 
protected tree may be covered with impenetrable material, such as concrete, tar or asphalt.  

e.  Procedures when using impervious materials. If the design plans for the site call for any 
impervious material over any part of the critical root zone of a protected tree, the following 
procedures shall be adhered to:  

1.  Root pruning shall be done six inches to one foot behind the proposed curb line and 
shall take place at least two weeks prior to any fill or cut;  

2.  Root pruning and necessary limb pruning shall be supervised by a professional;  

3.  A plastic vapor barrier of construction grade shall be installed between the roots of a 
protected tree and the impervious material so as to inhibit leaching of lime into the 
soil; and  

4.  A root remediation schedule must be addressed in the tree disposition plan.  

(Ord. No. 720, § 1, 5-20-2008; Ord. No. 722, §§ 2, 3, 7-15-2008; Ord. No. 750, § 1—3, 12-8-
2009; Ord. No. 779, §§ 2, 3, 5, 11-8-2011; Ord. No. 2018-882, §§ 1, 2, 1-23-2018) 

Sec. 18-21. - Tree replacement payments and fund.  
(a)  A property owner who removes a protected tree pursuant to a valid permit, or in an emergency 

situation, shall provide a replacement tree, as and to the extent required under section 18-20(e).  

(b)  A property owner who removes a protected tree in violation of this chapter shall provide a 
replacement tree of the same caliper size and species as the tree that was illegally removed. If it is 
not feasible to provide a replacement tree of the same caliper size as the protected tree that was 
removed, the property owner shall provide a replacement tree of the same species as the protected 
tree and having the largest caliper size (not less than three inches) that is feasible. The 
measurement of diameter shall be made at a point on the trunk of the tree that was six inches above 
the ambient grade immediately before the protected tree was removed. The city council shall be the 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

53



Hunters Creek Village 

Hunters Creek Village  8 

final authority to determine whether planting a replacement tree of any particular caliper size is 
feasible.  

(Ord. No. 720, § 1, 5-20-2008; Ord. No. 2018-882, § 3, 1-23-2018) 

Sec. 18-22. - Urban forester.  
(a)  Appointment. The city council has the authority to hire a professional as the urban forester for the 

city. The professional designated as the urban forester must hold at least a bachelor's degree from 
an accredited college or university in urban forestry or horticulture or must have equivalent 
arboricultural skills and experience.  

(b)  Duties. The permit secretary or the building official of the city shall deliver to the urban forester all 
tree disposition and protection plans, tree surveys, applications for tree removal permits and other 
documents reasonably requested in connection with any or all of the requirements of this article. The 
urban forester shall work with each owner and/or builder on the site, and appropriate officials of the 
city in order to administer and enforce the provisions of this article, as the same may be amended 
from time to time. The urban forester shall establish categories of simple and routine or low-risk 
development activity, the applications for which may be handled summarily without submission to the 
urban forester.  

(Ord. No. 720, § 1, 5-20-2008) 

Sec. 18-23. - Appeal of permit denials.  
(a)  An applicant whose request for a tree removal permit has been denied by the building official may 

appeal that decision to the board of adjustment by filing a written notice of appeal with the city 
secretary.  

(b)  The board of adjustment shall schedule a hearing on the appeal for a date within 45 days after the 
date the notice of appeal is received in the office of the city secretary. The hearing may be held at 
any regular meeting of the board of adjustment.  

(c)  At the hearing, the board of adjustment shall provide the applicant an opportunity to present 
evidence and arguments demonstrating that the applicant is entitled to a permit under the terms of 
this article and that the building official erred in denying the permit.  

(d)  The board of adjustment may hear and consider any other evidence relevant to the issue of whether 
the applicant is entitled to a permit.  

(e)  If, at the conclusion of the hearing, a majority of the board of adjustment determines that the 
applicant has met the requirements of this article and is entitled to a permit, it shall order the building 
official to issue a permit. Otherwise, the decision of the building official to deny the permit shall be 
affirmed.  

(Ord. No. 722, § 5, 7-15-2008; Ord. No. 779, § 6, 11-8-2011) 

Sec. 18-24. - Violations.  
(a)  It shall be unlawful for any person to fail or refuse to comply with the requirements of this article or 

any permit issued pursuant hereto.  

(b)  The city's building official or urban forester may withhold or withdraw (red flag) any permit issued or 
to be issued pursuant to this article, or refuse to issue a certificate of occupancy, if any condition or 
requirement of this article or such permit is not fulfilled.  

(Ord. No. 720, § 1, 5-20-2008; Ord. No. 722, § 4, 7-15-2008; Ord. No. 2018-882, § 4, 1-23-
2018) 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

54



Hunters Creek Village 

Hunters Creek Village  9 

Sec. 18-25. - Penalty.  
Any person who violates any provision of this article shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor. The 

owner of a site where any violation of this article shall occur, and any agent, contractor, builder, architect 
or other person who shall assist in the commission of such offense, shall be guilty of a separate offense.  

(Ord. No. 720, § 1, 5-20-2008; Ord. No. 722, § 4, 7-15-2008) 

Sec. 18-26. - Affirmative defenses.  
It shall be an affirmative defense to prosecution, under this article, that immediate action to remove, 

seriously damage or kill the tree in question was necessary to prevent harm to persons or property.  

(Ord. No. 720, § 1, 5-20-2008; Ord. No. 722, § 4, 7-15-2008) 

Sec. 18-27. - Species of trees approved for use as replacement trees.  
The following species of trees are approved for use as replacement trees. The urban forester may 

approve the use of species that are not on this list if the urban forester determines that the species is 
suited to the local climate, likely to grow into a protected tree, and not likely to create nuisance conditions.  

Approved Tree List for Hunters Creek Village  

Common Name  Species  Family Name  

Chalk maple  Acer leucoderme  Aceraceae  

Drummond red maple  Acer rubrum var.drummondi  Aceraceae  

American hornbeam  Carpinus caroliniana  Betulaceae  

American beech  Fagus grandifolia  Fagaceae  

White oak  Quercus alba  Fagaceae  

Swamp white oak  Quercus bicolor  Fagaceae  

Southern red oak  Quercus falcate  Fagaceae  

Sand live oak  Quercus geminata  Fagaceae  

Laurel oak  Quercus hemisphaerica  Fagaceae  

Swamp laurel oak  Quercus laurifolia  Fagaceae  

Overcup oak  Quercus lyrata  Fagaceae  

Bur oak  Quercus macrocarpa  Fagaceae  

Sand post oak  Quercus margaretta  Fagaceae  

Swamp chestnut oak  Quercus michauxii  Fagaceae  

Chinkapin oak  Quercus muchlenbergii  Fagaceae  

Water oak  Quercus nigra  Fagaceae  

Nutall oak  Quercus nuttallii  Fagaceae  

Willow oak  Quercus phellos  Fagaceae  

Shumard oak  Quercus shumardii  Fagaceae  

Post oak  Quercus stellata  Fagaceae  

Black oak  Quercus velutina  Fagaceae  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

55



Hunters Creek Village 

Hunters Creek Village  10 

Live oak  Quercus virginiana  Fagaceae  

Sweetgum  Liquidambar stryraciflua  Hamamelidaceae  

Pecan  Carya illino  Juglandaceae  

Black hickory  Carya texana  Juglandaceae  

Sassafras  Sassafras albidum  Lauraceae  

Southern magnolia  Magnolia grandiflora  Magnoliaceae  

Sweet bay magnolia  Magnolia ludiviciana  Magnoliaceae  

Black gum  Nyssa sylvatica  Nyssaceae  

Shortleaf pine  Pinus echinata  Pinaceae  

Longleaf pine  Pinus palustris  Pinaceae  

Loblolly pine  Pinus taeda  Pinaceae  

Weeping willow  Salix babylonica  Salicaceae  

Bald-cypress  Taxodium distichum  Taxodiaceae  

Montezuma cypress  Taxodium mucronatum  Taxodiaceae  

Winged elm  Ulmus alata  Ulmaceae  

Scan elm  Ulmus Americana  Ulmaceae  

Cedar elm  Ulmus crassifolia  Ulmaceae  

  

(Ord. No. 720, § 1, 5-20-2008; Ord. No. 722, § 4, 7-15-2008) 

Secs. 18-28—18-53. - Reserved.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

56



League City 

League City  1 

League City  
ARTICLE III. - TREE PRESERVATION, MITIGATION, AND MAINTENANCE  
Sec. 102-100. - Definitions.  

The following terms shall have the meanings herein assigned to them:  

Caliper inch is a unit of measurement used to state in inches the diameter of a tree's trunk at the 
tree's correct measurement height.  

Certified arborist means a person who currently holds the Certified Arborist credential awarded by 
the International Society of Arboriculture (ISA).  

Critical root zone is the area of ground around a tree that extends from the trunk to the dripline.  

Diameter at breast height or DBH is the diameter of a tree's trunk measured at a height of 4.5 feet 
from base of the tree at grade level. w 

Dripline means an imaginary line around a tree that corresponds with the outermost edge of the 
canopy of said tree if projected directly downward. When depicted on a survey or site plan, the dripline of 
a tree will generally appear as an irregularly shaped circle that follows the contour of the branches of the 
tree.  

Invasive tree refers to a tree that threatens native trees by competing for resources and habitat as 
noted in the invasive tree list  

Large tree is a tree of a species listed under "large trees" the protected tree list in this article.  

Park tree includes trees, shrubs, bushes and all other woody vegetation that is planted in public 
parks and all areas owned by the city, or to which the public has free access as a park.  

Protected tree is any large tree that measures at least 12 caliper inches, any small tree that 
measures at least six caliper inches, or any significant tree.  

Replacement cost represents the cost to replace existing protected trees proposed to be removed 
from a site as measured in caliper inches.  

Responsible person means a record owner of the real property at which a tree impact activity occurs, 
or the person that actually engages in the tree impact activity.  

Significant tree any tree of the oak or pecan species that measures at least 38 caliper inches.  

Small tree is a tree of a species listed under "small trees" the protected tree list in this article.  

Street tree includes trees, shrubs, bushes and all other woody vegetation that is planted between the 
edge of a paved roadway, whether public or private, and the sidewalk, or in the absence of a sidewalk, 
planted within ten feet of the edge of the paved roadway.  

Tree means a woody plant having a well-defined trunk(s), a defined crown and a mature height of at 
least 15 feet.  

Tree canopy represents the total vertical transect of all trees on a single site or within a designated 
area beginning at DBH and extending to the crown of all trees within the area.  

Tree disposition plan specifies how trees on the protected tree list will be protected from 
development and pre-development activity proposed at a particular site. Such plan includes the 
preliminary route of utilities and tree protected zone limits, as defined in this article III, and a proposed 
development footprint for all protected trees.  

Tree impact activity means any action that may result in the decline in health and/or death of a tree, 
including but not limited to: pruning of large limbs, tree topping, destruction of bark leading to scarring on 
trunk, or activities (such as construction and/or soil compaction) conducted within the critical root zone.  

(Ord. No. 2018-28, § 1, 9-25-2018) 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

57



League City 

League City  2 

Sec. 102-101. - Permit required.  
(a)  Except as otherwise provided in this article, a tree disposition permit shall be obtained by a 

responsible person prior to authorizing or subjecting a protected tree to any tree impact activity or 
tree removal.  

(b)  A tree disposition permit is valid for a period of six months from the date of issuance.  

(c)  No tree disposition permit may be issued to allow the removal, cutting down, or other activity 
intended to kill or destroy a healthy significant tree, unless the planning director determines that the 
failure to grant such a permit would result in violation of state or federal law.  

(Ord. No. 2018-28, § 1, 9-25-2018) 

Sec. 102-102. - Permit application requirements.  
A tree disposition permit may be issued by the city arborist only upon the submission and approval of 

the following:  

(1)  An application that includes:  

a.  The applicant's name, address, and phone number;  

b.  The address of the property at which a tree impact activity or tree removal is sought;  

c.  The name, address, and phone number of the person or entity that will actually perform the 
tree impact activity or tree removal, if not the applicant; and  

d.  The name, address, and phone number of the owner of record of the property at which a 
tree impact activity or tree removal is sought, if not the applicant.  

(2)  A tree disposition plan certified by a licensed surveyor, a certified arborist or registered 
landscape architect, that:  

a.  Identifies:  

1.  The protected trees sought to be subjected to a tree impact activity or tree removal at 
the site, according to location, type and size;  

2.  Location and total caliper inches of invasive species to be removed, if seeking credit 
for elimination of invasive species;  

3.  Areas of construction or other activities to be performed within the critical root zone of 
a protected tree, including site plans documenting measures to be taken for protection 
of each impacted critical root zone;  

b.  Includes tables summarizing the total caliper inches of protected trees to be removed in 
size categories as follows:  

1.  For small trees:  

i.  Six-inch to nine-inch caliper;  

ii.  Greater than nine-inch to 12-inch caliper; and  

iii.  Greater than 12-inch caliper.  

2.  For large trees:  

i.  Twelve-inch to 15-inch caliper;  

ii.  Greater than 15-inch to 18-inch caliper; and  

iii.  Greater than 18-inch caliper; and  

c.  States the total number of caliper inches to be replaced, calculated using the tree 
replacement calculation set forth below, and how replacement will be achieved, whether by 
on-site replacement or off-site replacement, or payment in lieu of replacement; and  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

58



League City 

League City  3 

d.  Includes the proposed plan for tree replacement by location, type and size, if applicable;  

(3)  An application fee in an amount as set by the city council; and  

(4)  One of the following:  

a.  A cashier's check or money order for the full amount of the payment in lieu of replacement; 
or  

b.  A cash escrow, bond, letter of credit, or other acceptable security instrument securing an 
amount equal to a full payment in lieu of replacement, which by its terms:  

1.  Can be redeemed or called by the city one year from the date the tree disposition 
permit is issued, if not earlier released; and  

2.  Can only be released upon the city's approval, which approval the applicant may 
request only after completion of all replacement planting.  

(Ord. No. 2018-28, § 1, 9-25-2018) 

Sec. 102-103. - Tree replacement calculation.  
(a)  Tree replacement calculations are based upon the following guiding principles:  

(1)  Greater value is placed on protected trees of greater size, therefore caliper inch replacement is 
increased as the size of each tree increases;  

(2)  Greater value is placed on maintaining trees on-site, therefore caliper inch replacement is 
increased if replacement occurs off-site or through payment in lieu of replacement;  

(3)  Greater value is placed on maintaining large or interconnected conservation areas, therefore 
exceptions and incentives are available to maintain these areas;  

(4)  Invasive tree species harm the native tree canopy, therefore incentives are available for 
elimination of species shown in the invasive tree list in this article; and,  

(5)  Protection and maintenance of the community's tree canopy is more critical than equal 
replacement of individual trees, therefore replacement calculations result in a total number of 
caliper inches to be replaced as measured following application of the above principles.  

(b)  The diameter at breast height of each protected tree to be removed from the site shall be measured 
to determine size in caliper inches.  

(c)  Replacement of removed trees shall be achieved utilizing one of the following three methods, in 
accordance with the applicant's written election:  

(1)  On-site replacement in accordance to all standards and requirements of the city;  

(2)  Off-site replacement in parks, dedicated conservation areas or selected rights-of-way at the 
direction of the city planner or city arborist; or  

(3)  Payment in lieu of replacement to the city reforestation and tree management fund to be used 
for public reforestation and maintenance of protected trees on public property or significant 
trees on public or private property.  

(d)  Caliper inch replacement of each protected tree shall be calculated in accordance with table XX.  

Table XX. Caliper Inch Replacement of a Protected Tree  

 On Site Replacement  Off Site Replacement or  
Payment in Lieu  

Small Trees  

6" to 9"  100 percent  120 percent  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

59



League City 

League City  4 

9.1" to 12"  100 percent  130 percent  

Greater than 12"  130 percent  140 percent  

Large Trees  

12" to 15"  100 percent  120 percent  

15.1" to 18"  100 percent  130 percent  

Greater than 18"  130 percent  140 percent  

  

(e)  Payment in lieu shall be calculated at a rate of $250.00 per caliper inch of required replacement 
tree(s).  

(f)  The city planner or city arborist shall have the discretion to reduce tree replacement requirements 
the removal of invasive trees on-site or off-site in accordance with standards established by the city 
arborist. Reduction of caliper inch replacement if granted shall be calculated in accordance with table 
XY.  

Table XY. Reduction of Caliper Inch Replacement for Removal of Invasive Trees  

Caliper Inches of Invasive Trees Removed  Percent Reduction in Total Caliper Inches  

50" to 150"  5 percent  

150.1" to 300"  10 percent  

300.1" to 500"  15 percent  

Greater than 500"  20 percent  

  

(Ord. No. 2018-28, § 1, 9-25-2018) 

Sec. 102-104. - Tree replacement standards.  
(a)  Replacement trees shall be selected from the protected tree list according to available planting 

space and specific environmental requirements of the tree and shall be a minimum of (i) three caliper 
inches measured one foot above grade, and (ii) seven feet in height.  

(b)  Replacement trees shall be planted according to tree planting standards established by the 
International Society of Arboriculture, with a minimum of 15 feet spacing for small trees and a 
minimum of 30 feet spacing for large trees, unless otherwise approved by the city arborist.  

(c)  Replacement trees must be planted within one year from the date the tree disposition permit is 
issued. The applicant shall notify the city arborist after the replacement trees have been planted so 
that they may be inspected. If the replacement trees are not planted within this time, the city attorney 
is authorized to take all legal steps to recover payment in lieu from the applicant to satisfy the 
mitigation requirements.  

(Ord. No. 2018-28, § 1, 9-25-2018) 

Sec. 102-105. - Exceptions.  
(a)  The owner of record of a legally conforming single-family residence may remove or subject any tree 

on that property to a tree impact Activity, without a tree disposition permit and without mitigation.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

60



League City 

League City  5 

(b)  A tree disposition permit may be issued, without requiring mitigation, to remove a protected tree if 
the tree is:  

(1)  Injured, dying, diseased or infested with harmful insects to the extent that it is not likely to 
survive as determined and documented by the city arborist; or  

(2)  In danger of falling, interfering with utility service or other creating a hazardous or dangerous 
condition as determined and documented by the city arborist.  

(c)  If the owner of a protected tree believes that an emergency situation exists that requires the 
immediate removal of said tree to protect the safety of persons or property, the owner may subject 
the tree to a tree impact activity or remove the tree without a tree disposition permit, but only to the 
extent necessary to eliminate the dangerous situation. A person that claims this exception shall:  

(1)  Apply for a tree disposition permit on the next working day; and  

(2)  Be able to substantiate the claim of an emergency situation to the reasonable satisfaction of 
the city arborist by providing evidence of the dangerous condition such as, but not limited to, a 
letter from a certified arborist and/or digital images.  

(Ord. No. 2018-28, § 1, 9-25-2018) 

Sec. 102-106. - Appeals.  
(a)  An applicant may appeal the planning director's decision to not grant a tree disposition permit for the 

removal of a significant tree to the city council by filing the following with the city secretary's office:  

(1)  A written notice of appeal within ten business days from notification of the planning director's 
decision;  

(2)  A written legal opinion from an attorney licensed in Texas that details how the failure to grant 
the permit would violate state or federal law, within 30 days of the filing of the notice of appeal; 
and  

(3)  A site plan for the subject property showing the locations of the significant tree and the 
proposed improvement(s) that not removing the significant tree would render unfeasible, within 
30 days of the filing of the notice of appeal.  

(b)  An applicant may appeal to the city manager the calculation of the total caliper inches of 
replacement trees required by filing with the city secretary's office a written notice of appeal within 
ten business days from notification by the city arborist of the tree replacement calculation, setting 
forth the reason(s) and including the documentation for any contention that the calculation of caliper 
inches of replacement trees is too high.  

(Ord. No. 2018-28, § 1, 9-25-2018) 

Sec. 102-107. - Offense; restitution.  
(a)  Any person who recklessly removes or subjects a protected tree to a tree impact activity without a 

valid tree disposition permit authorizing such action shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, which shall be 
punishable by a fine not to exceed $500.00. Each subsequent day that elapses without the person 
obtaining a tree disposition permit shall constitute a separate offense.  

(b)  In any prosecution under this section, the prosecuting attorney shall seek and the judge is 
authorized to award restitution to be paid into the city reforestation and tree management fund, in an 
amount calculated by the city arborist pursuant to the provisions below:  

(1)  For removal of protected trees not including any significant tree, the city arborist shall:  

a.  Assume that each tree on site is a large protected tree measured at 18 caliper inches with 
an individual tree canopy of 2,200 square feet;  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

61



League City 

League City  6 

b.  Determine total caliper inches to be replaced by measuring the total tree canopy covering 
the site prior to removal of trees using aerial imagery acceptable to the city of league city; 
and  

c.  Calculate replacement cost in accordance with payment in lieu requirements of this article 
with an additional 100 percent penalty.  

(2)  Restitution for removal of a significant tree shall be equal to the payment in lieu value of the 
tree, as determined by the city arborist, plus an additional 200 percent penalty.  

(3)  For subjecting a protected tree to a tree impact activity, the city arborist shall:  

a.  Calculate a payment in lieu amount as if the protected tree had been removed pursuant to 
a tree disposition permit, if the tree is not a significant tree;  

b.  Calculate a payment in lieu amount and add a penalty of 100 percent if the tree is a 
significant tree; or  

c.  Adjust the restitution amount calculated pursuant to this section, if in the sole and 
reasonable judgment of the city arborist the restitution so calculated is disproportionate to 
the level of disturbance or alteration of the tree.  

(Ord. No. 2018-28, § 1, 9-25-2018) 

Sec. 102-108. - Tree preservation standards.  
(a)  Maintenance practices, including but not limited to large limb pruning and canopy thinning, of a 

protected tree shall be in accordance with best practices as approved by a certified arborist or the 
city arborist.  

(b)  The critical root zone of a protected tree shall be protected as follows:  

(1)  No materials intended for construction or waste materials from grading, excavation or 
demolition shall be allowed to accumulate.  

(2)  No equipment shall be cleaned in such close proximity to allow harmful liquids to be deposited 
or flow overland and/or runoff into the critical root zone.  

(3)  No vehicular or construction equipment may be parked in or on a critical root zone.  

(4)  No grade changes shall be allowed in a critical root zone.  

(5)  A protective barrier, such as a temporary fence, shall be installed to protect the critical root 
zone prior to and throughout the duration of any work and/or improvements that occur on a 
property containing a protected tree.  

(c)  Any utilities to be installed below the canopy of a protected tree, shall be bored, not trenched, and 
shall be so shown on the tree disposition plan.  

(d)  Trees requiring support systems shall be secured according to type and size. Tree staking, cabling, 
and other materials shall remain in place only until the tree has been established, which time period 
shall not to exceed one year.  

(Ord. No. 2018-28, § 1, 9-25-2018) 

Sec. 102-109. - Tree maintenance standards.  
(a)  Maintenance of trees within the rights-of-way. The owner(s) of any lot with frontage along a public 

street, including a property owners association, shall maintain the street trees and other landscaping 
growing along the frontage or in the street right-of-way adjacent to the lot, including in any park or 
parking strip between the property line and the street line.  

(b)  Tree topping. Topping (also referred to as heading, stubbing, rounding or dehorning) of any street 
tree, park tree, or other tree on public property is prohibited. Topping involves the severe cutting 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

62



League City 

League City  7 

back of limbs to stubs larger than three inches in diameter within the tree's crown to such a degree 
so as to remove the normal canopy and disfigure the tree. The city manager, upon the 
recommendation of the city arborist, may specifically authorize in writing topping of a specific tree, 
based on clear evidence of extraordinary circumstances that justify topping. Extraordinary 
circumstances may include but not be limited to, trees severely damaged by storms or other causes, 
or trees under utility wires or other obstructions where other pruning practices are impractical.  

(c)  Pruning, corner clearance. The owner(s) of any tree overhanging any street or right-of-way within 
the city shall prune the branches so that such branches shall not obstruct the light from any street 
light or obstruct the view of any street sign or intersection, and so that there shall be a clear space of 
15 feet above the surface of the street and/or sidewalk. Pruning includes crown cleaning, thinning, 
raising, reduction, and restoration. The pruning of trees must comply with tree trimming guidelines in 
the American National Standard for Tree Care Operations: Tree Shrub and Other Woody Plant 
Maintenance Standard Practices, or National Arborist Association's "Standards for Pruning of Shade 
Trees." Said owners shall also remove all dead, diseased or dangerous trees, or broken or decayed 
limbs which constitute a menace to the safety of the public.  

(d)  If the property owner fails to prune trees to provide clearances stated, the city arborist is authorized 
to notify the owners of such trees in writing of their responsibility. Pruning shall be done by said 
owners at their own expense within ten days after the date of service of notice. In the event of failure 
of owners to comply with such provisions, the city shall have the authority to prune such trees and 
charge the cost of removal to the owners.  

(e)  Removal of dead or diseased trees on private property. A tree disposition permit is required to 
remove a protected tree. The city shall have the right to cause the removal of any dead or diseased 
trees on private property within the city, when such trees constitute a hazard to life and property, or 
harbor insects or disease which constitute a potential threat to other trees within the city. The city 
shall notify in writing the owners of such trees. Removal shall be done by said owners at their own 
expense within 30 days after the date of service of notice. In the event of failure of owners to comply 
with such provisions, the city shall have the authority to remove such trees and charge the cost of 
removal to the owners.  

(f)  Emergency removal provision. If the city arborist determines that a tree poses an imminent threat, 
the city may secure the surrounding area and/or remove the hazardous tree.  

(g)  Removal of stumps. Street and park trees that are removed shall have their stumps ground to grade 
level or removed.  

(Ord. No. 2018-28, § 1, 9-25-2018) 

Sec. 102-110. - Street trees.  
(a)  Minimum distance from sidewalks and curbs. Trees shall be centered in the planting strip between 

the sidewalk and the street curb. If centering within the planting strip is not possible or desirable due 
to design considerations, the tree must be located at least two feet from the sidewalk edge or the 
curb edge. Trees within the city rights-of-way shall not be planted where the rooting space is less 
than four feet in width without prior approval of the city arborist. The minimum width of a planting site 
for each tree will be governed by the approved street tree list. Trees that commonly produce a large-
buttress root system shall be planted in a site greater than ten feet wide (i.e., Quercus species). On 
public streets without sidewalks, trees shall be located to accommodate future sidewalk placement 
and, current and future utility line corridors.  

(b)  Tree root barriers shall be installed when new trees are planted to prevent uncontrollable spread of 
tree roots that may cause damage to hardscape/ infrastructure (sidewalks, driveways, storm sewers, 
streets). Root barriers may be either linear or surround in form, depending on the 
hardscape/infrastructure to be protected, and must be installed at a minimum depth of 30 inches.  

(c)  Minimum street tree planting clearances.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

63



League City 

League City  8 

Feature  Small Tree  
(up to 35' height)  

Medium Tree  
(up to 60' height)  

Large Tree  
(over 60' height)  

Sidewalks  2 feet  3 feet  4 feet  

Driveways  5 feet  5 feet  10 feet  

Fire Hydrants  5 feet  5 feet  5 feet  

Intersections  35 feet  35 feet  35 feet  

Water Meters  5 feet  5 feet  5 feet  

Utility Boxes  5 feet  5 feet  5 feet  

Utility Poles  5 feet  10 feet  10 feet  

Street Lights  10 feet  20 feet  30 feet  

Stop Signs  35 feet  35 feet  35 feet  

Regulatory Signs  Cannot block sign  

  

(d)  Minimum distance from buried utility lines. If buried utility lines traverse the planting strip, the 
following minimum distances apply:  

8"—10" water and sewer line 10 feet.  

12"—16" water and sewer line 15 feet.  

18" + water and sewer line 20 feet.  

All other services 10 feet.  

(e)  Linear spacing. Trees shall be placed an average of every 30 feet. Depending on the size, species, 
and variety, the city arborist may approve planting distances which may be as close as ten feet and 
as far as 40 feet to 50 feet based on the size and growth habit of the tree.  

(f)  Medians. No tree shall be planted in any median that is less than ten feet in width.  

(g)  Overhead utility lines. No tree with the potential of reaching a mature height of more than 15 feet 
shall be planted in the right-of-way under overhead wires.  

(h)  Street tree list. The street tree list includes suggested species for street trees. The city arborist may 
approve trees that do not appear on this list.  

Small Trees  

Common Name  Botanical Name  

American Holly  Ilex opaca  

Bottlebrush  Callistemon sp.  

Eagleston Holly  Ilex x attenuate 'Eagleston'  

Possumhaw Holly  Ilex decidua  

Texas Redbud  Cercis canadensis 'Texensis'  

Vitex  Vitex agnus-castus  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

64



League City 

League City  9 

Yaupon Holly  Ilex vomitoria  

  

   

Medium Trees  

Common Name  Botanical Name  

Cathedral Oak  Quercus virginiana 'Cathedral'  

Chinese Elm  Ulmus parvifolia  

Chinese Pistache  Pistacia chinenses  

Crape Myrtle  Lagerstroemia indica  

Eve's Necklace  Sophora affinis  

Highrise Oak  Quercus virginiana 'Highrise'  

Little Gem Magnolia  Magnolia grandiflora 'Little Gem'  

River Birch  Betula nigra  

Sweetbay Magnolia  Magnolia virginiana  

Teddy Bear Magnolia  Magnolia grandiflora 'Southern Charm'  

  

   

Large Trees  

Common Name  Botanical Name  

Bald Cypress  Taxodium distichum  

Black Walnut  Juglans nigra  

Bur Oak  Quercus macrocarpa  

Cedar Elm  Ulmus crassifolia  

Crabapple  Malus sp.  

Live Oak  Quercus virginiana  

Loblolly Pine  Pinus taeda  

Mexican Plum  Prunus mexicana  

Montezuma Bald Cypress  Taxodium mucronatum  

Mulberry  Morus sp.  

Pecan  Carya illinoinensis  

Shumard Oak  Quercus shumardii  

Slash Pine  Pinus elliottii  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

65



League City 

League City  10 

Southern Magnolia  Magnolia sp.  

Sweetgum  Liquidambar styraciflua  

Texas Palmetto  Sabal texana  

Texas Persimmon  Diospyros texana  

Texas Red Oak  Quercus texana  

Water Oak  Quercus nigra  

  

(Ord. No. 2018-28, § 1, 9-25-2018) 

Sec. 102-111. - City-maintained trees.  
(a)  Public tree care. The city currently maintains live oak trees in the right-of way on Main Street. The 

locations are as follows: 22 live oaks on the south side of Main Street between Michigan and 
Kansas, extending down Kansas to the southern-most boundary/fence line of Helen's Garden; four 
live oaks on the south side of Main Street between Kansas and Iowa and two live oaks on the north 
side of Main Street between Kansas and Iowa. See the attached map.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

66



League City 

League City  11 

                          

 

(b)  The city shall have the right to plant, prune, maintain and remove trees, plants and shrubs within the 
lines of all streets, alleys, avenues, lanes, squares, rights-of-way and on property owned by the city, 
as necessary to ensure public safety or to preserve or enhance the symmetry and beauty of such 
public property. The city reserves the right to allow the city arborist to authorize the pruning or 
removal of a street tree or park tree when immediate pruning or removal is necessary to protect 
against an imminent threat of substantial injury to persons or damage of property.  

(c)  Non-liability of city. Nothing in this chapter shall be deemed to impose any liability for damages or a 
duty of care and maintenance upon the city or upon any of its officers or employees.  

Protected Tree List  

Large Trees  

Common Name  Botanical Name  

American Sycamore  Plantanus occidentalis  

Bald Cypress  Taxodium distichum  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

67

https://cijerseyvillagetxus-my.sharepoint.com/personal/ableess_jerseyvillagetx_com/Documents/images/102-111-1.png
https://cijerseyvillagetxus-my.sharepoint.com/personal/ableess_jerseyvillagetx_com/Documents/images/102-111-1.png


League City 

League City  12 

Bur Oak  Quercus macrocarpa  

Chinquapin Oak  Quercus muehlenbergii  

Live Oak  Quercus virginiana  

Loblolly Pine  Pinus taeda  

Longleaf Pine  Pinus palustris  

Mexican Sycamore  Plantanus mexicana  

Nutall Oak  Quercus nutallii  

Overcup Oak  Quercus lyrata  

Pecan  Carya illinoenses  

Post Oak  Quercus stellata  

Red Bay  Persea borbonia  

Red Maple  Acer rubrum  

River Birch  Betula nigra  

Sawtooth Oak  Quercus acutissima  

Shumard Oak  Quercus shumardii  

Southern Magnolia  Magnolia grandiflora  

Southern Red Oak  Quercus falcate  

Swamp Chestnut Oak  Quercus michauxii  

Sweet Bay Magnolia  Magnolia virginiana  

Trident Red Maple  Acer Rubrum 'tridens'  

Water Oak  Quercus nigra  

White Oak  Quercus alba  

  

   

Protected Tree List  

Small Trees  

Common Name  Botanical Name  

Chinese Pistache  Pistacia chinensis  

Eastern Redbud  Cercis canadensis  

Little Gem Magnolia  Magnolia grandiflor 'little gem'  

Mexican Buckeye  Ungnadia speciosa  

Mexican Redbud  Cercis canadensis 'mexicana'  

Mexican Plum  Prunus mexicana  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

68



League City 

League City  13 

Texas Mountain Laurel  Sophoria secundiflora  

Texas Pistache  Pistacia texana  

Texas Persimmon  Diospyros texana  

Texas Redbud  Cercis canadensis 'texensis'  

  

   

Invasive Tree List  

Common Name  Botanical Name  

Chinaberry  Melia azedarach  

Chinese Parasoltree  Firmiana simplex  

Chinese Tallow  Triadica sebifera  

Glossy Privet  Ligustrum lucidum  

Golden Rain Tree  Koelreuteria paniculata  

Lead Tree  Leucaena leucocephala  

Mimosa/Silk Tree  Albizia julibrissin  

Princess Tree  Paulownia tonentosa  

Russian Olive  Elaeagnus angustifolia  

Saltcedar  Tamarix spp.  

Tree of Heaven  Ailanthus altissima  

  

(Ord. No. 2018-28, § 1, 9-25-2018)  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

69



The Colony 

The Colony   1 

The Colony 
SECTION 17B. - TREE PRESERVATION  

(17B-100) Purpose. This section is designed to establish rules and regulations governing the 
protection and preservation of larger native or established trees which provide a valuable 
amenity to the urban environment and to encourage the protection of heathy trees and provide 
for the replacement and/or replanting of trees that are necessarily removed during construction, 
development or redevelopment. In addition, to provide for open space and more efficient 
drainage of land; thereby, reducing the effects of soil erosion and the need for additional 
drainage facilities.  

(17B-200) Applicability.  

A. No person shall remove or cause the removal of any tree that is not on the prohibited tree 
list, from any developed or undeveloped property, with the exception of existing single 
family, townhome or duplex structures, within the city without first submitting an application, 
paying an administrative fee and upon approval of the application securing a tree removal 
permit from the planning department, except as follows:  

1. The protected tree is located within the street right-of-way, or utility easement required 
as part of an approved final plat or capital improvement project.  

2. The protected tree has sustained damage in the form of a broken trunk, broken limbs, or 
uprooting, which creates an immediate hazard to life or property, and the removal is 
begun before the beginning of the fifth business day following the occurrence of the 
damage. If the city suffers widespread storm damage, the planning department may 
extend the time period allowed for removal.  

3. The protected tree is to be removed in order to make improvements to property in 
accordance with an application for a building permit properly submitted prior to the 
effective date of this article and the improvements are to be made in accordance with 
the issued permit.  

4. The protected tree is to be removed for recreational property or uses, such as golf 
courses, ballfields, etc., the buildable area of the property shall include that portion of 
the property necessary for the construction of such recreational improvements, 
including minimal adjacent area to allow the normal operation of construction 
equipment.  

5. The mowing, clearing and grubbing of brush located within or under the drip lines of 
protected trees, provided such mowing, clearing or grubbing is accomplished by hand 
or by mowers. The use of dozers, loaders or other construction or earth moving 
equipment for this purpose shall not be allowed.  

6. The terms and provision of this section shall not apply to any development, subdivision 
or resubdivision for which a recorded plat has been approved by the city council prior 
to June 16, 1997.  

7. Utility companies franchised by the city which remove protected trees that endanger 
public safety and welfare by interfering with utility service, except that where such 
trees are on owner occupied properties developed for single family, townhome or 
duplex uses, disposal of such trees shall be at the option of the property owner(s).  

(17B-300) Tree removal permit requirements and procedures.  

A. Any person required to obtain a tree removal permit shall submit a completed application, at 
the time of site plan submittal, a fifty-dollar ($50.00) administrative fee and a written 
document indicating the reason(s) for removal of the protected tree(s) to the planning 
department. The applicant shall also submit a twenty-four-inch by thirty-six-inch site plan to 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

70



The Colony 

The Colony   2 

the planning department, containing the following information (this information does not 
have to be duplicated if already submitted on a required landscape site plan):  

1. Location of all existing or proposed property lines with acreage listed, building lines, and 
yard requirements.  

2. The location, caliper, approximate crown size and common name of all single trunk trees 
with a ten-inch or larger caliper trunk or multi-trunk trees having a total caliper of ten 
(10) inches or larger.  

3. The denotation of the protected tree to be removed.  

4. Existing and proposed grades and major contours.  

5. The location and dimensions of all existing and or proposed public streets or alley right-
of-way, utility easement, pedestrian access easement or other public right-of-ways or 
easements.  

6. Other information as may be required by the planning department.  

B. No application fee shall be charged for the removal of protected trees located on real 
property having an agricultural zoning district classification. Provided, however, if within 
any twelve-month period, tree removal permits for the removal of twenty (20) or more 
protected trees are issued for the same agricultural property or tract, or any portion thereof, 
the agricultural zoning district classification of said property cannot be changed, nor can an 
application for a zoning amendment relative to said property be made, during the twelve-
month period following the aforementioned twelve-month period during which the twenty 
(20) or more trees were removed.  

C. Issuance of tree removal permits. A permit authorizing removal may include one or more 
protected trees on any one property. The application for removal of a protected tree shall 
only be approved and a tree removal permit issued in accordance with the following:  

1. Tree conditions. For the removal of a protected tree which is dying or so severely 
diseased or damaged that its restoration to sound condition is not practical; its 
disease can be expected to be transmitted to other trees and endanger their health; it 
is a hazard to life or property which cannot be reasonably mitigated without removal; 
or removal is necessary to insure the survival of other protected trees.  

2. Construction, repairs, or improvements on property. Where the application for removal of 
a protected tree is requested in order to undertake any construction, repairs, or make 
any improvements to any property, the planning department shall consider the 
application for removal if it determines, after review of the plans for the proposed 
repairs, construction, or improvements, that reasonable efforts have been made to 
avoid removal of the protected tree. In making its determination of whether reasonable 
efforts have been made, the planning department shall consider the following:  

a. The feasibility of using alternate repair or construction methods or techniques;  

b. The feasibility of rerouting or relocation of sewer, water, electric, gas lines or 
equipment, drainage facilities, sidewalks, driveways, or other utilities, equipment, 
or improvements required or needed to serve any building or use located or to be 
located on the property or other property; and  

c. The additional cost that would be incurred as a consequence of insuring 
preservation of the protected tree.  

(17B-400) Tree protection measures.  

A. The following protection measures shall be required for protected trees:  

1. Prior to construction or land development, the developer shall clearly mark with a three-
inch wide red ribbon or tape all protected trees within thirty (30) feet of a public right-

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

71



The Colony 

The Colony   3 

of-way, public easement or buildable lot area, as included on the approved and filed 
record plat.  

2. Prior to construction of land development, the developer shall establish designated 
parking areas for the parking and maintenance of all vehicles, trailers, construction 
equipment and related items and designated stockpile areas for the storage of 
construction supplies and materials during construction.  

3. During construction, the developer shall prohibit the cleaning of equipment or materials 
and/or the disposal of any waste material, including, but not limited to, paint, oil, 
solvents, asphalt, concrete, mortar, etc., under the canopy or drip line of any protected 
tree or group of protected trees.  

4. If a foundation, street or alley pavement, utility line, on-site sewerage facility, pool, tennis 
court, patio, sidewalk, drive or parking lots must be constructed within the drip line of a 
protected tree, it shall be constructed no closer than five (5) feet from the drip line of 
the trunk of such protected tree, as approved by the planning department.  

(17B-500) Replacement requirements and penalties.  

A. Protected trees which are removed shall be replaced by a minimum of two (2), three-inch 
caliper trees for each tree removed. The replacement of removed trees shall not count 
toward the number of trees to be planted as required in other portions of this article.  

B. If any protected trees are removed from properties; except existing single family, townhome 
or duplex structures, prior to issuance of a tree removal permit from the planning 
department, the city shall have the authority to enact one or more of the following 
administrative and civil penalties on the developer of the property from which such 
protected trees are removed:  

1. Replacement by a minimum of four (4), three-inch caliper tree(s) for each tree removed. 
The replacement of removed trees shall not count toward the number of trees to be 
planted as required in other portions of this subsection.  

2. A monetary penalty of one hundred dollars ($100.00) per caliper inch of the removed or 
injured protected tree(s) resulting from the builder's failure to follow required tree 
protection measures that causes or may reasonably be expected to cause the tree to 
die shall be assessed and made payable to the city. Funds paid to The Colony as tree 
removal penalties shall be deposited in a special account or fund and used by The 
Colony to provide and or supplement landscape plantings in public areas in The 
Colony.  

(Ord. No. 97-983, § 2, 6-16-1997)  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

72



Weatherford 

1 
Weatherford 

Weatherford 
CHAPTER 7 - TREE PRESERVATION[2]  

Footnotes:  

--- (2) ---  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 03-21, §§ 1.0—6.0, were not specifically amendatory of the Code and have 
been included as chapter 7 to read as herein set out.  

Sec. 9-7-1. - Purpose and intent.  

The purpose of this chapter is to promote site planning which furthers the preservation of mature 
trees and natural areas; to protect trees during construction; to facilitate site design and construction 
which contribute to the long term viability of existing trees; and to control the removal of trees when 
necessary. It is the further purpose of this chapter to achieve the following broader objectives:  

(1)  Prohibit the indiscriminate clearing of property.  

(2)  Protect and increase the value of residential and commercial properties within the City.  

(3)  Maintain and enhance a positive image for the attraction of new residences and business 
enterprises to the City.  

(4)  Protect healthy quality trees and promote the natural ecological environmental and aesthetic 
qualities of the City.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 1.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-2. - Definitions.  

(a)  General rules. The following rules shall be applied in constructing, interpreting or otherwise defining 
the terms hereof:  

(1)  Words used in the present tense shall include the future, words used in the singular number 
shall include the plural number and words used in the plural shall include the singular.  

(2)  The word "shall" is mandatory and the word "may" is permissive.  

(3)  The word "person" shall include any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, joint venture, 
organization, or any other entity.  

(b)  Definitions. Certain words or terms applicable to this chapter are defined as hereinafter provided. 
Words and terms used in this chapter, but not defined in this chapter shall have the meanings 
contained in the zoning ordinance, landscape ordinance or other ordinances of the City. Words and 
terms defined in two ordinances shall be read in harmony unless there exists an irreconcilable 
conflict, in which case the definition contained in this chapter shall control.  

Alter; alters; alteration: The uprooting, severing the main trunk of the tree, or any act which 
causes or may reasonably be expected to cause a tree to die. It includes, but is not limited to: 
damage inflicted up the tree's root system by machinery, storage of materials, or the compaction of 
soil above the root system of a tree; a change in the natural grade above the root system of a tree; 
an application of herbicidal or other lethal chemicals; excessive pruning; placement of non-
permeable pavement over the root system of a tree; and trenching within the critical root zone. A 
protected tree shall be considered to be altered if less than 75 percent of the critical root zone is 
maintained at undisturbed natural grade, or more than 25 percent of the canopy is removed, or the 
tree is disfigured to the extent a reasonable person would conclude the tree will not survive.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

73



Weatherford 

2 
Weatherford 

Building pad: The actual foundation area of a building and a reasonable area not to exceed six 
feet around the foundation necessary for construction and grade transitions.  

Clear-cutting: The removal of all of the trees or a significant majority of the trees within an area 
of land.  

Critical root zone: The area of undisturbed natural soil around a tree defined by a concentric 
circle with a radius equal to the distance from the trunk to the outermost portion of the drip line.  

Cut/fill: Areas where the natural ground level has been excavated (cut) or fill has been brought 
in.  

Drip line: Whichever is greater of: (1) a vertical line run through the outermost portion of the 
canopy of a tree and extending to the ground, or (2) if the tree is damaged or deformed as a result of 
tree growth or other cause, a circular area with a radius of one-half the height of the tree extending 
outward from the center point of the tree.  

Landscape administrator: The director of planning and development or designee.  

Landscape architect: A person licensed to use the title of "landscape architect" in the State of 
Texas in accordance with the state law.  

Municipal/public domain property: Property in which title is held in the name of government 
entity.  

Owner: Any person with an interest in land, or a lessee, agent, employee, or other person acting 
on behalf of the owner.  

Protective fencing: Snow fencing, chain link fence, orange vinyl construction fencing or other 
similar fencing at least four feet high and supported at a maximum of ten-foot intervals by approved 
methods sufficient enough to keep the fence upright and in place. The fencing shall be of a highly 
visible material.  

Public utility: A business that offers a public utility service, such as gas, electricity, cable or 
telecommunications service and that installs facilities within public right-of-way or easements.  

Tree: Any self-supporting wood perennial plant which will attain a trunk diameter of two inches 
or more when measured at a point four and one-half feet above ground level and normally an overall 
height of at least 15 feet at maturity, usually with one main stem or trunk and many branches. It may 
appear to have several stems or trunks as in several varieties of oaks.  

Tree board: A board appointed by the City Council to carry out the duties and responsibilities 
set forth in this chapter. The planning and zoning board shall constitute the tree board unless the 
City Council appoints a separate tree board.  

Tree, marginal: A tree which the City has determined may or may not be worthy of preservation 
depending on the individual characteristics of the tree.  

Tree, park: Tree, shrubs, and all other woody vegetation in public parks and all areas owned by 
the City to which the public has free access as a park.  

Tree, protected: (1) A quality tree that has a trunk with a diameter of six inches or greater at four 
and one-half feet above the ground, or (2) a marginal tree that has a trunk with a diameter of six 
inches or greater at four and one-half feet above the ground and that the landscape administrator 
has determined should be saved due to individual characteristics of the area. The diameter of a 
multi-trunk tree shall be determined by adding the total diameter of the largest trunk to one-half the 
diameter of each additional trunk.  

Tree quality: A tree which the City has determined typically has significant positive 
characteristics worthy of preservation.  

Tree, street: Trees, shrubs, and all other woody vegetation on land lying between property lines 
on either side of all streets, avenues, or ways within the City.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

74



Weatherford 

3 
Weatherford 

Tree survey: A plan drawing that provides legend details about the location and details of trees. 
It shall include drawings by a licensed surveyor, a licensed architect, or, if few trees are involved, a 
person approved by the landscape administrator.  

Tree topping: The severe cutting back of limbs to stubs larger than three inches in diameter 
within the tree's crown to such a degree so as to remove the normal canopy and disfigure the tree.  

Utility company: A company or entity, or agent for a company or entity, that provides a utility 
service such as the provision of gas, electric, cable, or telephone service within the City.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 2.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-3. - Tree permit.  

(a)  Generally: Except as otherwise provided in subsection (c), below, a person must obtain a tree 
permit from the landscape administrator before altering any tree, park tree, or street tree in the City.  

(b)  Offense: A person commits an offense if the person alters a protected tree that does not meet an 
exception listed in subsection (c), below, without first obtaining a tree permit from the City that 
authorizes alteration of that tree. A person commits an offense if the person alters a tree in violation 
of the permit.  

(c)  Exceptions: It is an affirmative defense to prosecution for a violation of subsection 9-7-3(b) if the 
person altered a tree for one of the reasons listed below. No tree permit is required if:  

(1)  The tree endangers the public health, welfare or safety and immediate alteration is required.  

(2)  The tree has disrupted a public utility service due to a tornado, storm, flood or similar act. 
Alteration shall be limited to the portion of the tree reasonably necessary to reestablish and 
maintain reliable utility service.  

(3)  The tree is located on the property of a licensed plant or tree nursery which has trees planted 
and growing on the premises for the sale or intended sale to the general public in the ordinary 
course of the nursery's business.  

(4)  The tree is located on property zoned single family residential on which there is a residence 
used as a homestead. However, builders, contractors and owners are subject to the 
requirements of this chapter for all new construction prior to moving into and living on the 
homestead.  

(5)  The tree is located on property which is zoned "A" (agriculture) and being actively used for 
agricultural purposes, as long as the tree is located within a total area of one acre surrounding 
the owner's residence is used as a homestead.  

(6)  The tree must be altered to allow construction of improvements in accordance with an active 
building permit.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 3.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-4. - Permit review and approval process.  

(a)  Authority for review: The landscape administrator shall be responsible for reviewing all requests for 
tree permits submitted in accordance with the requirements specified herein.  

(b)  Deferral or appeal to planning and zoning board: The landscape administrator may defer the 
approval of a tree permit to the planning and zoning board for any reason. A person aggrieved by a 
decision of the Landscape administrator may appeal the decision to the planning and zoning board. 
The decision of the planning and zoning board shall be final.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

75



Weatherford 

4 
Weatherford 

(c)  Submittal requirements: The landscape administrator shall establish administrative procedures 
necessary to facilitate the implementation and enforcement of this chapter.  

(1)  Fees: A person shall submit, with the person's application for a tree permit, payment of a fee to 
the City of Weatherford in the amount specified by City Council in a fee schedule, unless 
section 9-7-9 (exceptions to permit fee requirement) of this chapter is applicable.  

(2)  Required documents: An applicant for a tree permit shall submit a map exhibit, or survey as 
required.  

a.  Alternative to tree survey: For property containing large, heavily wooded areas, the 
landscape administrator may, in lieu of a tree survey, authorize the submittal of an aerial 
photograph accompanied by a transparent plan of the development at the same scale as 
the photograph showing all areas that are exempt from the tree replacement and/or tree 
protection requirements, provided that a tree survey is submitted to the landscape 
administrator prior to any grading or construction. The landscape administrator may 
approve the submission of photographs in phases for a multi-phased project.  

b.  Non-disturbance areas: If the applicant designates a nearly wooded area as non-
disturbance zone in which no construction will occur, the landscape administrator may 
approve a non-disturbance zone and trees within the zone are not required to be 
individually identified on the survey.  

(3)  Permit expiration: A tree permit issued in connection with a building permit shall be valid for the 
period of that building permit's validity. A tree permit not issued in connection with a building 
permit plan shall become void 180 days after the issue date on the tree permit.  

(d)  Posting tree protection sign: After the tree permit is issued, the permit holder shall post a "tree 
protection sign" at each entrance to the property upon which one or more trees is situated, and at 
any other location designated by the landscape administrator.  

(e)  Action on permit application: The landscape administrator or the planning and zoning board shall 
grant a tree permit based on the following criteria:  

(1)  Whether or not a reasonable accommodation or alternative solution can be made to 
accomplish the desired activity without the alteration of the tree;  

(2)  The cost of preserving the tree;  

(3)  The increased development costs caused by preserving the tree;  

(4)  Whether the tree is worthy of preservation;  

(5)  The effect of the alteration on erosion, soil moisture, retention, flow of surface waters, and 
drainage systems;  

(6)  The need for buffering residential areas from the noise, glare, and visual effects of 
nonresidential uses;  

(7)  Whether the tree interferes with a utility service;  

(8)  Whether the proposed tree replacement procedures pursuant to section 9-7-7 of this chapter 
adequately mitigate the alteration of the tree; and  

(9)  Whether the alteration adversely affects the public health, safety or welfare.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 4.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-5. - Ongoing review of development by landscape administrator.  

(a)  Evaluations: The landscape administrator shall evaluate any plans required by this chapter to 
determine whether the developer has made a good-faith effort to preserve as many protected trees 
as possible. The landscape administrator shall prepare an analysis and forward it to the planning and 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

76



Weatherford 

5 
Weatherford 

zoning board and the City Council for their consideration regarding denial or approval of any concept 
plan or site plan that is necessary for development. The planning and zoning board and the City 
Council shall take into consideration the criteria for tree preservation listed in subsection 9-7-4(e) of 
this chapter in determining whether to deny or approve any concept plan or site plan.  

(b)  Non-substantive changes: The landscape administrator shall be authorized to work with owners, 
developers, and builders to make non-substantive changes, within the scope of this chapter, to 
plans, permits and other requirements throughout the development and construction processes that 
will provide the greatest reasonable protection toward achieving the purposes of this chapter.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 5.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-6. - Tree replacement and tree protection requirements.  

(a)  Generally: If a tree permit is required for the alteration of a protected tree pursuant to this chapter, 
the tree replacement procedures set forth in section 9-7-7 of this chapter and the tree protection 
procedures set forth in section 9-7-8 of this chapter must be followed as prescribed in this section.  

(b)  Public utility projects: For any project conducted by a public utility (except in a capacity covered by 
section 9-7-3(c)(2) herein), all protected trees that the landscape administrator determines must be 
altered in order to install utility lines within public right-of-way or utility easements shall be exempt 
from the tree replacement and tree protection requirements listed in sections 9-7-7 and 9-7-8 of this 
chapter. Any protected trees within public right-of-way or utility easements that the landscape 
administrator determines do not have to be altered shall be subject to the tree protection 
requirements listed in section 9-7-8 of this chapter, but not to the tree replacement requirements 
listed in section 9-7-7 of this chapter. The public utility's application for a tree permit must be 
accompanied by a site plan or construction plan.  

(c)  Selective thinning and removal of underbrush:  

(1)  The landscape administrator may issue a single tree permit allowing the alteration of certain 
protected trees from a densely forested area when the landscape administrator determines that 
the selective thinning is being done in a professionally accepted manner that will enhance the 
environment and the likelihood of survival for the remaining trees. If the landscape administrator 
issues a permit for selective thinning, the protected trees covered by the permit shall be exempt 
from the tree replacement and tree protection requirements of sections 9-7-7 and 9-7-8 of this 
chapter.  

(2)  The landscape administrator may issue a permit allowing the clearing and grubbing of brush 
located within or under the drip lines of protected trees subject to reasonable conditions to 
insure the maximum protection for the trees. The permit holder shall clear or grub by hand or 
with mowers. The use of dozers, loaders, or other moving equipment to clear or grub is 
prohibited.  

(d)  Clear-cutting: The landscape administrator may issue a single tree permit allowing the clear-cutting 
of protected trees from property zoned "A" (agriculture) after the landscape administrator makes an 
on-site inspection of the property to be cleared and receives a written statement from the applicant 
describing the purpose and reason for the clear-cutting, but only if the landscape administrator 
determines that the clear-cutting is for a legitimate, agricultural reason. If the landscape administrator 
issues such a permit, the protected trees covered by the permit shall be exempt from the tree 
replacement and tree protection requirements of sections 9-7-7 and 9-7-8 of this chapter. If the land 
ceases to be used for agricultural purposes at any time within three years after the permit is obtained 
to remove the trees, the owner of the land must comply with the tree replacement requirements 
contained in section 9-7-7 of this chapter. This requirement runs with the land.  

(e)  Diseased, damaged, or dangerous trees: The landscape administrator may issue a tree permit for 
any tree that is diseased, infected or damaged beyond the point of recovery, or in danger of falling 
(except as described by subsection 9-7-3(c)(1) herein) as determined by the landscape administrator 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

77



Weatherford 

6 
Weatherford 

prior to the alteration of the tree. A diseased tree may be altered by the City or an individual to 
reduce the chance of spreading the disease to adjacent healthy trees. If the landscape administrator 
issues such a permit, the protected trees covered by the permit shall be exempt from the tree 
replacement and tree protection requirements of sections 9-7-7 and 9-7-8 of this chapter.  

(f)  Agricultural: The landscape administrator may issue a tree permit for the alteration of up to seven 
protected trees per calendar year on property zoned "A" (agriculture) and being actively used for 
agricultural purposes. If the landscape administrator issues such a permit, the protected trees 
covered by the permit shall be exempt from the tree replacement and tree protection requirements of 
sections 9-7-7 and 9-7-8 of this chapter. (However, protected trees altered in excess of seven per 
calendar year are not exempt under this section and will require tree permits and must comply with 
tree replacement and tree protection requirements.)  

(g)  New developments:  

(1)  Residential subdivision: In a residential subdivision, all protected trees that the landscape 
administrator determines must be altered in order to install utility lines within public rights-of-way 
or utility easements or drainage easements as shown on approved final plat, or to achieve the 
cut/fill drainage as designated on the master drainage construction plan, shall be exempt from 
the tree replacement and tree protection requirements listed in sections 9-7-7 and 9-7-8 of this 
chapter. Any protected trees within these areas that the landscape administrator determines do 
not have to be altered shall be subject to the tree protection requirements listed in section 9-7-8 
of this chapter, but not to the tree replacement requirements listed in section 9-7-7 of this 
chapter. All other areas of the subdivision shall be subject to both the tree replacement and the 
tree protection requirements, and all other provisions of this chapter.  

(2)  Single lot residential development: In a single lot residential development, all areas within the 
building pad site, driveways, public sidewalks, patios, septic tank and lateral lines, parking area, 
and pool and associated deck area shall be exempt from the tree replacement and tree 
protection requirements of sections 9-7-7 and 9-7-8 of this chapter. All other areas of the lot 
shall be subject to both the tree replacement and the tree protection requirements, and all other 
provisions of this chapter.  

(3)  Non-residential development: In a non-residential development, all protected trees that the 
landscape administrator determines must be altered in order to install utility lines within public 
right-of-way or public utility or drainage easements as shown on an approved final plat, or to 
install fire lanes, required parking areas and building pad sites as shown on an approved site 
plan, shall be exempt from the tree protection and tree replacement requirements listed in 
sections 9-7-7 and 9-7-8 of this chapter. Any protected trees within these areas that the 
landscape administrator determines do not have to be altered shall be subject to the tree 
protection requirements listed in section 9-7-8 of this chapter, but not to the tree replacement 
requirements listed in section 9-7-7 of this chapter. All other areas of the development shall be 
subject to both the tree replacement and the tree protection requirements, and all other 
provisions of this chapter.  

a.  Mitigation for parking: If a person provides parking spaces in addition to the required 
number of parking spaces, the person shall be required to replace trees which are required 
to be altered due to the parking or to make payment to the City reforestation fund, or a 
combination thereof, as directed by the landscape administrator.  

The following formula shall be used to calculate the number of trees to be replaced or the 
payment due: The landscape administrator shall identify the total number of parking spaces 
above the number required by the zoning ordinance and calculate the number of trees to be 
replaced or mitigated based on an equivalent number of spaces in the lot containing the 
greatest number of trees.  

(h)  Pruning: The landscape administrator may issue a tree permit to allow pruning of a protected tree 
that alters the tree if such pruning is necessary to allow construction or demolition of a structure. If 
the landscape administrator issues such a permit, the protected tree covered by the permit shall be 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

78



Weatherford 

7 
Weatherford 

exempt from the tree replacement and tree protection requirements of sections 9-7-7 and 9-7-8 of 
this chapter. For all other pruning for which a tree permit is required, sections 9-7-7 and 9-7-8 shall 
apply.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 6.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-7. - Tree replacement procedures.  

(a)  Generally: If required by section 9-7-6, above, the following procedures shall apply to any person 
who alters a protected tree for which a permit is required.  

(b)  Tree replacement: If a person alters a protected tree for which a permit is required, the person shall 
replace the protected tree with a quality tree as designated in the landscape ordinance and approved 
by the landscape administrator. This tree replacement requirement is not meant to supplant good 
site planning. Tree replacement will be considered only after all design alternatives which could save 
more existing trees have been evaluated and reasonably rejected.  

(1)  Size and number: A sufficient number of trees shall be planted to equal or exceed, in caliper, 
the diameter of each tree altered, measured at four and one-half feet above ground level. Each 
replacement tree shall be a minimum of three inch caliper at one foot above ground level, and 
seven feet in height when planted.  

(2)  Location: Each replacement tree should be planted on the same property as the tree which 
was altered. However, if the replacement tree cannot be planted on the same property in 
accordance with universally accepted arborists' standards, the landscape administrator may:  

a.  Require replacement on private property.  

b.  Require replacement on public property, or  

c.  Require payment to the reforestation fund in accordance with subsection 9-7-7(c), below.  

(3)  Responsibility for replacing trees: The landscape administrator will determine the agent 
responsible for replacing the trees, the time of replacement, and the location of the replacement 
trees. The requirement to replace trees shall run with the land.  

(4)  Delayed replacement: If the landscape administrator approves the planting of replacement 
trees more than 30 days after the alteration of protected trees, the applicant shall provide the 
landscape administrator with an affidavit that all replacement trees will be planted within six 
months. The landscape administrator may require the person to furnish the City a cash deposit 
or surety bond in the approximate amount of the cost to replace the trees.  

(5)  Duration: A replacement tree that dies within three years of the date it was planted must be 
replaced by another replacement tree. This requirement runs with the land.  

(c)  Reforestation fund: If required by the landscape administrator, the applicant, instead of compliance 
with section 9-7-7(b), above, shall make a payment into the reforestation fund or other specifically 
dedicated fund. The funds shall be used only for purchasing and planting trees on private property 
approved by the landscape administrator, on public property, for acquiring wooded property which 
shall remain in a naturalistic state in perpetuity, or for establishing a landscape or wildlife preserve or 
similar nature area.  

(1)  The amount of the payment required for each replacement tree shall be calculated based on a 
schedule published and reviewed annually by the landscape administrator which sets forth the 
average cost of a quality tree added to the average cost of planting a tree.  

(2)  The landscape administrator shall submit quarterly reports to the City Council of the deposits 
and disbursements from the reforestation fund.  

(d)  Offense: A person commits an offense if the person fails to replace a tree or make a payment in 
accordance with the landscape administrator's direction pursuant to this section 9-7-7.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

79



Weatherford 

8 
Weatherford 

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 7.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-8. - Tree protection procedures.  

(a)  Generally: If required by section 9-7-6, above, the following procedures shall apply to protect any 
protected tree for which a permit is required.  

(b)  Construction plan requirements: All construction plans shall be specific and identify protected trees 
and protection procedures.  

(c)  Prohibited activities in critical root zone: The following activities are prohibited within the limits of the 
critical root zone of any protected tree subject to the requirements of this chapter.  

(1)  Material storage: No materials intended for use in construction or waste materials accumulated 
due to excavation or demolition shall be placed within the limits of the critical root zone of any 
protected tree.  

(2)  Equipment cleaning/liquid disposal: No equipment shall be cleaned or other liquids deposited 
or allowed to flow overland within the limits of the critical root zone of a protected tree. This 
includes, without limitation, paint, oil, solvents, asphalt, concrete, mortar or similar materials.  

(3)  Tree attachments: No signs, wires or other attachments, other than those of a protected tree. 
Fencing attached to a tree via "U" nails or bent nails is allowed only if the fencing is parallel to 
and contiguous with the tree.  

(4)  Vehicular traffic: No vehicular and/or construction equipment traffic or parking shall take place 
within the limits of the critical root zone of any protected tree other than on existing street 
pavement. This restriction does not apply to single incident access within the critical root zone 
for purposes of clearing underbrush, establishing the building pad and associated lot grading, 
vehicular traffic necessary for routine utility maintenance, emergency restoration of utility 
service, or routine mowing operations.  

(5)  Grade changes: No grade changes shall be allowed within the limits of the critical root zone of 
any protected tree unless adequate construction methods are approved by the landscape 
administrator.  

(6)  Impervious paving: No paving with asphalt, concrete or other impervious materials that may 
reasonably be expected to kill a tree shall be placed within the limits of the critical root zone of a 
protected tree except as otherwise allowed in this chapter.  

(d)  Prohibited activities in drip-line: No heavy equipment, including but not limited to trucks, tractors, 
trailers, bulldozers, bobcat tractors, trenchers, compressors, and hoists, shall be allowed inside the 
drip-line of any protected tree on any construction site without the specific approval of the landscape 
administrator.  

(e)  Procedures required prior to construction: The following procedures shall be followed on all types of 
construction projects (including without limitation residential, commercial, and municipal/public 
domain projects).  

(1)  Protective fencing: Prior to construction, the contractor or subcontractor shall construct and 
maintain, for each protected tree on a construction site, a protective fencing which encircles the 
outer limits of the critical root zone of the tree to protect it from construction activity. All 
protective fencing shall be in place prior to commencement of any site work and remain in place 
until all exterior work has been completed.  

(2)  Bark protection: In situations where a protected tree remains in the immediate area of intended 
construction and the landscape administrator determines the tree bark to be in danger of 
damage by construction equipment or other activity, the contractor or subcontractor shall protect 
the tree by enclosing the entire circumference of the tree with 2"x 4" lumber encircled with wire 
or other means that do not damage the tree. The intent is to protect the bark of the tree against 
incidental contact by large construction equipment.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

80



Weatherford 

9 
Weatherford 

(f)  Construction methods:  

(1)  Boring: Boring of utilities under protected trees shall be required in those circumstances where 
it is not possible to trench around the critical root zone of the protected tree. When required, the 
length of the bore shall be the width of the critical root zone at a minimum and shall be a 
minimum depth of 48 inches.  

(2)  Grade change: In situations in which the landscape administrator approves the grade change 
within the critical root zone of a protected tree, the procedures noted in the City's standard detail 
sheet shall be followed.  

(3)  Trenching: All trenching shall be designed to avoid trenching across the critical root zone of 
any protected tree, unless otherwise approved by the landscape administrator. Trenching within 
the critical root zone requires a tree permit. The placement of underground utility lines such as 
electric, phone, gas, etc., is encouraged to be located outside of the critical root zone of 
protected trees. Trenching for an irrigation system shall be placed outside of the critical root 
zone, except the minimum required single head supply line as allowed to extend into the critical 
root zone perpendicular to the tree trunk and in the manner that has the least possible 
encroachment into the critical root zone.  

(4)  Root pruning: All roots two inches or larger in diameter which are exposed as a result of 
trenching or other excavation shall be cut off square with a sharp medium tooth saw and 
covered with pruning compound within two hours of initial exposure.  

((g)  Offense: A person commits an offense if the person violates or fails to comply with this section 9-7-
8.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 8.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-9. - Exceptions to permit fee requirement.  

(a)  City: When altering any protected tree, the City is exempt from the tree permit fee, but must obtain a 
permit and comply with all tree replacement and tree protection procedures as listed in sections 9-7-
7 and 9-7-8. Protected trees proposed to be altered must be shown on construction plans approved 
by the landscape administrator.  

(b)  Diseased, damaged, or dangerous tree: A person is exempt from the tree permit fee if altering a 
diseased, damaged, or dangerous tree pursuant to section 9-7-6(e), above.  

(c)  Public utilities: When altering any protected tree, a public utility is exempt from the tree permit fee, 
but must obtain a permit and comply with all tree replacement and tree protection procedures as 
listed in sections 9-7-7 and 9-7-8. Protected trees proposed to be altered must be shown on 
construction plans approved by the landscape administrator.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 9.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-10. - Comprehensive tree plan.  

It shall be the responsibility of the planning and zoning board in conjunction with the Keep 
Weatherford Beautiful Board to study, investigate, counsel and develop and/or update periodically, and 
administer a written plan for the care, preservation, pruning, planting, replanting, removal or disposition of 
trees and shrubs on all municipal/public domain property. The board shall present the plan to the council 
and, when adopted by the council, the plan shall represent the comprehensive tree plan for the City.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 10.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-11. - Street and park trees.  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

81



Weatherford 

10 
Weatherford 

(a)  Acceptable trees: The landscape administrator shall maintain a list of trees acceptable for planting 
on municipal/public domain property. Trees other than those listed as acceptable may only be 
planted upon written approval of the landscape administrator.  

(b)  Street tree spacing: The spacing of street trees will be in accordance with recommendations of the 
landscape administrator.  

(c)  Stump removals: All stumps of street and park trees shall be removed below the surface of the 
ground so that the top of the stump shall not project above the surface of the ground.  

(d)  Permit required: A person, other than an agent of the City, must obtain a tree permit before the 
person may prune, treat, remove, damage, or destroy a street or park tree (regardless of whether it 
is a protected tree and regardless of whether it is significant enough to "alter" the tree) within the 
City. A person commits an offense if the person violates this subsection 9-7-11(d).  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 11.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-12. - Tree pruning.  

(a)  Offense: A person commits an offense if the person alters or significantly disfigures a protected tree 
by pruning.  

(b)  Permit requirements for public utilities: Unless pruning is requested by the owner of the tree or 
excepted from this chapter pursuant to subsection 9-7-3(c)(2) herein, the public utility shall obtain a 
tree permit before beginning any pruning (regardless of whether the pruning will alter or significantly 
disfigure the tree).  

(c)  Pruning technique: When allowed, all pruning shall be conducted in accordance with universally 
accepted arborists' standards.  

(d)  Required pruning: The owners of all trees adjacent to public right-of-way shall maintain a minimum 
clearance of 13 feet above the traveled pavement or curb of a public street. Said owners shall 
remove all dead, diseased or dangerous trees, or broken or decayed limbs which constitute a 
menace to the safety of the public. (Cross-reference: Section 9-7-3(c) of this chapter regarding 
exceptions.)  

(e)  Tree topping: It shall be unlawful for any person to top any tree without having a tree permit 
approved by the landscape administrator, unless an exception listed in subsection 9-7-3(c) of this 
chapter applies. However, if the landscape administrator determines that topping the tree is 
necessary because the tree has been severely damaged by storms or other causes, or is under 
utility wires or other obstructions, making other pruning practices impractical, the landscape 
administrator may issue a tree permit allowing topping of the tree.  

(f)  Ground level cuts: Where protected tree removal is allowed through exemption or by a tree permit, 
and the root system is intertwined with protected trees which are intended to be saved, the tree shall 
be removed by flush cutting with the natural level of the surrounding ground. Where stump removal 
is also desired, stump grinding shall be allowed or, upon approval by the landscape administrator, a 
trench may be cut between the two trees sufficient to cut the roots near the tree to be removed, 
thereby allowing removal of the remaining stump without destruction of the root system of the saved 
tree.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 12.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-13. - Tree planting restrictions.  

A person commits an offense if the person:  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

82



Weatherford 

11 
Weatherford 

(1)  Plants any required replacement tree within an area such that the mature canopy of the tree 
will interfere with overhead utility lines;  

(2)  Plants any required replacement tree or street tree within an area such that the mature root 
zone of the tree will interfere with underground public utility lines (including water lines, sewer 
lines, transmission lines or other utilities);  

(3)  Plants a tree within ten feet of a fire hydrant; or  

(4)  Plants a street tree closer than 35 feet to a street corner, measured from the point of nearest 
intersecting curbs or curb lines.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 13.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-14. - Tree survey required before grading.  

A person commits an offense if the person grades or causes grading on any property in the City prior 
to obtaining a grading permit. No grading permit shall be issued until a tree survey, if required, has been 
submitted to and approved by the landscape administrator.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 14.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-15. - Enforcement.  

(a)  Developer's agreement: The City shall not approve a developer's agreement unless it provides that 
all construction activities shall meet the requirements of this chapter.  

(b)  Building permit: No building permit shall be issued unless the applicant signs an application or 
permit request which states that all construction activities shall meet the requirements of this chapter. 
The building official shall make available to the applicant:  

(1)  A copy of the tree preservation ordinance or a condensed summary of the relevant aspects 
pertaining to the type of permit requested; and  

(2)  A tree protection sign.  

(c)  Acceptance of improvements: The City may refuse to accept any public improvements until the 
person pays all civil penalties for violations of this chapter or complies with section 9-7-7 of this 
chapter; provided, however, that acceptance of public improvements shall be authorized before all 
trees have been replaced if, with the landscape administrator's approval, the person furnishes the 
City with a cash deposit or surety bond in the approximate amount of the cost to replace the trees.  

(d)  Certificate of occupancy: No certificate of occupancy (C.O.) shall be issued until all civil penalties for 
violations of this chapter have been paid to the City. No certificate of occupancy shall be issued until 
all replacement trees have been planted or appropriate payments have been made to the 
reforestation fund; provided, however, that a certificate of occupancy may be granted before all trees 
have been replaced if, with the landscape administrator's approval, the person furnishes the City with 
a cash deposit or surety bond in the approximate amount of the cost to replace the trees.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 15.0, 7-31-03) 

Sec. 9-7-16. - Violations.  

(a)  Any person who:  

(1)  Violates section 9-7-3 of this chapter by altering a protected tree without first obtaining a tree 
permit from the City, or by altering trees in violation of the permit, or  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

83



Weatherford 

12 
Weatherford 

(2)  Violates section 9-7-7 of this chapter by failing to follow the tree replacement procedures, shall:  

a.  Be assessed a penalty by the landscape administrator equal to $100.00 per diameter inch 
of the tree(s) altered; and  

b.  Be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be fined $100.00 per diameter inch 
of the tree(s) altered, not to exceed $1,000.00 per incident. The unlawful alteration of each 
protected tree shall be considered a separate incident and each incident subjects the 
violator to the maximum penalty set forth herein for each tree.  

(b)  Any person, firm, corporation, agent or employee thereof who violates any other provisions of this 
chapter shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction hereof shall be fined not to exceed 
$1,000.00 for each incident. The unlawful alteration of each protected tree shall be considered a 
separate incident and each incident subjects the violator to the maximum penalty set forth herein for 
each tree.  

(c)  A person is criminally responsible for a violation of this chapter if the person alters, or permits or 
causes to be altered, a protected tree without complying with the requirements of this chapter.  

(Ord. No. 03-21, § 16.0, 7-31-03)  

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

84



West Lake Hills 

 West Lake Hills 
  1 
 

West Lake Hills 

Division 9. Trees and Vegetation 

Sec. 22.03.300     Purpose 

(a)     This division is adopted to promote and enhance a superior community 
environment, to maintain the rural character, to maintain air quality and ecologic 
balance, to maintain property values, to provide soil stabilization, to filter stormwater 
runoff, and to ensure the maximum preservation of the valuable natural features and 
scenic rural/wooded character as contemplated in the master plan of the city by 
establishing minimum standards and requirements relating to the protection of trees 
and natural vegetation. 

(b)     It is intended that this division be administered with the foregoing purposes in 
mind and specifically so as to: 

(1)     Ensure, insofar as practical in permitting development of land and minimizing 
fire hazard, the maximum retention of natural vegetation to aid in protection against 
erosion of top soil, preservation of natural scenic qualities and healthy ecosystems of 
the city through good conservation practices, protection from flooding or landslides, 
noise absorption, maintenance of privacy, and in providing habitat, shade and color; 

(2)     Protect mature trees and significant stands of trees in order to retain as many 
as possible consistent with the purposes set forth herein and also consistent with 
reasonable economic enjoyment of private property. In this context, privately owned 
trees have an impact on the quality of life for the entire community; 

(3)     Preserve the rugged beauty and natural environment that defines the character 
of the city and makes it a unique and desirable community; and 

(4)     Require the removal of all confirmed dead brush, vegetation, and trees from all 
properties in order to reduce the risk of wildfire. In the case of dead trees and dead 
understory, the city inspector must confirm that the vegetation is indeed dead prior to 
its removal in order for the owner to avoid replacement requirements as described in 
section 22.03.304(d) below. 

Sec. 22.03.301     Definitions 

Ashe Juniper. Juniperus ashei (commonly known as Cedar, Post Cedar, Mountain Cedar, or 
Blueberry Juniper) is a native, drought-tolerant evergreen shrub or small tree. 
Canopy. For forests the term canopy is used to refer to the extent of the outer layer of leaves 
of an individual tree or group of trees. 
Fire safety buffer zone (FSBZ). A concept of defensible space in a wildland-urban interface 
(WUI) created around the perimeter of a structure to reduce the risk that fire will spread from 
the surroundings to the structure as well as from the structure to the surroundings and provide 
firefighters access and a safer area to defend. 
Firescaping. Is landscape design that reduces house and property vulnerability to wildfire. 
The goal is to develop a landscape with a design and choice of plants that offers the best fire 
protection and enhances the property. The idea is to surround the house with things that are 
less likely to burn. It is imperative when building homes in wildfire-prone areas that fire 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

85



West Lake Hills 

 West Lake Hills 
  2 
 

safety be a major factor in landscape design. Appropriate manipulation of the landscape can 
make a significant contribution toward wildfire survival. 
Fuel ladder effect. A firefighting term for live or dead vegetation that allows a fire to climb 
up from the landscape or forest floor into the tree canopy; common fuel ladders include tall 
grasses, shrubs, and tree branches i.e. understory, both living and dead. It is also part of 
defensible space firescaping practices. 
Imminent or immediate threat to persons or property. A tree, trees, or part of a tree that poses 
an imminent or immediate threat of injury to persons or damage or destruction to property as 
determined by the city inspector or city administrator. 
Limbing-up. To cut or lop live or dead branches of a tree to raise its crown or canopy in order 
to manage fuel ladder affect of a ground fire to the canopy. 
Non-native invasive species. (Also called “non-indigenous,” “non-native” or “alien”) exotic 
pest plants and invasive exotics growing in native plant communities that adversely affect the 
wild life habitats and bioregions they invade, economically, environmentally, and/or 
ecologically. Examples of the most troublesome non-native invasive species trees and plants 
in our area as identified by the City of Austin are as follows (ref: 
http://www.austintexas.gov/invasives): 
(1)     Trees: 
Tree of Heaven (Ailianthus altissima) 

Mimosa, Silk Tree (Albizia julbrissin) 

Paper mulberry (Broussonetia papyrifera) 

Chinese Parasol Tree (Firmiana simplex) 

Large/WaxLeaf Privets (Ligustrum lucidum, Ligustrumjaponicum, Ligustrum vulgare) 

Chinaberry tree (Melia azedarach) 

Chinese Pistache (Pistacia chinensis) 

Chinese tallow tree (Triadica sebifera or Sapium sebiferum) 

(2)     Shrubs and grasses: 
Small Leaf Privets (Ligustrum quihoui or, Ligustrum sinense) 

Running Bamboo (Phyllostachysaurea) 

Heavenly Bamboo/Sacred Bamboo (Nandina domestica) 

Golden Bamboo (Phyllostachys aurea) 

Johnsongrass (Sorghum halepense) 

King Ranch Bluestem (Bothriochloa ischaemum var. songarica) 

Arundo Donax (Carizzo Cane) 

Pruning. To cut or lop superfluous or undesired twigs, branches, or roots from; trim; the 
horticultural altering the form or shape of a plant. For trees this may be raising its canopy, 
reducing its width or canopy volume. 
Understory. An underlying layer of vegetation comprised of small trees, tall grasses and 
shrubs between the forest canopy and the ground cover. 
Sec. 22.03.302     Preservation of existing landscape vegetation and natural features 

(a)     Landscape shall be preserved in its natural state to the greatest extent 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

86



West Lake Hills 

 West Lake Hills 
  3 
 

possible. 

(b)     Vegetative screening shall be maintained to the greatest extent possible, 
especially along the perimeter of all properties in order to maximize the screening 
and buffering of structures, driveways and parking areas from adjacent properties. 

(c)     Structures, driveways, and parking areas shall be designed and located to fit 
harmoniously with the natural terrain and to minimize the necessity for removing 
trees, vegetation, and soil, or the addition of fill. 

(d)     It is unlawful for any property owner or tenant to harbor dead trees, dead 
vegetation, dead brush piles, and other flammable dead organic material on their 
property. Exceptions would be allowed for contained compost piles and stacked and 
stored firewood. In order to reduce the risk of fire on all properties, all dead trees and 
brush piles, and other flammable dead organic material shall be cleared and 
removed in accordance with section 22.03.303 below. In the case of dead trees and 
understory, the city inspector must confirm that the vegetation is dead prior to its 
removal in order for the owner to avoid replacement requirements as described in 
section 22.03.304(d) below. 

(e)     The city is responsible for all vegetation and trees that are located on city-
owned property. 

Sec. 22.03.303     Required permits and tree survey 

(a)     Prohibition. No trees or vegetation may be removed from any property except 
as allowed under subsections (b), (c) or (d) below. Anyone wishing to remove trees 
or vegetation under any other conditions must receive a variance from the city. 

(b)     No-fee permit. A no-fee permit issued by a city inspector is required to remove: 

(1)     Single tree. A single tree with a trunk diameter of less than ten (10) inches (as 
measured at a point 54 inches above the ground) once per calendar year. 

(2)     Understory vegetation. In order to establish a small yard or septic field only when 
deemed appropriate by the city inspector, except as allowed in subsection (3) below. 

(3)     New construction. Trees or vegetation for any new construction or expansion of 
structures, driveways, parking areas or a small yard not visible from streets or 
adjacent properties at an elevation consistent with a site plan and/or building permit 
previously approved/issued by the city. In such cases, an additional building permit is 
required under article 22.03 of this code. Please see subsection (4) below for 
additional replacement requirements related to new construction. 

(4)     Fire safety buffer zone. 

(A)     Trees less than twelve (12) inches in diameter (as measured at a point fifty-
four (54) inches above the ground) and understory vegetation to establish a “fire 
safety buffer zone” (FSBZ) as part of firescaping according to Firewise Landscape 
Design and The Texas Forest Service at Texas A&M, which is defined as an area of 
land extending up to thirty (30) feet from the perimeter of habitable structures 
established for fire prevention purposes. 

(B)     This FSBZ may be expanded, upon approval of the city inspector, to include 
an area up to one hundred (100) feet from the perimeter of habitable structures for 
those lots having down slopes in excess of 25% below the habitable structure only 
for the removal of Ashe Junipers (commonly referred to as “cedars”) if less than 
twelve (12) inches in diameter as measured at a point fifty-four (54) inches above the 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

87



West Lake Hills 

 West Lake Hills 
  4 
 

ground. 

(C)     Trees removed to establish a FSBZ, as described in this subsection, do not 
require replacement, except: 

(i)     Full replacement inches are required for trees and vegetation removed to 
establish the FSBZ in the proposed footprint of any new construction or expansion of 
structures within a FSBZ within five (5) years of issuance of the permit for the FSBZ. 

(ii)     Full replacement inches are required for trees and vegetation removed to 
expand a FSBZ (related to new construction) within five (5) years of issuance of the 
permit for a prior FSBZ. 

(5)     Non-native invasive species tree(s) or plant(s). Non-native invasive species trees, 
plants and shrubs do not require replacement as long as the city arborist/inspector 
identifies them as such and stipulates that no adverse effect of erosion will occur 
from the removal. In the case of non-native invasive shrubs or understory that serve 
as understory vegetative screening at external perimeter of property, the city 
inspector may require replacement native vegetative screening to be installed along 
the periphery of the property when, at the city inspector’s discretion, the screening is 
necessary and reasonable to mitigate the community impact of the loss of the 
removal and to maintain the rural feel of the neighborhood. 

(6)     When removing live conifers and Juniperus species (commonly referred to as 
“cedars”) of three (3) inches in diameter or less as measured at a point fifty-four (54) 
inches above the ground as a fire prevention measure whether inside or outside of a 
fire safety buffer zone. Trees removed in accordance with this subsection do not 
require replacement. 

(7)     When removing diseased, dying or dead trees. or a tree that poses an 
imminent or immediate threat to persons or property as determined by the city 
inspector or city administrator, under the following conditions: 

(A)     The property owner must submit a request for the permit to the city inspector 
specifying the affected species, location,. and trunk diameter, including a description 
of the threat if applicable. 

(B)     If the city inspector concurs with the property owner’s assessment of the 
condition of the tree, then the permit shall be issued. 

(C)     If the city inspector does not concur with the property owner’s assessment of 
the condition of the tree, then the property owner shall have the right to submit a 
signed letter from a certified arborist identifying the specific disease, condition from 
which the tree suffers, or the threat it poses and providing a professional justification 
for the tree’s removal. The city administrator shall then consider the arborist’s letter 
and determine if a permit is warranted. If the city administrator does not approve the 
permit, then the applicant may appeal the decision to the city council. 

(D)     In all cases, the permit for removal must be received prior to removal of the 
tree except as otherwise provided for in subsection (c) below. 

(c)     Timing for no-fee permit. The no-fee permit must be received prior to removal 
except when said trees or vegetation have naturally fallen onto a structure and/or are 
blocking a driveway, sidewalk or other means of egress from a property or structure. 
In such cases, the permit must be secured by the end of the next business day. Any 
tree stump(s) must be left in place until the city inspector has come on-site to 
measure the stump(s) for the purpose of determining the replacement requirements 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

88



West Lake Hills 

 West Lake Hills 
  5 
 

(if any). 

(d)     Exception. 

(1)     A permit is not required to remove trees or vegetation in the following 
instances: 

(A)     When the vegetation removal is considered common household gardening or 
ground care. 

(B)     When pruning live trees so that no more than 25% of a tree’s live foliage shall 
be trimmed off or pruned per year. The Texas Forest Service at Texas A&M’s best 
management practices recommends removing no more than 25% of the live foliage 
within the tree canopy in an annual growing season. Refer to article 24.04 regarding 
pruning times and methods for Oak Wilt prevention. 

(C)     When removing dead vegetation, dead brush piles, and other flammable dead 
organic material. 

(D)     Limbing-up. When removing dead or living limbs to reduce the fuel ladder 
effect as follows: 

(i)     Trees that are fifteen (15) feet or higher may be limbed up to nine (9) feet; 

(ii)     Trees that are twenty (20) feet or higher may be limbed up to twelve (12) feet if 
they are within 30 feet of a habitable structure; 

(iii)     In all cases, no more than 25% of the tree’s live foliage may be removed per 
year. 

(2)     Exemption from the requirement to obtain a permit does not exempt a person 
from adhering to the Code of Ordinances. 

(e)     Permit application process. Each application for a tree removal permit shall be 
made by the owner of the property or by the owner’s authorized agent. Applicants 
may contact the city by phone, U.S. mail, fax, email or in person to request an 
appointment with the city inspector who will conduct an on-site meeting with the 
applicant in order to document the size, species, location and condition of the tree(s) 
to be removed. If granted by the city inspector in accordance with subsection (f) 
below, the applicant will receive a copy of the approved application to serve as the 
permit for display per subsection (g) below and the city shall retain a copy for its 
records. 

(f)     Issuance. The city inspector shall issue the proper permit once the completed 
application providing the relevant criteria defined in this division have been met. 

(g)     Display. The property owner must display the permit near the mailbox or 
primary entrance to the property for the duration of the vegetation removal process. 

(h)     Expiration. Tree removal permits issued in accordance with this section for new 
construction shall expire two (2) years from the date of issuance. If the associated 
building permit issued for the new construction expires or is revoked for any reason, 
then the tree removal permit shall expire as well. All other permits issued for removal 
in accordance with this section shall expire ninety (90) days. 

(i)     Tree survey. Applications for tree removal variances where no construction is 
involved, and thus bypasses ZAPCO going directly to the city council, must include a 
tree survey. 

Sec. 22.03.304     Tree and vegetation removal and replacement 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

89



West Lake Hills 

 West Lake Hills 
  6 
 

(a)     Removal policy. 

(1)     Existing vegetation shall be left undisturbed to the maximum extent possible. In 
most circumstances, if a tree must be removed, it shall be replaced with a native, 
non-invasive species so that the native, natural landscape of the city is preserved for 
future generations. 

(2)     Trees less than ten (10) inches in diameter measured at a point fifty-four (54) 
inches above the ground may be removed with a permit in accordance with section 
22.03.303(b). 

(3)     Trees greater than or equal to ten (10) inches and less than fourteen (14) 
inches in diameter measured at a point fifty-four (54) inches above the ground may 
be removed with a permit in accordance with section 22.03.303(b)(4). If a tree 
greater than or equal to ten (10) inches and less than fourteen (14) inches in 
diameter does not meet the requirements of section 22.03.303(b)(4) then the 
removal shall be requested through a variance as described by subsection (a)(4) of 
this section. 

(4)     The removal of trees greater than or equal to fourteen (14) inches in diameter 
measured at a point fifty-four (54) inches above the ground, or a tree greater or 
equal to ten (10) inches and less than fourteen (14) inches in diameter that does not 
meet the requirements of section 22.03.303(b)(4), is prohibited except as allowed 
under section 22.03.303(b)(7) and therefore such removal requires a variance from 
the city council as outlined in section 22.03.308. 

(b)     Removal procedure. 

(1)     Tree survey. 

(A)     For all new construction on an undeveloped lot without existing structures, the 
property owner must provide the city inspector with a tree survey of the entire 
property. 

(B)     For all new construction on a developed lot with existing structures, the city 
administrator at his sole discretion may allow the property owner to submit a tree 
survey of less than the entire property. 

(C)     All tree surveys must be conducted by a state-registered surveyor or engineer 
prior to a permit being issued and must include all trees with trunk diameters of three 
(3) inches or greater at twelve (12) inches above the ground. 

(D)     All trees to be removed must be highlighted or marked on the survey. 

(2)     Trunk diameters of the trees that the property owner proposes to remove shall 
be measured at a point fifty-four (54) inches above the ground. If a tree trunk splits at 
a height of less than fifty-four (54) inches, the tree diameter shall be calculated by 
adding the sum of the diameter of the largest stalk, plus one-half (1/2) of the 
diameter of all remaining smaller stalks all measured at a point fifty-four (54) inches 
above the ground. 

(c)     Violation of removal procedure. 

(1)     No person shall remove a tree in violation of this division. 

(2)     The diameter of trees removed in violation of this division shall be measured at 
the widest portion of the exposed base of the trunk for purposes of calculating 
replacement requirements. If no exposed base of trunk exists, then the city inspector 
shall estimate the diameter of trees that were removed for purposes of calculating 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

90



West Lake Hills 

 West Lake Hills 
  7 
 

replacement requirements. 

(3)     Any person removing tree(s) or vegetation in violation of the regulations 
provided in this division shall replace the tree(s) removed with tree(s) of equivalent 
species and size (caliper inches and canopy diameter). If tree(s) removed are not 
exhibit A tree(s), then exhibit A tree(s) must be used as replacements. 

(4)     Any person violating any of the provisions of this division shall be deemed 
guilty of a class C misdemeanor, and such offense shall be punishable by a fine not 
to exceed two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) per offense. Each tree removed in 
violation of this division shall be considered a separate offense. A person does not 
commit an offense under this section unless the person intentionally, knowingly, 
recklessly, or with criminal negligence engages in conduct as the definition of the 
offense requires. 

(5)     It is a separate offense to fail to replace trees or vegetation, or remit to the city 
cash-in lieu, as provided in this code, within 601 days of issuance of a final order by 
the city. 

(6)     Criminal fines imposed under this code are in addition to replacement 
requirements and any other remedies available at law or in equity. 

(d)     Calculating tree replacement requirements. 
(1)     Trees of any species with a trunk diameter of less than six (61 inches do not 
require replacement. 

(2)     Conifer and Juniper trees (commonly referred to as “cedars”) with a trunk 
diameter of less than twelve (12) inches that are removed to establish a fire safety 
buffer zone in accordance with section 22.03.303(b)(5) do not require replacement. 

(3)     Conifer and Juniper trees (commonly referred to as “cedars”) with a trunk 
diameter of three (3l inches or less that are removed as a fire prevention measure in 
accordance with section 22.03.303(b)(6) do not require replacement. 

(4)     To compensate for the removal of live trees that are not diseased, dying or 
dead (as defined in accordance with section 22.03.303(b)(7)) and that are removed 
in accordance with this section, the property owner must install replacement trees 
according to the following requirements: 

(A)     All trees with trunk diameters equal to or greater than six inches and less than 
fourteen (14) inches must be replaced on a 75% basis. In such cases, the 
replacement trees planted must have trunk diameters of at least two (2) inches. For 
example, if a twelve (12) inch tree is removed, then a total of nine (9) replacement 
inches must be planted using trees with a minimum trunk diameter of two (2) inches. 

(B)     (i)     All trees with trunk diameters greater than or equal to fourteen (14) 
inches require a variance to subsection (a)(4) above and must be replaced on a 
150% basis. For example, if a sixteen (16) inch tree is removed, then a total of 
twenty-four (24) replacement inches must be planted using single-trunk trees with a 
minimum trunk diameter of at least two (2) inches. 

(ii)     Trunk diameter less than six (6) inches: No replacement required. 

(iii)     From six (6) inches to less than fourteen (14) inches: 75% replacement 
required: Must use replacement trees with trunk diameters of at least two (2) inches. 

(iv)     Fourteen (14) inches and larger: Requires variance; 150% replacement 
required: Must use replacement single-trunk trees with trunk diameters of at least 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

91



West Lake Hills 

 West Lake Hills 
  8 
 

two (2) inches. 

(5)     To compensate for the loss of diseased or dying trees, or a tree that poses an 
imminent threat to persons or property, removed in accordance with this section and 
with section 22.03.303(b)(7), the property owner must install replacement trees on a 
50% basis. In such cases, the replacement trees planted must have trunk diameters 
of at least one and one half (1-1/2) inches. For example, if a nine (9) inch tree is 
removed, then a total of four and one half (4-1/2) replacement inches must be 
planted using trees with a minimum trunk diameter of one and one half (1-1/2 
inches). 

(6)     In the case of dead trees removed in accordance with this section and with 
section 22.03.303(b)(7), no replacement is required. 

(7)     For purposes of calculating the replacement inches as required above, the 
trunk diameters of all replacement trees shall be measured at a point twelve (12) 
inches above the ground. 

(8)     Replacement trees shall count on an inch-for-inch basis. 

(9)     When using a species with multiple trunks (e.g., Texas Mountain-Laurel, 
Yaupon Holly, etc.) for replacement purposes, the following chart shall be used to 
convert the planting container measurement to the equivalent trunk diameter for the 
purposes of this section: 

Planting Container Size Equivalent Trunk Diameter 

20 gallons 3 inches 

30 gallons 4 inches 

40 gallons 5inches 

 

(10)     The planting of native grasses or ground cover is encouraged, but shall not 
satisfy any tree replacement requirement. 

(e)     Replacement procedure. 

(1)     The replacement trees shall be planted in appropriate locations with species 
listed in exhibit A only. When installing replacement trees, priority should be given to 
the setback areas and other locations in order to maximize the visible screening of 
buildings and structures on the property from adjacent properties. If an a1mropriate 
location cannot be located on the property in question, the city may allow the 
property owner to plant replacement inches on an alternate site owned by the city or 
the property owner based on the reforestation needs of the city if: 

(A)     Both the city and property owner agree on the location; and 

(B)     The location is within the city limits of the city. 

(2)     Whenever replacement is required, the property owner shall submit to the city 
inspector for approval a replacement site plan showing the locations, species and 
sizes of all replacement trees and vegetation prior to their installation. If during 
installation, the property owner is reasonably unable to conform to the approved 
replacement site plan, then the property owner must submit an amended site plan to 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

92



West Lake Hills 

 West Lake Hills 
  9 
 

the city inspector within seven (7) days of installation and ultimately subject to the 
city inspector’s approval. 

(3)     Installation of the replacement trees must be completed prior to the expiration 
of the tree removal permit and within ninety (90) days of receiving the approval of the 
replacement site plan from the city inspector. The city inspector may allow for 
additional time upon request due to weather or other circumstances beyond the 
property owner’s control. 

(4)     The property owner shall notify the city inspector upon completion of 
installation. The city inspector shall then verify that the installation conforms to the 
approved replacement site plan. 

(5)     All replacement and relocated trees must survive at least three (3) years. The 
city inspector may contact the property owner during this three (3) year period to 
arrange for a site visit by the city inspector in order to confirm that the trees have 
survived. Trees that do not survive for three (3) years must be replaced. 

(f)     Landscape fund. 

(1)     There is hereby created a landscape fund for the city. 

(2)     To qualify for the exceptions enumerated under this subsection (f), an 
applicant must provide a tree replacement site plan that accommodates at least 90% 
of the tree replacement inches otherwise required under this section. An applicant 
who has demonstrated the ability to replace this minimum threshold has qualified as 
“substantially complete.” 

(3)     When the city administrator determines that tree replacement requirements of 
this section cannot be reasonably satisfied on site, and the applicant has met the 
threshold of substantially complete, the remaining required replacement inches for 
trees greater than ten (10) inches (as measured at a point fifty-four (54) inches 
above the ground) may be satisfied by the payment in the amount as provided in 
appendix A to this code to the city and placed in the city’s landscape fund in lieu of 
planting additional required replacement trees. In making the discretionary 
determination, the city administrator shall consider the topography, existing and 
proposed structures, and condition of remaining vegetation. 

(4)     In the event the applicant’s replacement plan is not substantially complete (i.e., 
it cannot meet the 90% threshold set forth above), the city council will have the sole 
authority to determine what, if any, monetary funds may be accepted in lieu of tree 
replacement. The city council reserves the right to require the applicant to comply 
with all tree replacement requirements under this section. 

(5)     Proceeds accumulated in the landscape fund shall be expended solely on tree 
preservation or landscaping projects on public property throughout the city. 

Sec. 22.03.305     Tree care and maintenance 

(a)     Tree pruning must not be done in a manner that is detrimental to the tree. Any 
action undertaken which intentionally or recklessly causes or tends to cause injury, 
death, or disfigurement to a tree is considered to be detrimental. Examples of 
detrimental actions which are prohibited may include cutting, poisoning, burning, 
over-watering, relocating, or transplanting a tree. 

(b)     Tree protection that meets City of Austin standards must be provided during 
any construction project. City of Austin standards can be found online at 
http://www.ci.austin.tx.us/trees/preserve_code.htm. 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

93



West Lake Hills 

 West Lake Hills 
  10 
 

(c)     Compliance with all oak wilt regulations found within this code is required, 
including, but not limited to, the immediate application of an appropriate pruning 
sealant on all fresh cuts. For more information about oak wilt diagnosis, treatment 
and prevention, please visit the Texas Forest Service’s website at 
http://www.texasoakwilt.org/. 

EXHIBIT A 

ELIGIBLE SPECIES FOR TREE REPLACEMENT 

Small Trees/Large Shrubs, Deciduous 

American Smoketree (Cotinus obovatus) 

Anacacho Orchid-tree (Bauhinia congesta) 

Carolina Buckthom (Rhamnus caroliniana) 

Common Hoptree (Ptelea trifoliata) 

Desert-Willow (Chilopsis linearis) 

Goldenball Leadtree (Leucaena retusa) 

Honey Mesquite (Prosopis glandulosa) 

Huisache (Acacia famesiana) 

Mexican Buckeye (Ungnadia speciosa) 

Mexican Plum (Prunus mexicana) 

Mexican Redbud (Cercis canadensis var. mexicana) 

Paloverde (Parkinsonia aculeata) 

Possum-Haw Holly (Ilex decidua) 

Prairie Flameleaf Sumac (Rhus lanceolata) 

Prickly Ash (Zanthoxylum hirsutum) 

Red Buckeye (Aesculus pavia) 

Rusty Blackhaw (Viburnum rufidulum) 

Rough-Leaf Dogwood (Comus drummondii) 

Texas Buckeye (Aesculus glabra var. arguta) 

Texas Redbud (Cercis canadensis var. texensis) 

Wooly Bumelia (Bumelia lanuginosa) 

Small Trees/Large Shrubs, Evergreen 

Eve’s Necklace (Sophora affinis) 

Yaupon Holly (Ilex vomitoria) 

Texas Mountain-Laurel (Sophora secundiflora) 

Texas Persimmon (Diospyros texana) (semi-evergreen) 

Texas Pistache (Pistacia texana) 

Cherry Laurel (Prunus caroliniana) 

Spanish Bayonet (Yucca treculeana) 

Torrey Yucca (Yucca torreyi) 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

94



West Lake Hills 

 West Lake Hills 
  11 
 

Medium-Large Trees, Deciduous 

Escarpment Black Cherry (Prunus serotina var. eximia) 

Bald Cypress (Taxodium distichum) 

American Elm (Ulmus americana) 

Cedar Elm (Ulmus crassifolia) 

Texas Madrone (Arbutus texana) 

Bur Oak (Quercus macrocarpa) 

Chinquapin Oak (Quercus muehlenbergii) 

Durand Oak (Quercus sinuata var. sinuata) 

Lacey Oak (Quercus laceyi) 

Post Oak (Quercus stellata) 

Monterrey Oak/Mexican White Oak (Ouercus polymorpha) 

Shin Oak (Quercus sinuata var. breviloba) 

Shumard Red Oak (Quercus shumardii) 

Texas Red Oak (Quercus texana) 

Pecan (Carya illinoensis) 

Texas Ash (Fraxinus texensis) 

Sycamore (Platanus occidentalis) 

Texas Walnut (Juglans microcarpa) 

Western Soapberry (Sapindus drummondii) 

Medium-Large Trees, Evergreen 

Live Oak (Quercus virginiana) 

Plateau Live Oak (Quercus fusiformis) 

(Ordinance 363 adopted 4/11/18) 
Secs. 22.03.306–22.03.330     Reserved 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

95



PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION - CITY OF JERSEY VILLAGE, TEXAS 
AGENDA REQUEST 

 
AGENDA DATE: January 25, 2021   AGENDA ITEM: E  
 
AGENDA SUBJECT: Receive, review, and discuss the Comprehensive Plan Update 
Committee’s Draft Recommendations for the City of Jersey Village’s Comprehensive Plan and 
take appropriate action regarding the preparation and presentation of the Commission’s 
recommendation to City Council confirming the Commission’s review and approval of the Draft 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Dept/Prepared By:  Austin Bleess, City Manager Date Submitted:  January 19, 2021 
 
EXHIBITS:   City of Jersey Village’s Comprehensive Plan 2020 Update – DRAFT 
 P&Z Recommendation to City Council 
    
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
 
The 2020 Comprehensive Plan Update Committee (CPUC) has met many times over the course 
of the past several months to review and make recommendations for updates to the City’s 2016 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 
The CPUC compiled their recommended changes to the City’s 2016 Comprehensive Plan into a 
Draft document titled the City of Jersey Village’s Comprehensive Plan 2020 Update. 
 
During the CPUC’s final meeting on January 7, 2021, the CPUC approved the final version of the 
City of Jersey Village’s Comprehensive Plan 2020 Update and ordered that the updated plan be 
submitted to the Planning and Zoning Commission for review. 
 
Sec. 213.003 of the Local Government Code requires that before City Council may adopt or amend 
the City’s Comprehensive plan, the Planning and Zoning Commission must make a review of the 
proposed changes. 
 
Accordingly, this item is to review the draft submitted by the CPUC and to prepare the 
Commission’s recommendations to City Council confirming the Commission’s approval of the 
2020 updates to the City’s Comprehensive Plan.   
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Receive, review, and discuss the Comprehensive Plan Update Committee’s Draft 
Recommendations for the City of Jersey Village’s Comprehensive Plan and take appropriate action 
regarding the preparation and presentation of the Commission’s recommendation to City Council 
confirming the Commission’s review and approval of the Draft Comprehensive Plan. 
 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

96



1 
 

 
 

CITY OF JERSEY VILLAGE 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION’S 
RECOMMENDATION TO CITY COUNCIL 

  
The 2020 Comprehensive Plan Update Committee (CPUC) has met many times over the course 
of the past several months to review and make recommendations for updates to the City’s 2016 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 
The CPUC compiled their recommended changes to the City’s 2016 Comprehensive Plan into a 
Draft document titled the City of Jersey Village’s Comprehensive Plan 2020 Update. 
 
During the CPUC’s final meeting on January 7, 2021, the CPUC approved the final version of the 
City of Jersey Village’s Comprehensive Plan 2020 Update and ordered that the updated plan be 
submitted to the Planning and Zoning Commission for review. 
 
Sec. 213.003 of the Local Government Code requires that before City Council may adopt or amend 
the City’s Comprehensive plan, the Planning and Zoning Commission must make a review of the 
proposed changes. 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission met on January 25, 2021 in order to review, and discuss 
the Comprehensive Plan Update Committee’s Draft Recommendations for the City of Jersey 
Village’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 
After review and discussion, the Planning and Zoning Commission makes its recommendation to 
City Council confirming the Commission’s review and approval of the Draft City of Jersey 
Village’s Comprehensive Plan 2020 Update document, attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
 
Respectfully submitted, this 25th day of January 2021. 

   
      _____________________________________ 
      Commission Chairman 
ATTEST:  
 
____________________________________ 
Lorri Coody, City Secretary 
 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

97



 

Chapter 9  Page 1 

Jersey Village  
Comprehensive Plan  
2020 Update 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

98



 

 

Acknowledgements  Page A-1 

Letter Coming 

Letter from the Jersey Village Comprehensive  
Plan Update Committee Chair 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

99



 

 

Acknowledgements  Page A-2 

Comprehensive Plan Update 
Committee 
Courtney Standlee, Committee Chair 

Gabriella Cole 

Brittany Davies 

Ashley Hart 

Peter Jessup 

Anthony Martin 

Jennifer McCrea 

Debra Mergel 

Judy Tidwell 

Amy Weyer 

 

 

 

City Staff 
Austin Bleess, City Manager 

Harry Ward, Public Works Director 

Danielle Cordova, Administrative Assistant 
Public Works 

Christian Somers, Building Official 

Robert Basford, Parks and Recreation Director 

Bob Blevins, IT Director 

Mark Bitz, Fire Chief 

Lorri Coody, City Secretary 

Kirk Riggs, Police Chief 

 

 

 

 

City Council 
Andrew Mitcham, Mayor 

Drew Wasson, Council Member Place 1 

Greg Holden, Council Member Place 2 

Bobby Warren, Council Member Place 3 

James Singleton, Council Member Place 4 

Gary Wubbenhorst, Council Member Place 5 

Planning and Zoning 
Commission 
Courtney Standlee, Position 1 

Jennifer McCrea, Position 2 

Barbara Freeman, Position 3 

Joseph J. Paul, Vice Chairman, Position 4  

Debra Mergel, Position 5 

Ty Camp, Position 6 

Rick Faircloth, Chairman, Position 7  

Acknowledgements 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

100



 

 

Table Of Contents  Page TOC-1 

Acknowledgements 
Letter from Comprehensive Planning Update Committee Chair ...... A-1 

Acknowledgments ............................................................................. A-2 

Introduction 
Brief Overview ................................................................................... I-1 

Legal Authority .................................................................................. I-2 

2020 Comprehensive Plan ................................................................ I-3 

Historical Context .............................................................................. 1-5 

Planning Process ............................................................................... I-9 

Planning Context ............................................................................... I-9 

Figures 
Figure I-1: The Proposed Corporate Limits of Jersey Village ............ I-6 

Chapter 1: Community Snapshot 
Introduction ...................................................................................... 1-1 

Historic Population Growth .............................................................. 1-1 

Jersey Village Population Projections ............................................... 1-2 

Race and Ethnicity ............................................................................. 1-4 

Age Distribution ................................................................................ 1-4 

Citizens’ Educational Attainment ...................................................... 1-5 

Local Income Levels .......................................................................... 1-5 

Employment By Occupation ............................................................. 1-6 

Household Type ................................................................................ 1-6 

Housing Type ..................................................................................... 1-7 

Housing Values .................................................................................. 1-7 

Year Built and Year Moved In ........................................................... 1-8 

Commute Time .................................................................................. 1-8 

Means of Transportation .................................................................. 1-8 

Conclusion ......................................................................................... 1-8 

Figures 
Figure 1-1: Historical Population Growth ......................................... 1-1 

Figure 1-2: Citizen’s Educational Attainment ................................... 1-5 

Figure 1-3: Household Income Levels ............................................... 1-5 

Figure 1-4: Employment Industry ..................................................... 1-6 

 

Table of Contents 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

101



 

 

Table Of Contents  Page TOC-2 

Tables 
Table 1-1: Historical Growth Rates ................................................... 1-2 

Table 1-2: Race and Etnicity .............................................................. 1-2 

Table 1-3: Population Projections Based On CAGR .......................... 1-3 

Table 1-4: Age Distribution ............................................................... 1-4 

Table 1-5: Household Type ............................................................... 1-7 

Table 1-6: Housing Values ................................................................. 1-7 

Table 1-7: Means of Transportation to Work ................................... 1-8 

Chapter 2: Vision, Goals, and Strategies 
Introduction ...................................................................................... 2-1 

Community Input .............................................................................. 2-1 

Comprehensive Plan Update Committee ......................................... 2-1 

Planning and Zoning  ......................................................................... 2-2 

City Council ....................................................................................... 2-2 

Goals and Strategies ......................................................................... 2-2 

Chapter 3: Future Land Use 
Overview ........................................................................................... 3-1 

The Future Land Use Plan ................................................................. 3-1 

Compatibility of Land Uses ............................................................... 3-2 

Issues Affecting Jersey Village ........................................................... 3-3 

Highlight: The Differences Between Future Land Use Maps and Zoning 

Maps .................................................................................................. 3-4 

Future Land Use Types ....................................................................... 3-5 

U.S. 290—A Regional Retail Corridor ................................................. 3-10 

Future Land Use Projections .............................................................. 3-11 

Growth Rates ..................................................................................... 3-12 

Ultimate Capacity ............................................................................... 3-12 

Spotlight: Village Center .................................................................... 3-13 

Population Projections ....................................................................... 3-14 

Administration of the Future Land Use Plan ..................................... 3-14 

Conclusion .......................................................................................... 3-17 

Land Use Recommendations ............................................................. 3-17 

Figures 
Figure 3-1: Compatibility of Land Uses .............................................. 3-3 

Figure 3-2: Low Density Housing In Jersey Village ............................. 3-6 

Figure 3-3: Park and Open Space Land Use in Jersey Village ............ 3-6 

Figure 3-4: Semi-Public Land Use ...................................................... 3-8 

Figure 3-5: Retail/Commercial Land Use in Jersey Village ................. 3-8 

Figure 3-6: Industrial Land Use in Jersey Village ............................... 3-9 

Figure 3-7: Regional Retail Corridor along US 290 in Jersey Village .. 3-10 

Figure 3-8: Village Center .................................................................. 3-13 

Figure 3-9: Population Projections .................................................... 3-14 

 

 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

102



 

 

Table Of Contents  Page TOC-3 

Tables 
Table 3-1: Future Land Use Categories ............................................. 3-11 

Table 3-2: Historical Growth ............................................................. 3-12 

Table 3-3: Ultimate Capacity Within Vacant Areas of Jersey Village, 

Excluding ETJ ..................................................................................... 3-12 

Maps 
Map 3-1: Future Land Use Plan ......................................................... 3-7 

Map 3-2: Zoning Map of the City of Jersey Village ........................... 3-16 

Chapter 4: Transportation and Circulation Plan 
Introduction  ..................................................................................... 4-1 

Potential Issue Areas ......................................................................... 4-2 

Transportation Planning ................................................................... 4-4 

Thoroughfare Plan ............................................................................ 4-10 

Thoroughfare Design Standards ....................................................... 4-12 

Transportation and Circulation Recommendations.......................... 4-13 

Figures 
Figure 4-1: 2040 Freeway, Tollway, HOV/HOT System .................... 4-2 

Figure 4-2: Locations of Crashes in Jersey Village............................. 4-5 

Figure 4-3: Signalized Intersections .................................................. 4-7 

Figure 4-4: Example of Complete Street Layout ............................... 4-8 

Figure 4-5: Access Management ....................................................... 4-9 

Figure 4-6: Thoroughfare Plan Map with Roadway Classifications .. 4-11 

Tables 
Table 4-1: 2015 Potential AADT at Key TXDOT Roadways ................ 4-3 

Chapter 5: Economic Development 
Background and Existing Conditions .................................................. 5-1 

Economic Development Going Forward ............................................ 5-2 

Potential Threats ................................................................................ 5-4 

Community Assets ............................................................................. 5-4 

Economic Development Priorities ..................................................... 5-5 

Economic Development Tools ........................................................... 5-6 

Recommendations ............................................................................. 5-7 

Figures 
Figure 5-1: 2020 Certified Taxable Values ......................................... 5-1 

Figure 5-2: Historical Assessed Property Values by Category ........... 5-2 

Figure 5-3: What Do You Want To Achieve? ..................................... 5-3 

Figure 5-4: What Are You Willing To Fund? ....................................... 5-4 

Tables 
Table 5-1: Historical Sales Tax............................................................ 5-6 

Table 5-2: Historical Property Tax Base ............................................. 5-6 

Chapter 6: Parks, Recreation and Open Spaces 
Background ........................................................................................ 6-1 

Parks Summary .................................................................................. 6-1 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

103



 

 

Table Of Contents  Page TOC-4 

Jersey Meadow Nature Trail and Dog Park....................................... 6-4 

Clark Henry Park ................................................................................ 6-5 

Carol Fox Park ................................................................................... 6-5 

Philippine Park .................................................................................. 6-6 

Country Club Park ............................................................................. 6-6 

De Lozier Park ................................................................................... 6-6 

St. John Park ...................................................................................... 6-6 

Level of Service Analysis ................................................................... 6-6 

Park Land ........................................................................................... 6-7 

Park Facilities .................................................................................... 6-7 

A Park Within A 10 Minute Walk From Home .................................. 6-7 

Sports and Programs ......................................................................... 6-8 

Community Events ............................................................................ 6-8 

Jersey Meadow Golf Club ................................................................. 6-8 

Conclusion ......................................................................................... 6-10 

Parks, Recreation and Open Spaces Recommendations .................. 6-11 

Figures 
Figure 6-1: Pictures From Jersey Meadow Nature Trail and Dog Park

 ........................................................................................................... 6-4 

Figure 6-2: The Splashpad At Clark Henry Park ................................ 6-5 

Figure 6-3: The Calvin III and Shade Structure at Carol Fox Park ..... 6-5 

Figure 6-4: 10 Minute Walk Analysis ................................................ 6-9 

 

Figure 6-5: Rounds of Golf Played and Revenue Generated at Jersey 

Meadow Golf Club ............................................................................. 6-9 

Tables 
Table 6-1: Existing Parks Summary .................................................... 6-2 

Table 6-2: NRPA Park Classifications.................................................. 6-3 

Table 6-3: Parks and Park Acreage Per Resident ............................... 6-6 

Table 6-4: Percent of Population in a 10 Minute Walk To A Park ..... 6-7 

Chapter 7: Community Character 
Introduction ....................................................................................... 7-1 

Sense of Place .................................................................................... 7-1 

Opportunities to Improve Community Character ............................. 7-1 

Gateway Entry Analysis ...................................................................... 7-2 

Improving Gateways .......................................................................... 7-3 

Addressing These Issues .................................................................... 7-3 

Landscape Design ............................................................................... 7-4 

Freeway Corridor ............................................................................... 7-4 

Community Landscape ....................................................................... 7-4 

Wayfinding Signage ........................................................................... 7-8 

Community Character Recommendations ........................................ 7-9 

Figures 
Figure 7-1: The Gateways Into Jersey Village and Type of Monument 

Selected .............................................................................................. 7-3 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

104



 

 

Table Of Contents  Page TOC-5 

Figure 7-2: A Small Gateway Sign ..................................................... 7-5 

Figure 7-3: Rendering of Potential Landscape Improvements ......... 7-6 

Figure 7-4: Marquee Sign on Jersey Drive at the Fire Station .......... 7-7 

Figure 7-5: Updated Street, Building Identifier, and directional signs

 ........................................................................................................... 7-8 

Tables 
Table 7-1: Phasing of Gateway Project ............................................. 7-4 

Chapter 8: Community Facilities 
Introduction ...................................................................................... 8-1 

Summary of Findings ......................................................................... 8-1 

Community Facility Recommendations ............................................ 8-8 

Figures 
Figure 8-1: The Canopy Around The Golf Course Club House .......... 8-2 

Figure 8-2: Golf Course Cart Barn ..................................................... 8-3 

Figure 8-3: Exposed Wiring in City Hall ............................................. 8-5 

Figure 8-4: Village Drive Water Plant ................................................ 8-7 

Chapter 9: Implementation Plan 
Overview ........................................................................................... 9-1 

Sustainment of Core Activities .......................................................... 9-1 

Implementation Responsibility ......................................................... 9-3 

Coordination and Partnerships ......................................................... 9-5 

Proactive and Reactive Implementation ........................................... 9-5 

Education and Training ...................................................................... 9-5 

Roles of the Comprehensive Plan ...................................................... 9-6 

Priority Recommendation .................................................................. 9-8 

Financing the Comprehensive Plan ................................................... 9-10 

Implementation Matrix ...................................................................... 9-11 

Appendix 
List of Abbreviations .......................................................................... A-1 

Useful Links ........................................................................................ A-2 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

105



 

 

Table Of Contents  Page TOC-6 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

106



 

 

Introduction  Page I-1 

Introduction 
A city’s comprehensive plan is well-defined as a long-range planning 

tool that is intended to be used by City staff, councils and boards, along 

with citizens, to guide the community’s physical development for 10 to 

20 years. A comprehensive plan has two primary and interrelated 

focuses. The first focus is to allow the City’s residents the opportunity to 

create a shared vision of what they desire for the future of their 

community. The second is to establish methods in which a community 

can effectively achieve that vision. 

Brief Overview of the Development of the Jersey 
Village Comprehensive Plan 
With growth pressures to the north and tremendous redevelopment 

potential to the south, Jersey Village is at the doorstep of remarkable 

opportunities, which has created a time-sensitive opportunity for the 

City to plan for its future. In the past, the City of Jersey Village has 

utilized planning strategies, which have included regular updates to 

their original 1989 Comprehensive Plan. In 2014 the city began a 

process to create a new Comprehensive Plan, the 2016 Comprehensive 

Plan. This document is an update of the 2016 Comprehensive Plan. 

Though many of the plan’s elements are still relevant today, a fresh 

sense of direction and collective excitement created the need for an 

updating of the community’s original vision. 

In response to this need, the City of Jersey Village sought to update the 

comprehensive plan so it can continue to serve as a guide to achieve its 

vision and goals through growth and development over the next several 

years. As a result, this update brought together the City’s residents, 

elected officials, City staff and community stakeholders for the purpose 

of creating a flexible plan that will serve as a living document for both 

current and future decision-makers. The primary intentions of the 

comprehensive plan include the following: 

• Efficient delivery of public services; 

• Coordination of public and private investment; 

• Minimization of potential land use conflicts; 

• Management of growth in an orderly fashion; 

• Cost-effective public investments; and 

• A rational and reasonable basis for making development decisions 
about the community. 

A comprehensive plan is not a zoning ordinance, but rather it is a high-

level tool utilized by the City to make development decisions. As new 

development applications, zoning requests and other development 

decisions are made, the comprehensive plan helps to safeguard 

coordinated growth. By determining what land uses are appropriate 

within Jersey Village, and where such land uses should be located, the 

plan helps to protect the integrity of the City’s neighborhoods and 

Introduction 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

107



 

 

Introduction  Page I-2 

corridors. Ultimately, the synchronized land use patterns help to protect 

private property by maintaining and enhancing value and protecting 

property from incompatible uses. 

The Jersey Village Comprehensive Plan examines realities of existing 

conditions, demographic implications, areas of growth potential and 

strategies for improving quality of life. 

The plan focuses not only on the physical development of the city, but 

also on its overall goals to become a more livable and economically 

vibrant community. While the plan is visionary and outlines citizens’ 

desires, it is also measurable by employing implementation-focused 

recommendations. 

This Comprehensive Plan anticipates change and proactively addresses 

major issues. The purpose of proactive planning is to minimize conflicts 

in decision-making to more efficiently manage time, money and 

resources. This plan will also lay the foundation for future 

improvements and prioritize action items that will shape the physical 

and economic characteristics of the City. 

Legal Authority 
The State of Texas has established laws regarding the way incorporated 

communities can ensure maintain the health, safety and welfare of their 

citizens. State law gives municipalities the power to regulate the use of 

land, but only if such regulations are based on a plan. Authority The 

authority of a City to create a comprehensive plan is rooted in Chapters 

211, 212 and 213 of the Texas Local Government Code. 

 

CHAPTER 211 
Chapter 211 of the Texas Local Government Code allows the 

government body of a community to regulate zoning. 

CHAPTER 212 
Chapter 212 of the Texas Local Government Code allows the governing 

body of a community to regulate subdivision development within the 

City limits and within the Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ), which varies 

depending upon the population of the community. 

CHAPTER 213 
Chapter 213 of the Texas Local Government Code allows the governing 

body of a community to create a comprehensive plan for the long-range 

development of the municipality. Basic recommendations for 

comprehensive planning are to address land use, transportation and 

public facilities, but it may also include a wide variety of other issues 

determined by the community. 

As previously stated, the comprehensive plan is not a zoning ordinance, 

but rather it is intended to be used as a tool to guide development, 

infrastructure and land use decisions in the future. The comprehensive 

plan does, however, serve as a basis on which zoning decisions are 

made as specified by Chapter 211 of the Texas Local Development Code. 

 

 

 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

108

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/LG/htm/LG.211.htm
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/LG/htm/LG.212.htm
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/LG/htm/LG.213.htm


 

 

Introduction  Page I-3 

2020 Comprehensive Plan 
Over time the vision for Jersey Village has evolved. The need to revise 

community livability and development expectations has arrived, and 

that led to the creation of the 2016 Comprehensive Plan. Four years 

after adoption it is now necessary to update the City’s Comprehensive 

Plan. The City has accomplished many of its goals in recent years which 

include flood control improvements, residential growth, and park 

improvements. This plan is not a mandate, but rather it is a flexible 

guide for City Staff and elected officials to use in determining a clear 

future for the City. The plan contains ideas, graphics, policies and 

actions that originate from the identified vision created by Jersey Village 

residents. 

This 2020 Comprehensive Plan will serve as an update to the City’s 2016 

Comprehensive Plan. The updates will include revisions to the 

community vision and future land use plan (FLUP) where necessary, 

updates to the City’s goals and objectives, and new strategies for the 

community to elevate standards for development. These important 

updates will help Jersey Village continue to be a desirable community. 

The creation of the 2020 Comprehensive Plan will also signal to current 

residents, prospective residents and future business interests that the 

City has a vision and a plan for its future, and reassesses that plan on a 

regular basis to ensure it continues to meet the needs of the city. 

Updating the plan will also allow for the tracking of goals and strategies 

over time, to see what has been accomplished, and provide the 

historical context that is necessary to keep the city moving forward. This 

plan may also appeal to business and real estate investors by showing 

that investment in our City is part of a greater plan, supporting the long-

term sustainability and viability of business and real estate investment. 

DOCUMENT STRUCTURE 
A deliberate plan development process involving background research, 

visioning, recommendations and implementation was utilized. This 

process is reflected in this document’s ten components: 

Community Snapshot 
To understand where Jersey Village is going, it will first be necessary to 

understand its history. This section serves as the reconnaissance stage 

for the planning process. Historical population trends, demographics, 

existing conditions, physical constraints and past planning efforts are all 

examined for the development of a baseline from which future planning 

decisions should be made. 

Vision, Goals and Strategies 
The community’s vision is reflective of the many tangible and intangible 

characteristics and values that Jersey Village desires to preserve and 

provide for current and future residents. This section identifies the 

primary issues provided by community stakeholders and lists the goals 

and strategies derived from stakeholder engagement. Goals and 

strategies ultimately guide action items, which will be described within 

individual chapters and prioritized in the Implementation Plan Matrix. 

Future Land Use 
The cornerstone of the Comprehensive Plan is the Future Land- Use Plan 

Map. This section describes the appropriate land use types within Jersey 

Village and graphically depicts the ideal locations for such uses on the 

Future Land Use Plan Map. 

Transportation and Circulation Plan 
This chapter will provide a transportation framework that will serve as a 

guide for mobility decisions within Jersey Village. Land use decisions 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

109



 

 

Introduction  Page I-4 

ultimately impact the City’s transportation network, and therefore, this 

section’s Thoroughfare Plan provides roadway recommendations that 

coincide with future land use decisions. 

Economic Development 
The City of Jersey Village does not have an Economic Development 

Corporation. The City’s approach to economic development has been 

one of reaction to developer and/or business proposals on an ad hoc 

basis. This chapter examines existing information, incentives, economic 

development approaches and programs. 

Parks, Recreation and Open Space 
The space devoted to satisfying the active and passive recreational 

needs of citizens is a vital component of any community. The parks 

chapter provides guidance for parks and open space improvements. This 

chapter examines and analyzes existing recreational opportunities and 

makes recommendations that are consistent with present and future 

community needs. 

Community Character 
Character refers to the many tangible and intangible characteristics that 

contribute to the City’s quality of life. This section provides 

recommendations pertaining to quality of life issues within Jersey 

Village. Community character refers to the many things that conjure 

community pride and help make the City attractive to visitors. This 

includes aesthetics, social well- being, as well as health and wellness. 

Community character related recommendations are outlined within this 

chapter. 

Community Facilities 
Public investment into community services and the level of community 

services provided are critical to manage growth and safety. This chapter 

includes reviews of the existing conditions for public facilities and 

recommendations for maintenance. 

Implementation Plan 
The Implementation Plan organizes and prioritizes the 

recommendations contained within the various plan elements into an 

action items matrix. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

110



 

 

Introduction  Page I-5 

Historical Context 
There are several pieces of history that are important to include as part 
of any comprehensive plan. As Robert Penn Warren once said, “History 
cannot give us a program for the future, but it can give us a fuller 
understanding of ourselves, and of our common humanity, so that we 
can better face the future.” So, as we prepare for the future this plan 
also looks to the past to help us understand where Jersey Village has 
come from.  

1936 
The 1936 county highway map shows multiple dwellings located at the 
site, which is now Jersey Village. Clark W. Henry owned 1,236 acres of 
land on which he operated F&M Dairy and raised Jersey cattle. 

1953 
The community officially began in 1953, when Clark W. Henry partnered 
with Mr. Leroy Kennedy to create Jersey Village Development Company 
and decided to develop homesites on Jersey Lake. Land was 
purposefully set aside in Jersey Village for schools, a park, and an 18-
hole golf course. 

1954 
Five miles of streets, drainage, gas, sewer and water services were 
developed. The first family moved to the newly developed area in 
October 1954.  

The Jersey Village Fire Department was formed. 

1956 
Jersey Village officially incorporates on April 16, 1956 when all 58 

residents voted in favor of incorporation. The city was approximately 
1.9934 square miles, with the corporate limits shown in Figure I-1. 

Because of Mr. Henry's success with jersey cattle, it was decided to use 
this name for the new community. 

City Hall was established at 16501 Jersey Drive, the site of the current 
Fire Station.  

Mayor Leonard F. Lee called to order the first meeting of the Jersey 
Village City Council to order on June 18, 1956.  

A volunteer police force was created. 

1960 
Post Elementary School was constructed. It is named for Ernest Stephen 
Post, who served of the Cy-Fair School District Board of Trustees for 26 
years.  

1972 
The site for the Jersey Village City Hall was given to the city by Mr. 
Leonard Rauch. At the time the site was used as offices for the Fire 
Department and Public Works.  

The Jersey Village High School opened to high school students in and 
around Jersey Village.  

1975 
City Council authorizes a swimming pool to be built at Clark Henry Park 
for a cost of $102,636. 

1976 
Wall Street neighborhood developed. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

111



 

 

Introduction  Page I-6 

Figure I-1. The 1956 Proposed Corporate Limits of Jersey Village is highlighted in red. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

112



 

 

Introduction  Page I-7 

1980 
Jersey Village establishes Emergency Dispatch for Police and Fire 
operations. 

Shopping Center at US 290 and Jones Road was constructed.  

1983 
Smith Street and Koester Street neighborhood developed.  

1986 
Due to the growth of Jersey Village, the voters approved a Home Rule 
Charter for the City. This home rule charter created the present Council-
Manager form of Government. 

1988 
The City adopts the slogan “A Texas Star Community”. This slogan is 
chosen to highlight Jersey Village as a great community, like the 
meaning of the Texas Star. Just as the Texas Star “sends out its radiance 
to nations near and far” and is an “emblem of freedom”. The Jersey 
Village star radiates Jersey Village’s status as a premiere community 
throughout the state and nation. 

1989 
A comprehensive plan is adopted by the City Council for the first time. 

1990 
Construction on Beltway 8 on the east side of Jersey Village is 
completed. 

Wyndham Village subdivision developed. 

1991 
Kube Court and Kevindale Court neighborhood constructed. 

1992 
Senate Avenue Park was renamed “The Carol Fox Park” to honor Mrs. 
Carol H. Fox who contributed her time and talent to the City as City 
Secretary, Treasurer, Tax Assessor-Collector, City Administrator, Acting 
City Manager and Deputy Court Clerk from September 25, 1975 to 
December 25, 1991.  

1998 
July - City Council establishes a citizen committee with the charge to 
review and evaluate the feasibility of the acquisition of a municipal golf 
complex.  

September - Tropical storm Frances hits the Houston area, flooding 
approximately 200 homes in Jersey Village. 

2000 
August– The City purchases Jersey Meadow Golf Course to preserve the 
green space and continue to have the golf course amenity.  

2001 
June – Approximately 500 homes flood in Jersey Village during Tropical 
Storm Allison.  

The City Council approved the first Homestead Exemption of 4%.  

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

113



 

 

Introduction  Page I-8 

2002 
October - Approximately 53 homes flood during severe thunderstorms.  

2003 
The City Council raised the Homestead Exemption to 8%. 

2004 
Lakes of Jersey Village subdivision built.  

2007 
Wyndham Lake Subdivision developed.  

2009 
The City did a feasibility study for the area south of US 290 to be 
developed as a Transit Orientated Development (TOD). 

2010 
The City adopts Form Based Ordinances to guide the development of 
the TOD. 

2012 
Work begins on the Jersey Meadow Recreation and Detention Facility a 
98-acre detention pond on 9 holes of the 27 hole Jersey Meadow Golf 
Course.  

2013 
TXDOT begins US 290 Expansion Project to create five general lanes in 
each direction through Jersey Village 

2016 
March - The 2016 Comprehensive Plan is adopted, the first 
comprehensive plan in 27 years.  

April – Over 230 homes were flooded in the Tax Day Flood.  

September – The city begins a Long-Term Flood Recovery Plan to study 
what the city can do to mitigate future flooding in Jersey Village.  

The Enclave At Castlebridge subdivision developed.  

2017 
August – Hurricane Harvey dumps 32 inches of rain on Jersey Village, 
however no major flooding occurred in Jersey Village. 

September—City Council adopts Long Term Flood Recovery Plan.  

2019 
The City enters into a Master Development Agreement with Collaborate 
Special Projects for the development of the TOD, now referred to as 
Village Center. 

TXDOT substantially completes US 290 Project that was started in 2013. 

Nearly two years after the original grant application was submitted the 
first homes in Jersey Village are elevated utilizing FEMA funding.  

The City Council raised the Homestead Exemption to 14%. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

114



 

 

Introduction  Page I-9 

Planning Process 
The 2020 comprehensive planning process occurred over a 7-month 

period, beginning in June 2020 and culminated in the December 2020. 

The 2016 Comprehensive Plan laid the foundation for the efforts of the 

2020 Plan. Due to COVID-19 the city was unable to hold the large 

community engagement meetings that were done in 2015. However, 

the Comprehensive Plan Update Committee (CPUC) utilized community 

feedback from an online survey and other means to help guide their 

work. As a result, this planning process has provided a clear vision for 

Jersey Village’s future, identified opportunities and challenges, and 

defined methods of prioritizing implementation of the vision. 

The CPUC guided the development of goals, strategies, action items and 

the future land use for the City. Committee members were chosen and 

appointed by City Council, bringing together a group of residents with 

unique experiences, backgrounds and interests, which helped facilitate 

discussions and capture a wider variety of perspectives and opinions, 

that were ultimately considered during plan formation. 

The CPUC members gathered multiple times during the project to 

discuss a variety of topics and issues related to the development of the 

Comprehensive Plan. Initial stages of the process included issue 

identification and reviewing all the information that led to the creation 

of the 2016 Comprehensive Plan. The committee’s foresight, in 

conjunction with public participation, formulated the plan’s vision and 

goals. The CPUC served as a sounding board for plan strategies and 

recommendations. 

 

Planning Context 
An understanding of the planning context sets the framework for which 

planning decisions can be made. This includes an understanding of both 

local and regional planning efforts, as well as issues which may 

significantly impact future planning decisions within the City. 

REGIONAL RELATIONSHIP 
The City of Jersey Village is in west-central Harris County, Texas, 

approximately 17 miles from Downtown Houston, 22 miles from Sugar 

Land, and 23 miles from Katy. The City is easily accessible due to its 

location along major transportation corridors such as Beltway 8, U.S. 

Highway 290, Farm-to-Market Road 529, and the Southern Pacific 

Railroad. Houston remains a significant draw for Jersey Village residents 

seeking a wider- range of entertainment and special services. 

RELATED AND REGIONAL PLANNING EFFORTS 
Relevant local and regional planning efforts should be considered when 

developing a comprehensive plan to facilitate coordinated 

recommendations for the entire region. This section provides an 

overview of these related efforts. 

Previous Comprehensive Plans 
To some degree, the 2016 Comprehensive Plan was informed by the 

1989 - 2010 Comprehensive Plan. The 2020 Comprehensive Plan 

generally follows the previous plan’s outline with respect to 

identification and analysis of plan elements, organization of 

demographic and statistical information, and other areas. Additionally, 

several important issues identified and discussed within the 1989 and 

2016 Comprehensive Plan are still relevant today. Many of these issues 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

115



 

 

Introduction  Page I-10 

have been revisited within this plan update, including the following: 

• Growth management, with respect to which areas of the 
Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) will potentially require City services 
and provisions. The land uses and development patterns within the 
ETJ continue to impact the community; 

• Housing maintenance and neighborhood aesthetics, with respect to 
the protection of neighborhood cohesiveness and integrity; 

• Initiative-driven economic development programs to promote land 
uses that maintain a vibrant community fabric and increased tax 
base; 

• Maintaining high-quality municipal services, the enforcement of 
zoning and subdivision regulations, signage restrictions, 
thoroughfare planning and similar regulatory authorities to preserve 
the residential quality of life; and 

• Mitigating the impact of incompatible uses outside of Jersey Village. 

Village Center 
The Jersey Village Mixed-Use/TOD Plan was presented in 2009 to 

establish a framework for sustainable development options that will 

utilize the City’s public services efficiently. Since that time discussions of 

a commuter rail system have ebbed and flowed. Currently there is no 

near-term plan for light rail services along the US 290 Corridor. It is 

possible the high-speed train, currently being contemplated by Texas 

Central, could utilize a corridor through the Village Center Area.  

Today the plan for Village Center does not include a transportation 

component but is an upscale mixed-use development. See “Spotlight 

Village Center” in Chapter 3 for more on Village Center.  

SH 6 Access Management Study North 
In 2001, the Houston-Galveston Area Council (H-GAC) initiated a series 

of access management studies throughout the Greater-Houston Region. 

The SH 6 Access Management Study North analyzes the SH 6/FM 1960 

and FM 529 corridors, and makes recommendations to improve mobility 

and safety, while maintaining economic viability. This study impacts 

Jersey Village due to FM 529 being the southernly border of the city 

limits and ETJ.  

“Moving Our Region Into Tomorrow”- Houston-Galveston Area 
Council (H-GAC) 2045 Regional Transportation Plan  
The H-GAC 2045 Regional Transportation Plan seeks to address greater 

regional growth and explore how the core values of  our region’s 

residents relate to the way the Houston-Galveston region will grow, as 

well as the quality of life this growth will provide. The plan illustrates 

the importance of linking land use, and transportation planning and 

policy to afford residents more options when it comes to modes of 

travel. Its primary focuses are on system efficiencies, opportunities to 

manage demand and improve safety, as well as options for adding 

roadway and transit system capacity. 

The plan also includes recommendations for regional coordination and 

implementation across all 13 counties on topics, such as, system 

expansion, demand management, operations management, livable 

centers and air quality. These recommendations imply direct impacts on 

cities like Jersey Village that are located along major access corridors. 

Recommendations that influence this plan include: 

• Automated and Connected Vehicles that could provide for an on-
demand type of transit; 

• Improving connectivity by exploring opportunities for expanding 
multi-modal transit facilities for connecting local services; 

• Working with local transportation to develop flexible, seamless fare 
policies across providers; 

• Exploring potential High Capacity Transit (HCT) Corridors including 
US 290. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

116

http://www.h-gac.com/access-management-studies/documents/SH6N_Final_Report.pdf
http://www.h-gac.com/access-management-studies/documents/SH6N_Final_Report.pdf
http://2045rtp.com/default.aspx


 

 

Introduction  Page I-11 

“Our Great Region” - Houston-Galveston Area Council (H-GAC) 
Regional Plan for Sustainability 
According to the summary of the Our Great Region plan, “The Regional 

Plan for Sustainability looks at current and future opportunities to meet 

the needs of the diverse communities and residents of the region in a 

manner that does not compromise the needs of future generations.” 

The plan also outlines goals for the region, develops metrics to assess 

sustainability, analyzes regional scenarios, and makes recommendations 

for implementation strategies. The Our Region plan spans topics like 

housing, transportation, economic development, healthy communities, 

and the environment. It also reflects HUD’s livability principles. The plan 

aims to: 

• Enrich efforts that support workforce improvements, facilitate job 
growth and attract new residents, as well as conserve the natural 
environment and enhance the built environment; and 

• Enable the pursuit of federal funding for implementation of 
transportation, housing, hazard mitigation, and community and 
economic development projects that further sustainability in the 
region. 

This plan is important in the consideration of this Comprehensive Plan 

because these goals align with a number of the goals outlined in this 

plan, which are to preserve FEMA flood plains, enhance sustainability 

efforts in new construction, the facilitation of public-private 

partnerships, and neighborhood preservation initiatives. 

Flood Mitigation Efforts 
It is known that the City of Jersey Village has a history of flood issues, 

primarily along White Oak Bayou but also in a smaller tributary of the 

bayou. The White Oak Bayou watershed is in central and northwest 

Harris County, originating northwest of FM 1960 near U.S. 290. It flows 

southeast to join Buffalo Bayou in downtown Houston—making this 

bayou finger an essential drainage-way for much of northwest Harris 

County, the City of Jersey Village, and the City of Houston. Over time the 

White Oak Bayou has been modified and enlarged. The largest 

expansion of this bayou occurred between 1964 and 1976, when the 

lower 10.7 miles of the bayou was included as part of a federal flood 

damage reduction project by the Harris County Flood Control District 

and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 

In October 2002 damaged more than 200 homes during a major flood. 

Prior to that time, Tropical Storm Allison (2001) flooded approximately 

500 homes, and Tropical Storm Francis (1998) flooded approximately 

200 homes. There are currently 98-acres of detention pond/lake within 

city limits, comprising nearly 4.3 percent of the City’s land. In May of 

2011, Harris County Flood Control District (HCFCD) applied for FEMA 

Hurricane Ike Hazard Mitigation Grant funding for construction 

improvements to the 43-acre Jersey Meadows Stormwater Detention 

Basin to reduce the risk of future flooding in this area. In 2012, the 

project was granted the funding, which would reimburse up to 75 

percent of construction costs needed to complete the project. 

This 30-month project began in June 2012 and included removing nearly 

432,000 cubic yards of soil, constructing a weir spillway structure and re

-grading the detention basin’s slopes. According to the Harris County 

Flood Control district, the project included a 1 mile trail around the 

detention basin and expands the basin to hold about 114 million gallons 

of water.  

In addition to the Jersey Meadows Stormwater Detention Basin, HCFCD 

has constructed additional flood control mechanisms in close proximity 

to Jersey Village. Figure 1.3, HCFCD Flood Control Projects identifies the 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

117

http://www.h-gac.com/our-great-region-2040/default.aspx
http://www.westhouston.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Jersey-Meadows-Award-Flyer.pdf
http://www.westhouston.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Jersey-Meadows-Award-Flyer.pdf


 

 

Introduction  Page I-12 

locations of existing, and future planned flood control measures near 

Jersey Village. These highlighted projects were made possible through a 

cooperative program which provides federal funding assistance for 

critical flood control infrastructure. This funding provided the necessary 

resources for HCFCD to complete the 7.5-mile of channel conveyance 

improvements along White Oak Bayou from Beltway 8 to Tidwell Drive, 

as well as improvements to the 2-mile Jersey Village Channel. The Jersey 

Village Bypass Channel (E200) is significant in that it carries 30-percent 

of White Oak Bayou’s maximum flows around the City of Jersey Village 

during times of heavy rain. 

In addition to regional drainage and flood prevention improvements, 

Jersey Village has also taken the initiative to make improvements within 

the city limits. The following are improvement projects undertaken: 

Argentina, Carlsbad, Chichester, Equador, Glamorgan, Leeds, Shanghai 

and Tahoe Paving Storm Sewer and Waterline Improvements; Honolulu 

Paving, Storm, and Water Line Improvements; and Phase III Paving, 

Storm, and Water Line Improvements. These projects assist in providing 

the necessary flood control measures to protect the residents of Jersey 

Village and their property. 

After the 2016 Tax Day Flood, which flooded more than 230 homes in 

Jersey Village, the City undertook a Long-Term Flood Recovery Plan, 

which was adopted in September 2017. The goal of the Jersey Village 

Long-term Flood Recovery Planning Study was to develop a flood 

damage reduction plan that balances social acceptability with economic, 

hydraulic, and environmental feasibility. The plan identified both short-

term and long-term flood damage reduction projects that can be 

designed and implemented as funding allows. The plan recommended 

four main projects: 

• Widening and deepening the E100 Branch of the White Oak Bayou 

• A berm around the golf course 

• Drainage and street improvements in the Wall Street Neighborhood.  

• Home elevations  

In December 2020 HCFCD broke ground on the E100-00-00-E005 White 

Oak Bayou Federal Flood Damage Reduction Project. According to 

HCFCD the plan is to widen the base of the E-100 channel to 30 feet 

through Jersey Village, and the E-200 (the bypass) Channel to 20 feet. 

This project is expected be completed in 2021.  

In December 

2020 the City 

and HCFCD 

began 

negotiations for 

an interlocal 

agreement to 

begin the 

design phase of 

the E127 

deepening/

widening 

project. This 

project should 

enter the construction phase in 2022, with the project being completed 

in 2023.  

Drainage improvements in the Wall Street Neighborhood and the Berm 

around the golf course have been a priority item for the city. This 

project is estimated to cost $6.2 million dollars. The city has worked 

with the Texas Department of Emergency Management and FEMA to 

secure Hazard Mitigation Grant Program funding to cover approximately 

Figure I-2. Map depicting E100-00-00-E005 Project DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

118

https://www.hcfcd.org/Find-Your-Watershed/White-Oak-Bayou/C-14-Federal-Flood-Damage-Reduction-Project
https://www.hcfcd.org/Find-Your-Watershed/White-Oak-Bayou/C-14-Federal-Flood-Damage-Reduction-Project


 

 

Introduction  Page I-13 

$4.3 million. Another approximately $1.8 million in grant funding from 

the Community Development Block Grant – Disaster Recovery funds 

from the US Housing and Urban Development and Texas Government 

Land Office have been awarded to the City to cover the remaining costs 

of this project. This project received final approval from all federal 

agencies in December 2020 and construction should start in the second 

quarter of 2021.  

Annually since 2017 the city has applied for grants from FEMA to 

elevate homes throughout Jersey Village that have flooded and are 

susceptible to future flooding. As of December 2020, 17 homes have 

been elevated, and four more are scheduled to be elevated in 2021.  

EXISTING LAND USE AND PHYSICAL CONSTRAINTS 
Providing for the continued orderly and efficient use of land should be a 

major planning consideration in Jersey Village. The pattern of land use 

that exists today has evolved as a result of the City’s past needs. The 

activities of residents create   a need for various land uses, as well as for 

the supplemental systems that support the land uses (i.e. thoroughfare 

systems, city services, infrastructure). The relationships of existing and 

future land uses will shape the character and quality of life of the 

community; especially, since nearly 92 percent of the City is developed. 

In order to accurately assess the City’s future land use needs, an analysis 

of past trends and existing patterns is the topic of discussion in this 

chapter. From earlier demographic discussion, it was highlighted that 

more than three-quarters of the housing stock was built before 1970; 

also, while 55 percent of the City’s households moved into homes 

between 2000 and 2009, only 18 percent of the housing stock was 

constructed during the same time period. 

The City’s man-made and physical environment greatly influences its 

future land use pattern growth regarding FEMA flood maps updates, 

road expansions and new development. These factors ultimately 

contribute to the City’s urban form and content, and therefore it is 

important to analyze them when fashioning the elements of this plan.  

Municipal Boundaries and Extraterritorial Jurisdiction 
The City of Jersey Village’s ETJ comprises 704-acres of land, which is 

located south of U.S. 290. The City’s ETJ commonly extends up to one 

mile from the city limits based on the 2010 population of 7,620 

residents. However, due to the City being nearly landlocked by other 

municipalities, the ETJ may extend only where other cities and their 

ETJ’s do not exist. The ETJ serves two purposes. The first purpose is to 

make sure cities only annex land only within their ETJ, because it creates 

a limitation against annexing into the ETJ of another city. The second 

purpose allows for cities to extend and enforce their subdivision 

regulations into their ETJ. Cities cannot, however, enforce zoning 

regulations in their ETJ. 

The major land uses that characterize the ETJ are Industrial (43%), 

Commercial (28%) and Vacant (17%). There is a major difference in 

character and function in the land uses of the ETJ from those of the 

residential-oriented uses in the northern city limits. This is a situation 

that makes transitions and guided growth essential to successful 

development and sound infrastructure investment. Due to the limited 

area in which the City can expand, the plan’s focus must be on the 

development of the remaining vacant land and redevelopment efforts, 

which will impact the overall development patterns and character of 

Jersey Village. 

  

 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

119



 

 

Introduction  Page I-14 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

120



 

 

Chapter 1  Page 1-1 

 

 

 

 

Introduction 
The Community Snapshot chapter of this Plan explores key, data-based 

characteristics of the City of Jersey Village. Through this analysis, the 

City can better understand and identify particular demographic patterns 

that may impact future growth. Thus, the Community Snapshot 

provides the City with a comprehensive, fact-based introduction to the 

socio-economic conditions that exist in Jersey Village. Some of the 

highlights include population growth, age diversity, race and ethnicity, 

age distribution, educational levels, household type and income, 

housing value, employment industry, commute time and land use are all 

discussed in this section. 

HISTORIC POPULATION GROWTH 
Fundamentally, people are the most vital element of any community. 

The following discussion is intended to provide insight into the historical 

and existing populations of Jersey Village. The City experienced its 

biggest population growth between 1980, with a population of less than 

1,000 residents, to almost 5,000 residents in 1990. Growth continued 

between 1990 and 2000, with a 43% population increase. By 2010, the 

City had grown by an additional 11% to a population high of 7,620 

people. Since that time the city has grown by another 4% to 7,933, 

according to the American Community Survey (ACS) population 

estimates for 2019.  

Community Snapshot           1 

Source: US Census and ACS 5 Year Estimate Data. 

Figure 1-1. Historical Population Growth,  

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

121



 

 

Chapter 1  Page 1-2 

Based on Table 1-1, Historical Growth Rates,  Harris County experienced 

a 17% population growth between 1980 and 1990. Jersey Village’s 

population 

growth 

exploded in 

1990 and 

growth rates 

rapidly 

declined over 

the next two 

decades from 

a nearly 400% 

growth rate 

to an 

estimated 

2.3% in 2012. 

Harris County 

similarly 

declined from 20% growth rate to an 

estimated 3.9% in 2012. Since 2010 the 

growth rate for Jersey Village has been 

just below 1%, while Harris County has 

seen a 2.4% growth rate. 

RACE AND ETHNICITY 
Information regarding race and ethnicity 

is important to local governments to 

ensure that all citizens are being 

represented in decision-making processes. Those who identified 

themselves as Caucasian made up the largest portion of the total 

population in both the 2000 and 2010 U.S. Census and the 2018 5 Year 

ACS Estimate as seen in Table 1-3, Race and Ethnicity. However, their 

total percentage decreased by 11% from 2000 to 2018, which is in line 

with state-wide and national trends as other ethnicities continue to 

grow across the country. Since 2000 Jersey Village has seen a 10% 

increase in those who identify as African-American. The number of 

people of Hispanic origin has also doubled since 2000.  

JERSEY VILLAGE POPULATION PROJECTIONS 
The Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) is a method for analyzing 

annual average rates of growth. The City’s annual growth between 1980 

and 2010 was 7.1%. Based on historical population growth and recent 

population estimates, Jersey Village is projected to experience a 1% to 

1.5% CAGR in the next 20 years. 

Population projections are an important component of a long-range 

Year 
Jersey Village Harris County 

Population Change Population Change 

1980 966 - 2,409,547 - 

1990 4,826 399.6% 2,818,199 17.0% 

2000 6,880 42.6% 3,400,578 20.7% 

2010 7,620 10.8% 4,092,459 20.3% 

2012 7,623 0.0% 4,101,752 0.2% 

2013 7,694 0.9% 4,182,285 2.0% 

2014 7,795 2.3% 4,269,608 4.1% 

2015 7,849 3.0% 4,356,362 6.2% 

2016 7,871 0.3% 4,434,257 1.8% 

2017 7,896 0.3% 4,525,519 2.1% 

2018 7,945 0.6% 4,602,523 1.7% 

2019 7,933 -0.2% 4,713,325 2.4% 

Source: U.S. Census and ACS 5 year estimate data 

Table 1-1. Historical Growth Rates 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

122



 

 

Chapter 1  Page 1-3 

 

  0.25% CAGR 0.5% CAGR 1.0% CAGR 1.5% CAGR 2% CAGR 

Year Population Population Population Population Population 

2019              7,933            7,933            7,933            7,933            7,933  

2020              7,953            7,973            8,012            8,052            8,092  

2021              7,973            8,013            8,092            8,173            8,253  

2022              7,993            8,053            8,173            8,295            8,419  

2023              8,013            8,093            8,255            8,420            8,587  

2024              8,033            8,133            8,338            8,546            8,759  

2025              8,053            8,174            8,421            8,674            8,934  

2026              8,073            8,215            8,505            8,804            9,113  

2027              8,093            8,256            8,590            8,936            9,295  

2028              8,113            8,297            8,676            9,071            9,481  

2029              8,134            8,339            8,763            9,207            9,670  

2030              8,154            8,380            8,851            9,345            9,864  

2031              8,174            8,422            8,939            9,485          10,061  

2032              8,195            8,464            9,028            9,627          10,262  

2033              8,215            8,507            9,119            9,772          10,467  

2034              8,236            8,549            9,210            9,918          10,677  

2035              8,256            8,592            9,302          10,067          10,890  

Source: 2019 ACS 5 Year Estimate 

Table 1-3. Population Projections Based On Compound Annual 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

123



 

 

Chapter 1  Page 1-4 

planning process. They help determine and quantify the demands that 

will be placed on public facilities and services based on the potential 

pace and scale of the community’s physical growth. In Table 1-2, Future 

Population Growth, analysis was conducted to project the City’s 

population out to 2035; using a conservative 0.5% to 2% growth rate, it 

was calculated that Jersey Village’s population would reach between 

8,648 and 11,125 persons by the year 2035, if such growth is allowed by 

the physical city limits. Table 1-2 provides a comparison of several 

potential scenarios for future population change in Jersey Village. The 

projections build on the latest ACS 5 Year Estimates figure of 7,945 

persons for 2018, and identify potential population levels out to 2035. 

AGE DISTRIBUTION 
There have been fluctuations across the board for each age group in the 

City of Jersey Village. In 2019, the largest segment of the population 

comprised of the Prime Labor Force whose age 

range between 25 to 44, as seen in Table 1-4, Age 

Distribution. The second largest segment comprised 

of the Older Labor Force whose age range from 45 

to 64. These two groups have stayed relatively the 

same since 2000 while the Elderly (65+) increased 

by nearly 14%. The Young, newborn to ages 14, 

shows a 5% population decrease over the same time 

period.  

While the 2019 ACS 5 Year Estimate has the median 

age at 44.3 years old, sources such as ESRI have the 

median age at 41.3 years old and Applied 

Geographic Solutions and GIS Planning (2019) state 

the median age at 39 years old.  

 

Race vs. Ethnicity 

While race and ethnicity share an ideology of common ancestry, they 

differ in several ways. First of all, race is primarily unitary. You can only 

have one race, while you can claim multiple ethnic affiliations. You can 

identify ethnically as Irish and Polish, but you have to be essentially 

either black or white. The fundamental difference is that race is socially 

imposed and hierarchical. There is an inequality built into the system. 

Furthermore, you have no control over your race; it’s how you’re 

perceived by others. 

Source: Conley, Dalton. https://www.pbs.org/race/000_About/002_04-

experts-03-02.htm 

Age Group 
2000 2010 2019 

Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent 

Young (0-14) 1,209 17.6% 1,121 14.7% 1,008  12.7% 

High School (15-19) 464 6.7% 427 5.6% 339  4.3% 

College, New Family (20-24) 446 6.5% 544 7.1% 375  4.7% 

Prime Labor Force (25-44) 2,175 31.6% 1,986 26.1% 2,293  28.9% 

Older Labor Force (45-64) 2,063 30.0% 2,424 31.8% 2,247  28.3% 

Elderly (65+) 523 7.6% 1,118 14.7% 1,671  21.1% 

Total 6,880 100% 7,620 100% 7,933  100% 

            

Median age  37.8 41.8 44.3 

Source: U.S. Census 2000, 2010, ACS 5 Year Estimates   

Table 1-4. Age Distribution   

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

124

https://www.pbs.org/race/000_About/002_04-experts-03-02.htm
https://www.pbs.org/race/000_About/002_04-experts-03-02.htm


 

 

Chapter 1  Page 1-5 

CITIZEN’S EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT 
The educational level of a population generally indicates the skills and 

abilities of the residents of the community, which then guides the City 

for which types of job should be provided. In general, the educational 

attainment rate in Jersey Village has not changed much. While the 

number of high school graduates has increased since 2000, the number 

of Bachelor’s degree holders has decreased, but the number of 

Graduate degree holders has increased since 2012 (see Figure 1-2, 

Education Attainment).   

This attainment rate is higher than that of the State’s overall average. In 

Texas 19.5% of residents have a Bachelors Degree, and 10.4% have a 

Graduate Degree. According to a brief statistical analysis done utilizing 

U.S. Census Bureau data, staying in school and gaining higher education 

really does pay off in the long run.  The connection between schooling 

and employability and wages exists not only today, but also existed 

more than 20 years prior. The more educated an individual is, the better 

his or her chances of getting hired, and the more likely he or she is to 

earn higher wages—which ultimately leads to a higher overall standard 

of living. (Graham & Paul, Does higher education really lead to higher employability 

and wages in the RMI? 2010)  

LOCAL INCOME LEVELS 
Knowing local income levels in a particular area can guide the planning 

process to provide the right kinds of business and residential options. 

Income is also an indicator for the retail market; higher income levels 

generally mean more disposable income, therefore, more retail 

possibilities. In turn, this will mean a higher tax base for a community. 

It is interesting to examine average income in Jersey Village compared 

to Harris County and the State of Texas, as seen in Figure 1-6, Income 

Levels. The bar graph shows that Jersey Village had a mean income of 

$80,015 in 2018. Harris County has an overall mean income of $66,148 

while Texas has an overall median income of $62,355.  This is important 

to note 

because it 

indicates 

that 

residents are 

earning 

higher wages 

than most 

other cities 

across the 

State. 

Figure 1-2. Citizen’s Educational Attainment 

Figure 1-3. Household Income Levels 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

125

https://www.pacificweb.org/DOCS/rmi/pdf/Education%20and%20wages.pdf
https://www.pacificweb.org/DOCS/rmi/pdf/Education%20and%20wages.pdf


 

 

Chapter 1  Page 1-6 

EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY 
In 2018, the highest largest category of employment was in the 

educational services, health care and social assistance sector, 

accounting for nearly 18% of the total employment industry in Jersey 

Village. The second largest employment industry belonged to the 

professional sector, followed by manufacturing, and then finance. All 

major industries are represented graphically in Figure 1-5, Employment 

Industry, showing which sectors of the local economy changed the most 

since 2000. 

HOUSEHOLD TYPE 
Household type refers to how the people who live within a household 

are related, if they do not live alone. This section looks at what types of 

households are found within Jersey Village, and whether those types 

have changed significantly between 2000, 2010 and 2018; this data can 

be seen in Table 1-5, Household Type. 

Household composition has shifted over the past decades, from 

predominantly traditional nuclear families to a large percentage of 

nontraditional and blended families. The latter type of family is a 

combination of two families, single-parent families or couples without 

children. Between 2000 and 2018 the City of Jersey Village experienced 

nearly a 14% decrease in the family households percentage although 

the number had increased. Of the household category, Married Couple 

Family had the largest decrease by 15%. Non-family Households make 

up 45% of the population, 40% of which are householder living alone 

and 11% are 65 years and older. The average household size in 2000 

was 2.42 persons and has decreased to 2.04 in 2018, which is also a 

national trend as family sizes decrease. 

 

 

Figure 1-4. Employment Industry 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

126



 

 

Chapter 1  Page 1-7 

 

Household Type 2000 2010 2018 

Family Households 1,943 2,134 2,127 

          With Own Children Under 18 Years 825 764 565 

     Married Couple Family 1,693 1,766 1,732 

          With Own Children Under 18 years 669 570 360 

     Female Householder, No Husband Present 176 268 258 

          With Own Children Under 18 Years 116 148 135 

        

Non-Family Households 897 1,245 1,768 

     Householder Living Alone 704 1,069 1,559 

          65 Years and Over 72 299 432 

        

Total Households 2,840 3,379 3,895 

Average Household Size 2.42 2.25 2.05 

Source: US Census Bureau, ACS 5 Year Estimate  

Table 1-5. Household Type 

HOUSING TYPE 
Single family dwellings make up 58% of the total housing supply while 

multifamily dwellings make up 42%. The percentage of 1-unit, attached 

housing have decreased by two percent in 2012 while the number of 

multifamily housing increased. Analysis was done regarding the 

number of units per dwelling from 2000 to 2018, in both the City of 

Jersey Village  and the State of Texas. The largest changes occurred 

among one-unit detached and 5 to 9 unit multi-plexes/apartments. 

HOUSING VALUES 
Housing values are important to examine because they generally 

indicate what the City can expect its future housing stock to contribute 

to the local economy. In Table 1-7  Housing Values, the majority of 

homes in Jersey Village are valued between $200,000 and $299,000. 

Back in 2000 the largest number was in $100,000 to $149,999. This 

House Values  
(Owner-Occupied) 

2000 2012 2018 

Jersey Village Texas Jersey Village Texas Jersey Village Texas 

Owner-Occupied Units 1,652 3,849,585 1,870 5,609,007 2,087 5,917,771 

  Less than $50,000 11 0.7% 875,444 22.7% 0 0.0% 696,888 12.4% 12 0.6% 581,011 9.8% 

  $50,000 to $99,999 167 10.1% 1,561,509 40.6% 66 3.5% 1,361,239 24.3% 29 1.4% 1,083,861 18.3% 

  $100,000 to $149,999 797 48.2% 700,830 18.2% 231 12.4% 1,238,795 22.1% 76 3.6% 1,031,400 17.4% 

  $150,000 to $199,999 402 24.3% 335,179 8.7% 719 38.4% 895,978 16.0% 388 18.6% 949,590 16.0% 

  $200,000 to $299,999 182 11.0% 223,968 5.8% 678 36.3% 758,661 13.5% 838 40.2% 1,070,333 18.1% 

  $300,000 to $499,999 55 3.3% 104,821 2.7% 162 8.7% 436,502 7.8% 573 27.5% 801,637 13.5% 

  $500,000 to $999,999 38 2.3% 37,697 1.0% 14 0.7% 167,999 3.0% 158 7.6% 314,746 5.3% 

  $1,000,000 or more - - 10,137 0.3% 0 0.0% 52,945 0.9% 13 0.6% 85,193 1.4% 

  Median (dollars) 142,900 82,500 194,300 128,000 268,900 161,700 

Source: U.S. Census 2000, ACS 5-Year Estimates 

Table 1-6. Housing Values 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

127



 

 

Chapter 1  Page 1-8 

shows home values in Jersey Village have risen at a steady rate over the 

past 18 years. The median house value in 2000 was $142,900 and 

increased to $268,900 in 2018, an increase of nearly 88%. 

YEAR BUILT AND YEAR MOVED IN 
Being a relatively young city, the housing stock in Jersey Village is also 

fairly new. According to the 2018 ACS 5 Year Estimate nearly 30% of the 

homes in Jersey Village were built in 1990 to 1999, while approximately 

48% of the homes in Jersey Village were built before 1990.  

Jersey Village has seen just over 50% of its householders move in since 

2010, according to the 2018 ACS 5 Year Estimate. Anecdotally several 

realtors in Jersey Village will say the majority of their home sale 

transactions in recent years have been retired adults selling their homes 

to young families that are moving into Jersey Village.   

COMMUTE TIME 
An important element to consider related to where people would like to 

live is the amount of time it takes to travel between work and home. 

Since the construction on U.S. 290 the commute time for most Jersey 

Village residents has drastically reduced. While there is no data from the 

US Census Bureau that reflects these changes, the survey done of 

residents as part of this 2020 Comprehensive Plan shows the majority of 

commuters say their commute time was 11-15 minutes. Just over 11% 

of those that work reported that they work from home, even before 

COVID-19. During COVID-19 commute times have decreased even more 

for those continuing to commute.  

 

MEANS OF TRANSPORTATION 
The most common method of transportation to work for Jersey Village’s 

residents is alone by car, truck, or van. According to Table 1-6, Means of 

Transportation to Work, six percent carpooled while almost three 

percent took public transportation. While this information is important 

in predicting future travel demand, recent events such as COVID-19 

have made working from home much more prevalent.  The commute 

trends should be closely monitored over the coming years to gauge the 

amount of pressure placed on transportation infrastructure. 

Conclusion 
The demographic patterns discovered through these analyses helped to 

inform goals, strategies, and action items presented in the plan. 

Demographics change, and should be evaluated annually in order for 

cities to adjust and respond properly to those changes. 

Means of Transportation to Work 2012 2015 2019 

Workers 16 years and over 4,237 4,246 4,138 

        

Car, truck, or van -- drove alone 86.5% 87.5% 88.0% 

Car, truck, or van -- carpooled 6.4% 6.7% 3.5% 

Public transportation (excluding taxicab) 2.5% 2.0% 3.0% 

Walked 1.2% 0.8% 0.5% 

Other means 1.5% 0.4% 2.2% 

Worked at home 1.9% 2.6% 2.7% 

Source: ACS 5 Year Census Estimate       

Table 1-7. Means of Transportation to Work  

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

128



 

Chapter 2  Page 2-1 

 

Introduction 
During the first meetings of the 2020 Comprehensive Plan Update 

Committee (CPUC) the committee gained a better understanding of 

what individual objectives were discussed during the 2016 

Comprehensive Plan, as well as what the current committee felt 

priorities were. City residents were also surveyed to better understand 

how the community pulse on the topics may have changed since 2016. 

This understanding also includes the overarching vision, which will serve 

to guide daily decisions to shape, and direct growth and development 

for the City of Jersey Village for the next twenty years and beyond. 

This update to the 2016 Comprehensive Plan is premised upon a shared 

vision of what Jersey Village should be as it continues to grow and 

mature. During the planning process, the committee reviewed the 2016 

Comprehensive Plan and all of the goals that were suggested at that 

time. The Committee revised the goals, highlighted successful strategies 

for various goals that had been completed since 2016, and recrafted the  

remaining goals and strategies to reflect the changes since 2016 moving  

the community forward into the future.  

As the Committee moved through the 2016 Comprehensive Plan they 

proposed updates to the plan that tied back into the goals and 

strategies.  

Community Input 
Due to COVID-19, citizen and stakeholder input and participation was 

limited to online surveys, comments at the committee meetings, and 

feedback that was given directly to committee members. The survey 

was promoted in a variety of ways including email blasts to residents, 

social media, on the digital marquee signs, in the Jersey Village Star, and 

on the mobile app.  

The survey  asked a variety of questions, including seeking feedback on 

each of the goals and strategies. The survey also asked about the 

resident perception of various city services. This was done to better 

understand how current services are viewed and to see where any areas 

for improvement may be.  

The results of this community input was reviewed by the CPUC and 

helped to guide the goals listed along with the strategies to achieve 

them. Public comment opportunities were also held during the Planning 

and Zoning meeting to review the plan, and a public hearing was held at 

the Council meeting before the plan was formally adopted. 

Comprehensive Plan Update Committee  
The CPUC was appointed by the City Council in May of 2020. The 

Committee was made up of 10 members. Three members were also 

members of the Planning and Zoning Commission. The other members 

Vision, Goals, and Strategies    2 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

129



 

Chapter 2  Page 2-2 

 are residents of Jersey Village.  

The CPUC met 12 times over 6 months. During these meetings they 

reviewed the 2016 Comprehensive Plan in its entirety. They discussed 

the goals and strategies recommended and what the progress on the 

plan has been so far.  

After all of these meetings the CPUC has recommended this update to 

be considered by the Planning and Zoning Commission.  

Planning and Zoning 
The 2020 Comprehensive Plan has been reviewed by the Planning and 

Zoning Commission. The Commission reviewed each of the goals and 

strategies and the content of the plan. The Commission also gave the 

public an opportunity to make comments on the plan as well.  

City Council 
The final stop in the process was the City Council meeting where the 

Council held a public hearing for people to make comments on the 

proposed updated plan. After the public hearing the City Council 

discussed the document. They approved the updated Comprehensive 

Plan on February 15, 2021.  

Goals and Strategies 
Goals and strategies are created to define what the City wants to 

accomplish over the next ten years. Goals are broad ideas, and 

strategies are steps to achieve the goals. The goals and strategies are 

identified within this section, and relate to various sections of the 

Comprehensive Plan. As this plan is an update to the 2016 

Comprehensive Plan each Goal highlights some of the accomplishments 

since the original plan was adopted. Each goal also has a list of 

strategies to pursue that can help achieve the goals in the coming years.  

GOAL 1. HIGHLIGHT THE CITY’S IMAGE AS A SPECIAL 
COMMUNITY BY ENHANCING THE VISUAL CHARACTER OF 
THE CITY’S COMMERCIAL AREAS AND COMMUNITY 
ENTRANCES.  
Accomplishments Since 2016 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Upgrade of the City Logo and Branding. 

• City Street Signs have been updated with city logo and unique 
background color.  

• The first phase of new gateways and digital marquee signs has been 
completed, with the new logo and landscape improvements. 

 

Additional Strategies To Achieve This Goal: 
• Complete Phase 2 of the Gateway and Entry Monuments. 

• Improve the landscape character of commercial business properties. 

• Reduce visual clutter by removing billboards, moving aerial utilities 
underground, and eliminating blighted  structures. 

• Improve the character of corridors throughout the community. 

 

GOAL 2. ENHANCE AND EXPAND PARKS, OPEN SPACES, 
TRAILS, AND RECREATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES AND 
EXPERIENCES.  
Accomplishments Since 2016 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Developed a fenced in, off-leash dog park where canine citizens can 

exercise in a clean, safe environment meeting the needs of a 
growing number of citizens interested in this type of open space.  

• Offering more community events, of various themes and activities 
that encourage a broader number of residents.  

• Hired a Rec and Events Coordinator to expand and improve city 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

130



 

Chapter 2  Page 2-3 

 events, such as:  

• Expanded Easter Egg Hunt 

• Improved Spring Fling 

• Arbor Day 

• Fourth of July Parade 

• Food Truck Fest 

• Movies in the Park/Pool 

• Health Expo 

• Doggy Dip Day 

• Holiday In the Village 

• Jersey Village Lights and Christmas Decorating Contest. 

• Added a splashpad with shade sail in Clark Henry Park. 

• Utilizing the open area between the Community Center and the 
Police Department HQ to host a farmer’s market. 

• Parks Master Plan Completed. 

• Updated playground equipment with shade sails at Carol Fox Park. 

• Partnered with sports groups to have youth sports offered.  

• Improvements made to Jersey Meadow Golf Course.  

• Improvements made to Community Pool.  

• Created interactive map for city parks and recreational 
opportunities. 

Additional Strategies To Achieve This Goal: 
• Explore expanded recreational opportunities.  

• Implement the goals and strategies of the Parks Master Plan. 
Develop strategic partnerships among schools, community groups, 
businesses, and individuals in order to maximize resources and 
opportunities.  

• Encourage programs and events that engage the community.  

• Improve maintenance of parks and open spaces.  

• Increase community connectivity, including walking, hike and bike 
opportunities.  

• Increase community awareness of parks and recreation 

opportunities. 

GOAL 3. PROTECT THE QUALITY AND INCREASE EXISTING 
CHARACTER OF RESIDENTIAL NEIGHBORHOODS.  
Accomplishments Since 2016 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Ability to report ordinance violations via city’s website and/or app. 

• Updated building standards requiring new homes be built 2 feet 
above the 100 Year Flood Plain. 

• Jersey Village Lights and Tour of Homes. 

Additional Strategies To Achieve This Goal: 
• Encourage housing and property maintenance to maintain 

neighborhood integrity.  

• Ensure there are provisions for meeting and satisfying the needs of 
residents and potential residents with a variety of single family 
homes.  

• Ensure that single-family residential neighborhoods are protected 
from intensive areas of development by using screening and 
buffering techniques. 

• Enhance existing neighborhoods infrastructure when possible (ie: 
sidewalks and lighting). 

• Provide pedestrian connections within the neighborhoods. 

• Provide residents with opportunities to submit feedback on areas 
that jeopardize quality and character of the neighborhoods. 

GOAL 4. ENCOURAGE QUALITY COMMUNITY-ORIENTED 
RETAIL, RESTAURANT, AND ENTERTAINMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES TO PROVIDE THE GOODS AND SERVICES 
VALUED BY JERSEY VILLAGE RESIDENTS.  
Accomplishments Since 2016 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Several new restaurants and a brewery have opened. 

• Farmers Market started in 2017 as a monthly event and is now the 
1st and 3rd Sunday of each month.  

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

131



 

Chapter 2  Page 2-4 

 • New city events including Concerts In The Village and Movies In The 
Park. 

Additional Strategies To Achieve This Goal: 
• Create Economic Development Corporation. 

• Hire an Economic Development Coordinator. 

• Market Jersey Village to targeted businesses.  

• Identify the business types most likely to be successful given the 
surrounding demographic profile.  

• Ease the processes for business expansions and relocations. 

GOAL 5. ENSURE THAT TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC 
SERVICES, UTILITIES  AND FLOOD MITIGATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE ARE MAINTAINED AND ENHANCED TO 
MEET THE COMMUNITY’S PRESENT AND FUTURE NEEDS.   
Accomplishments Since 2016 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Authorization of Golf Carts to be used on city streets. 

• Purchased a Street Sweeper using grant funding to clean streets and 
storm water utilities. 

• Partnered with Harris County Flood Control District (HCFCD) to push 
for the E100 White Oak Bayou Federal Flood Damage Reduction 
Project to be completed. 

• Worked with HCFCD to get E127 Deepening and Widening Project 
included in Flood Bond. 

• Increased fiber network throughout the community.  

• Facilitated distributed antenna system and nodes for cellular and 
telecommunications through the community. 

• Joined the Community Rating System (CRS) at Level 7, which 
provides a 15% reduction in flood insurance premiums for those in 
the flood plain.  

• Received over $10,000,000 in grant funding for flood mitigation 
projects.  

 

Additional Strategies To Achieve This Goal: 
• Continue efforts to implement the Long Term Flood Recovery Plan 

and mitigate future flooding in the city.   

• Create policy for funding and implementation of sidewalks and 
connectivity in existing areas and with new development.  

• Increase access to non-motorized transportation options to promote 
healthy living.  

• Improve and maintain older existing street networks.  

• Ensure that all storm runoff is handled in a high standard and quality 
and that streets and neighborhoods are property drained.  

• Ensure all utilities serving city residents are of the same high 
standards. 

• Maintain or increase CRS Rating. 

GOAL 6. PROVIDE PUBLIC FACILITIES TO MAINTAIN 
COMMUNITY SAFETY, AND SERVE EXISTING AND NEW 
DEVELOPMENT IN AN EFFICIENT AND COST EFFECTIVE 
MANNER.  
Accomplishments Since 2016 Comprehensive Plan: 
• New Public Works building. 

• Two new Fire Trucks. 

• New Jersey Village Mobile App. 

• Designs and specifications have been made for Golf Course 
Convention Center and Club House and new City Hall. 

• Upgraded City Financial and Utility Billing software for more efficient 
and cost effective technologies such as e-bills for utility bills and city 
financial transparency.  

• Received Transparency Stars from State Comptroller transparency 
related to traditional finances, economic development, public 
pensions and debt obligations. 

• Installed Emergency Warning Siren utilizing grant. 

• Supervisory control and data acquisition  (SCADA) systems installed 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

132

https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/Long_Term_Flood_Recovery_Project
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.financial_reports
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.econdevtransparency
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.pensiontransparency
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.pensiontransparency
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.financial_reports


 

Chapter 2  Page 2-5 

 to monitor water and waste water plants. 

• Completion of new Sound wall along Seattle Street. 

• Implementation of Flock Camera System to assist Police 
Department. 

Additional Strategies To Achieve This Goal: 
• Maintain, replace, or improve the quality of city-owned structures.  

• Provide the necessary and appropriate technology, buildings, 
equipment and people for delivery of quality services now and in the 
future. 

• Continued efforts toward development of city facilities such as City 
Hall and Jersey Meadow facilities including the club house. 

• Transparency on the improvements of existing and new 
developments.  

• Encourage more people to join as Volunteer Fire Fighters for the 
Jersey Village Fire Department.  

GOAL 7. INVEST IN INFRASTRUCTURE, ACTIVITIES, AND 
OPPORTUNITIES THAT WILL REVITALIZE THE HIGHWAY 
290 CORRIDOR TO MAXIMIZE ITS VISUAL APPEAL, SENSE 
OF PLACE, AND ECONOMIC VALUE.   
Accomplishments Since 2016 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Entrance and Marquee Signs with Jersey Village Logo – Phase I 

Complete. 

• New buildings/businesses established on the US 290 corridor.  

• Green space that was added to existing businesses.  

• Increased Code Enforcement. 

• Increased Telecommunications and Fiber through the community. 

• Utilizing economic incentives to help bring in major anchor tenant in 
Northwest Village. 

Additional Strategies To Achieve This Goal: 
• Create a sense of place and maximize the visual appeal of the 

Highway 290 corridor.  

• Hire an Economic Development Coordinator to maximize the 
economic value of the Highway 290 corridor.  

• Invest in infrastructure that supports the revitalization of the 
Highway 290 corridor. 

• Remove blighted properties along the Highway 290 corridor. 

• Continue code enforcement efforts to protect visual appeal. 

GOAL 8. PROVIDE AND ENHANCE COMMUNITY ACCESS 
TO COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND POINTS OF INTEREST 
THROUGHOUT THE CITY.  
Accomplishments Since 2016 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Completion of Gateway and Landscape Master Plan. 

• Created a consistent, identifiable signage design throughout the city. 

• Improved traffic flow at Post Elementary and Jersey Village High 
School. 

• Implemented street name signs with custom design for all Jersey 
Village streets to better indicate location and city limits.  

• Improved wayfinding signage. 

• Installation of identifier signs at Clark Henry and Carol Fox parks. 

• Replacement of stop signs, painting of cross walks and fire hydrants 
city-wide. 

• Completed Phase 1 of the Gateway Project. 

• Provided interactive maps on website and mobile app to easily find 
points of interest. 

 

Additional Strategies To Achieve This Goal: 
• Continue to implement consistent, identifiable signage design, 

including sign poles, throughout the city. 

• Complete Phase 2 of the Gateway Project. 

• Engage the community through existing and new communication 
mediums. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

133



 

Chapter 2  Page 2-6 

 GOAL 9. PROMOTE INFILL AND REDEVELOPMENT OF 
VACANT OR UNDERUTILIZED PARCELS.  
Accomplishments Since 2016 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Utilized Chapter 380 Agreements to bring in large sales tax 

generating companies  and major tenants to Northwest Village. 

• Secured property on Jones Road south of 290 for Village Center 
Development. 

• Creation of Economic Incentive Package and promoting that 
information on our website and in the media. 

• Received over $4,000,000 in FEMA grants for home elevations. 

• Demolition of blighted buildings. 

 

Additional Strategies To Achieve This Goal: 
• Analyze annexation options for the ETJ property.  

• Encourage development and investment in the Village Center area, 
and surrounding ETJ. 

• Promote the highest and best use for vacant or underutilized 
properties. 

• Utilize all tools available, including economic incentives and Tax 
Increment Reinvestment Zones (TIRZ), to achieve this goal. 

• Hire an Economic Development Coordinator to promote infill and 
redevelopment. DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

134



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-1 

Overview 
In communities worldwide, the use of land is a critical factor in the way 

people live and work. In the cities of the United States, most property is 

held in private ownership. As a result, there are three aspects of land 

use that must be considered and balanced. First, the owner should be 

able to build structures and make other improvements that enable 

them to use their property. Second, the adjacent property owners 

should be assured that their properties and lives will not be negatively 

impacted by the actions of the property owner. Third, all property 

owners in a community have a shared interest in ensuring that the 

property held in common (such as public land) and the cumulative 

results of all individual land use decisions create a community that is a 

stable and desirable place to live and work. 

The purpose of this chapter is to establish the necessary guidance that 

enables the City to plan effectively for future growth, development, and 

redevelopment. Sound planning is essential to ensure that the 

community is prepared to serve anticipated infrastructure needs, as 

well as preserving key community areas in the face of future growth. 

Ensuring high quality development is as critical as providing the utility 

infrastructure and connecting streets. 

 

The Future Land Use Plan 
The concepts of land use and future land use are integral to other 

components of the Comprehensive Plan. For instance, the 

transportation network provides access to land, which influences the 

type and density of development that will ultimately be placed there. 

The provision or lack of utilities can also dictate the amount, location, 

and timing of development. Design and development character impact 

community aesthetics and, thus, the perceptions held by area residents 

and those considering investment in Jersey Village. Similarly, proximity 

to public facilities can impact public health and safety at specific 

locations and, as a result, impact the development potential of an area. 

The Future Land Use goals and policies explain the community’s 

objectives about the development, use and redevelopment of land. The 

Future Land Use Map provides a geographic application of these policies 

to the areas within the City and ETJ, for use during the development 

review process. The Future Land Use Plan should ultimately be reflected 

throughout the City’s policy documents and development decisions. The 

ultimate purpose of the Future Land Use Plan is to serve as a flexible 

guide to City staff and City decision-makers. It provides a rational basis 

for decision-making by ensuring that each individual decision is 

ultimately working towards the larger community goals. The Future 

Land Use Plan also protects property investments by aiding in the 

provision of compatible development. The last, and most tangible, 

Future Land Use           3 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

135



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-2 

purpose of the Future Land Use Plan is to help the City plan for 

infrastructure improvements by determining where transportation and 

other such improvements should be made to accommodate current and 

long-term needs. 

The Future Land Use Plan is not a zoning map, which deals with specific 

development requirements on individual parcels. The zoning map 

should be guided by the graphic depiction of the City’s preferred long-

range development pattern as shown on the Future Land Use Map. 

The right of a municipality to manage and regulate land use is rooted in 

its need to protect the health, safety and welfare of local citizens. The 

first step in establishing the guidelines for such management and 

regulation is the Comprehensive Plan. Although it is one component of 

the Comprehensive Plan, the significance of the Future Land Use Plan 

text and map cannot be overstated. Land use decisions are influenced 

by many of the elements of the Comprehensive Plan, including 

community growth, mobility, neighborhood preservation and integrity, 

utility infrastructure, and economic development. 

Similar to the way in which a road map serves as a guide to a particular 

destination, the Future Land Use Plan should serve Jersey Village as a 

guide to its particular, unique vision for the future. Each mile driven that 

is represented on a map can also be compared to each individual 

decision that the City makes with regard to land use and zoning; these 

individual decisions can either lead to or detract from the City attaining 

its vision. In order to provide the most complete map possible, the 

Future Land Use Plan establishes an overall framework for the preferred 

pattern based principally on balanced, compatible, and diversified land 

uses. 

Jersey Village’s land use pattern has evolved over the past several 

decades to become what it is today. The challenge now is to maintain 

the City’s quality of life and treasured neighborhoods, while 

encouraging new, quality development in key areas that will contribute 

to the City for years to come. 

Land use considerations and guidance are at the core of any 

comprehensive city plan. Effective land use planning provides a 

framework for successful economic development efforts, for quality and 

sustainable residential development, for timely investment in new and 

upgraded infrastructure, and for coordinated extension of the public 

park system and a range of other municipal services, especially critical 

public safety services. 

Compatibility of Land Uses 
Compatibility of land uses has long been an important consideration for 

cities, residents, businesses, and planners. In fact, zoning was originally 

recognized as a public, health, safety, welfare issue due to the need to 

separate incompatible land uses from one another. Variables like noise, 

pollution, light, and traffic can play a huge role in the quality of life in 

surrounding areas and have direct impacts on adjacent land uses and 

residents. It is the City’s responsibility to ensure that factors such as 

these do not negatively impact the community or its residents. This is 

especially critical in a unique bedroom community like Jersey Village 

that is primarily made up of single-family homes and retail/commercial 

businesses. Therefore, an important consideration of this Future Land 

Use Plan is to guide the allocation of land uses in a pattern that is 

intended to produce greater compatibility between the different types 

of existing land uses. 

As shown in Figure 3-1, Compatibility of Land Uses, the more intense the 

type of nonresidential land use is, the less compatible the land use is 

with residential uses. In general, office uses and small (neighborhood) 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

136



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-3 

retail establishments adjacent to residential uses create positive 

relationships in terms of compatibility; these are considered lower 

intensity land uses. There are many techniques, including buffering, 

screening, and landscaping, that can be implemented through zoning 

and subdivision regulation that would help increase compatibility 

between different land uses—many of which Jersey Village already 

takes into consideration and regulates through existing policies and 

documents. Specific consideration should be given to how the various 

types of land uses relate to one another within the development as well 

as to how the overall development relates to the existing land uses 

surrounding it. 

Issues Affecting Jersey Village  
The following are considered the most important issues regarding 

future land use in Jersey Village. 

Development in the ETJ – Development is slowly occurring in the ETJ. 

These developments will affect adjacent development going on within 

the City Limits, as well as the services and infrastructure provided by the 

City. 

Fiscal Balance – Jersey Village’s Land Use pattern is a significant revenue 

source. Therefore giving consideration to infill and redevelopment of 

existing land uses, as well as new land uses, will aid in its fiscal health. 

Flood Mitigation – Flood mitigation is an important issue for Jersey 

Village, as well as Harris County as a whole. Taking a concerted effort to 

mitigate future flooding via home elevations, redevelopment of the 

housing stock to meet new design standards, improving street drainage, 

utilizing the golf course for water retention, and working closely with 

Harris County Flood Control District to deepen and widen the bayous 

through Jersey Village will be vital to the future land use of the City.  
Figure 3-1. Compatibility of Land Uses 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

137



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-4 

Highlight: The Differences Between Planning and Zoning Maps 
This side-by-side comparison below highlights the distinct purposes and uses of a long-range land use plan map (such as Map 3-1 Future Land Use 

Map) relative to a City’s official Zoning District Map (Map 3-2). You can find the most current Zoning Map on the city website.  

Future Land Use Plan Vs. Zoning District Map 

PURPOSE 

• Outlook for the future use of land and the character of 
development in the community. 

• Macro-level, general development plan. 

 

USE 

• Guidance for City zoning map and related decisions (zone 
change requests, variance applications, etc.). 

• Baseline for monitoring consistency of actions and decisions 
with Comprehensive Plan. 

 

INPUTS AND CONSIDERATIONS 

• Inventory of existing land use in the City. 

• Elevating area character (High-Density Residential / Low-
Density Residential, Mixed Use, Office, Retail/ Commercial, 
Industrial, Public / Semi-Public, Parks and Open Space, and 
Water / Detention) as a core planning focus along with basic 
land uses. 

• The map includes a notation required by Texas Local 
Government Code Section 213.005: “A comprehensive plan 
shall not constitute zoning regulations or establish zoning 
district boundaries.” 

 PURPOSE 

• Basis for applying unique land use regulations and development 
standards in different areas of the City. 

• Micro-level, site-specific focus. 

 

USE 

• Regulating development as it is proposed, or as sites are positioned 
for the future (by the owner or the City) with appropriate zoning. 

 
 

 

INPUTS AND CONSIDERATIONS 

• Future Land Use map, for general guidance. 

• Other community objectives, such as economic development, 
redevelopment, flood prevention, etc. 

• Zoning decisions which differ substantially from the general 
development pattern depicted on the Future Land Use map should 
indicate the need for some adjustments to the planning map the next 
time the Comprehensive Plan is updated. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

138



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-5 

 

Infill – Although Jersey Village has been growing in some areas, infill 

development and redevelopment are important strategic actions for the 

future due to aging homes. 

New Business – As new businesses seek to locate in the Houston-

Galveston region, it will be important to have a variety of different sites 

that provide mobility, accessibility, and visibility within the City. 

Outdoor Recreation and Greenspaces – The discussion continues 

regarding the future of the Jersey Village golf course. There was strong 

support for renovation and update, as well as for keeping the 

greenspace as golf and recreation. 

Redevelopment of Existing Housing Stock - As infill redevelopment 

occurs, the need to demolish existing housing may be necessary. The 

City has taken a proactive approach to minimize the impact of any 

future residential conversions. In 2013 a detailed study outlined the 

most appropriate course of action for future residential redevelopment. 

Future redevelopment of existing residential housing has the potential 

to affect infrastructure needs. It will be imperative to fully study the 

infrastructure needs of any future redevelopment site. 

Village Center – The development of Village Center along Jones Road on 

the south side of US 290 will provide an advantageous opportunity for 

the City to create a mixed use development that does not currently exist 

along the 290 Corridor. This will impact the future development of the 

ETJ, as well as change the economic landscape for the city.  

Future Land Use Types 
Future Land uses in this element have been recommended based on 

three principal factors: 

1. Recognizing existing land uses by ensuring compatibility. 

2. Maximizing non-residential land uses. 

3. Creating an overall balanced land use pattern. Knowledge of the 

recommended future land use can help the City apply zoning 

regulations accordingly.  

This knowledge can also help the City ensure there are adequate public 

facilities available, such as water, wastewater, police protection, and 

park facilities. The various chapters of this Comprehensive Plan address 

these needs and have been based in part on the Future Land Use Plan. 

The following sections offer brief descriptions of each of the land use 

types portrayed on the Future Land Use Plan Map (see Figure 3.2, 

Future Land Use Map). The following are general characteristics that 

define the land use areas. More specific information related to design 

and community character are included within Chapter 7, Community 

Character of the Comprehensive Plan. 

RESIDENTIAL LAND USES 
Residential land uses are currently the predominant use within Jersey 

Village, and it is recommended within the Future Land Use Plan to 

maintain this trend. It should be noted that low density residential land 

uses can be buffered from non-residential uses with medium and high 

density residential land uses. The following sections discuss specific 

aspects of the recommended residential land uses within Jersey Village. 

Low Density Residential Land Use 
This use is representative of traditional, single-family detached dwelling 

units. Of the residential categories, it is recommended that low density 

residential continue to be the primary land use for the City. The areas 

designated for low density residential land use are isolated and 

generally not adjacent to other land uses. Although all single family 

areas have been labeled low density, the City should ensure that the 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

139



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-6 

housing stock is in good shape and well maintained going into the 

future. For the purpose of discussing Jersey Village’s ultimate population 

capacity, low density residential areas have been calculated at three 

dwelling units per gross acre within the City limits, and 3.0 units per 

gross acre within the ETJ. 

 

High Density Residential Land Uses 
Traditional apartment-type units in attached living complexes 

characterize high density residential land use. There are currently three 

high density residential areas within Jersey Village and areas that have 

been recommended to become/remain used for high density are also 

shown. In order to ensure that multifamily areas are designed to a high 

standard in the future, the City should consider incorporating design 

guidelines into the appropriate section of the Jersey Village Zoning 

Ordinance. 

PUBLIC LAND USES 
Park and Open Space Land Uses 
This land use designation is provided to identify all public parks and 

open spaces within Jersey Village. A community’s park system is key to a 

high quality of life. The City has recognized this not only through its 

allocation of park areas (now and throughout the City’s history), but also 

by the fact that a Parks Master Plan for Jersey Village has been 

incorporated as part of this Comprehensive Plan. The Parks Master Plan 

addresses specific future park locations, local park and open space 

needs, and other recreational related issues, as well as funding 

mechanisms. It is intended to help Jersey Village meet the park and 

recreation needs of its citizens as it continues to grow in population 

over the next two decades. 

Public/Semi-Public Land Uses 
This land use designation is representative of uses that are educational, 

governmental or institutional in nature. Public/semi-public uses are 

generally permitted within any area; therefore, the areas shown on the 

Future Land Use Plan map include the related uses that are currently in 

existence. However, it is anticipated that there will be a need for 
Figure 3-2. Low Density Housing In Jersey Village 

Figure 3-3. Park and Open Space Land Use in Jersey Village 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

140



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-7 

Map 3-1. Future Land Use Plan.  

A comprehensive plan shall not constitute zoning regulations or establish zoning district boundaries.  

Source: City of Jersey Village Capital Improvements Plan, Future Land Use Plan, and Impact Fee Study. Adopted July 2020. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

141

https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/open/1499/0/2020%20Impact%20Fee%20Study


 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-8 

additional public uses with future population growth. The City should 

remain aware of necessary increases in police and fire protection based 

on population growth and of potential needed increases in space and 

personnel for city administration. The Public Facilities Assessment 

addresses some of Jersey Village’s anticipated public facility needs 

based on the population projections made within this Future Land Use 

Plan, as well as the existing conditions of those facilities.  

NON-RESIDENTIAL LAND USES 
Generally, residents of a community should be able to live, work, and 

recreate all within the community itself; the existence of non-residential 

uses allows this to occur. These uses provide a positive element for 

residents, and the community as a whole. A key benefit is the tax base 

and revenue that is provided by nonresidential uses. Citizens of Jersey 

Village should not have to travel to other cities in order to meet their 

needs for employment, goods, or services; as these needs should be 

met within the City. Therefore, several areas of the City have been 

recommended for various types of non-residential use. 

 

Retail / Commercial Land Uses 
Retail land uses are intended to provide for a variety of retail trade, 

personal, and business services establishments. Retail establishments 

generally require greater visibility than do other types of nonresidential 

land use (e.g. office, commercial). In response to this need, retail land 

uses have been designated in the higher traffic areas of Jersey Village, 

with concentrated retail uses recommended along U.S. 290, and at 

major intersections. However, the type of retail that develops in each of 

these areas will likely be different, as described in the following 

sections. 

Areas designated for commercial land use are intended for a variety of 

commercial uses and establishments. These may require outside 

storage, product display and sales. Examples of such uses include 

Figure 3-4. Semi-Public Land Use, Jersey Village Police and Fire Station 

Figure 3-5. Retail/Commercial Land Use in Jersey Village 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

142



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-9 

automobile-related services and dealerships. Commercial uses often 

locate along major thoroughfares because they have a need for 

increased accessibility. The challenge lies in the fact that some 

commercial uses generally have a greater need for outside storage 

areas, which tend to lessen the visual quality of major thoroughfares. 

For areas in which retail/commercial uses have been recommended 

along U.S. 290, increased design-related guidelines should be applied to 

future commercial development within close proximity of these 

corridors (e.g. 100 feet). This could be done with an overlay district, and 

would help to ensure these commercial uses do not detract from the 

positive aesthetic quality of Jersey Village along this high-traffic 

thoroughfare. These guidelines should, at a minimum, require: 1) open 

storage areas to be buffered and/or screened from public view; and 2) 

building facades to be of masonry material. 

Within recommended retail/commercial areas, office uses should be 

permitted as well; however, commercial uses should generally not be 

permitted within office areas. Commercial uses should be permitted 

within industrial areas, provided they are properly buffered from less-

intense uses and follow the guidelines previously recommended. 

Office Land Uses (Light Intensity Business) 
Today, office uses in Jersey Village are generally located intermittently 

between retail and commercial uses throughout the City. Office land 

uses are generally appropriate in all other nonresidential areas of the 

City, such as along U.S. 290 where many offices exist today. Office 

development is generally compatible with any adjacent residential area. 

Office uses are also appropriate within the Central Business area. 

 

 

Industrial Land Uses 
The industrial land use designation is applied to areas intended for a 

range of heavy commercial, assembly, warehousing, and manufacturing 

uses. Large tracts of land with easy access to roadway and rail 

transportation are becoming increasingly hard to find for the industrial 

business community. Several large areas within Jersey Village the ETJ, all 

with proximity to railroad lines, could be utilized for industrial land use, 

if desired by the City. 

Examples of desirable uses within the designated industrial areas 

include research 

and technology 

complexes. It is 

recommended 

that the City 

concentrate on 

attracting 

businesses 

engaging in light 

industrial-type

 activities 

contained within a 

building (i.e. a 

minimal amount of 

open storage), 

such as high-tech 

services, medical 

services, and 

software manufacturing. Such businesses tend to have many 

advantages, including employment and increased tax base. 

Figure 3-6. Industrial Land Use in Jersey Village 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

143



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-10 

 
U.S. 290 – A Regional Retail Corridor 
U.S. Highway 290 has currently been developed with various types of 

retail and commercial uses. Generally, regional retail uses draw from a 

service area radius of five miles or more, depending on the actual use. 

For example, a large single-item retailer may draw from a 5-mile radius, 

while a shopping mall may draw from a radius of more than 15 miles.  

Another example of a regional retail use is a fitness center which draws 

from about a 5-mile area. It is anticipated that the U.S. 290 Corridor will 

continue to develop with retail and commercial uses intended to serve a 

larger population than Jersey Village itself provides.  

It is important to note that this retail corridor is capturing sales tax 

dollars from people traveling from adjacent localities through Jersey 

Village, thereby increasing the City’s sales tax revenue. The continued 

opportunities for regional retail development have potential positive 

financial impacts on Jersey Village.  

 

Examples of regional retail uses include: 

• Multi-item big box retailers, such as Target, Walmart, Sam’s Club. 

• Single-item retailers, such as restaurants. 

• Recreation, entertainment and fitness uses, such as movie theaters, 
indoor amusement uses. 

• Hardware stores, such as Lowe’s and Home Depot. 

• Food stores such as H.E.B. 

• Clothing retailers, i.e., Kohl’s. 

• Pet-item retailers, such as PetSmart or Petco. 

• Sporting goods retailers, such as Academy. 

• Hotels and motels. 

• Medical Office Space. 

Smaller scale retail uses that serve a regional population and therefore 

would be appropriate within the U.S. 290 corridor include coffee shops, 

such as Starbucks, and dine-in restaurants. 

Figure 3-7. Regional Retail Corridor along US290 in Jersey Village. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

144



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-11 

Mixed Use Description 
Mixed Use Areas allow residents and workers the opportunity to utilize 

multiple land uses in very close proximity. The end goal is a synergy of 

uses in one area that captures some personal trips that would otherwise 

require an additional trip in a vehicle. Retail, commercial, residential and 

even civic uses can be combined on one site to take advantage of each 

other’s characteristics and share infrastructure like key roadway access, 

site topography, water lines and drainage treatment, and proximity to 

activity centers. Tangible results can include reduced vehicle trips, and 

shared or even reduced parking needed if combined uses have separate 

peak use time periods. Characteristics of mixed use areas include a 

required mix of land use types, particularly residential and retail, or 

commercial and retail, or all three. Often they are oriented vertically, 

with retail or commercial on the first floor and residential or office on 

the upper floors, but the areas can also have mixed uses on different 

lots. Zoning ordinances will need to be addressed and modified to allow 

for more mixed use development in areas of the city that are already 

established.  

Future Land Use Projections 
As depicted on the Future Land Use Map, the largest land use in Jersey 

Village will continue to be low density residential, comprising 

approximately 31.85% of the total land use. The future land use plan 

indicates that 3.3% will be devoted to industrial, retail/commercial will 

cover 33.2% of the city limits, and 10.1% of the total land use will be 

devoted to parks and open spaces. The smaller land uses include the 

public/semi-public, high density residential, office, and detention/

retention ponds (refer to Table 3-1, Future Land Use Categories). 

In order to ensure that taxes remain low, it will be necessary for Jersey 

Village to diversify the tax base and capitalize on non-residential tax 

generators. As depicted on the Future Land Use Plan map, the City 

intends to capitalize on the large amount of retail/commercial space 

that is available to fully maximize the sales tax potential and to not put 

an undue strain on property taxes of its residents.  

Parks and Open Space will comprise approximately 10.1% of Jersey 

Village’s land use. These categories represent developed recreational 

spaces as well as the golf course, open spaces and floodplain 

preservation areas/detention ponds. This greenspace acreage will help 

to maintain Jersey Village’s quality of life, as it was a key topic of 

discussion during public meetings and input. Residents of Jersey Village 

take pride in their parks and voiced strong support of the system’s 

continued success and preservation into the future. Jersey Meadow Golf 

Club is a strong community asset that has seen a resurgence of use since 

2019. The City has made strategic investments to improve the quality of 

Table 3-1. Future Land Use Categories 

Future Land Use 
Acres Currently 

In City Limits 

Acres Currently 

in ETJ 
Total 

Low Density Residential 736.26 56.81 792.44 

High Density Residential 92.71 - 92.71 

Parks and Open Space 252.33 - 252.33 

Public/Semi-Public Land 179.09 17.05 196.14 

Retail/Commercial 256.08 570.11 826.19 

Office Land Use 45.74 - 45.74 

Industrial 82.21 - 82.11 

Mixed Use 43 104 147 

Water Detention 41.56 12 53.56 

Table 3-1. Future Land Use Categories 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

145



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-12 

play, and that is visible in 

the reviews of the course as 

well as the number of 

rounds played and revenue 

generated.  

Approximately 5.9% of 

Jersey Village future land 

use will be Mixed-Use. This 

is important because 

businesses along and south 

of U.S. 290 will function as 

income generators for the 

community both through 

tax base and sales tax 

revenue. This district will be 

largely retail and 

commercial in nature with 

establishments that have a regional draw, as well as high-density 

residential and potential TOD development (see Spotlight: Village 

Center on page 3-13). 

Growth Rates 
As outlined in Table 3-2, Jersey Village 

Historical Growth Rates, Jersey Village’s 

population and percent change are shown 

by decade, as well as the compound annual 

growth rate. The City experienced the 

largest population growth from 1980 to 

1990, experiencing almost 400 percent 

growth that decade.  

Ultimate Capacity 
The ultimate capacity is the estimated build-out population of Jersey 

Village. It represents the ultimate population that could be 

accommodated if Jersey Village develops according to the land use 

patterns portrayed in the Future Land Use Plan Map. The ultimate 

capacity is important because it helps define what the implications of 

land use decisions are. Additionally, the ultimate capacity helps in 

regards to future infrastructure needs—particularly water and 

wastewater. Jersey Village is an encapsulated community, meaning that 

it will never be larger than its extraterritorial jurisdiction, thereby 

making the estimate of build-out more reliable. 

The ultimate capacity is based upon a variety of assumptions. The 2018 

American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates for Persons Per 

Household (PPH) was used for assumptions regarding the number of 

residents per household. Approximately 17 acres of vacant land remains 

within the low density residential category. Lot sizes within the single-

family residential category are on average a half acre, and therefore an 

average lot size of 0.5 acres was assumed (2 dwelling units per acre). 

This translates to approximately 34 additional units and an additional 92 

residents. 

High density Residential will have more units per acre than Low Density 

Year Population Percent 

1980 966 - 

1990 4,826 399.6% 

2000 6,880 42.6% 

2010 7,620 10.8% 

2012 7,785 2.2% 

2015 7,877 1.2% 

2016 7,892 0.2% 

2017 7,896 0.1% 

2018 7,945 0.6% 

2019 7,933 -0.2% 

Source: U.S. Census and ACS 5 year 
estimate data 

Table 3-2. Jersey Village Historical Growth 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

146



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-13 

 

Spotlight: Village Center 
Originally planned in 2009 and 2010 as a Transit Oriented 

Development (TOD) and referred to as Jersey Village Crossing, Village 

Center is a 45 acre mixed use development that will be a one-of-a-

kind place that will transform Jersey Village. Located along Jones 

Road, south of US 290, this exciting new development includes 

residential, entertainment, retail, and hospitality.  

In 2017 the City began to actively seek out developers to help make 

this plan a reality. After talking with several development groups, the 

City Council and City Staff found the right development partner in 

Collaborate. Collaborate is an architecture, engineering and 

construction (AEC) multi-discipline and development firm known for 

partnering and collaborating to create quality of life projects. After 

extensive planning and negotiations the City entered into a Master 

Development Agreement with Collaborate for Village Center.  

Village Center will be developed as a new economic center 

welcoming a wide variety of residents, workers and visitors of all ages 

and diverse cultures. The development will create a live, learn, work 

and play mix-use that serve as a hub for innovation, business, 

education and economic engine.  

Village Center will include an upscale hotel, up to 250,000 square 

feet of Class A Office Space, over 100,000 square feet of restaurant 

and retail space, and a large educational component as well. This 

development will have a great plaza area along with an outdoor 

amphitheater to host musical events, performing arts, and more. It 

will serve as a tourism destination in its own right, and would greatly 

compliment any major business looking to locate in the Houston 

area. 

  Figure 3-8. Village Center 

A new City Hall building is also proposed for the building. The 

approximately 34,000 sq foot building is designed to be the long term 

home for city offices as the City grows over the next decades.  

The City is actively working to make the area accessible via the bayou 

system under US 290, to allow for easy access from the residential areas of 

Jersey Village. The development itself will be pedestrian-friendly and 

provide great outdoor space.  

It is anticipated Village Center will be the catalyst to start the 

redevelopment and annexation of the ETJ.  

Ground breaking for Village Center should begin in 2021.  

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

147



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-14 

Residential areas. However because there is no vacant land designated 

high density there is no projected units or population growth in this 

classification. 

Finally, Village Center will have a residential component, which will be 

critical to ensuring the vibrancy and synergy of the area. Currently 

Village Center is estimated to have approximately 360 dwelling units.  

Based upon the Future Land Use Plan Map, approximately 1,144 new 

residents could call Jersey Village home at build-out, based on the 

current city limits. When combined with the 2018 population estimate 

of 7,945 people, the ultimate capacity of Jersey Village will be 

approximately 9,089 residents. 

Considering that the City of Houston and its ETJ surround 

Jersey Village, there are no vacant areas for the City to 

grow geographically beyond its city limits and ETJ. This 

means that population increase will only occur by 

developing the vacant residential areas that are already 

within the City’s limits, plus the few remaining infill 

parcels within the City limits and ETJ. To guide the City in 

planning for how many people may ultimately need to be 

supported, an assessment of Jersey Village’s ultimate 

population is provided in Figure 3-9, Population 

Projections. 

Population Projections 
Population projections are based on historical growth 

rates and anticipated future development. Figure 3-9, 

Population Projections shows three different growth rate 

scenarios projected through 2035. 

The 1.0% and 1.5% growth rates are conservative 

estimates. The 2.0% growth rate is an average and consistent projection 

that has been seen historically in Jersey Village and is most likely to 

occur based on the current Compound Annual Growth Rate 

determination. 

As shown in Table 3-3, Ultimate Capacity within Vacant Areas: Jersey 

Village, TX, the City is estimated to reach capacity at about 9,080 

residents; therefore the projected population will likely be maxed out in 

2027.  

It is important to keep in mind that population projections are subject to 

change and can be impacted by a number of factors. The main factor 

impacting population would be retired residents selling their homes to 

Figure 3-9. Population Projections 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

148



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-15 

younger families with children that move to Jersey Village. Other factors 

impacting population growth include: local and national economies, the 

real estate market, and annexation. 

Administration of the Future Land Use Plan 
DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS & THE FUTURE LAND USE 
PLAN 
At times, the City will likely encounter development proposals that do 

not directly reflect the purpose and intent of the land use pattern 

shown on the Future Land Use Plan. Review of such development 

proposals should include the following considerations: 

• Will the proposed change enhance the site and surrounding area? 

• ls the proposed change a better use than that recommended by the 
Future Land Use Plan? 

• Will the proposed use impact adjacent residential areas in a negative 
manner? Or, will the proposed use be compatible with, and/or 
enhance, adjacent residential areas? 

• Are uses adjacent to the proposed use similar in nature in terms of 
appearance, hours of operation, and other general aspects of 
compatibility? 

• Does the proposed use present a significant benefit to the public 
health, safety and welfare of the community? Would it contribute to 
the City’s long-term economic well-being? 

Development proposals that are inconsistent with the Future Land Use 

Plan (or that do not meet its general intent) should be reviewed based 

upon the above questions and should be evaluated on their own merit. 

It should be incumbent upon the applicant to provide evidence that the 

proposal meets the aforementioned considerations and supports 

community goals and objectives as set forth within this Plan. 

It is important to recognize that proposals contrary to the Plan could be 

an improvement over the uses shown on the Plan for a particular area. 

This may be due to changing market, development and/or economic 

trends that occur at some point in the future after the Plan is adopted. If 

such changes occur, and especially if there is a significant benefit to the 

City of Jersey Village then these proposals should be approved, and the 

Future Land Use Plan should be amended accordingly. 

ZONING AND THE FUTURE LAND USE PLAN 
Chapter 211 of the Texas Local Government Code states that zoning 

regulations must be adopted in accordance with a comprehensive plan. 

Consequently, a zoning map should reflect the Future Land Use Plan to 

the fullest extent possible. See Figure 3-6, City of Jersey Village Existing 

Zoning Map (on the follow page) to view existing districts as they are 

designated today. 

REACTIVE AND PROACTIVE USE OF ZONING AND THE 
PLAN 
Approval of development proposals that are inconsistent with the 

Future Land Use Plan may result in inconsistency between the future 

Land Use Plan and zoning regulations. It is recommended that Jersey 

Village amend the Future Land Use Plan prior to rezoning land that 

would result in such inconsistency. In order to expedite the process of 

amending the Future Land Use Plan to ensure zoning regulations 

correspond, the related amendment recommendation(s) could be 

forwarded simultaneously with the rezoning request(s). It is 

recommended that the City of Jersey Village engage in regular review of 

the Future Land Use Plan to further ensure that zoning is consistent and 

that the document and the map reflect all amendments made 

subsequent to the Plan’s initial adoption. It should be noted that specific 

implementation measures related to zoning are addressed within the 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

149

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/SOTWDocs/LG/htm/LG.211.htm


 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-16 

Map 3-2. Zoning Map of the City of Jersey Village. A comprehensive plan shall not constitute zoning regulations or establish zoning district 

boundaries. Please see the Jersey Village website  for the most up to date Zoning Map.  

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

150



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-17 

Implementation Strategies of this Comprehensive Plan. 

While the recommended Future Land Use Plan map herein was partially 

based on existing land use and the City’s adopted zoning map, some 

areas within Jersey Village conflict in terms of the way in which they are 

recommended to develop based on the Future Land Use Plan map and 

the way in which they are currently zoned. In certain instances, such 

inconsistency can be in the City’s favor; this would be the case if the 

zoning map showed an area zoned as Agricultural, while the Future Land 

Use Plan showed the same area recommended for a nonresidential use. 

Such a reactive position can enable the City to rezone, thereby allowing 

the nonresidential use, when the particular proposed use is ideal for the 

location. 

Conclusion 
The recommendations contained herein should guide Jersey Village 

future land use planning and related policies. It is important to note that 

the Future Land Use Plan is not the community’s official zoning map. 

Rather, it is a guide to decision making in the context of the City’s future 

land use patterns. The Future Land Use Plan should be used consistently 

and updated as needed. As coordinated, quality development continues 

in Jersey Village over time. The official copy of the Future Land Use Plan 

map is on file at Jersey Village’s City Hall. The boundaries of land use 

categories as depicted on the official map should be used to determine 

the appropriate land use category for areas that are not clearly 

delineated on the smaller-scale Future Land Use Plan map contained 

within this Comprehensive Plan document. 

 

 

Land Use Recommendations 
GOAL 3. PROTECT THE QUALITY AND INCREASE EXISTING 
CHARACTER OF RESIDENTIAL NEIGHBORHOODS. 
STRATEGIES 
Ensure there are provisions for meeting and satisfying the needs of 

residents and potential residents with a variety of single family homes.  

• Establish and maintain a forecast of housing type needs, and set 
periodic goals to meet anticipated housing demand. 

• Create an inventory of current housing assets and programs. Gaining 
a better understanding of the assets and programs currently 
available to Jersey Village will help meet any future housing 
challenges. 

• Assign a City staff person to oversee housing-related activities and 
concerns. 

• Improve supply of housing options by identifying impediments for 
the creation of a greater range of housing types. 

• Promote residential projects that assist young, first-time home-
buyers and mature, retired residents to stay in Jersey Village when 
their housing needs change. 

• Update ordinances to make them suitable for senior housing. 

Ensure that single-family residential neighborhoods are protected 

from intensive areas of development by using screening and buffering 

techniques. 

• Provide for adequate transitions between land uses using buffering 
and screening and other site design techniques to promote 
compatibility between uses. 

 

 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

151



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-18 

GOAL 4. ENCOURAGE QUALITY COMMUNITY-ORIENTED 
RETAIL, RESTAURANT, AND ENTERTAINMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES TO PROVIDE THE GOODS AND SERVICES 
VALUED BY JERSEY VILLAGE’S RESIDENTS.  
STRATEGIES 
Identify the business types most likely to be successful given the 

surrounding demographic profile. 

• Compile all relevant demographic data regarding the economy of 
the City and update at least annually. 

Ease the processes encountered by business expansions and 

relocations. 

• Review existing codes to ensure they are supportive of the desired 
office, retail, service, and entertainment uses. 

GOAL 5. ENSURE THAT TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC 
SERVICES, UTILITIES, AND FLOOD MITIGATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE ARE MAINTAINED AND ENHANCED TO 
MEET THE COMMUNITY’S PRESENT AND FUTURE NEEDS.  
STRATEGIES 
Create policy for funding and implementation of sidewalks and 

connectivity with new development. 

• Promote redevelopment and land use patterns that reduce the 
number and length of auto trips and support walking and bicycling. 
Encourage friendly, walkable environments within key destination 
areas of the community by offering incentives to developers such as 
reduced parking requirements. 

• Require all new development to provide sidewalks on both sides of 
all collector and minor arterial roadways and key principal arterials 
within the developed/developing area of the city. Establish a 
sidewalk bank for payment in lieu of sidewalks for developments not 

located within walking distance of other developments. 

• Provide proper drainage as the city redevelops and changes. 

• Ensure new development does not create drainage problems 
adversely affecting other properties. 

• Ensure that all storm drainage facilities are maintained in good 
working condition. 

• Continue to coordinate with the flood control district to ensure 
potential flood risks are minimized and for the continuation and 
completion of flood reduction projects that benefit the City. 

• Correct any existing drainage problems as resources permit. 

• Provide utility extensions, improvements, and upgrades only in a 
manner consistent with the city’s desired growth strategies. Utility 
extensions and improvements should not be available except to 
areas where development is consistent with the city’s plans for 
growth. 

• Ensure all new development is served by city utilities or by utilities 
with equivalent levels of service. This will ensure a fire service rating 
equivalent to the city’s rating. 

GOAL 7. INVEST IN INFRASTRUCTURE, ACTIVITIES, AND 
OPPORTUNITIES THAT WILL REVITALIZE THE HIGHWAY 
290 CORRIDOR TO MAXIMIZE ITS VISUAL APPEAL, SENSE 
OF PLACE, AND ECONOMIC VALUE. 
STRATEGIES 
Create a sense of place and maximize the visual appeal of the Highway 

290 corridor. 

• Establish a zoning overlay district for the Highway 290 corridor. 

• Review existing development codes for compatibility with desired 
uses (higher quality restaurants, services, and entertainment). 

• Investigate code options to amortize existing billboards and private 
negotiations to consolidate/update remaining billboards. 

 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

152



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-19 

Invest in infrastructure that supports the revitalization of the Highway 

290 corridor. 

• Ensure that water and sewer infrastructure has adequate capacity to 
serve the desired intensity of redevelopment. 

GOAL 8. PROVIDE AND ENHANCE COMMUNITY ACCESS 
TO COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND POINTS OF INTEREST 
THROUGHOUT THE CITY.  
STRATEGIES 
Create a consistent, identifiable signage design throughout the city. 

• Develop commercial signage guidelines to encourage existing 
business to follow, as well as control future commercial 
development signs. 

GOAL 9. PROMOTE INFILL AND REDEVELOPMENT OF 
VACANT OR UNDERUTILIZED PARCELS. 
STRATEGIES 
Analyze annexation options for the ETJ property. 

• Conduct a full cost of service and revenue generation analysis for 
annexation of the extraterritorial jurisdiction (ETJ). 

• Investigate any potential ETJ exchange opportunities with the City of 
Houston that may be mutually beneficial. 

Promote the highest and best use for vacant or underutilized 

properties. 

• Continue to encourage residential infill, especially as existing 
housing stock ages. 

Revitalize areas of opportunities to attract new investment and 

activity. 

• Locate uses adjacent to each other that are compatible and 
complimentary, such as residential and some nonresidential 

development. Offices and small (neighborhood) retail establishment 
should be adjacent to residential uses. 

• Encourage neighborhood retail nodes to develop at key 
intersections in order to serve the needs of adjacent neighborhood 
areas within an approximate one-mile radius. 

• Encourage auto-oriented land uses such as drive-through 
conveniences to locate on major corridors with highway access 
(Highway 290), but discourage them in more residential and 
traditional neighborhoods. 

• Consider and evaluate each proposed medium and high density 
development on its own merit, but also by using the criteria outlined 
within the Future Land Use Plan. 

• The City should develop a Highway 290 corridor plan and updated 
market assessment to determine specific steps for revitalization of 
the corridor.  

• Promote aesthetically pleasing designs for retail and commercial 
land uses that are located at major intersections as destinations in 
their own right, but also as corridor framing uses. 

Encourage development and investment in Village Center, and 

surrounding areas. 

• Consider mixed use development combining residential and 
nonresidential uses, based principally on: 1) how the various types 
of land uses relate to one another within the development, and 2) 
how the overall development relates to the existing land uses 
surrounding it. 

• Encourage site design that promotes walking and biking. 

• Allow medium density uses to be permitted in any area designated 
for high density use. 

Update city ordinances to encourage appropriate 

development. 

• Adopt the future land use map to guide zoning and other 
development decisions. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

153



 

 

Chapter 3  Page 3-20 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

154



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-1 

Introduction  
The transportation component of the Comprehensive Plan identifies 

future transportation needs for the City of Jersey Village, the basis for 

them, and describes goals and policies to direct related decisions. The 

transportation component of a community is often a high-profile 

element of a plan, since it is experienced by residents daily as they make 

choices of how to connect with where they live, work, play, and learn. 

This plan provides a framework for a more balanced transportation 

system to offer choices in how people travel, and includes assessment 

of traffic volumes and crash statistics, corridor design, and a 

recommendation for a thoroughfare plan with functional classifications 

and multimodal components. This transportation plan serves as a 

blueprint for transportation investment decisions. Key principles were 

recognized in the preparation of the Comprehensive Plan 

recommendations and include: 

• Ensuring that transportation, public services, and utilities are 
maintained;  

• Enhancing transportation, public services, and utilities to meet the 
community’s present and future needs, and; 

• Increasing community connectivity. 

 

REGIONAL CONTEXT 
As noted in Chapter 1, Jersey Village is in the Houston-Sugarland-

Baytown metro area, in the west-center of Harris County. From a 

transportation perspective, the regional context includes the Houston-

Galveston Area Council of Governments (H-GAC). Regional planning by 

H-GAC in the 2040 Regional Transportation Plan: Bridging Communities 

identifies priority transportation investments over the eight central 

counties of the region to support the anticipated growth in households 

and jobs. These initiatives are aimed at addressing growth over the next 

25 years. Currently, over $75 billion in investments are recommended in 

the plan. Within Jersey Village, recommendations from the 2040 Plan 

include improvements to U.S. 290 which was completed in 2019, as well 

as the potential for future additional lanes in the 2034 timeframe. 

Additional projects include commuter bus service expansion, managed 

lanes on Beltway 8, and the potential for a privately operated highspeed 

rail.  

• This Comprehensive Plan, and future updates to it, should monitor 
regional growth implications to pro-actively address mobility and 
accessibility issues to and from Jersey Village. 

• Future updates should reflect and support the opportunity for a 
station located in Jersey Village to serve as a destination for mass 
transit, on demand transit, and automated and connected vehicle 
transit developments along the U.S. 290 Corridor, with a supporting 
walkable street grid surrounding the proposed station location. 

Transportation and Circulation Plan     4 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

155



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-2 

LOCAL MOBILITY 
Jersey Village generally has good mobility options, alternate route 

choices and the roadway network is largely built-out. U.S. 290 and 

Beltway 8 serve as the main axis for regional travel for Jersey Village, 

though they do not provide mobility within the City, which is instead 

served by freeway frontage roads and arterial roads. The thoroughfares 

also serve a significant portion of through-traffic from Harris County and 

Houston, and some effort has been made in the past to limit some 

planned through- street connections, such as Senate, from being 

completed. Some of these connections have been limited to prevent 

some through 

travel from 

areas to the 

north and east 

occurring in 

neighborhoods.  

Throughout the 

residential area 

the City has 

taken steps to 

encourage 

slower speeds 

on residential 

streets and open 

up alternative 

modes of 

transportation. 

In 2020 the City 

Council passed 

an ordinance allowing golf carts to be utilized on city streets. The 

adoption of golf carts has seen a steady increase and provides residents 

another option for transportation.  

The ETJ area west of Jones Road is primarily industrial, with large, long 

blocks with no through connection. Local connections and alternatives 

remain, though, and some small connections for local trip movement 

and to connect neighborhoods are proposed in this plan, as well as an 

increased fine-grid of streets south of U.S. 290 that will support mixed 

use development there, which also makes it a key location for any 

potential future mass transit station that may be planned. 

Potential Issue Areas 
EXCESSIVE DRIVEWAYS ON MAJOR CORRIDORS 
Development over time has created a situation of an excessive number 

of access points along major corridors. While properties have access 

rights to public corridors, the excessive number of driveways can reduce 

the carrying capacity of key corridors. As redevelopment occurs, sharing 

drives using cross-access easements would reduce the number of curb 

cuts thereby enhancing the carrying capacity of the corridor. 

EXTENDING COLLECTOR NETWORK CONNECTIONS 
As Jersey Village begins to experience infill redevelopment in its ETJ, the 

existing grid network of long, narrow blocks north of FM 529 will 

provide the basis for continued industrial use, but also the base network 

for potential redevelopment. As it does, a connected network of 

collector class routes should be considered in order to reduce travel 

time along key corridors, allow for increases in vehicle use, and allow for 

safe passage of pedestrians and bikes in addition to cars and trucks. A Figure 4-1. 2040 Freeway, Tollway, HOV/HOT System 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

156



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-3 

supporting connected collector network would reduce corridor 

impedances on the arterial network, but also serve to provide for 

neighborhood connectivity as well as allow corridors for bike/ 

pedestrian opportunities. Thoroughfare network expansion to the east 

would also serve to facilitate access/circulation to growth occurring in 

the eastern ETJ sector. 

TRAFFIC VOLUMES 
According to U.S. Census data, approximately 93-percent of all Jersey 

Village work trips are automobile-based. The percentage of total home-

based work trips in single-occupant vehicles has stayed relatively stable, 

with some ebbs and flows over the years. In 2000 it was 89% but 

dropped to 84% in 2013. However, the 2018 estimate was back up to 

89%. The overall rates have stayed constant over time, though the 

numbers of workers reporting that they worked at home has increased 

from 1.8-percent in 2000 to 3.6-percent in 2013. For those not working 

at home, the commute time varies based on the length of trip, 

destination, and chosen route. The performance of the local roadways 

(and resulting congestion) can be linked to many components – 

including the number of lanes, speed limit, daily traffic volumes, local 

peaking characteristics, adjacent land uses, traffic signal parameters, 

driver types, signage, pavement conditions, road design elements, and 

access control. In this section, traffic volumes are reported to track 

average conditions at the time of the plan. 

As part of the Comprehensive Plan Survey residents were asked about 

their commute times, before COVID. The majority of respondents who 

commute said their commute time to work was 11-15 minutes. This is 

lower than previous census estimates of 29 minutes. One main reason 

for this change is the completion of U.S. 290 which was not completed 

during the last survey done by the Census Bureau. Approximately 8% of 

respondents said they work form home, and over 28% said they do not 

commute, meaning they are retired or are not otherwise employed. 

Since COVID many residents have been working from home. It remains 

to be seen how the Work From Home arrangements of 2020 will 

continue through the years to come, but it could drastically impact 

future transportation needs.  

Average annual daily traffic (AADT) volumes were gathered from TxDOT, 

and other published studies. The most heavily traveled route in Jersey 

Village is U.S. 290, which carries upwards of 211,000 vehicles on an 

Key TXDOT Roadway 2017 AADT 2018 AADT 2019 AADT Growth 17-19* Future Annual Growth 2035 Potential ADT 

US 290 210,908 210,268 211,139 0.11% 2% 278,703 

Beltway 8 Not Available 144,827 145,959 0.78% 2% 192,666 

FM 529 32,705 29,515 33,478 2.31% 2% 44,191 

AADT = Average Annual Daily Traffic 

* Growth rate is 2018 to 2019 for Beltway 8 

Table 4-1. Potential AADT at Key TXDOT Roadways 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

157



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-4 

average day just north of Beltway 8. Beltway 8, in turn, carries nearly 

146,000 vehicles daily. In terms of arterial routes, Jones Road, West 

Road, and FM 529 have the highest AADT’s with segments averaging 

over 20,000 vehicles per day. Another busy route segment includes 

Senate Avenue to the north and south of U.S. 290, which serves as the 

main access for the western residential heart of Jersey Village, with 

approximately 11,700 vehicles counted in 2016, the most recently 

available saturation counts available. Should traffic conditions warrant 

additional study for potential mitigation, a Level of Service analysis of 

the roadway network could be conducted for an individual corridor, or 

the local network in conjunction with H-GAC or independently by the 

City of Jersey Village. Such a study could recommend further actions for 

mitigation, including access management, intersection improvements, 

and operational changes (see Table 4-1, Potential Daily ADT at Key 

TxDOT Roadways). 

• The Comprehensive Plan recommends ensuring that roadways have 

adequate capacity and connectivity to serve desired levels of 

redevelopment. 

CRASH ANALYSIS 
Vehicle crashes are a source of considerable personal anguish, 

disruption, loss of personal property, and time, and can result in 

personal injury and in the worse cases, death. Analysis of crashes 

recorded over the prior three-year period of available data was 

conducted to determine if patterns were prominent and rates were 

compared to cities of similar size.  

The analysis showed that, generally, Jersey Village has a higher number 

of crashes resulting in severe outcomes per year compared to 

communities of similar size in Texas. However, once controlled for the 

number of crashes that occur on freeway or frontage roads, the number 

falls to average rates similar to those for other communities of similar 

population size. 

For the three-year period, an average of 765 crashes per year were 

reported, but no crashes resulted in fatalities. Despite increases in 

vehicle safety technology such as airbags and crumple zones, higher 

speeds and speed differential between vehicles involved led to 

increasing severity of crash outcomes. The policy implications for the 

City of Jersey Village are that speed differentials between crash vehicles 

increase crash severity, and lower speeds are more appropriate for 

residential areas, with enforcement and education of speed risks an 

ongoing concern. However, it should also be noted that the majority of 

crashes occurred on roads that the city does not have authority to set 

the speed limits for. 

Transportation Planning 
EXISTING CORRIDOR DESIGN 
The City of Jersey Village has existing roadway design components that 

support the intended function for each of the roadway classifications 

outlined in this plan according to its place in the classification hierarchy. 

The standards include pavement widths that correspond to number of 

travel lanes and posted speeds of the roadway, and lane widths to allow 

for higher travel speeds. Standard lane widths are also regularly 11’-12’ 

wide, with some collector streets and streets in residential sections 

being wider to allow for on-street parking. Increasingly, recent 

standards of practice by AASHTO, NACTO and others allow and 

encourage narrower lane widths for street applications, which preserves 

mobility and traffic volumes, but also help to promote lower speeds 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

158



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-5 

Figure 4-2. Locations of Crashes in Jersey Village 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

159



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-6 

which in turn translate to reduced severity of crashes, reduced crossing 

times for pedestrians, shorter cross-traffic signal timing, less stormwater 

runoff, and less pavement to construct and maintain. 

Jersey Village appears to have intended more major thoroughfare 

connections, such as Senate Avenue, to allow for a finer grid of major 

roadways as developments and communities developed in the western 

section of the city and to the north. In lieu of some of the connections 

being constructed, a larger spacing between arterials has developed, 

approximately 2 miles between Jones Road and Beltway 8, meaning that 

local trips as well as through-trips must use a route that includes one of 

the major thoroughfares, extending local trips in distance and time as 

well as adding to traffic volumes on the thoroughfare. Similarly, 

although sidewalks are abundant in Jersey Village, in the few areas that 

are without sidewalks, pedestrian and bike trips must also divert to the 

main roadways. 

NETWORK DESIGN, SPACING AND SPEED 
Jersey Village has a traditional suburban network of connected streets 

for most of its current geographic area, which channels vehicular trips to 

the regional freeway network. Local trips internal to the city are limited 

to collector roadways and winding through residential neighborhoods, 

discouraging through travel. Connectivity is generally good for 

thoroughfares, such as FM 529 and Jones Road. Thoroughfare spacing 

ranges from approximately a quarter mile in the western portion the 

city, to two miles between Jones road and Beltway 8, with collector 

roadways radiating out of the eastern portion of the city connecting 

residents there to the arterials at the edge. The roadway network also 

allows for a connected but discontiguous path parallel to U.S. 290 and 

the westbound frontage road, allowing for filtering of vehicles and 

access to commercial services. 

In general, for higher levels of the functional classification system, 

mobility is intended to be emphasized over providing local access to 

adjacent land uses. Higher levels of the functional classification system 

also maintain more continuity over distance. Relatively higher travel 

speeds and flow of traffic are emphasized on these arterial routes, 

though conflicts exist that can reduce travel speed and lead toan 

increased probability of stops that can increase the chance for crashes. 

These impediments include the number and spacing of traffic signals, 

number of access points such as driveways and cross streets, non-linked 

signal timing, a lack of turn lanes or median presence, and poor 

roadway geometrics. This can be observed as higher speeds on 

roadways or extended-flow signal timing at intersections.. Signalized 

intersections are shown in Figure 4-3. 

• The Comprehensive Plan recommends promoting redevelopment 

and land use patterns in line with the “15 Minute City” movement. 

This would lead to a reduction of the number and length of auto 

trips, as well as supporting walking and bicycling. It would also 

encourage friendly, walkable environments within key destination 

areas of the community by offering incentives to developers for 

redevelopment, such as reduced parking requirements.  

COMPLETE STREETS 
One of the planning concepts Jersey Village may consider incorporating 

in roadway design is a complete streets initiative. The focus of a 

complete streets initiative is to consider all modes during the planning, 

design, construction, operation and maintenance of the city’s street 

network. Effective complete streets policies help communities routinely 

create safe and inviting road networks for everyone, including bicyclists, 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

160



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-7 

Figure 4-3. Signalized Intersections 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

161



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-8 

drivers, transit operators and users, and pedestrians of all ages and 

abilities. Instituting a complete streets policy ensures that 

transportation planners and engineers consistently design and operate 

the entire roadway with all users in mind. For the Complete Streets 

policy to be effective, a program of supporting policies and procedures 

need to be put in place in all City departments which could include a 

program of land use planning guidelines, a series of project 

development checklists, established responsibilities for addressing 

modal issues, and more specific design and operating standards for 

implementation and maintenance. An illustrative of how this policy 

would apply to a Minor Residential Collector is shown in Figure 4-4. This 

method could be implemented in the numerous upcoming street 

rehabilitation projects that are a part of the 10-year Capital 

Improvement Plan.  

To continue implementation of sidewalks in construction, the city 

requires all new development and significant redevelopment to provide 

sidewalks on both sides of collectors and thoroughfares within the 

developed area of the city. Where developments are not within walking 

distance of other significant 

developments, or places 

where development is 

anticipated shortly, the city 

should consider a sidewalk 

bank to be established for 

payments in lieu of 

construction. 

ACCESS AND CORRIDOR 
MANAGEMENT 
Access management refers to 

the practice of coordinating 

access connection points to a 

roadway by considering 

specific design criteria for the 

location, spacing, design and 

operation of driveways, 

median openings and 

Figure 4-4. Example of Complete Street Layout.  

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

162



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-9 

intersections. In general, the goal is to have access to a specific facility 

decreased in order to maintain the roadway efficiency and enhance 

traffic safety. 

As access points are reduced, the mobility and capacity of a roadway are 

increased through the operational and geometric improvements. 

Access management provides a significant benefit to the mobility and 

function of the roadway and 

reduce the potential for accidents 

by minimizing speed differentials 

between vehicles and turning 

movements. Research has shown 

that accident rates increase 

consistently with an increase in 

the number of roadway access 

points, while accident rates 

decrease with the construction of 

raised medians and controlled 

signalized cross access. 

The city should consider Access 

Management control standards 

for application on frontage roads 

and major thoroughfares such as 

Jones Road and FM 529. As part 

of such a policy the following 

components may be included: 

• The use of shared driveways 
should be considered as a 
standard when any more than 

one driveway is requested; 

• Cross access between adjacent properties should be a stated 
standard for development, with justification required for not 
providing cross access. 

• Shared parking provisions for reduction in parking requirements 
should be established as a benefit to providing cross access between 
parcels and shared driveways. 

Figure 4-5. Access Management 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

163



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-10 

Thoroughfare Plan 
FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION 
The Jersey Village street network is categorized by functional 

classifications according to roadway function (refer to Figure 4.6, 

Thoroughfare Map with Classifications). Functional classification is the 

hierarchy by which routes are arranged into groups according to the 

nature of intended service (mobility and access). Higher functional 

classifications limit access but provide enhanced mobility (long distance, 

high speed trips). Lower functional classifications provide limited 

mobility but ample access to adjacent land uses. The City of Houston 

includes functional classifications for roadways which include the 

following: 

Freeways and Tollways 
Freeways are grade-separated with the highest level of mobility and full 

control of access via interchange ramps. Jersey Village is served by U.S. 

290, an important corridor of regional significance connecting to the 

Houston central business district, as well as Brenham and Austin and 

points west. Beltway 8 is a major ring road of the Houston metro area, 

and provides access to George Bush Intercontinental Airport, as well as 

points north east and west via I-10, I-45, and I-69. 

Thoroughfares 
These routes serve major traffic movements within urbanized areas, 

connecting Central Business Districts (CBDs) and major route nodes, 

outlying residential areas, significant intercity communities, and major 

suburban centers. 

Principal Thoroughfares typically offer higher travel speeds, but these 

routes may have a limited number of traffic signals and driveways. 

Within the Jersey Village plan area, FM 529 is the only road considered a 

principal thoroughfare. 

Thoroughfares can also typically feature medium to higher travel 

speeds, but these routes may have more frequent traffic signals, at-

grade intersections, and driveways to access adjacent land uses. They 

typically can fill out a transportation network grid at approximately one-

mile spacing intervals and can serve local and longer distance trips. 

Within Jersey Village, the following examples are routes classified as 

Thoroughfares: 

• Jones Road 

• West Road 

• North Eldridge Parkway 

• Senate Avenue 

 

Collector 
The collector street system features facilities that collect traffic from 

local streets in neighborhoods and channel traffic to the thoroughfare 

system. These routes typically provide access to private property, offer 

lower travel speeds, and serve trips of shorter distances. 

Major Collectors place more emphasis on land access and typically have 

closer spacing for crossing streets, driveways, and traffic signals. These 

routes typically serve trips of moderate length at a lower through-travel 

speed than thoroughfares. Existing major collectors in Jersey Village 

include: 

• Castlebridge Drive 

• Steeple Way Boulevard 

• Jersey Drive (from U.S. 290 to Lakeview Drive) 

• Senate Avenue (from U.S. 290 to Lakeview Drive) 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

164



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-11 

Figure 4-6. Thoroughfare Plan Map with Roadway Classifications 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

165



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-12 

 

Minor Collectors: Minor Residential Collector and Minor 
Industrial Collector 
These routes typically provide access to private property, offer lower 

travel speeds, and serve trips of shorter distances. Examples include Rio 

Grande Street, Jersey Meadows Drive, Taylor Road and Wright Road. 

Spacing and location is intended to facilitate access to the network 

system from neighborhoods and commercial areas as well as encourage 

transportation modes like biking and walking as an alternative for short 

distance trips. 

Local Streets 
The local street system offers the least mobility and the highest land 

access service; local access for all parcels. These streets include all 

facilities not classified under a higher system. 

Thoroughfare Design Standards 
Thoroughfare classification reflects the intended function of specific 

roadways that serve as part of the street and highway network. The 

cross section of a roadway is related to traffic volume, design capacity, 

and Level of Service. Standards for Freeways and Tollways are the 

responsibility of TxDOT or other agencies, and therefore not presented. 

In developed areas, varying design standards may be implemented to 

accommodate existing conditions. 

The general roadway cross-sections used throughout the city have not 

changed since being identified as part of 2016 Comprehensive Plan 

effort. To determine the exact dimensional requirements of each 

intersection, a traffic analysis should be conducted at the time of facility 

implementation. At a minimum, each general roadway cross-section can 

accommodate a separate left-turn lane. The right-of-way for the minor 

residential collector roadway illustrative is also designed to allow for left

-turn lanes at the intersection with major arterial facilities, in lieu of on 

street parking near the intersection. 

SIDEWALK SYSTEM AND BICYCLE ACCOMMODATIONS 
Sidewalks are a vital element of the transportation system, providing 

access and service to activity centers, transit, homes, businesses, 

schools, libraries, and parks. Jersey Village provides sidewalks on most 

of its collector and thoroughfare network, though the collectors in the 

ETJ, originally constructed with industry and automobile access in mind, 

have sporadic and limited sidewalk connectivity. A complete streets 

approach includes accommodating pedestrians and cyclists safely and 

comfortably, with adequate space and separation from travel lanes. 

In the example of the northeastern boundary of the City, there are no 

pedestrian and bicycle accommodations on the frontage road of 

Beltway 8, making a pedestrian or bicycle traverse not possible. 

Additional outreach should be conducted to determine where and how 

additional pedestrian and bike connections should be made, including 

taking advantage of existing right-of-way for unbuilt roadways and 

bayou service easements, with grants being a potential source to 

provide funding for planning and construction. 

• In order to provide greater pedestrian connections within the 
neighborhood, the Comprehensive Plan recommends developing 
neighborhood pedestrian connections through a trail system, 
including securing land needed for additional paths and utilizing 
existing bayous and conveyance channels to help expand the trail 
network. 

• Ensure pedestrian mobility by repairing existing sidewalks and 
extending missing segments. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

166



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-13 

• Encourage site design that promotes walking and biking access and 
egress. 

• The Comprehensive Plan recommends conducting a corridor 
pedestrian mobility study to identify specific corridor deficiencies 
and potential solutions for improvement prioritization. 

TRANSIT CONSIDERATIONS 
Local fixed route transit service is provided by the Metropolitan Transit 

Authority of Harris County, or Metro. Metro’s service area consists of 

1,660 miles and approximately 84,000,000 passenger trips served in 

2019. In Jersey Village, the service consists of two fixed route commuter 

lines that serve downtown Houston from the Northwest Station Park 

and Ride located at West Road and Castlebridge Drive, with a direct 

express ramp to the U.S. 290 HOV lane. Metro has considerable success 

with its commuter service, and approximately 10% of the passenger 

trips served are via commuter busses. 

REGIONAL HIGH CAPACITY TRANSIT 
The H-GAC 2045 transportation plan includes High Capacity Transit 

(HCT) which could be considered regionally significant. The HCT could be 

a combination of light rail, commuter rail, bus rapid transit, and barrier 

separated HOV lanes. The City should continue to proactively plan with 

H-GAC and/or other interested agencies to further advance the idea for 

an HCT connection to the city. The City should also promote active 

dialogue for long-term investment within or adjacent to the existing rail 

corridor. 

With the optimal location of the Jones Road Station, adjoining road and 

planned non-motorized connectivity, and proximity to the Metro 

Northwest Park and Ride, this potential site could serve a dual purpose 

as an intermodal hub serving. This hub would also be used to connect 

potential transit service throughout the community and points beyond. 

Village Center should be planned with the potential to accommodate 

this type of site. 

The Comprehensive Plan recommends exploring TxDOT and H-GAC 

funding opportunities for multi-modal transportation alternatives. 

T r a n s p o r t a t i o n  a n d  C i r c u l a t i o n 
Recommendations 
The following action items address issues related to transportation and 

circulation discovered through the planning process. 

GOAL 1. HIGHLIGHT THE CITY’S IMAGE AS A SPECIAL 
COMMUNITY BY ENHANCING THE VISUAL CHARACTER OF 
THE CITY’S COMMERCIAL AREAS AND COMMUNITY 
ENTRANCES. 
STRATEGIES 
Improve the corridor character throughout the community. 

• Conduct a corridor pedestrian mobility study to identify specific 
corridor deficiencies and prioritize potential improvements. 

Complete Phase 2 of the Gateway and Entry Monuments. 

GOAL 2. ENHANCE AND EXPAND PARKS, OPEN SPACES, 
TRAILS, AND RECREATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES AND 
EXPERIENCES. 
STRATEGIES 
Increase community connectivity. 

• Explore TxDOT funding opportunities for multi-modal transportation 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

167



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-14 

alternatives. 

• Ensure pedestrian mobility by repairing existing sidewalks or 
extending missing sections. 

GOAL 3. PROTECT THE QUALITY AND INCREASE EXISTING 
CHARACTER OF RESIDENTIAL NEIGHBORHOODS. 
STRATEGIES 
Provide pedestrian connections within the neighborhoods. 

• Develop neighborhood pedestrian connections through a trail 
system.  

• Acquire/secure land needed for initial paths of trail system.  

• Utilize existing bayous and conveyance channels to help expand the 
trail system. 

GOAL 5. ENSURE THAT TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC 
SERVICES, UTILITIES AND FLOOD MITIGATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE ARE MAINTAINED AND ENHANCED TO 
MEET THE COMMUNITY’S PRESENT AND FUTURE NEEDS. 
STRATEGIES 
Create policy for funding and implementation of sidewalks and 

connectivity with new development. 

• Create a Thoroughfare Plan to be used as a mechanism for securing 
H-GAC funding for streets within existing and developed areas of the 
city. 

• Promote redevelopment and land use patterns that reduce the 
number and length of auto trips and support walking and bicycling. 
Encourage friendly, walkable environments within key destination 
areas of the community by offering incentives to developers such as 
reduced parking requirements. 

• Require all new development to provide sidewalks on both sides of 
all collector and minor arterial roadways and key principal arterials 

within the developed/developing area of the city. Establish a 
sidewalk bank for payment in lieu of sidewalks for developments not 
located within walking distance of other developments.  

• Increase access to non-motorized transportation options to promote 
healthy living. 

• Prioritize sidewalk improvement areas based upon propensity to 
generate pedestrian traffic, with safe routes to schools and safe 
routes to transit of highest priority. Solicit available funding for 
these types of pedestrian mobility accommodations. 

• Enhance the safety of pedestrian crossing of major thoroughfares 
and other high traffic volume streets by providing accessible 
pedestrian signals at no less than one-quarter mile spacing within 
the developed areas of the city. 

• Create an enhanced pedestrian environment along key entry 
roadways and those with adjacent residential development to 
encourage walking to local retail and service destinations, especially 
along Jones Road, Jersey Meadows Drive, and Castlebridge Drive. 

Improve and maintain older existing street networks. 

• Through the development process, secure additional right-of-way at 
critical intersections to enable the implementation of channelized 
turn movements, as well as adequate pedestrian landings and ramps 
at the corners. 

• Identify and define minimum design and construction standards to 
be met by 2025. 

• Maintain implementation priorities for all street improvements 
through a capital improvement planning process. 

• Identify funding alternatives and resources available for roadway 
maintenance implementation. 

• Develop a policy and programs for City consideration of public/
private partnerships and donations to fund transportation 
infrastructure, amenities and aesthetics. 

• Extend West Gulf Bank Road to Hillcrest Road. 

• Realign Village Drive, moving existing road south, connecting to Rio 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

168



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-15 

Grande Street. 

• Encourage the County to connect Taylor Road west of the 
extraterritorial jurisdiction (ETJ) to provide better access for future 
development. 

GOAL 7. INVEST IN INFRASTRUCTURE, ACTIVITIES, AND 
OPPORTUNITIES THAT WILL REVITALIZE THE HIGHWAY 
290 CORRIDOR TO MAXIMIZE ITS VISUAL APPEAL, SENSE 
OF PLACE, AND ECONOMIC VALUE.  
STRATEGIES 
Invest in infrastructure that supports the revitalization of the Highway 

290 corridor. 

• Ensure that roadways have adequate capacity and connectivity to 
serve the desired intensity of redevelopment. 

GOAL 9. PROMOTE INFILL AND REDEVELOPMENT OF 
VACANT OR UNDERUTILIZED PARCELS. 
STRATEGIES 
Encourage development and investment in the Village Center area, 

and surrounding ETJ. 

• Encourage site design that promotes walking and biking. DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

169



 

 

Chapter 4  Page 4-16 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

170



 

 

Chapter 5  Page 5-1 

Background and Existing Conditions 
The non-residential development history of Jersey Village is largely one 

of “retail following rooftops” along a freeway system increasingly 

extending outward from Downtown Houston. Over the last three 

decades Jersey Village has endured significant impact to its commercial 

areas and  enterprises  as  US  290  has been widened, elevated,  and  

upgraded  from  highway  to freeway status with changing ramp 

locations and access conditions. During this time, the City’s strong 

residential base and appeal remained constant. Prior to 2017 the  City’s 

modest approach to economic development had been  to react to 

developer proposals, involving a few requests for tax abatements and 

sales tax rebates.  

Since 2017 the City has taken a more aggressive approach to economic 

development. The City has entered into three Chapter 380 agreements 

in that time which have added to the job base and sales tax growth of 

the City. The City has created guidelines for property tax abatements 

and Chapter 380 grants. These items are actively promoted as part of 

the outreach efforts the city undertakes to find new businesses and 

developers.  

The City’s tax structure includes both ad valorem taxes and sales tax. 

The ad valorem tax rate from 2006 through 2020 was $0.7425/$100 of 

value. In Fiscal Year 2021 the ad valorem tax rate decreased to 

$0.723466/$100 of value. This stable tax rate through the recessionary 

period beginning in 2008 reflects the stability and discipline of council 

leadership and city management’s budgetary practices. Additionally the 

City collects $0.015 of sales tax for its general fund and $0.005 of sales 

tax for its Crime Control and Prevention District. 

Economic Development       5 

Figure 5-1. 2020 Certified Taxable Value 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

171



 

 

Chapter 5  Page 5-2 

The previous pie chart (Figure 5-1) indicates the breakdown of 

categories of properties and the percentage of the property tax revenue 

they make up for Fiscal Year 2021. Figure 5-2 shows how the property 

values have changed over the past 10 years. It is important to note that 

with very little vacant land within the corporate limits, policies and 

programs to maximize the taxable value of existing non-residential use 

is critical to maintaining or reducing the percentage of revenues needed 

from homeowners. 

The City also has taken steps to increase the marketing of the 
community and its businesses. The City has launched a Jersey Village 
Business Directory in which businesses can register and promote their 

locations to residents. They can also offer exclusive deals to residents 
with promotions that can be found using the Jersey Village Mobile App.  

Economic Development Going Forward 
As part of the 2016 Comprehensive Plan the public meeting processes 

overwhelmingly confirmed that Jersey Village residents value the 

residential character of their community and are eager to maintain that 

character for future generations, yet they understand that the long term 

vibrancy of the community requires a balance of land uses and a stable 

or growing tax base. 

To see how that may have changed, the CPUC surveyed residents on the 

same question. The community survey set the stage for 

the economic development goals of the community. 

The second largest response was attracting restaurant 

and entertainment venues, followed closely by 

improved retail development. The greatest threat to 

achieving these goals cited in the survey was related to 

the loss of commercial base due to the Highway 290 

expansion. 

Since the completion of US 290 in 2018 that threat has 

subsided. As is shown in Figure 5.2 the commercial 

property values have increased from 2010 to 2020.  

Therefore, the concepts of growing the tax base (both 

property and sales), providing locally-serving 

establishments, and improving the image of the 

community all have a nexus with economic 

development policies aimed at the revitalizing the 

Highway 290 corridor. 

Growing the tax base in conjunction with maintaining 
Figure 5-2. Historical Assessed Property Values By Category 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

172



 

 

Chapter 5  Page 5-3 

community character and values was a main focus of the CPUC.  These 

discussions clearly indicated that the community recognizes the linkage 

between a strong and diverse economic base and the City’s ability to 

provide efficient, high-quality infrastructure, municipal services, 

education, and responsive governance. In general, the CPUC feedback 

indicated that primary focus of future economic development efforts 

should be directed toward adding targeted non-residential locally-

serving businesses that complement existing residential uses and that 

enhance the tax base. 

With regard to economic development, the residents were asked two 

questions: 

•What do you want to achieve? 

•What are you willing to fund? 

These two questions were designed to elicit opinions regarding the 

future vision of the community and the level of effort with which they 

are comfortable in order to achieve those goals. The ultimate balance of 

what is achievable is a result of the level of desire to achieve a particular 

goal, and the public will and ability to invest toward achieving the goals. 

In response to the first question, the residents’ responses are tabulated 

in Figure 5-3.  

The responses illustrate that the Jersey Village residents put a large 

emphasis on reducing the flood risk in the city. A common theme in the 

comments for the survey related to the stigma that Jersey Village floods. 

The city should continue its efforts of flood mitigation via the 

implementation of the Long Term Flood Recovery Plan. The residents 

also want to achieve more and higher quality restaurants/services/

entertainment opportunities. With the new restaurants that have 

recently opened, and with the planned Village Center the City is well 

poised to achieve this goal of the residents.  

Tied for third in goals to achieve were retail development and improved 

city infrastructure. The City works with owners of retail space within the 

city to provide assistance, both financially and marketing-wise, to attract 

new retailers to the community. Village Center will also increase the 

amount of retail development within the city bringing in some more in-

demand tenants. The City should continue to actively pursue other ways 

to attract higher quality retail development.  All of these goals reflect 

the community’s desire to have locally-serving establishments and 

retailers that will enhance community cohesion for the next generation 

of residents. 

The responses to the question “What are you willing to fund?” show 

where the residents feel the city should put its resources to help achieve 

these economic development goals.  

  

Figure 5-3. What do you want to achieve? 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

173



 

 

Chapter 5  Page 5-4 

 

Based on these responses, the residents see the need for the City to 

take an active role in the cleanup of properties that may be considered 

blighted. The corner of Senate Ave and US 290 was one commonly 

mentioned area residents felt should be cleaned up.  

It is also clear the residents support the city acquiring property for 

projects that work to achieve these goals. Some examples of this could 

include the city buying a blighted property to clean it up and then sell it 

to a developer for the development of something that meets the needs 

and desires of the city. Another example is the city purchasing land to 

control the future outcomes of what is placed on the land.  

Before economic development priorities and tools can be framed, the 

current threats which must be addressed and the assets that can be 

built upon must be analyzed. These threats and assets were compiled 

from public meeting feedback, surveys, and comprehensive plan 

advisory committee comments. 

Potential Threats 
In the current setting and longer term, the community has recognized 

several threats that may negatively impact the economic vibrancy and 

sustainability of the quality of life experienced by current residents.  

These threats are listed and described below: 

Flooding was highlighted by the residents as a threat to Jersey Village.  

• Assessment: Working with Harris County Flood Control and 
continued implementation of the Long Term Flood Recovery Plan 
will be key to overcoming this threat.  

 
Potential legislative changes the state may pass limiting local control on 
municipal budgets. 

• Assessment: This could reduce the amount of money Jersey Village 
could put towards economic development.  

 

Potential decline of surrounding areas: Jersey Village is surrounded by 

either City of Houston city limits, ETJ, or unincorporated Harris County 

over which Jersey Village has no control. 

• Assessment: Therefore, efforts to preserve the character and 
property values within the city are doubly important. Annexation of 
the ETJ would provide greater control of the growth on the 
southwestern side of the city.  

 

Competition from new master planned communities with more 
contemporary amenities: As the Houston metro continues to grow, 
newer master-planned communities draw population into newer homes 
with a broader range of amenities than currently available in Jersey 
Village. 

• Assessment: Efforts need to be focused on strengthening, 
enhancing, and promoting the existing valuable assets of the 
community. 

Figure 5-4. What are you willing to fund? 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

174



 

 

Chapter 5  Page 5-5 

Community Assets 
Counterbalancing these  potential  threats  is  a  wide  range  of 

community assets. These assets are valued by current residents and 

have a positive impact on the overall quality of life experienced by 

residents. Economic development efforts targeted toward enhancing 

these strengths and counteracting the potential threats will create the 

best opportunities for success. 

LOCATION 
The community’s location at the corner of Beltway 8 and US 290 is seen 

as a great asset. From this location, residents have ready freeway access 

to other areas of Houston and access to public transit and park and ride 

locations. 

• Assessment: In the long run, this location provides a convenient 
location for residents and also serves as a magnet for development 
and redevelopment. 

• Assessment: According to a 2018 HGAC Study over 50,000 new jobs 
will be added to a 6 mile area surrounding Jersey Village between 
2015 – 2045.  

PUBLIC SAFETY 
The City’s police and fire services are highly regarded and frequently 

cited as a major community asset which promotes a sense of security 

for residents. 

• Assessment: Ensuring that these services, and other City services, 
can be adequately funded is a top priority. 

SCHOOLS 
Jersey Village is in the Cypress Fairbanks ISD and has two public schools 

located within its corporate limits. Local schools are often cited as a 

major attraction for new residents with young families. 

• Assessment: Adapting the locally available retail and services that 
add to tax base and appeal to the demographics of the community 
as an aging population turns over is critical. 

Economic Development Priorities 
Inherent in the definition of economic development is the concept of 

improving the standard of living in a community, including enhanced 

quality of life assets that are valued by the community and improved 

public services. The economic development priorities identified through 

this comprehensive planning process are: 

REDUCED FLOOD RISK 
While not always thought of as a consideration in economic 

development, reducing the hazards (in this case flooding) associated 

with development should be a top consideration. For all new economic 

development the city should encourage low impact development and 

flood mitigation efforts that go above the minimum requirements. This 

type of eco-friendly development can help attract visitors to it as a 

marketing point in itself. 

EXPANDED RESTAURANT/SERVICES/ENTERTAINMENT 
ALONG WITH RETAIL DEVELOPMENT OPTIONS 
The highest economic development priorities continue to be expanded 

restaurant/services/entertain and retail development options.  

Since 2016 the City has seen an increase in these areas. The Northwest 

Shopping Center has seen new restaurants, along with new restaurants 

on Senate Ave at Dillard Drive.  The new Village Center will also serve to 

increase these opportunities along with the potential for entertainment 

options as well.  

 

 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

175



 

 

Chapter 5  Page 5-6 

IMPROVED CITY INFRASTRUCTURE 
Businesses can only locate in an area that has the infrastructure in 

place, or planned to be developed, to support their operations. 

Accordingly city infrastructure is a high priority for the residents when it 

comes to economic development. A strong focus on the infrastructure 

of the city will be seen by businesses and developers as a positive factor 

in their decision to locate in the City.  

SALES TAX GROWTH 
Closely related to restaurants/services/entertainment and retail 

development, priorities number 2 and 3, is the priority to grow the sales  

tax  base.  Growing  and  diversifying  the  sales tax base benefits the 

local economy and also provides revenue enhancements for needed 

services provided by the City. 

Since the City has a half-cent 

sales tax for crime prevention, 

increased sales tax revenues not 

only benefit the general fund, 

but also assist with funding high 

priority public safety services. 

Since 2014 sales tax has 
increased for the City of Jersey 

Village. Table 5-1 shows the growth of sales tax over the past 7 fiscal 
years. 

PROPERTY TAX BASE GROWTH 
A natural byproduct of new economic development will be property tax 

base growth. Being the basis for the most stable and predictable 

municipal revenue stream, growth of property values is a key 

component of an economic development strategy. 

Table 5-2 shows the growth of the property tax base since 2010. Overall 

it has averaged a 3% increase annually. The tax base decline in 2019 was 

due to increased homestead exemptions provided on residential 

properties.  

These five priorities have the potential to have a synergistic effect, with 

each component building upon and 

strengthening the other components. 

Improved locally-serving restaurants, 

services, and entertainment venues not only 

enhance the direct quality of life for 

residents, they enhance the City’s property 

and sales taxes and these new facilities will 

also enhance the visual appearance of the 

City. Employment centers supported by these 

priorities not only support restaurants and 

service establishments, but also rely on those 

businesses in the conduct of operations 

within those offices. The interconnected 

cycle of these priorities enhances the 

resident’s quality of life and generates critical 

revenue streams to support important 

municipal services. 

Economic Development Tools 
Good public policy aims to achieve long-term, sustainable 

improvements through the prudent use of Economic Development 

tools. With very rare exceptions any public participation in an economic 

development project should be in the form of a reimbursement funded 

from the revenues created by the project. Any form of public 

participation should only be considered when the proposed project 

Table 5-1. Historical Sales Tax 

Sales Tax

FY14 2,160,169.00$             

FY15 2,192,087.00$             

FY16 3,261,209.00$             

FY17 3,060,036.00$             

FY18 3,158,223.00$             

FY19 5,945,841.00$             

FY20 6,360,623.00$             

Year Assessed Value 

2010  $830,303,009  

2011  $787,129,394  

2012  $820,200,617  

2013  $860,055,138  

2014  $941,267,101  

2015 $1,118,155,370  

2016 $1,102,521,149  

2017  $1,044,852,267  

2018  $1,086,952,212  

2019  $1,041,684,512  

2020  $1,098,106,157  

Table 5-2. Historical 
Property Tax Base DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

176



 

 

Chapter 5  Page 5-7 

furthers overall City goals and implements one or more of the economic 

development priorities described above. 

The tools most appropriate for use toward achieving the priorities 

described above and the recommended conditions for their use are: 

TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE (TIRZ) 
A TIRZ can be utilized to reimburse developers for large scale water, 

sewer, drainage, and roadway improvements needed to serve the area 

if the proposed development plan conforms to the Comprehensive Plan 

goals. The City has created TIRZ Number 2 for the Village Center area. 

Additional zones should be considered as necessary to help achieve the 

goals of the Comprehensive Plan.  

CHAPTER 380 AGREEMENTS 
Chapter 380 agreements can be structured in a variety of ways, but for 

Jersey Village the structure should be limited to reimbursement of a 

portion of the sales tax or property tax generated by a conforming 

project. Reimbursement for project costs under a Chapter 380 

agreement could be applied to new retail/service/entertainment and 

office uses. Chapter 380 incentive programs could also be structured to 

incentivize rehabilitation of existing buildings by reimbursing owners for 

a portion of the costs associated with improving the appearance or 

landscaping of existing buildings. 

MUNICIPAL MANAGEMENT DISTRICTS (MMD) 
A MMD adds an additional layer of taxation or assessment to properties 

within the district. An MMD could be established along the US 290 

corridor, for example, as a vehicle to fund esthetic enhancements, extra 

levels of maintenance, and additional security protection. 

Recommendations  
COORDINATION OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
ACTIVITIES 
The community recognizes the need for the municipal tax base to 

continue to grow to at least minimally keep pace with rising operating 

costs, and to finance infrastructure maintenance and rehabilitation as 

the community ages. A concerted effort with  a specific focal point is 

needed in order to effectively manage economic development 

programs. To that end, the following two components of an economic 

development program are recommended: an Economic Development 

Coordinator and Branding/Marketing.  

Economic Development Coordinator 
A coordinator would ensure that the City’s efforts from various 

departments are focused in the same direction. A coordinator can also 

serve as a single point of contact and information clearinghouse for 

entities wishing to develop within the City. In this capacity, the 

coordinator would also be responsible for preparing and compiling 

demographic and real estate data that may be valuable in the decision- 

making process of outside entities interested in relocating to or 

developing within the City. This position should focus on implementing 

the economic development and Highway 290-related goals identified in 

the comprehensive plan, with a particular focus on marketing to outside 

businesses and coordinating Highway 290 corridor redevelopment. This 

position does not necessarily need to be an added staff member; 

currently the City Manager handles these duties, but in the future this 

may warrant a full time or contract position.  

Branding/Marketing 
Residents overwhelmingly have a positive image of the community and 

its people. The chief concern is that the “outside world” does not 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

177



 

 

Chapter 5  Page 5-8 

recognize the assets that the community offers. Since 2016 the 

community has attracted a new generation of young families, but as the 

population continues to age continuing to do so to a high level is seen as 

vital to the long term vibrancy of the community and the school system. 

A branding and marketing program is seen as essential in promoting the 

community and making sure that Jersey Village is recognized as one of 

the premier first-tier suburbs of Houston. 

GOAL 4. ENCOURAGE QUALITY COMMUNITY-ORIENTED 
RETAIL, RESTAURANT, AND ENTERTAINMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES TO PROVIDE THE GOODS AND SERVICES 
VALUED BY JERSEY VILLAGE’S RESIDENTS.  
STRATEGIES 
Identify the business types most likely to be successful given the 

surrounding demographic profile. 

Market Jersey Village to targeted businesses. 

• Prepare marketing materials highlighting the assets and advantages 
of Jersey Village. 

• Establish a program to contact targeted office, retail, service, and 
entertainment businesses. 

• Establish working relationships with commercial brokerages. 

• Expand marketing of the golf course for tournaments and other 
special events. 

Ease the processes encountered by business expansions and 

relocations. 

• Appoint a designated contact point and coordinator for business 
permitting inquiries and processes. 

• Establish a business-owners council as a resource learning about the 
needs of business and communicating the City’s goals to the 
business community. 

• Prepare a job description for a full-time economic development 
coordinator to be considered by city management and the City 
Council. 

 GOAL 5. ENSURE THAT TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC 
SERVICES, UTILITIES, AND FLOOD MITIGATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE ARE MAINTAINED AND ENHANCED TO 
MEET THE COMMUNITY’S PRESENT AND FUTURE NEEDS.  
STRATEGIES 
Continue efforts to implement the Long Term Flood Recovery Plan and 

mitigate future flooding in the city.  

GOAL 7. INVEST IN INFRASTRUCTURE, ACTIVITIES, AND 
OPPORTUNITIES THAT WILL REVITALIZE THE HIGHWAY 
290 CORRIDOR TO MAXIMIZE ITS VISUAL APPEAL, SENSE 
OF PLACE, AND ECONOMIC VALUE.  
STRATEGIES 
Create a sense of place and maximize the visual appeal of the Highway 

290 corridor. 

• Establish a zoning overlay district for the Highway 290 corridor. 

• Establish a 380 grant program to reimburse a portion of the costs 
associated with updating building facades and landscaping to new 
standards. 

Maximize the economic value of the Highway 290 corridor. 

• Consider the creation of a Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ) 
as a financing mechanism for upgraded public improvements in 
partnership with redeveloping properties. 

• Consider creation of a municipal management district (MMD) to 
fund corridor enhancements and on-going maintenance. 

 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

178



 

 

Chapter 5  Page 5-9 

Encourage development of desired office, retail, service, and 

entertainment venues through the use of tax abatement, TIRZ, or 380 

agreements. 

GOAL 9. PROMOTE INFILL AND REDEVELOPMENT OF 
VACANT OR UNDERUTILIZED PARCELS.  
Promote the highest and best use for vacant or underutilized 

properties. 

• Encourage convenient commercial services to support neighborhood 
needs. 

Revitalize areas of opportunities to attract new investment and 

activity. 

• Identify potential redevelopment sites and create proposal packages 
to incentivize developers. 

 Analyze annexation options for ETJ. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

179



 

 

Chapter 5  Page 5-10 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

180



 

 

Chapter 6  Page 6-1 

 

Background 
Parks and open spaces enhance a community’s quality of life by 

facilitating active play, quiet reflection, healthy lifestyles, and 

community interaction. A healthy, vibrant parks system should provide 

diverse opportunities for passive and active play. A well developed park 

system can help a new community grow and an older community to re-

establish itself. For the purposes of this review, parks and open spaces 

are meant to include open landscape space, trails, and recreational 

facilities such as ball fields, athletic courts, and senior, youth, and 

community centers. 

The parks, recreation, and open space review seeks to compliment and 

reinforce the long range vision for the City of Jersey Village. The scope 

of this chapter, although encompassing parks and open spaces citywide, 

serves as a brief overview of the Parks and Recreation Master Plan. The 

2016 Comprehensive Plan recommended a Parks Master Plan be 

completed to provide a more comprehensive review of the City’s 

current and future needs. In 2020 the City engaged Burditt Consultants 

to assist in a Parks and Recreation Master Plan. That plan was 

completed in 2020.  

The Parks and Recreation Master Plan is a working document that 

serves as a guide for improvements to the City’s parks system. That plan 

seeks to address the need to continue to provide the parks and 

recreation facilities and programs that have made Jersey Village such a 

desirable place to live. Additionally, that plan identifies opportunities to 

enhance public space for events, connectivity and overall quality of life.  

As such this chapter of the Comprehensive Plan only covers the 

information on a high level. Rather than duplicating the work for this 

review interested parties can view the Parks and Recreation Master Plan 

on the city website under the “Plans and Studies” page. 

Parks Summary 
Jersey Village currently has eight city-owned parks and open spaces 

with a total of 53 acres of park land. The Jersey Meadow Nature Trail 

and Dog Park, Carol Fox Park, and Clark Henry Park are the primary 

parks with developed amenities that serve recreation needs for 

residents. The remaining parks and open space are less than one acre in 

size and distributed throughout the community  

The Jersey Village park system has a total of 2.48 miles of trails for 

recreation. Sidewalks are available throughout the community as well, 

which provide additional recreation and connectivity, but were not 

counted in the total trail mileage.  

The parks and open spaces inventoried fell into three classifications, as 

Parks, Recreation and Open Spaces  6 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

181

https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.plansandstudies


 

 

Chapter 6  Page 6-2 

 defined by the National Recreation and Park Association (NRPA): Mini- 

parks, neighborhood parks, and community parks. Table 6-2 NRPA Park 

Classifications discusses these definitions and all classifications used by 

the NRPA.  

In addition to public parks, the city has additional parks and open space 

that has limited access to adjacent residences only or is a pay to use 

facility such as the City-run Jersey Meadows Golf Club. The total private 

open spaces is 163.85 acres for a total parks and open space total of 

222.47 acres. 

 

Park Name Park Classification Acreage Trails 
(miles) 

Backstops 

Basketball Court 

Benches 

Dog Play Structure 

Drinking Fountain 

Gazebo/Pavilion 

Picnic Areas 

Pet W
aste Stations 

Playgrounds 

Pool 

Restroom
s 

Sandbox 

Soccer Practice Fields 

Splash Pad 

Sw
ing Set 

Trash Cans 

Jersey Meadow 
Nature Trail & 

Dog Park 
Community Park 41.73 1.13     X X X     X               X 

Carol Fox Park 
Neighborhood 

Park 
1.41 0.23     X   X X X   X     X     X X 

Philippine Park 
Neighborhood 

Park 
1.68 0.21     X     X                   X 

Clark Henry Park 
Neighborhood 

Park 
7.35 0.91 X X X   X X X   X X X X X X X X 

Country Club 
Park 

Mini Park 0.29       X                           

De Lozier Park Mini Park 0.49       X                           

St John Park Mini Park 0.29       X                           

Welwyn Drive 
Park 

Mini Park 0.39       X     X X   X           X   

  Totals 53.63 2.48 1 1 8 1 3 4 3 1 3 1 1 2 1 1 3 4 

Table 6-1. Existing Parks Summary 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

182



 

 

Chapter 6  Page 6-3 

  

CLASSIFICATION DESCRIPTION  CRITERIA  SIZE 

Mini‐Parks  
Used to address limited, isolated, or unique residential 
needs. 

Less than 1 mile distance in residential setting. 1/2‐ 1 acre 

Neighborhood Parks 
Basic unit of the park system & serves as the 
recreational & social focus of the neighborhood. 

1/4 to 1/2 mile distance in residential setting. 5 ‐ 10 acres 

School Park 
Depending on circumstances, pursuing joint 
opportunities can fulfill space requirements. 

Determined by location of school property. Variable 

Community Parks 
Focus is on meeting community‐based recreation needs, 
as well as preserving unique landscapes & open space. 

Serves two or more neighborhoods at 1/2 to 3‐mile 
distance. 

30 ‐ 50 acres 

Park Trail Trails  
Located within greenways, parks, & natural resource 
areas.  

Separated, multi‐purpose, surfaced trails. Variable 

Natural Resource Area 
Lands set aside for preservation of significant natural 
resources, landscapes. 

Resource availability. Variable 

Greenways 
Effectively tie the park system components together to 
form a continuous park environment. 

Resource availability and opportunity.  Variable 

Special Use 
Area for specialized purpose recreation activities such as 
campgrounds, golf courses. 

Variable depending on specific use. Variable 

Private Park 
Privately owned facilities that contributes to the public 
park and recreation system. 

Variable depending on specific use. Variable 

Table 6-2. NRPA Park Classifications DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

183



 

 

Chapter 6  Page 6-4 

  

 

 

 

 

Jersey Meadow Nature Trail and Dog Park  
Due to a number of flood events over the years, the Harris County Flood 

Control District, in partnership with Harris County Precinct 4 and the 

City, established the Jersey Meadow Stormwater Detention Basin in 

2014 to manage stormwater flows within the watershed. While most 

flood control basins in Harris County do not retain water, the 42-acre 

facility in Jersey Village contains “a permanent wet-bottom basin with 

wetlands that naturally filter stormwater and provide natural habitat to 

wildlife.” The wetland is surrounded by a 1.1 mile perimeter recreation 

trail. The facility includes a small bird nesting area on an island, for 

migratory waterfowl. The sustainability and recreational functions of 

this 

facility 

earned 

an 

award 

from 

the 

Figure 6-1. Pictures from 

Jersey Meadow Nature 

Trail and Dog Park 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

184



 

 

Chapter 6  Page 6-5 

 Clark Henry Park  
Clark Henry Park is the second largest park in Jersey Village, 

encompassing more than 7 acres of land. The park is located at the 

southeast 

corner of 

Jersey 

Village 

adjacent to 

Post 

Elementary 

School. The 

park is 

home to the 

City pool 

and splash 

pad, Jersey 

Village Hike 

and Bike 

Trail, and a 

covered 

pavilion. 

The 

playgrounds 

and soccer 

and baseball practice fields are highly utilized by students from Post 

Elementary School as well as residents. This park is currently home to 

most of the outdoor community events in Jersey Village, taking 

advantage of the covered pavilion and ample open space.  

Carol Fox Park  
Carol Fox Park is a 1.4-acre neighborhood park located in the center of 

the community. This park attracts children with it’s unique play 

structures, with a variety of play structures suited for all ages.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The park was renovated in 1992, with the help of 400 volunteers from 

Jersey Village. A total of 263 families contributed $50 each and left their 

hand and foot prints on the concrete pathways along with their best 

wishes and vision for the park. The design of the park amenities was 

inspired by input from children who were invited to illustrate their 

vision for the park. This park has been a great success and shows the 

value of community involvement.  

 

Figure 6-3. Calvin III Ship and shade structure at Carol Fox Park 

Figure 6-2. The Splashpad at Clark Henry Park 
DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

185



 

 

Chapter 6  Page 6-6 

 Philippine Park  
Philippine Park is located north of Clark Henry Park, immediately across 

White Oak Bayou from the City Pool. A pedestrian bridge connects with 

Clark Henry Park and the Jersey Village Hike and Bike Trail. This area has 

many trees and serves as a passive park with amenities such as a 

gazebo, sidewalks, and benches.  

Country Club Park  
Located at Country Club Ct. and Rio Grande Street, adjacent to the 

Jersey Meadow Golf Course, this mini-park offers a 0.29 acre shady spot 

to relax on an island within the cul-de-sac. Benches are provided for 

visitors.  

De Lozier Park  
This park takes advantage of a 0.49-acre island of open space at the 

intersection of De Lozier St. and Rio Grande St. De Lozier Park is located 

across street of the Champion Forest Baptist Church Park, where a 

variety of amenities are offered. The open space is used as a gathering 

spot for local residents for block parties and similar events. During the 

Christmas season, the space is decorated with lights and ornaments.  

St. John Park  
Similar to Country Club Park, St John Park consists of a small island 

within a cul-de-sac. This 0.29 acre open space provides shade trees and 

a bench for residents to enjoy.  

 

Level of Service Analysis 
The purpose of a level of service (LOS) analysis is to determine how well 

the existing City of Jersey Village Parks and Recreation system is 

meeting the needs of City residents. According to the National 

Recreation and Parks Association (NRPA), the basic definition of LOS is 

expressed as an allocation mechanism for the delivery of park and 

recreation facilities throughout a community. By adopting LOS 

standards, a community says that all residents, regardless if they pay 

taxes or use the parks and recreation facilities, have equal opportunity 

to share in the basic services in the standards. 

Table 6-3. Parks and Park Acreage per resident 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

186



 

 

Chapter 6  Page 6-7 

 Park Land 
The City of Jersey Village has a total of approximately 53.65 acres land 

dedicated to parks and open space throughout the city. This does not 

include the 108-acre City-operated Jersey Meadow Golf Course. Park 

land is typically measured in terms of ‘developed park land’, which 

generally includes all maintained parks and open space. This allows a 

community to compare their total park land to that of comparable 

communities. 

The National Recreation and Parks Association (NRPA) has conducted 

surveys of park agencies across the country to depict the condition of 

parks level of service. The survey results from NRPA measure “Residents 

per Park” and “Park Acreage per 1,000 residents.”  

Another popular method is to measure park land acreage as percentage 

of city area. The Trust for Public Land’s 2019 City Park Facts indicates 

that the medium to low-density cities have an average of 8.3% of a city’s 

total area in park land. Jersey Village’s park land is 3% of the city area. 

This number is in a medium range as compared with similar density 

cities in Texas. 

Park Facilities 
NRPA also measures the number of residents served by a population 

size. Some types of facilities (such as recreation centers) are often only 

found in larger cities. The existing Jersey Village Civic Center is serving 

the community not only as the City Council Chambers, but also as a 

place for public and private events. The City does not have a designated 

event venue such as an amphitheater, instead most events area held in 

the covered pavilion in Clark Henry park. 

The planned Village Center will include a new City Hall, as well as an 

amphitheater for community events. With the relocation of City Hall 

and Council Chambers, the existing Civic Center and surrounding area 

could be re-purposed for recreation uses such as indoor recreation or 

green space. 

A Park Within a 10 Minute Walk from Home 
A collaborative effort between The Trust for Public Land, the Urban Land 

Institute, and the National Recreation and Park Association initiated a 

campaign called “10 Minute Walk” with a goal to “ensure there’s a park 

within a 10 minute walk of every person, in every neighborhood, in 

every City across America”.  

To understand 

where Jersey Village 

currently measures 

against the “10 

Minute Walk” test, 

an analysis was 

conducted using 

Geographic 

Information Systems 

(GIS) software to 

calculate the 

proximity of 

households to parks 

in the City, both 

public parks and 

private. Rather than 

using a simple 

circular radius, the 

analysis considers only the practical means of walking to the park along 

Table 6-4. Percent of Population in a 10 minute 

walk to a park. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

187



 

 

Chapter 6  Page 6-8 

 existing roads, which have sidewalks in most cases. This provides a more 

meaningful illustration of where service gaps exist in the parks system. 

According to the most recent data from Parkserve™, the 10 Minute 

Walk database from the Trust for Public Land (TPL), Jersey Village has 

80.2% of the population living within a 10-minute walk to a park, and 

19.8% of residents living further away. Comparing with other cities in 

Texas, Jersey Village has significant park coverage. The TPL data is based 

on the ESRI Demographic Forecast Block Groups data. 

The map on the following page (Figure 6-4) illustrates the areas of the 

community within a 10-minute walk of a park in green. The red circles 

highlight residential areas that are not within that distance and are 

known as “service gaps”. Where opportunities are available, these are 

target areas to consider for development of parks if land is available. 

This visualization was conducted using ESRI’s ArcGIS Online platform to 

perform the ‘proximity analysis’. The analysis only considers public 

parks, and proximity is measured as a distance along streets to park 

access points. Private parks, such as those located on apartment 

complex grounds and the one in the Enclave At Castlebridge are not 

included on this map.  

Sports and Programs  
Currently, the sports demand in Jersey Village is fulfilled by private 

organizations. The city works with private organizations to allow the use 

of city facilities. Some sports that are offered by these private groups 

include soccer, t-ball, swimming. The city had planned to start doing 

adult sporting leagues in 2020, but COVID-19 forced a change of those 

plans.  

Jersey Village began to offer several new recreational programs in 2019. 

These programs included youth and adult sports, camps, art classes, 

fitness in the park and more. Some of these programs are led by city 

staff and some are led by private groups.  

Community Events 
Jersey Village has a vibrant community atmosphere, where a variety of 

community events bring residents together each year. Jersey Village 

provides many annual community events based on the local interests. 

The following popular events are offered: 

• Bingo Nights  

• Health Expo with Jersey Village Senior Outreach  

• Concerts in the Park Series  

• Spring Fling Nature Festival 

• Easter Egg Hunt 

• Adult Easter Egg Hunt  

• Independence Day Parade 

• Movies in the Village 

• Eats in the Streets Food Truck Festival 

• Fall Frolic Trunk-or-Treat 

• Texas State Arbor Day 

• Holiday in the Village 

• Farmer’s Market 

• Santa visits sponsored by the Volunteer Fire Fighters Association 

• Family Night at Jersey Meadow 

Most events are held in the open space and covered pavilion at Clark 

Henry Park. The events are scheduled throughout the years and have a 

high-level participation in the community. 

Jersey Meadow Golf Club 
Jersey Meadow Golf Club is the single largest piece of open space in 

Jersey Village. After several years of declining conditions and revenue 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

188



 

 

Chapter 6  Page 6-9 

 

Figure 6-4. 10 Minute Walk Analysis 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

189



 

 

Chapter 6  Page 6-10 

 

the City made significant investment in quality staff and course 

improvements that have led to the revitalization of the golf course.  

In Fiscal Year 2020 (which ran from October 2019 – September 2020) 

Jersey Meadow had nearly 43,000 rounds played. Jersey Meadow saw 

nearly $1.8 million in revenue for the year, which shatters the previous 

record by nearly $250,000. It should be noted that these achievements 

were done with virtually no play occurring in April 2020 due to the 

Governor’s order that golf courses be shut down due to COVID-19.  

While residents must pay to play golf, Jersey Meadow offers discounts 

on membership rates to Jersey Village residents. The concessionaire 

that serves Jersey Meadow has good menu options and the club house 

is open to the public for meals. People can enjoy some great views of 

the course while enjoying delicious food on the patio.  

Conclusion 
The City of Jersey Village has significant parks and open space facilities 

when the private facilities and golf course are included in the overall 

analysis. Jersey Village is competitively positioned against several other 

communities in the Houston area and around the state.  

As part of the Parks Master Plan over 380 people completed surveys 

providing feedback on improvements that should be made, and 

potential projects. Rather than duplicating the work for this review 

interested parties can view the Parks Master Plan on the city website 

under the “Plans and Studies” page. 

Figure 6-5. Rounds of Golf Played and Revenue Generated at Jersey Meadow 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

190

https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.plansandstudies


 

 

Chapter 6  Page 6-11 

 Parks, Recreation and Open Space 
Recommendations 
The following are action items related to parks, recreation and open 
space. 

GOAL 2. ENHANCE AND EXPAND PARKS, OPEN SPACES, 
TRAILS, AND RECREATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES AND 
EXPERIENCES.  
STRATEGIES 
Explore expanded recreational opportunities. 

• Review TPWD and other grant opportunities. 

• Explore future funding potential to acquire additional park space 
based on parks and open space master plan. 

• Convert FEMA acquired flood properties into usable park space. 

• Review underutilized open spaces and convert to local mini parks. 

Update existing parks and open spaces. 

• Continue to conduct playground safety inspections of all parks to 
determine high priority repairs and/or maintenance items. 

• Continue to update playground equipment at parks to current safety 
standards. 

• Review and incorporate additional park improvements such as those 
recommended in the Parks Master Plan. 

• Update City’s pool buildings and add new equipment, slides and 
amenities to the pool. 

• Implement Parks Master Plan Projects. 

• Incorporate outdoor exercise equipment into parks.  

Develop strategic partnerships among schools, community groups, 

businesses, and individuals in order to maximize resources and 

opportunities. 

• Identify potential corporate sponsorships to provide additional 
recreational opportunities. 

• Explore potential community volunteer opportunities to support the 
parks and recreation program. 

• Work with CFISD to continue to allow the public to use their 
recreational amenities. 

Encourage programs and events that engage the community. 

• Continue to add programs and events, modify events that have 
lower turnouts, or discontinue events that don’t meet a participant 
level that warrants the event.  

Improve maintenance of parks and open spaces. 

• Review procedures to solicit community feedback on maintenance 
of parks and open spaces. 

• Increase maintenance funding for parks and recreational facilities. 

Increase community connectivity. 

• Coordinate with HCFCD on future trail connectivity along White Oak 
Bayou. 

• Build trail to Lakes of Jersey Village and on the electrical high line 
corridor to connect the Detention Pond Park to the White Oak 
Bayou trail system. 

GOAL 6. PROVIDE PUBLIC FACILITIES TO MAINTAIN 
COMMUNITY SAFETY, AND SERVE EXISTING AND NEW 
DEVELOPMENT IN AN EFFICIENT AND COST EFFECTIVE 
MANNER.  
STRATEGIES 
Continue efforts for construction of new Jersey Meadow Club House. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

191



 

 

Chapter 6  Page 6-12 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

192



 

 

Chapter 7  Page 7-1 

Introduction 
Jersey Village has a unique history in northwest Harris County having 

been incorporated in 1956 and establishing itself as one of the stable, 

attractive communities in the area. As northwest Harris County 

continued to grow, the city the edges and entrances that once defined 

the Jersey Village began to become ‘blurred’ by this development. 

This section addresses the less tangible aspect of community character. 

Community character is less quantifiable than other aspects of the 

comprehensive plan such as parks and open spaces, but it is equally 

important to the vitality of the community. Community character 

encompasses the physical built environment and social attributes that 

make one neighborhood different from another.  

Sense of Place 
Describing, let alone trying to improve upon, a community’s character is 

a difficult task. Communities all have a certain feel about them. Certain 

communities you know when you have arrived without having to see a 

sign and others you might pass right through without even knowing you 

were there. When you visit a community you receive visual cues from 

the built environment, many your are not even aware of. These visual 

cues help shape your view of what you see and experience. It can be the 

building architecture, the types of materials, and the age of the 

buildings. Streets could be nicely landscaped or just concreted over. 

There could be traffic jams on crowded, boulevard streets, or there 

could be light traffic on a smaller street with lots of pedestrian 

wandering about in small boutique shops. All of these visual cues, and 

much more, together suggest a “Sense of Place”.  

Taking all of these things together helps to create a meaningful sense of 

place that, as Peter Kageyama in his book “For The Love Of Cities” 

articulates it, makes a city more loveable.  

This is what makes a discussion about community character a very 

subjective endeavor that is very much rooted in a community’s history, 

culture, and expectations. 

Regional development can affect a community’s character in a positive 

or negative way depending on the manner in which the growth occurs. 

Factors such as architectural style, building development, freeway 

expansion, streetscape, buffers, scale, and accessibility can all influence 

whether development is distinctive and build on the community’s 

character, or lack authenticity or are out of character. 

Opportunities to Improve Community Character 
During the development of 2016 Comprehensive Plan, the 

Comprehensive Plan Advisory Committee and citizens comments 

created goals action items related to community character. The 

Community Character        7 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

193



 

 

Chapter 7  Page 7-2 

participants of the public process helped to shape a distinct series of 

themes that were important to them. The themes, described below, 

summarize the community’s understanding of the important aspects of 

wayfinding that are important to the future of Jersey Village. 

The following description elaborates on those items found in 2016: 

• Improved Gateways, Entrances, and Wayfinding Signage 

• Reinforcement of the entrances into the City of Jersey 

Village.  

• Freeway Corridor Landscaping 

• The freeway edges of Highway 290 and Beltway 8 are 

considered important to improving the character of the 

community and to better define the ‘edges’ of the city. 

• Community Landscaping 

• Many residents feel that the streets and open spaces should 

be well landscaped and brought up to the quality that is 

found along Senate Street. 

• Code Enforcement 

• The importance of maintaining a minimum level of 

expatiation for residences and businesses to maintain their 

properties to protect the overall value of the community. 

• Pedestrian Mobility 

• Reinforcement of a walkable community that is 

interconnected with sidewalks, trails, and open spaces. 

• Wayfinding Signage 

• Street signage is an effective way of identifying and helping 

residents and visitors navigate throughout the city. These 

signs were updated in November 2020.  

 

Gateway Entry Analysis 
Gateway entrances serve as the residents and visitor first impression of 

the city. As the 2016 Comprehensive Plan found the entrances are 

inconsistent in their landscape and signage approach which was also 

identified as a potential negative impact on the community. The 

following issues were highlighted as part of the 2016 Comprehensive 

Plan 

IDENTIFIED ISSUES 
Quality of Landscape 
Landscaping at each entry is not consistent in design and/or 

maintenance. Some entries do not have any landscape improvements 

HWY 290 Construction Activity Impact 
The Highway 290 construction activities have negatively impacted the 

primary entrances into the city, Senate and Jones Road. The two signs 

were removed by TxDOT sometime during the project. A complete 

rebuilding of the signage and landscape will be needed. However, due 

to the increased road widths putting a sign at this location will prove 

difficult.  

Inconsistent of Signage Design and Materials 
Each of the entrances have different building materials and 

configurations which could lend itself to confusion as to whether these 

are entrances into the city or just another subdivision. 

Logo and Font Consistency Lacking 
The city’s branding and logo are not consistently used for each of the 

gateway entrance signs, if present. This is a missed opportunity for the 

city to project it’s brand. 

 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

194



 

 

Chapter 7  Page 7-3 

Improving Gateways 
The City of Jersey Village limits are irregular in shape and are dominated 

by the edges of Hwy 290 to the south and Beltway 8 to the east. Jones 

Road bisects the city but provides two key entrance points into the city 

to the east and west. Senate at Hwy 290 is widely seen as the main 

entrance into Jersey Village with Jones Road at Hwy 290 a close second. 

To address each of these items the City has undertaken projects to 

improve the gateways. The first step in this process was completion of 

the Gateways and Wayfinding Master Plan. The Gateways and 

Wayfinding Master Plan addressed branding standards (including colors, 

materials, and fonts) for the city, landscape standards, 

and signage designs. This plan is available on the City 

Webpage under the “Plans and Studies” page.  

That plan identified the various gateways of the city and 

laid out a plan to put consistent monuments at each 

gateway. A map depicting these gateways is shown in 

Figure 7-1. 

Addressing These Issues 
QUALITY OF LANDSCAPE 
The Gateways and Wayfinding Master Plan identified a 

landscaping palette of ornamental trees and shrubs the 

city now uses for its landscaping in medians and 

entrances. Some of these include Natchez Crape 

Myrtles, Salvia, Plumbago, Bottlebrush, Firecracker 

Plant, and White Lantana. Knockout Roses in red, white, 

and blue, to incorporate the official colors of the city, 

are also utilized.  

HWY 290 CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY IMPACT 
With construction activities completed the city is now able to move 

forward with entrance monuments at these locations. 

INCONSISTENT OF SIGNAGE DESIGN AND MATERIALS 
The Gateways and Wayfinding Master Plan identified a family of signage 

materials to be used for city signs. The materials include Clay/Brick 

Masonry, Cast Stone, Metal, and Limestone. These materials are being 

used in the new signs that are being built.  

New Street Signs were designed and installed in 2019 with a consistent 

Figure 7-1. The Gateways into Jersey Village and type of monument selected. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

195

https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.plansandstudies


 

 

Chapter 7  Page 7-4 

look which incorporates the Jersey Village Star.  

New “Welcome to Jersey Village” signs that are at entrances like Jones 

Road traveling South, North Eldridge Parkway traveling south, 

Philippine, Gulf Bank and Steeple Way. These were installed in August 

2020.   

Wayfinding Signs were installed in late 2020 providing consistent signs 

that provide directional assistance for the traveling public. 

LOGO AND FONT CONSISTENCY LACKING 
The Gateways and Wayfinding Master Plan created a consistent logo 

and font to be used in all signs. This has been implemented in the design 

of the new signs.  

Another step in addressing these issues was the design and construction 

of new Gateway and Marquee signage. For budgetary reasons the 

improvements to the gateways became a phased project and were split 

over Fiscal Year 2019 and Fiscal Year 2020. The City Council allocated $1 

million each year, for $2 million total. The types of signs, locations for 

them, and the phase for each listed in Table 7-1.  

Phase 1 of the project was completed in November 2020, and Phase 2 

should be completed in 2021. For more information on the progress of 

the gateway project please visit the City Project Page.  

Landscape Design 
Landscaping is an opportunity to make a bare area look appealing. It is a 

small but simple thing that increases the community character and 

makes a connection between people and a place. When done correctly 

landscape design achieves the added benefit of improving storm water 

management.  

 

Freeway Corridor 
Freeways by their nature are meant to move people as quickly as 

possible from place to another. This condition requires a type of 

landscape that is appropriate for the scale and design speeds along the 

freeway. 

1. Simple, Maintainable Landscape Design - Urban landscapes take a 

lot of environmental abuse and should be native plantings that are 

hardy and easy to maintain. 

2. Buffer Business and Parking Lots - There currently is a lack of 

landscape consistency along the highway 290 corridor specifically at 

local businesses. 

Sign Location Sign Type Project 

North Eldridge Pkwy and US 290 Large Gateway Phase 2 

Philippine and Beltway 8 Large Gateway Phase 2 

Jones Road near FM 529 Large Gateway TBD 

Jones Road south of US 290 Large Gateway TBD 

Jersey Drive at Lakeview near Fire Marquee Sign Phase 1 

Senate Ave and Seattle St Marquee Sign Phase 2 

Philippine Street and Equador Street Marquee Sign Phase 1 

Village Drive and Rio Grande Marquee Sign Phase 1 

Jones Road at Jersey Meadow Marquee Sign Phase 1 

Jones Road near Wyndham Lake Blvd Small Gateway Phase 2 

Senate Ave at US 290 Small Gateway Phase 2 

Jersey Drive at US 290 Small Gateway Phase 1 

Jones Road north of US 290 Small Gateway Phase 2 

Steeple Way and US 290 Small Gateway Phase 2 

West Road and US 290 Small Gateway Phase 2 

Table 7-1. Phasing of Gateway Project   

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

196

https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.projects


 

 

Chapter 7  Page 7-5 

3. Enhance Community Borders - A consistent landscape theme along 

the corridors would help to identify the edges of the city. 

4. Reinforce Community Gateways - Freeway landscaped edges will 

also provide a reinforcement of the gateway entrances into city by 

providing advance notice of a change in landscape design and 

approach. 

Freeway corridor landscaping need not be elaborate and can be 

achieved in a number of ways which could include the following: 

Landscape Ordinance – The City has an ordinance addressing future 

business development and include minimal landscape standards. This 

ordinance should be updated to conform more with the Comprehensive 

Plan and Gateway and Landscape Master Plan. 

Strategic Business Partnerships - Work with local businesses to see 

what can be done to improve the overall landscape character of their 

businesses. 

Capital Improvement Projects - Look to fund future landscape projects 

through city funded revenue sources. 

Grant Funding - There are a number of state and federal grant programs 

that may be available to help fund freeway corridor enhancements 

which could be explored in the future. 

Community Landscape 
Residential streetscape design can help define individual 

neighborhoods, promote safety, and create a transition from public to 

private spaces. The character of a residential streetscape can vary from 

one neighborhood to the next, but should be of a similar quality. Senate 

Avenue is the main corridor within the city and is well maintained and 

recognizable to residents and visitors alike. Figure 7-2. A Small Gateway Sign 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

197



 

 

Chapter 7  Page 7-6 

Future landscape development should build-off the recognizable 

features of this corridor. An integral part of the overall community 

landscape character requires a partnership between the city owned 

properties and the individual residences. Residences must be willing to 

maintain their property’s landscape or must be guided in that direction 

by appropriate levels of code and community enforcement guidelines. 

A successful residential streetscape design should generally include the 

following features: 

SIDEWALKS 
Sidewalks should be separated from automobile traffic by raised curbs 

and/or trees and lawns; they should meet all accessibility standards. 

STREET TREES AND LANDSCAPING  
Street trees and landscaping should provide a natural buffer between 

pedestrians and automobiles. The city should review city-wide 

opportunities for additional landscaping opportunities where they are 

needed. 

STREET FURNITURE  
Street furnishings should be coordinated in design and type with the 

overall character of the neighborhood. 

ENTRY SIGNAGE  
Phase 1 of the entry signage was installed in 2020 and Phase 2 is 

scheduled for 2021. This is coordinated with the unique character of the 

neighborhood through the use of appropriate materials, colors and 

architectural elements. Examples of the Small Gateway can be found in 

Figure 7-2 and the marquee signs in Figure 7-3. 

CONSISTENT MAINTENANCE 
The commitment to long term maintenance of public landscapes is 

critical to the overall landscape character of the city. Figure 7-3 Rendering of Potential Landscape Improvements 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

198



 

 

Chapter 7  Page 7-7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CODE ENFORCEMENT 
The importance of maintaining a minimum level of expectation for 

residences and businesses to maintain their properties to protect the 

overall community character has been an underlining theme of the 

public input process. Code enforcement should not be a punitive 

measure, but a guideline for a public commitment to the overall quality 

of life in Jersey Village. While the city has some codes that require a 

minimum level of maintenance, the City should consider adopting the 

International Property Maintenance Code to aid in the protection and 

promotion of the Community Character.  

PEDESTRIAN MOBILITY 
Many residents have stated that they want a walkable community and 

uninterrupted access to parks, open spaces, and local businesses. While 

the city has invested heavily into public infrastructure in the past ten 

years their appears to be gaps in accessibility. Community connectivity 

as it relates to parks and open spaces is discussed in greater detail in the 

Parks Master Plan. 

Pedestrian mobility would ideally include a comprehensive analysis of 

each community’s existing pedestrian conditions and needs with an 

emphasis on community input throughout the process. The plan would 

identify pedestrian routes to activity centers and infrastructure 

improvement projects along these routes. The Parks Master Plan is a 

key resource and advantage for the City when seeking grant funding 

needed to implement pedestrian projects that promote pedestrian 

safety, walkability, mobility, and neighborhood quality. 

An accessible community should have the following attributes: 

• Community Connectivity - Develop a complete pedestrian network 

that provides direct and convenient connections for neighborhoods, 

employment centers, transit stations, public places and community 

destinations. 

• Park and Open Space Connectivity - Multi-modal transportation 

opportunities along existing streets and/or open space corridors 

within the city are opportunities that can be explored. 

• Walkability - Create pedestrian facilities that offer amenities to 

encourage usage and to enhance the pedestrian experience. 

• Safety - The creation a safe pedestrian network free of barriers and 

tripping hazards, that has sufficient street crossings, buffer 

pedestrians from vehicles and has facilities wide enough to 

accommodate peak pedestrian use 

• Accessibility - Make facilities accessible to pedestrians of all abilities 

and meet all local, state and federal requirements. 

Figure 7-4. Marquee Sign on Jersey Drive at the Fire Station. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

199



 

 

Chapter 7  Page 7-8 

Wayfinding Signage 
The goal of Wayfinding Signage, both regulatory and non-regulatory, 

has the potential to impact the greatest number of people over the 

entire city. When implemented at major intersections and city 

‘Gateways’, wayfinding signage are a highly visible design element to 

project a collective, positive image of the community. Figure 7-5 shows 

the updated wayfinding and building identifier signage. The goal of the 

wayfinding signage system is to reinforce the city’s “sense of place” as 

previously discussed, by informing and guiding users as they travel 

throughout the city, enhancing the city’s visual appeal and identity, and 

ultimately making the city more memorable to residents and visitors. 

 

OBJECTIVES OF WAYFINDING SIGNAGE 
• Celebrate the unique character of the city. 

• Reinforce the city’s ‘Sense of Place’. 

• Reinforce the boundaries of the city. 

• Identify and increase awareness of important activity or destination 
points within the city. 

• Improve the streetscape character for the city’s corridors. 

• Identify and reinforce linkages and pathways between the different 
parks and open spaces within and out of the city. 

• Effective, low cost design that can be easily implementable on a city-
wide basis. 

EXISTING CITY SIGNAGE 
The 2016 Comprehensive Plan found the city did not have a 

comprehensive signage program that is unique to Jersey Village. The city 

has a definable logo and brand that has been used for some time and it 

appears that the majority of residents identify with the logo.  

To improve this issue the city undertook the Gateways and Wayfinding 

Master Plan. This created a plan that incorporates a common theme and 

laid the groundwork for the update to existing city signs that have 

already been completed. Examples of the updated signage are pictured 

in Figure 7-5.  

ONLINE ACCESSIBILITY 
In the 21st Century having a robust online presence is also important for 

wayfinding. In addition to traditional signage the City uses a Mobile App, 

interactive maps on its website and a presence on multiple social media 

platforms. To help further the accessibility there is included as an 

appendix to this Comprehensive Plan a list of websites with links that 

are useful for Jersey Village resources.  

Figure 7-5. 

Updated street signs 

(top left), building 

identifier signs (top 

right), and directional 

signs ( bottom left).  

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

200



 

 

Chapter 7  Page 7-9 

COMMUNITY CHARACTER IMPORTANCE 
A common refrain during the planning process in 2016 was that the 

residents of Jersey Village are proud of their community and want to 

strengthen the perception of the neighborhood. The 2020 Update 

Committee did a survey of residents and over 60% responded that they 

choose to live in Jersey Village in part because of the Community 

Character. Approximately 93% of respondents of the survey Agreed or 

Strongly Agreed that the City should protect the quality and increase 

existing character of residential neighborhoods.  

The following are just a few of the many comments from the public 

outreach conducted as part of 2020 Update relating to Community 

Character : 

 “Encourage housing and property maintenance to maintain 

neighborhood integrity. “ 

“Carefully and consistently enforce all ordinances relating to property 

maintenance.” 

“First impression, lasting impression.” 

“The appearance of the neighborhood hinges on the appearance of the 

homes.” 

Community Character Recommendations 
The following are action items related to community character based on 

input throughout the planning process. 

GOAL 1. HIGHLIGHT THE CITY’S IMAGE AS A SPECIAL 
COMMUNITY BY ENHANCING THE VISUAL CHARACTER OF 
THE CITY’S COMMERCIAL AREAS AND COMMUNITY 
ENTRANCES. 

STRATEGIES 
Improve the City’s entrances with landscaping and monumentation. 

• Complete Phase 2 of the Gateway and Marquee Sign Project. 

• Improve the landscape character of commercial business properties. 

• Create landscape ordinance that requires new properties, and major 
renovation projects to be landscaped to a minimum standard for 
areas adjacent to public rights-of- way. 

• Create commercial development guidelines to encourage new 
development to build to minimum landscape standards. 

• Create signage ordinance for local businesses that is consistent with 
the overall signage master plan. 

• Coordinate with local businesses to encourage a uniform sign design 
standard. 

• Explore strategic public/private partnerships with local businesses to 
encourage beautification efforts of their properties. 

• Sponsor a beautification award for businesses to encourage 
landscape development of their properties. 

• Review code enforcement procedures for their effectiveness, and 
make necessary changes. 

Reduce visual clutter. 

• Prepare a visual assessment survey of City corridors to identify 
problem areas that negatively impact community character. 

• Create architectural design guidelines to encourage minimum design 
standards. 

• Remove overhead power lines as new infrastructure projects are 
implemented. 

• Reduce the number of billboards that are in the City. 

 Improve the character of corridor character throughout the 

community. 

• Review and improve landscape maintenance procedures for City 
crews. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

201



 

 

Chapter 7  Page 7-10 

• Partner with Trees for Houston or other organizations that can 
provide assistance in planting trees. 

• Create a more stringent tree preservation ordinance to protect 
existing tree resources. 

• Promote increase canopy along streets, parks, and open spaces. 

• Expand thematic street light standards to all City streets. 

GOAL 3. PROTECT THE QUALITY AND INCREASE EXISTING 
CHARACTER OF RESIDENTIAL NEIGHBORHOODS. 
STRATEGIES 
Encourage housing and property maintenance to maintain 

neighborhood integrity. 

• Develop a recognition/reward program to encourage homeowners 
to enhance or maintain their properties through lawn maintenance, 
and exterior upgrades and upkeep. 

• Provide and coordinate programs to prevent the deterioration of 
homes. 

• Educate citizens on code enforcement requirements. Information 
shared could be related to general types of violations, clearance 
rates, average time to contact, etc. 

• Develop an annual or semi-annual neighborhood clean up to 
promote community pride. 

 Enhance existing neighborhood infrastructure when possible. 

• Institute an annual program for assessing quality and useful life of 
neighborhood amenities, and allocate funds for replacement, 
additions, or remodels as needed. 

GOAL 7. INVEST IN INFRASTRUCTURE, ACTIVITIES, AND 
OPPORTUNITIES THAT WILL REVITALIZE THE HIGHWAY 
290 CORRIDOR TO MAXIMIZE ITS VISUAL APPEAL, SENSE 
OF PLACE, AND ECONOMIC VALUE.  

STRATEGIES 
Create a sense of place and maximize the visual appeal of the Highway 

290 corridor. 

Partner with local property owners and CenterPoint Energy to identify 

back-of-lot utility easements to provide options for removing 

overhead lines from the 290 frontage. 

GOAL 8. PROVIDE AND ENHANCE COMMUNITY ACCESS 
TO COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND POINTS OF INTEREST 
THROUGHOUT THE CITY.  
STRATEGIES 
Create a consistent, identifiable signage design throughout the city. 

• Develop commercial signage guidelines to encourage existing 
business to follow as well as control future commercial development 
application. 

GOAL 9. PROMOTE INFILL AND REDEVELOPMENT OF 
VACANT OR UNDERUTILIZED PARCELS.  
Promote the highest and best use for vacant or underutilized 

properties. 

• Ensure property and building maintenance codes are up to date and 
compatible with current City values. 

Revitalize areas of opportunities to attract new investment and 

activity. 

• Promote aesthetically pleasing designs for retail and commercial 
land uses that are located at major intersections as destinations in 
their own right, but also as corridor framing uses. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

202



 

 

Chapter 8  Page 8-1 

Introduction 
During the 2016 Comprehensive Planning process, the planning team 

conducted thorough facility assessments to identify deficient areas 

among the City’s primary buildings. The buildings evaluated were: 

• Civic Center/City Hall 

• Police Station 

• Fire Station 

• Golf Course 

• City Garage/Shop 

These buildings each had unique issues, though many of the buildings 

are experiencing the same issues to varying degrees. The 2020 CPUC did 

not tour the buildings, but relied on city staff to provide them with an 

update to this chapter. The CPUC also included additional buildings 

within the Parks and Recreation department and the Water and 

Wastewater facilities.  

Summary of Findings 
FIRE STATION 
Originally built in 1979 and remodeled/added onto in 2003 and 2008, 

the Fire Station has served many different purposes over the years. 

Prior to 2003 the Fire Station building served as City Hall. In 2003 it was 

remodeled to better suit the needs of the Fire Department as the City 

Hall functions were moved to a different location.   

The 2016 Comprehensive Plan found the building to be in fair condition. 

It noted several issues and recommended the following maintenance 

and repairs: 

• Multiple windows throughout the building were poorly sealed and 
showed signs of water infiltration into the structure. 

• Temperature control in offices are an issue for staff. 

• A water heater and water pump both leak water onto the ceiling. 

• Heavy Condensation from the HVAC system created water spots on 
ceiling tile, and drain into the building at various locations. 

• Positive drainage in the apparatus bays is an issue. Standing water 
was noted. 

• Downspouts from gutter drain to flat area at base of building 
creating standing water. 

• The paint on the floors and walls of the apparatus bays of the 
building are delaminating. 

• Upstairs, a lounge area showed evidence of significant, regular 
water infiltration, perhaps from a standing seam in the roof of the 
building. This water is infiltrating through and around light fixtures. 

• An area between the roof of the older section of the building and 
the newer section of the building has trapped water and is not 
draining properly. 

• CMU coatings at the apparatus bay are delaminating. Appears the 

Community Facilities        8 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

203



 

 

Chapter 8  Page 8-2 

delamination was caused by efflorescence. 

• The building will eventually need to be expanded when it hits the 
lack of storage and is at capacity limits. 

Since the 2016 Comprehensive Plan, the City has taken a proactive 

approach at fixing and maintaining the Fire Station. The windows have 

been properly sealed to prevent water infiltration. Temperature control 

issues have been corrected with updated heating and cooling units. The 

apparatus bays have been repainted, and water leaks in the roof have 

been fixed.  

The Dayroom and Kitchen for Fire Fighters recently completed a 

remodel in the fall of 2020. Much of this work was done by the Fire 

Department staff which saved several thousands of dollars in costs. 

With more full-time staff being added to the Fire Department, these 

living and sleeping quarters will become more important to be 

maintained. The Fire Department employees, including full time, part 

time and volunteer fire fighters take great pride in this building. They 

are eager to use their talents and skills to make improvements to the 

building at great savings to the city. 

At some point in the future the building may need to be expanded, 
however that is not anticipated within the next 5-10 years.  

GOLF COURSE – CLUB HOUSE 
Originally built in 1974, with a small addition added in 1987, the golf 

course club house was a lightweight construction that has outlived its 

useful life. The 2016 Comprehensive Plan found the Club House to be 

in poor condition and suggested that replacement may be warranted. 

Some of the issues found include: 

• The canopy around the building is deteriorating and falling. 

• Downspouts empty onto sidewalk covered by the canopy. 

• Soil has built up around the exterior walls in several areas. This has 

led to exterior corrosion of the structure. 

• Window units around the building are poorly sealed. 

• Security camera wiring is exposed and accessible. 

• On the interior, the A/C is ineffective and must be supplemented 
with several fans throughout the building. 

• The A/C unit seems to be leaking condensation onto the ceiling, 
creating a potential for mold in various areas in the building. 

• The ceiling tiles are sagging and cracking in several areas. 

• Ceiling tiles show water stains from potential roof leaks. 

In 2017 the City Council authorized an assessment of the current Club 

House to completed by Ray+Hollington Architects Inc. Their assessment 

found the original construction was not of high quality. The lightweight 

construction coupled with a lack of thermal protection over time has 

resulted in numerous leaks, water infiltration and damage. 

The assessment gave a cost estimate of $757,500 to fix the building and 

bring it into code compliance and redesign the entire interior of the club 

Figure 8-1. The Canopy around the Golf Course Club House. You can see 

the deterioration and damage that has happened due to weathering.  

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

204



 

 

Chapter 8  Page 8-3 

house. Based on this the City Council decided it was better to replace 

the building and create a convention center with it in order to utilize 

Hotel Occupancy Tax Funds.  

The architect firm PGAL was selected to design a new club house. The 
new building was designed to be a two-story club house with a total of 
12,500 square feet. The building could hold conventions and large golf 
tournaments. However, when bids came back at $5 million, 
approximately double what was anticipated, the City Council decided to 
hold off on the project until other city projects were completed.  
 
The City has undertaken some economic fixes to some of the issues 
found in the 2016 Comprehensive Plan. However replacement of the 
Club House should remain a priority to be considered after the other 
projects are completed.  

GOLF COURSE – CART BARN 
The 2016 Comprehensive Plan found the Golf Course Cart Barn to be in 

poor condition, and recommended replacement. Some of the issues 

found include: 

• Structural members show signs of corrosion and failure. 

• There are no gutters or an overhang around the structure. 

• Electrical systems do not function properly. There is exposed wiring 
adjacent to water sources. 

• Soil has built-up around multiple areas at the base of the building 
which is causing corrosion of the structure. 

• Tree vegetation has overgrown into the building power source. 

• Overhead storage is poorly connected to structure, sometimes with 
wires, sometimes tack welded. 

Overall, the Golf Course Cart Barn will need to be replaced in the near 

future. The electrical system for the building is not only outdated, but is 

currently ineffective and exposed to water sources within the building. 

Structural components of the building show signs of corrosion and have 

had overhead storage shelves welded onto them. It is unclear if the 

loads carried by these shelves was something that was considered when 

the structure was designed. The cost of repairing all of these issues is 

significant and likely would not lead to an increase in lifespan 

proportionate to the cost of repair. 

While some issues that were cost effective have been addressed, this 

building should be replaced after a new club house is built so the look 

Figure 8-2. Above: Vegetation around Cart Barn power source. Below 

the structural members of the roof are showing major corrosion.  

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

205



 

 

Chapter 8  Page 8-4 

and feel of the new buildings can be maintained. 

GOLF COURSE – MAINTENANCE BUILDING 
The Golf Course Maintenance Building was found to be in fair condition. 

There are multiple issues affecting the functionality of the building and 

related areas.  

Some of those issues found include: 

• Power supply inadequate for demand, breaker is tripped often trying 
to keep up with demand. 

• Hot water is not consistently available in the building. 

• Insulation in the shop area is falling off the roof. 

• Overall lack of storage for equipment. 

• Overall lack of storage for materials. 

• Parking inadequate for workforce. 

• Storage of hydraulic oil and chemicals outside of the shop area has 
caused respective containers to corrode. 

• Gutters are clogged and ineffective, downspouts empty onto 
building foundation. 

• Vegetation around the site is coming into contact with the shop 
building and in some cases penetrating the building. 

• Septic System is in disrepair. There are signs of raw sewage on 
ground adjacent to septic system. 

• Water faucets leak. 

It is concluded that the Golf Course Maintenance Building requires a 

moderate number of minor repairs and a moderate amount of 

immediate maintenance. The most serious issue facing the building is 

the electrical system; the current electrical system is ineffective and 

needs replacement or repair. It is likely that this system is inadequate 

for the needs of the building as currently configured. In addition, 

maintenance in the shop area (to address the insulation and partitions 

for the offices, bathroom, storage, etc.) and outside of the shop area 

(vegetation overgrowth, clogged gutters, storage of materials and 

equipment in adjacent area, etc.) should adequately address the 

remaining issues in the short-term. Regular maintenance of the building 

will help to ensure that the building stays in an acceptable condition. 

Expansion of the facilities is not necessary, but would be helpful in 

storing equipment and materials in order to better maintain their 

respective conditions. 

While several of the issues found in the 2016 Comprehensive Plan that 
were easy to fix have been addressed, there are still many that exist. If 
the Golf Course Maintenance Facility is replaced or expanded 
consideration should be given to elevating the building, or moving the 
building, out of the flood plain. Consideration should also be considered 
for creating enough space to house the equipment used by the Parks 
and Recreation Department, so it is kept on this side of US 290 where it 
is utilized the most.  

POLICE STATION 
The Police station was originally built in 1995 and added onto in 2010. 

The 2016 Comprehensive Plan found the building to be in good 

condition. It noted several issues and recommended the following 

maintenance and repairs:  

• Cracking in walls and around windows was noted in most rooms on 
the west side of the building 

• The evidence room lacked proper ventilation and staff noted fumes 
from collected evidence 

• A mechanical room routinely leaked water into a hallway. Clogged 
drain was the apparent cause of the overflow. 

• The ceilings at the showers in the Men’s Locker Room showed signs 
of water damage due to high humidity and steam during use. 

• The current kitchen/lounge was not functional 

• Sealant around doors and windows on the exterior at the south 
elevation of the building were damaged and unserviceable. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

206



 

 

Chapter 8  Page 8-5 

• Downspouts on the north side of the building emptied onto the 
foundation 

After evaluation, it was found that the Police Station needs only very 

minor repairs and maintenance. Further inspection of the foundation is 

warranted based on observed indications of settling. Ventilation for the 

evidence room and locker rooms should be installed. One-time and 

(thereafter) regular maintenance should address the remaining issues 

listed above. If the building is renovated in the future, expansion of the 

kitchen/breakroom should be considered based on user comments and 

inspection. 

Since the 2016 Comprehensive Plan several of these items have been 

addressed. However, the Police Department Evidence Room should be 

expanded at some point in the next 5-10 years. The remodel should 

focus on improving the ventilation system in the room and include a 

separate office space for the evidence technician. The built in area to 

lock weapons should also be included.  

CITY HALL 
The area that currently serves as administration and offices for City Hall 

was originally built between 1961-1963 as a church. In 1991 the church 

added on and built a new sanctuary. The City purchased the building 

from the Church of Christ in Jersey Village in June 1999. Today the 1991 

sanctuary is the Civic Center and City Council Chambers. The 2016 

Comprehensive Plan found City Hall to be in poor condition. A few of 

the key issues they found include:  

Electrical: 

• Exposed wiring for lighting, outlets, and boxes observed throughout 
the building. 

• Various fixtures are broken and/or mismatched, various outlets are 
exposed. 

• Shorts in the 
wiring were 
noted; an 
“Exit” sign 
would flicker 
when an 
adjacent 
door was 
closed. 

 

Plumbing: 

• Urinal lines 
in Men’s 
Bathroom 
(multiple) 
are backed 
up. 

 

Water Damage: 

• Water stains 
observed on 
the ceiling 
throughout 
building. 

• Most rooms 
in the building employed 5-gallon buckets to catch water during 
rainfall events. 

• Drywall and paint were peeling from the ceiling throughout the 
building due to water damage. 

• Paint and brick faces were damaged (eroding) due to the 
condensate lines from the HVAC system. 

• Holes in the exterior walls of the building allow free passage of 
water into the building. 

Figure 8-3. Exposed wiring in City Hall DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

207



 

 

Chapter 8  Page 8-6 

• Metal doors were corroding, light could be seen through the holes. 

• High potential for formation of mold because of standing water in 
ceiling and walls. Observed black residue adjacent HVAC vents and 
on ceiling tiles. 

 

Structural Issues: 

• Walls were cracking throughout the building. 

• Structural cracks were observed throughout the building. 

• Various doors were not functioning properly due to potential 
foundation and structural issues. 

 

The 2016 Comprehensive Plan recommend that City Hall should be 

replaced. The severity and extent of water penetration throughout the 

building, and the potential it creates for the growth of mold within the 

building, is highly concerning. The electrical system within the building is 

highly exposed and likely to be affected by water intrusion. 

Furthermore, the electrical system itself is both unattractive and 

ineffective—it is often plagued by numerous shorts, both witnessed and 

reported by users. Finishes, fixtures, doors, windows, etc. are often 

broken, in disrepair, or show wear beyond what can be addressed 

through simple repairs. The basic functionality of the space is poor; it is 

clear that the City Hall buildings are being used outside their original 

conceived purpose. Circulation around the buildings is confusing and 

not at all intuitive, offices are configured poorly, and storage space is 

inadequate. Based on the cost and nature of the repairs, maintenance, 

replacement, etc. that would be necessary to make the building 

functional again, it is recommended that the entire building be replaced 

in the immediate future. 

Until the building can be replaced the City should make improvements 

that are suitable, comfortable, and palatable. The City should not 

overspend to make these improvements, but should improve conditions 

until the building can be replaced. 

In 2019 the City hired Collaborate Architects to design a new City Hall 

that would be located in the new Village Center Development. The 

building is fully designed and is ready for construction to begin when 

construction on the other pieces of the development begin.  

The new building was designed with staff and residents in mind. The 

building will have all of the services citizens use on a regular basis on the 

first floor, with other functions on the second floor. By working with the 

developer of Village Center for the design and construction of City Hall 

the city is utilizing the economies of scale to provide cost savings.  

The current City Hall should be demolished, with the possible exception 
of the current Civic Center. That area should be studied to see if a 
repurposing of it is feasible. The property should be retained by the city 
and utilized for green space, a park or other recreational opportunities. 
If future expansion of the Police or Fire Station is necessary, this land 
could be utilized for the growth.  

CITY MAINTENANCE STAFF BUILDINGS 
The 2016 Comprehensive Plan found the City Maintenance Staff 

Buildings, which housed the Public Works and Parks and Recreation 

maintenance departments, to be in good condition. There are a few 

minor issues that affect the functionality of the buildings and adjacent 

area. The major issues are listed below: 

• Municipal staff noted that the site retains up to 1 foot of water 
during rain events. Adequate site drainage is needed to alleviate this 
issue. 

• Power surges occur during light to moderate rain events. 

• Plumbing does not function as intended. Port-a-potties are used as 
the septic system does not function during or after rain.  

• The building is too small for the needs of the department. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

208



 

 

Chapter 8  Page 8-7 

Mechanics must do work outside in the elements. There is no office 
space for any administrative type of work.  

• Parking does not appear to drain properly. 

After evaluating options to fix plumbing and drainage issues, the City 

Council determined it in the best interest of the City to purchase a new 

building just down the road from the current one for these 

departments. The new building was purchased in 2018. The new 

building allows for the city mechanics to work on all city vehicles inside, 

whereas the old building required most vehicle maintenance, especially 

on large apparatus, to be done outside.  

The old buildings and property are still owned and maintained by the 

city. The buildings house city equipment that is not needed on a daily 

basis, and also provides easier access to Parks and Recreation 

equipment. The property should be retained by the City for possible 

future needs, which could include another water treatment facility 

when the ETJ is annexed into the city.  

PARKS AND RECREATION  
There is a desire to renovate the pool house and pump room in the 

future that will improve the standard both aesthetically and in regards 

to operations. The City should expand the guard room/entrance booth 

to allow for additional space for guards, managers and cashiers. This 

new space would be taken from the storage area directly behind it. This 

would allow for window fans and/or air conditioning units to help 

circulate the air during the hot summer months.  

In addition, it should be investigated to relocate the restroom entrance 

to the east side of the building to ensure that the main corridor is only 

used for entering and exiting the pool area. This will provide for better 

operational security, limit crowds, and ensure children enter and exit 

the bathroom area from a more central location separate from the pool 

exit. The fixtures in the restrooms are also in need of replacement.  

For the pool pump room, the floorplan should be altered to allow for 

additional chemical storage that is separate from the pool pumps. 

Creation of a more discrete chemical storage area that is better 

ventilated to reduce the spread of un-desirable odors is strongly 

preferred.  

Another opportunity that should be considered is the solicitation of an 

artist to paint a themed mural on the pump room to provide for a more 

aesthetic experience for our pool users moving forward.  

Overall the pavilion and associated restrooms, concession stand, and 

storage area are in good condition. The city should evaluate the 

installation of basketball goals that could be raised/lowered when 

necessary and also allow for other uses of the facility as warranted.  

WATER AND WASTEWATER TREATMENT FACILITIES 
While not often thought of when discussing community facilities, water 

and wastewater facilities are critical structures in our community. While 

the Comprehensive Plan Update Committee did not tour these sites, 

they are worth noting in this plan.  

 Figure 8-4. Village Drive Water Plant 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

209



 

 

Chapter 8  Page 8-8 

The water and wastewater facilities are inspected on a regular basis to 

ensure compliance with the Texas Commission on Environmental 

Quality (TCEQ) Standards and the higher standards the city imposes on 

itself. Those inspections dictate the majority of what needs to be done, 

and those inspection reports can be viewed for those 

recommendations. While the CPUC does not make specific 

recommendations on the more technical aspects of the facilities, there 

are some areas that should be considered for future upgrades.  

The pump house on Seattle Street could be redone to have the 

appearance of a single family home. This would allow the property to 

blend in more seamlessly with the neighborhood.  

The City should also consider working with an artist to utilize the ground 

storage tanks as potential pieces of art to help improve the character of 

the community. By incorporating art into these otherwise bland looking 

areas, it can help set Jersey Village apart from other communities.  

The City should also consider repainting the elevated storage tanks and 

incorporating the new branding standards and logo into them. These 

can serve as billboards for the city and advertise to the people that pass 

through Jersey Village on US 290 and Beltway 8 on a daily basis.  

 

 

 

 

 

Community Facilities Recommendations 
The following action items help address issues related to public facilities 

discovered through community input, CPUC meetings, and the 2016 

Comprehensive Plan. 

GOAL 6. PROVIDE PUBLIC FACILITIES TO MAINTAIN 
COMMUNITY SAFETY, AND SERVE EXISTING AND NEW 
DEVELOPMENT IN AN EFFICIENT AND COST EFFECTIVE 
MANNER. 
STRATEGIES 
Maintain, replace, or improve the quality of city-owned structures. 

• The golf course Club House should be replaced with a Club House 
that can serve to maximize the potential of the golf course.  

• Replace the golf course Cart Barn. 

• Perform minor repairs and maintenance on the golf course 
maintenance building. 

• Add public facilities to be constructed or renovated to the annual 
update of the capital improvements program in order to plan for 
future availability of funding. 

• Update and maintain existing public facilities to maximize 
usefulness, before constructing newer facilities. 

Provide the necessary and appropriate technology, buildings, 

equipment and people for delivery of quality services now and in the 

future. 

• Continually follow and update the long-term maintenance program 
to ensure adequate maintenance of existing and proposed facilities. 

• Utilize tools such as value engineering (as applicable) to develop the 
most cost-effective facilities. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

210

https://www.tceq.texas.gov/waterquality/standards
https://www.tceq.texas.gov/waterquality/standards


 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-1 

Overview 
This final section of the Comprehensive Plan describes specific ways in 

which Jersey Village can take the recommendations within this Plan 

from vision to reality. 

The importance of city planning can never be overstated — planning 

provides for the protection of private property and ensures future 

development occurs in a coordinated and organized fashion. The future 

of Jersey Village will be shaped with the policies and recommendations 

developed in this Plan. Based on this Plan, decisions will be made that 

will influence many aspects of the City’s built and social environments. 

Jersey Village has taken an important leadership role in defining its 

future with the adoption of this Plan. The Plan will provide a very 

important tool for City staff and civic leaders to use in making sound 

planning decisions regarding the long-term growth, development, and 

redevelopment of Jersey Village. The future quality of life in Jersey 

Village will be substantially influenced by the manner in which 

Comprehensive Plan recommendations are administered and 

maintained. 

Planning for the City’s future should be a continuous process, and this 

Plan is designed to be a tool that can be modified and periodically 

updated to keep it in tune with changing conditions and trends. Plan 

policies and recommendations may be put into effect through adopted 

development regulations, such as zoning and subdivision, and through 

capital improvement programs. Many recommendations within the Plan 

can be implemented through simple refinement of existing City 

regulations or processes, while others may require the establishment of 

new regulations, programs, or processes. There are also 

recommendations that will involve community involvement. 

Sustainment of Core Activities 
By its very nature, comprehensive planning is prospective in scope and 

focus. In the course of developing the Comprehensive Plan for the City 

of Jersey Village, it would be easy to overlook ongoing operations of the 

community. As part of the community survey, residents expressed a 

strong desire to maintain certain aspects of city operations that 

residents regard as centers of excellence. Expanding on this thought, 

during the 2016 Comprehensive Plan members of City Council created 

the following Sustainment Goals and incorporated these goals as an 

integral component of the Comprehensive Plan. 

It is the desire of City Council that the Sustainment Goals serve to 

inform future City Councils of municipal priorities. It continues to be the 

desire of the council that the operations and programs associated with 

Implementation Plan           9 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

211



 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-2 

the Sustainment Goals not be compromised by future actions. It is the 

belief of council that the goals represent those aspects of city 

operations that make Jersey Village unique among Texas communities. 

It is why people chose to live and raise their families in Jersey Village. 

 A degradation or compromise of any one of the Sustainment Goals will 

have a material impact on the quality of life within the community. 

MAINTAIN EXCELLENCE IN ALL POLICE AND FIRE 
OPERATIONS 
The city currently maintains an ISO (Insurance Service Organization) 

rating of 2. Going forward, the city shall take all reasonable measures to 

maintain this rating. The city has adopted a Crime Control and 

Prevention District (CCPD). Continuation of this program is critical to the 

effective operation of the Police Department. The city funds Public 

Safety vehicle replacements through the CCPD and the vehicle and 

technology replacement funds. The city shall strongly resist efforts to 

use vehicle and technology replacement funds for activities not related 

to their intended purpose. 

CONTINUE INFRASTRUCTURE REPLACEMENT AND 
RENEWAL EFFORTS 
The City takes a proactive approach to inspect the sewer infrastructure 

to ensure it is in good working condition and minor repairs can be made 

before major work is completed. Additionally the City has an aggressive 

10 year Capital Improvement Program for street rehabilitation projects, 

including water lines, storm sewers, and sidewalks, that should continue 

to be implemented. 

RECRUIT AND RETAIN COMPETENT STAFF 
City operations begin and end with competent staff members. Rapid 

turnover among the employee base leads to lower morale, incurs a 

significant financial cost and reduces the quality of service provided to 

residents. The city shall strive to pay a competitive and fair wage rate in 

order to attract and retain knowledgeable staff. City leadership shall 

encourage employees to learn and grow in their positions through 

training and meaningful performance evaluations. 

MAINTAIN THE CITY’S AA+ BOND RATING  
The city maintains a bond rating that sets it apart from its peers. The 

city’s bond rating reflects a commitment on the part of elected and 

appointed officials to exercise sound financial stewardship of city 

resources. The city shall maintain adequate financial reserves to 

maintain its bond rating. In addition, the city shall periodically review 

financial policies and adjust policies where required to maintain a AA+ 

rating. 

PROMOTE THE LONG-TERM FINANCIAL STABILITY OF THE 
CITY 
We live within our means. City leadership shall place an emphasis on 

making long-term decisions that result in a betterment of the city’s 

financial condition. We shall avoid a short-term, quick-fix mentality that 

characterizes a preponderance of state and local governments. The city 

shall regularly engage in long-term, strategic planning to identify 

problems and challenges. 

 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

212



 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-3 

ENSURE THE CITY PRESERVES ITS FAMILY-FRIENDLY 
CHARACTERISTICS 
Jersey Village is a tight-knit community. A large number of families 

are second and third-generation families. In many circumstances, 

homes are passed down between generations. The city is increasingly 

becoming a destination community for young families. In addition to 

a comparatively low crime rate, the city sponsors numerous 

recreation activities that are attractive to families. The city shall 

continue to conduct these events, and, where appropriate, look for 

opportunities to expand its recreation opportunities. 

Implementation Responsibility 
Perhaps the most important method of implementing the 

Comprehensive Plan comes in the day-to-day commitment by elected 

and appointed officials, staff, and citizens. The Comprehensive Plan 

must be understood as a useful and capable tool to direct the City’s 

future. The Plan in its entirety along with individual components such 

as the Future Land Use Plan should be available for reference by 

officials, staff, and citizens. The Comprehensive Plan should 

continually be referenced in planning studies and zoning case reports 

as well as informal discussion situations. High visibility will make the 

Plan successful, dynamic, and a powerful tool for guiding Jersey 

Village’s future growth. 

The responsibilities for actually initiating and monitoring the goals, 

strategies and actions of the Comprehensive Plan are multi-tiered: 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL  
The City Council will: 

• Establish overall action priorities and timeframes by which the 

strategic recommendations will be initiated and completed. 

• Appropriate funds, consider and set the funding commitments for 

this plan’s implementation measures. 

• Offer final approval of projects/activities and associated costs 

during the budget process. 

• Provide policy direction to the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and City staff. 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
The Planning and Zoning Commission will: 

• Recommend to City staff an annual program of actions to be 

implemented, including guidance as to timeframes and priorities. 

• Prepare an Annual Progress Report for submittal and presentation 

to the City Council (see Annual Review Process later in this 

chapter for more detail). 

• Ensure decisions and recommendations presented to the City 

Council are consistent with this plan’s policies, strategies, and 

recommendations. 

• Help to ensure the plan is considered in the decisions and actions 

of other entities. 

• Amend, extend, or add plan revisions as necessary and 

appropriate. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

213



 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-4 

CITY STAFF 
City Staff should take the lead in the following general areas: 

• Managing day-to-day action items relating to plan implementation, 

including coordination with and solicitation of community partners. 

• Supporting and carrying out a Capital Improvements Plan (CIP). 

• Managing the drafting of new or amended land development 

regulations in partnership with the appropriate boards and 

commissions. 

• Conducting studies and developing additional plans (including 

management of consultant efforts, as necessary). 

• Negotiating the specifics of development agreements. 

• Administering collaborative programs and ensuring open channels of 

communication with various private, public, and non-profit 

implementation partners. 

• Providing briefings on plan implementation progress and activities to 

the Planning and Zoning Commission no less than once annually. 

• Maintaining an inventory of potential plan amendments, as 

suggested by City staff and others, for consideration during annual 

and periodic plan review and update processes. 

 

 

City Council 

As the director of plan implementation, the key responsibilities 

of the City Council are to decide and establish priorities, set 

timeframes by which each action will be initiated and 

completed, and determine the budget to be made available for 

implementation efforts. 

Planning and Zoning Commission 

The Planning and Zoning Commission makes 

recommendations to the City Council based on 

principles laid out in the Plan. The Commission 

should prepare an Annual Progress Report to 

ensure plan relevance. 

City Staff 

City staff manages the everyday 

implementation of the plan. 

Particularly, City staff is responsible for 

supporting the Planning and Zoning 

Commission and City Council. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

214



 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-5 

Coordination and Partnerships 
Increasingly, jurisdictions are acknowledging that issues are regional, 

rather than local, in nature. Watersheds and other ecosystems, 

economic conditions, land use, transportation patterns, housing, and 

the effects of growth and change are issues that cross municipal 

boundaries, impacting not only the City, but also neighboring 

municipalities, unincorporated places, Harris County, and surrounding 

counties in the Houston-Galveston region. As a result, the economic 

health of Jersey Village is partly reliant upon its various regional 

neighbors. 

Given Jersey Village’s relatively small size, some initiatives or community 

needs identified in this Comprehensive Plan cannot be accomplished by 

the City on its own. They may require direct coordination, 

intergovernmental agreements, or funding support from other public 

entities or levels of government. Additionally, the ability of potential 

private and non-profit partners to advance the community’s action 

agenda should not be underestimated. This may occur through 

cooperative efforts, volunteer activities and in-kind services (which can 

count toward the local match requirements for various grant 

opportunities), and public/private financing of community 

improvements. 

Proactive and Reactive Implementation 
There are two primary methods of plan implementation: proactive and 

reactive methods. To successfully implement the plan and fully realize 

its benefits, both methods must be used in an effective manner. Both 

proactive and reactive actions that could be used by Jersey Village are 

described within this Implementation Chapter. 

Examples of proactive methods include: 

• Developing a capital improvements program (CIP), by which the City 
expends funds to finance public improvements to meet strategies 
cited within the Plan; 

• Updating zoning regulations; and 

• Updating subdivision regulations. 
 
Examples of reactive methods include: 

• Approving a rezoning application submitted by a property owner 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan; 

• Site plan review; and 

• Subdivision review. 

Education and Training 
A necessary first step is to make sure each group, Planning and Zoning 

Commission, City Council, and key staff members, all know their role 

and the role each other have in the plan implementation. These are the 

groups who, individually and collectively, will be responsible for 

implementation. The importance of their collaboration, coordination, 

and communication cannot be overstated. The education initiative 

should include: 

• Discussion of the roles and responsibilities of each individual entity, 
and its function as to plan implementation. 

• A thorough overview of the entire plan, with particular emphasis on 
the segments that most directly relate to their charge. 

• Implementation tasking and priority-setting, allowing each group to 
establish their own one-, two-, and five-year agendas, in 
coordination with the strategic agenda of the City. 

• A concluding question-and-answer session. 

 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

215



 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-6 

Roles of the Comprehensive Plan 

GUIDE FOR DAILY DECISION-MAKING 
The current physical layout of the City is a product of previous efforts 

put forth by many diverse individuals and groups. In the future, each 

new development that takes place, whether a subdivision that is 

platted, a home that is built, or a new school, church or shopping center 

that is constructed, represents an addition to Jersey Village’s physical 

form. The composite of all such efforts and facilities creates the City as it 

is seen and experienced by its citizens and visitors. If planning is to be 

effective, it must guide each and every individual development decision. 

The City, in its daily decisions pertaining to whether to surface a street, 

to approve a residential plat, to amend a zoning ordinance provision, to 

enforce the building codes, or to construct a new utility line, should 

always refer to the basic proposals outlined within the Comprehensive 

Plan. The private builder or investor, likewise, should recognize the 

broad concepts and policies of the Plan so that their efforts become part 

of a meaningful whole in planning the City. 

FLEXIBLE AND ALTERABLE GUIDE 
This Comprehensive Plan is intended to be a dynamic planning 

document for Jersey Village—one that responds to changing needs and 

conditions. Plan amendments should not be made without thorough 

analysis of immediate needs, as well as consideration for long-term 

effects of proposed amendments. The City Council and other Jersey 

Village officials should consider each proposed amendment carefully to 

determine whether it is consistent with the Plan’s goals and policies, 

and whether it will be beneficial for the long-term health and vitality of 

Jersey Village. In addition, flexibility is paramount for the city. As 

opportunities arise, the City must have the ability to adjust focus or 

change direction to capitalize on existing opportunities. While 

implementation strategies must remain in line with the overall goal and 

vision of the Plan, the need to recalibrate is also an important 

component of a successful implementation strategy. 

ANNUAL REVIEW 
At one-year intervals, a periodic review of the Plan with respect to 

current conditions and trends should be performed. Such on-going, 

scheduled evaluations will provide a basis for adjusting capital 

expenditures and priorities, and will reveal changes and additions that 

should be made to the Plan in order to keep it current and applicable 

long-term. It would be appropriate to devote one annual meeting of the 

Planning and Zoning Commission to reviewing the status and continued 

applicability of the Plan in light of current conditions. Those items that 

appear to need specific attention should be examined in more detail, 

and changes and/or additions should be made accordingly. By such 

periodic evaluations, the Plan will remain functional, and will continue 

to give civic leaders effective guidance in decision-making. Periodic 

reviews of the Plan should include consideration of the following: 

• The City’s progress in implementing the Plan; 

• Changes in conditions that form the basis of the Plan; 

• Community support for the Plan’s goals, strategies, and actions; and 

• Changes in State laws. 
 
The full benefits of the Plan for Jersey Village can only be realized by 

maintaining it as a vital, up-to-date document. As changes occur and 

new issues within the City become apparent, the Plan should be revised 

rather than ignored. By such action, the Plan will remain current and 

effective in meeting the City’s decision-making needs. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

216



 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-7 

QUADRENNIAL UPDATE 
In addition to providing for annual reviews of the comprehensive plan, 

City Council shall establish a framework for broader updates of the 

document. It is recognized by council that the assumptions that initially 

informed the plan are not static. At various stages of the document’s 

life, council will need to determine the ongoing relevancy of the plan. 

Such updates are broader in scope than the annual reviews, and serve 

to periodically reset the plan to adapt to changing circumstances. 

To facilitate broad plan updates, City Council shall appoint a 

Comprehensive Plan Update Committee (CPUC). The CPUC shall be 

modeled after the City’s Charter Review Committee. The CPUC shall 

meet no less frequently than every four years, but may meet sooner as 

warranted by exigent circumstances. Specific language regarding the 

formation and responsibilities of the CPUC was incorporated into the 

Adoption Ordinance of the 2016 Comprehensive Plan, and remains 

applicable to this 2020 Update. 

In general, it shall be the primary function of the CPUC to review the 

Comprehensive Plan in total and receive reports from staff regarding 

Plan progress and implementation. The CPUC shall recommend any plan 

changes to the city’s Planning and Zoning Commission, who in turn shall 

make a final recommendation to City Council. The CPUC shall also 

forward a list of recommended project additions and deletions as a part 

of their review. City Council shall determine a final list of projects and 

initiatives for subsequent adoption and implementation. 

TOP PRIORITIES 
The efforts conducted to complete the Comprehensive Plan generated a 

wealth of information and direction for Jersey Village. In order to refine 

and focus future efforts, the 2016 Comprehensive Plan Update 

Committee worked to identify the top priorities of the Plan. A review of 

approximately 187 goals, strategies, and recommendations yielded 20 

action items to be considered the City’s top priorities for 

implementation. The 2020 Comprehensive Plan Update Committee 

started with this same list, and has created a list that should be focused 

on moving forward.  

Table 9-1 contains the highest scoring action items identified by the 

CPUC. A number of the individual priorities are focused on similar 

concepts or focus areas. These items may be implemented concurrently 

achieving multiple goals within the scope of a single project. The highest 

scoring action items are centered around Community Character and 

Community Facilities. 

With a focus on maintaining community character and reducing visual 

clutter, the CPUC prioritized the continuation of Phase 2 of the Gateway 

and Entrance Project. The continued implementation of the Long Term 

Flood Recovery Plan to reduce future impacts of flooding are also a high 

priority for the CPUC. Community facilities that meet the current and 

future needs of the city are vital to the success of it, and have also been 

identified as a major recommendation for the city to focus on. Another 

priority is the update of city codes to simplify the process of new 

construction and promote new development that conforms to this plan.  

 
DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

217

https://library.municode.com/tx/jersey_village/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH14BUDE_ARTIIBOCO_DIV1GE_S14-23COPLUPCO


 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-8 

 

Priority Recommendations 

Strategy Description 
Recommendation 

Type 
Reduce Visual Clutter. Prepare a visual assessment survey of City corridors to identify problem areas 

that negatively impact community character, and identify remedies/action 
plans available to address concerns. 

Policy/Ordinance 

Mitigate Future Flooding. Continue to implement the findings in the Long Term Flood Recovery Plan, 
including home elevations and construction of new buildings above the flood 
plain. 

Capital Improvements, 
Administrative and 
Partnerships 

Update City Development and Building Codes. Update codes to simplify the process of new construction and promote 
new development that conforms to this plan.  

Policy/Ordinance 

Explore Expanded Recreational Opportunities. Work with partner organizations or create city-run sport leagues for youth 
and adults. 

Administrative and 
Partnerships 

Enhancing Neighborhood Infrastructure. Proactively replace sidewalks and expand decorative street lighting 
throughout the city. 

Capital Improvements 

Increase Character of Residential Neighborhoods. Effective use of Code Enforcement to ensure upkeep of homes. Consideration 
should be given to adoption of the International Property Maintenance Code. 

Policy/Ordinance 

Market Jersey Village to Targeted Businesses. Develop and implement an expanded Marketing Plan to target desired 
businesses. 

Administrative 

Encourage Quality Community-oriented Retail and 
Restaurants. 

Actively seek out businesses, both start-ups and established, to locate in or 
expand to Jersey Village. 

Administrative and 
Partnerships 

Encourage Quality Community-oriented 
Entertainment. 

Work with property owners and developers to actively pursue quality 
entertainment opportunities to increase quality of life. 

Administrative and 
Partnerships 

Adequately Address Storm Runoff. Update city ordinances to achieve higher levels of storm runoff mitigation.  Policy/Ordinance 

Table 9-1. Priority Recommendations    

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

218



 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-9 

Priority Recommendations 

Strategy Description 
Recommendation 

Type 
Maintain, Replace, or Improve the Quality of City-
owned Structures. 

Replace City Hall and the Golf Course Club House. Continue with proactive 
maintenance and updates to Fire and Police Stations.  

Capital Improvements 

Maximize the Economic Value of the Highway 290 
Corridor. 

Attract the right businesses that add value to Jersey Village by increasing the 
tax base and providing a higher quality of life for residents. 

Administrative and 
Partnerships 

Analyze Annexation Options for the ETJ Property. Conduct a full cost of service and revenue generation analysis for annexation 
of the extraterritorial jurisdiction (ETJ). 

Plan/Study 

Provide the Necessary and Appropriate Technology, 
Buildings, Equipment and People for Delivery of 
Quality Services Now and in the Future. 

Keep pace with technology and staffing to provide high quality service to 
residents. Ensure municipal buildings and equipment are built and 
maintained to fit the needs of the community for the next generation. 

Administrative and Capital 
Improvements 

Increase Access to Non-motorized Transportation 
Options to Promote Healthy Living.  

Adopt a Complete Streets Policy and implement it when reconstructing 
streets.  

Capital Improvements 

Promote the Highest and Best Use for Vacant or 
Underutilized Properties. 

Create development packages to encourage and market to the type of 
development the city wants to see.  

Administrative 

Encourage Housing and Property Maintenance to 
Maintain Neighborhood Integrity. 

Educate citizens on code enforcement requirements. 
Communicate status reporting of violations and corrections to the 
community. Information shared could be related to general types of 
violations, clearance rates, average time to contact, etc. 

Community Outreach 

Table 9-1. Priority Recommendations    
DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

219



 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-10 

Financing the Comprehensive Plan 
A common element of municipal comprehensive plans is an exhaustive 

list of capital projects. A large portion of these capital projects center on 

the construction of new facilities or additions to existing facilities. The 

Jersey Village Comprehensive Plan is no different in this regard. A 

significant number of the Priority Recommendations involve new 

construction or expansion of existing city facilities. In addition, several 

Priority Recommendations involve lengthy, complex studies of various 

aspects of municipal operations. These studies incur a non-trivial 

expense and ultimately will lead to further capital expenditures. 

A necessary consideration of the comprehensive plan involves financial 

matters. By what strategies will the city fund implementation of the 

various components of the comprehensive plan? 

The City of Jersey Village has utilized several methods to fund past 

initiatives. In 2003 and again in 2007, the city funded roadway 

replacement efforts using general obligation (G.O.) debt. G.O. debt was 

also used to fund construction of a new fire station in 2002. In 2012, the 

city financed a substantial roadway replacement effort using cash 

reserves. 

Although debt issuance of the city is subject to State of Texas regulation, 

the city does not operate under a formal debt program. Decisions 

regarding debt structure are the prerogative of the incumbent City 

Council. As a part of the annual budget process, the city does publish 

and adopt a five- year Capital Improvement Program (CIP). 

There are three main options for financing capital projects associated 

with the comprehensive plan, or any major city project: 

STRUCTURED DEBT FINANCING 
City Council appoints a Citizen Bond Committee to prepare a list of 

projects to forward to the electorate. The bond committee meets on a 

predetermined periodic basis (every four years) to select projects and 

provide a recommended list of projects to council. City Council 

establishes a formal debt program for the city and commits to a 

sustained program of General Obligation debt. 

PAYGO FINANCING 
City Council utilizes existing cash reserves to fund comprehensive plan 

initiatives (Pay As You Go). The city continues to make debt payments 

until such time that all current obligations expire in 2027. As a matter of 

policy, the city will issue no new debt. As of the completion of this 2020 

Comprehensive Plan Update, the city maintains a General Fund balance 

of approximately $13 million. The city typically maintains a minimal 

floor of General Fund balance of 90-120 days of operating expenses. The 

remaining balance would serve as seed capital for projects associated 

with comprehensive plan initiatives. 

A HYBRID APPROACH 
Under this approach, City Council issues debt as the need arises. Project 

selection is determined as a product of the annual budget process. 

Concurrent with project selection, City Council will determine the 

methods of financing selected improvements (debt or cash). Project 

selection does not adhere to a predetermined schedule, but is 

dependent on City Council initiatives. 

 

 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

220



 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-11 

Implementation Matrix 
Implementation is one of the most important, yet most difficult, 

aspects of the comprehensive planning process. Without viable, 

realistic strategies for implementation, the recommendations 

contained within this Comprehensive Plan will be difficult to realize. It 

is important to note that the strategies and action items are derived 

from the goals and vision established previously within this Plan. 

Few cities have the ability to implement every recommendation or 

policy within their comprehensive planning document immediately 

following adoption—Jersey Village is no exception. Plan 

implementation, therefore, must be prioritized to guide short-term 

priorities, mid-term priorities and long term/on-going priorities. These 

priorities must be balanced with timing, funding, and City Staff 

resources. While all the recommendations share some level of 

importance, they cannot all be targeted for implementation within a 

short time period; some must be carried out over a longer timeframe. 

The following matrix is a summary of the recommendations within this 

Comprehensive Plan and is intended to provide the City with specific 

tasks to work toward implementing the vision of this Plan. The 

individual tables are organized by goals and strategies, and action 

items established in previous chapters. 

Action items are assigned a recommended time frame for 

implementation actions to commence. The approximate established 

time frames and general budget assumptions are as follows: 

SHORT-TERM RECOMMENDATIONS 
Implementation of these action items should begin following plan 

adoption. Approximate time line: zero to four years. 

MID-TERM RECOMMENDATIONS 
Implementation of these action items will likely follow short term 

recommendations. Approximate time line: four to seven years. 

LONG TERM 
Implementation of these action items will likely follow mid-term term 

recommendations. Approximate time line: 7 years or more. 

ON-GOING RECOMMENDATIONS 
These action items should be conducted on a regular basis, at least 

annually and more frequently as required.  

BUDGET ASSUMPTIONS 
$ Small Ticket Items  
These typically have minimal costs associated, and include things such 

as administrative policy items that can be accomplished with grant, 

general funds, or relocation of resources, regulations, plans or studies. 

$$ Medium Ticket Items 
These typically have higher costs associated with them and include 
such things as minor parks improvements, neighborhood 
improvements, and aesthetic enhancements. 
 

$$$ Large Ticket Items  
These are large scale projects that require grants, bonds or major 

capital investment. They are typically CIP items. 

TRACKING THE PROGRESS 
Residents can track the progress of these projects as they happen on 

the city website: https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.projects. 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

221

https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.projects


 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-12 

 
Future Land Use Recommendations 

DESCRIPTION 
SHORT 
TERM 

MID TERM LONG TERM ONGOING BUDGET 

Establish a zoning overlay district for the Highway 290 corridor.         $ 

Review existing development codes to identify incompatibility with the vision 
and desired uses (higher quality restaurants, services, and entertainment), 
and to protect residential neighborhoods. 

        $ 

Compile all relevant demographic data regarding the economy of the City 
and update at least annually. 

        $ 

Conduct a full cost of service and revenue generation analysis for annexa-
tion of the extraterritorial jurisdiction (ETJ). 

        $ 

Promote aesthetically pleasing designs for retail and commercial land uses 
that are located at major intersections as destinations in their own right, but 
also as corridor framing uses. 

        $ 

Consider mixed use development, combining residential and nonresidential 
uses. 

        $ 

Promote redevelopment and land use patterns that reduce the number and 
length of auto trips and support walking and bicycling. Encourage friendly, 
walkable environments within key destination areas of the community by of-
fering incentives to developers such as reduced parking requirements. 

        $ 

Public Services, Utilities and Flood Mitigation Infrastructure 

DESCRIPTION 
SHORT 
TERM MID TERM LONG TERM ONGOING BUDGET 

Ensure a fire service rating equivalent to the city’s current rating is 
maintained. 

        $$ 

Continue positive working relationship with Harris County Flood Control.         $ 

Continue to implement the Long Term Flood Recovery Plan.         $$ 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

222



 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-13 

 
Transportation & Circulation Recommendations 

DESCRIPTION SHORT 
TERM 

MID TERM LONG TERM ONGOING BUDGET 

Develop neighborhood pedestrian connections through a trail system. 
Acquire/secure land needed for initial paths of trail system. Utilize existing 
bayous and conveyance channels to help expand the trail system if 
necessary. 

        $$$ 

Explore TxDOT funding opportunities for multi-modal transportation 
alternatives. 

        $ 

Conduct a corridor pedestrian mobility study to identify specific corridor 
deficiencies and prioritize potential improvements. 

        $ 

Prioritize sidewalk improvement areas based upon propensity to generate 
pedestrian traffic, with safe routes to schools and safe routes to transit of 
highest priority. 

        $$ 

Create an enhanced pedestrian environment along key entry roadways and 
those with adjacent residential development to encourage walking to local 
retail and service destinations, especially along Jones Road, Jersey 
Meadows Drive, and Castlebridge Drive. 

        $ 

Encourage the County to connect Taylor Road west of the extraterritorial 
jurisdiction (ETJ) to provide better access for future development. 

        $$$ 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

223



 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-14 

 
Economic Development Recommendations 

DESCRIPTION SHORT 
TERM MID TERM LONG TERM ONGOING BUDGET 

Consider creation of a municipal management district (MMD) to fund corridor 
enhancements and on-going maintenance. 

        $ 

Encourage development of desired office, retail, service, and entertainment 
venues through the use of tax abatement, TIRZ, or 380 agreements. 

        $$ 

Identify and target underserved retail market segments.         $ 

Prepare marketing materials highlighting the assets and advantages of 
Jersey Village. 

        $ 

Establish working relationships with commercial brokerages.         $ 

Develop and implement an expanded Marketing Plan for the Jersey Meadow 
Golf Course. 

        $ 

Assemble a package detailing the Jersey Village development process and 
available incentives. 

        $ 

Establish a business-owners council as a resource learning about the needs 
of businesses and communicating the City’s goals to the business 
community. 

        $ 

Procure an Economic Development Consultant to be considered by city 
management and the City Council. 

        $ 

Identify potential redevelopment sites and create proposal packages to 
incentivize developers. 

        $$ 

Review current processes encountered by business expansions and 
relocations to reduce inefficiencies and make it easier for businesses. 

    $ 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

224



 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-15 

 

Parks, Recreation & Open Space Recommendations 

DESCRIPTION 
SHORT 
TERM MID TERM LONG TERM ONGOING BUDGET 

Implementation of the projects identified in the 2020 Parks Master Plan.         $$ 

Explore future funding potential to acquire additional park space based on 
parks and open space master plan. 

        $$ 

Review underutilized open spaces and convert to local pocket parks.         $$ 

Review and consider additional park improvements, such as outdoor 
exercise equipment and improved volleyball courts. 

        $ 

Update City’s pool facility with new equipment, slides and buildings.         $$ 

Explore potential community volunteer opportunities to support the parks  
and recreation program. 

        $ 

Encourage league sports for youth and adults.         $ 

Coordinate with HCFCD on future trail connectivity along White Oak Bayou.         $ 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

225



 

 

Chapter 9  Page 9-16 

 Community Character Recommendations 

DESCRIPTION 
SHORT 
TERM MID TERM LONG TERM ONGOING BUDGET 

Construct Phase 2 of the Gateway and Marquee Sign Projects to highlight 
the entrance to the City. 

        $$ 

Explore strategic public/private partnerships with local businesses to 
encourage beautification efforts of their properties. 

        $ 

Review code enforcement procedures for their effectiveness, and make 
necessary changes. Potentially adopt the International Property  
Maintenance Code. 

        $ 

Prepare a visual assessment survey of City corridors to identify problem 
areas that negatively impact community character and identify remedies/
action plans available to address concerns. 

        $ 

Consider a more stringent tree preservation ordinance to protect existing  
tree resources. 

        $ 

Promote increasing the canopy along streets, parks, and open spaces.         $$ 

Reduce visual clutter by reducing the number of billboards and encouraging 
utilities be located underground. 

        $$ 

Educate citizens on code enforcement requirements. Communicate status 
reporting of violations and corrections to the community. 

        $ 

Actively pursue the elimination of blighted conditions and properties.     $ 

      

Community Facilities Recommendations 

DESCRIPTION 
SHORT 
TERM MID TERM LONG TERM ONGOING BUDGET 

Construct new facilities for City Hall and Golf Course Club House.         $$$ 

Update and maintain existing public facilities to maximize usefulness.         $$ 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

226



 

 

Appendix  Page Appendix-1 

List of Abbreviations 
AADT– Average Annual Daily Traffic 

AASHTO—American Association of State Highway and Transportation 

Officials  

ACS—American Community Survey 

AEC—Architecture, Engineering and Construction  

CAGR—Compound Annual Growth Rate 

CBDs—Central Business Districts 

CCPD—Crime Control Prevention District 

CFISD—Cypress Fairbanks Independent School District 

CIP—Capital Improvement Plan 

CMU—Concrete Masonry Unit 

COVID-19—SARS-CoV-2 

CPAC—Comprehensive Plan Advisory Committee 

CPUC—Comprehensive Plan Update Committee 

CRS—Community Rating System 

ETJ—Extraterritorial Jurisdiction 

FEMA—Federal Emergency Management Agency 

FLUP—Future Land use plan 

GIS—Graphical Information Systems 

GO—General Obligation 

HCT—High Capacity Transit 

HCFCD—Harris County Flood Control District 

H-GAC—Huston-Galveston Area Council 

HOV—High Occupancy Vehicle 

HVAC—Heating, ventilation, and air conditioning 

HUD—U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 

ISO—Insurance Service Organization 

LOS—Level Of Service 

MMD—Municipal Management Districts 

NACTO—National Association of City Transportation Officials 

NRPA—National Recreation and Park Association  

PAYGO—Pay As You Go 

PPH—Persons Per Household 

Appendix 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

227



 

 

Appendix  Page Appendix-2 

SCADA—Supervisory Control And Data Acquisition 

TCEQ—Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 

TPL—Trust for Public Land 

TIRZ—Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone 

TOD—Transit Oriented Development 

TPWD—Texas Parks and Wildlife Department 

TXDOT—Texas Department of Transportation 

Useful Links 
Jersey Village Home Page 

Apply for a Job with Jersey Village 

City Projects—Track the Progress of Projects 

City Plans and Studies 

Economic Development in Jersey Village 

Elections 

Fire Department Facebook Page 

Financial Transparency 

Jersey Meadow Golf Course 

Jersey Village Facebook Page 

Jersey Village Twitter 

Jersey Village Instagram 

Jersey Village LinkedIn 

Long Term Flood Recovery Plan 

Mobile App—iPhone 

Mobile App—Android 

Police Department Facebook Page 

Police Department Twitter 

Volunteer for City Boards and Commissions 

Volunteer with the Jersey Village Fire Department 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

228

http://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/
https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/jersey-village
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.projects
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.plansandstudies
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/econdev.overview
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.elections
https://www.facebook.com/JerseyVillageFireDept/
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/city.financial_reports
http://www.jerseymeadow.com/
https://facebook.com/JerseyVillageTX
https://www.twitter.com/JerseyVillageTX
http://www.instagram.com/JerseyVillageTX
https://www.linkedin.com/company/jerseyvillagetx
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/Long_Term_Flood_Recovery_Project
https://apps.apple.com/us/app/jerseyvillage/id1478463204
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.civicapps.jerseyvillage
https://www.facebook.com/JerseyVillagePolice/
https://twitter.com/jvpd_police?lang=en
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/citysec.home
https://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/page/fire.home


 

Chapter 9  Page 1 

DRAFT

Draft 1-14-2021

Draft 1-14-2021

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

229



PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION  

CITY OF JERSEY VILLAGE, TEXAS  

AGENDA REQUEST 

 

AGENDA DATE: January 25, 2021   AGENDA ITEM: F  
 

AGENDA SUBJECT: Receive a billboard presentation from Clear Channel. 

 

Dept/Prepared By:  Austin Bleess, City Manager Date Submitted:  January 21, 2021 

 

EXHIBITS:    

    

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
 

 

Clear Channel give a presentation about digital billboard signs. Given that the Comprehensive 

Plan discusses removing billboards as one way to reduce visual clutter; this is an option for 

consideration in meeting the goals of the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

This item is for the Commission to listen to the presentation and for discussion only.  If further 

action is required, it will be brought back to the Commission at a later date. 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

Receive a billboard presentation from Clear Channel. 

Planning &
 Z

oning C
om

m
ission M

eeting Packet for the M
eeting to be held on January 25, 2021

230


	2021-01-25_PZ_Agenda
	B - Citizens' Comments
	C - Minutes
	D - Tree Preservation Ordinance
	Agenda Request - Tree Preservation
	Chapter 14 Article 12
	Other Municipal Ordinances
	Alamo Heights
	Colleyville
	Hillshire Village
	Hunters Creek Village
	League City
	The Colony
	Weatherford
	West Lake Hills
	West Lake Hills
	Division 9. Trees and Vegetation




	E - Comp Plan Review and Recommendation
	Agenda Request - Comp Plan Review
	P&Z Recommendation To City Council
	2020 Comprehensive Plan DRAFT 1-14-2021
	Front Cover
	Acknowledgments
	Table of Contents
	Introduction
	Chapter 1
	Chapter 2
	Chapter 3
	Chapter 4
	Chapter 5
	Chapter 6
	Chapter 7
	Chapter 8
	Chapter 9
	Appendix
	Back Cover




	F - Bill Board Presentation



